
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Gerard Watson
395 2194

Produced on Recycled Paper
1

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 18th November, 2015 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

J Blake (Chair)
D Coupar
M Dobson
R Lewis
J Lewis
L Mulherin
M Rafique
L Yeadon

A Carter S Golton

Public Document Pack



2

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:

9.0 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2 Confidential information means
(a) information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules. 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided:
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded. 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any condition):
1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information).
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

 



3

A G E N D A

Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  

 

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information 
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above 
information.

3 If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:-

RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information.



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

4

3  

 

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  

 

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  

 

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 21st October 2015

1 - 18

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND 
COMMUNITY SAFETY

6  

K

RECYCLING STRATEGY REVIEW

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing providing an update on 
the Council’s recycling strategy and which seeks 
approval to revise the Council’s household waste 
recycling targets in the light of current financial 
pressures and market related factors, and to bring 
them in line with current EU and national targets. In 
addition, the report also sets out a strategy for 
ensuring a continued improvement in recycling 
performance through maximising existing services 
and infrastructure and also by increasing resident 
participation.

19 - 
36



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

5

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

7  

K

City and 
Hunslet

10.4(3)
(Appendix 
1 only)

SOUTH BANK REGENERATION

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which seeks approval for the 
Council’s support to a major inward investment 
opportunity for the city. Specifically this is to 
support Burberry’s initial proposals to relocate their 
UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South 
Bank. The report also sets out the policy principles 
by which the Council would work with Burberry to 
secure the restoration and long term sustainable 
use of Temple Works as part of further plans for 
future phases of development. 

(Appendix 1 to this report is designated as exempt 
from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3))

37 - 
68

8  

 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME QUARTER 2 UPDATE 
2015-19

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive providing an update on the Capital 
Programme position as at period 6, the end of 
September 2015.  The report includes appendices 
on the Capital Programme funding statement at 
period 6, an Annual Programmes statement, a 
Major Programmes and other schemes statement, 
together with the latest Capital Receipts Incentive 
Scheme injection. In addition, the report also 
includes an analysis of the impact any changes in 
capital resources may have on the cost of 
borrowing within the revenue budget as a key 
control of capital investment, and seeks some 
specific approvals in relation to funding injections. 

69 - 
82



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

6

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

9  

 

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2015/16 - 
MONTH 6

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive on the Council’s projected financial 
health after six months of the 2015/16 financial 
year.

83 - 
110

10 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
UPDATE 2015/16

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive presenting a review and update of the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for the 
period 2015/16.

111 - 
120

11 

 

OPEN DATA: REALISING THE POTENTIAL OF 
AN UNTAPPED RESOURCE

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which provides information on the 
drivers for publishing Council, non-personally 
sensitive data and also to recommend a particular 
strategic and policy approach which would facilitate 
the publication of such data. In addition, the report 
provides an update on the progress and 
achievements made in this area to date.

121 - 
136



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

7

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND 
PLANNING

12 

K

Gipton and 
Harehills; 
Killingbeck 
and Seacroft

REGENERATION PROGRESS IN EAST LEEDS

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which provides an overview of the 
Council’s positive and proactive enabling activity to 
progress regeneration in the urban areas of East 
Leeds, focusing upon the role of new housing 
developments in providing the investment required 
to deliver sustainable neighbourhood 
improvements. In addition, the report sets out the 
principles and primary proposals within the 
Neighbourhood Framework for Killingbeck and 
Seacroft and seeks approval to this document. The 
report also invites the Board to note the intention to 
accept a Local Growth Fund loan from the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority, to be injected into 
the capital programme in order to support the 
Brownfield Land Programme.

137 - 
184

13 

K

City and 
Hunslet; 
Killingbeck 
and Seacroft

10.4(3)
(Appendix 
4 only)

DESIGN AND COST REPORT FOR THE 
ACQUISITION OF TRIBECA HOUSE, DEACON 
HOUSE AND UNIT 2 KILLINGBECK COURT 
FOR COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development presenting the updated position on 
work to generate revenue savings from the 
Council’s asset portfolio, through the Asset Review 
Programme which forms part of the Council’s 
Asset Management Plan 2014-17. In addition, the 
report seeks approval to the acquisition of three 
properties to achieve revenue savings and also to 
support the delivery of three key corporate 
programmes: Asset Review, Integrated Health & 
Social Care and Community Hubs.

(Appendix 4 to this report is designated as exempt 
from publication under the provisions of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3))

185 - 
214



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

8

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

14 

 

WHITE PAPER RESPONSE - CYCLING 
FACILITY DEVELOPMENT IN LEEDS

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development presenting the response to a White 
Paper Motion submitted to Council and which 
provides details on the progress made in respect of 
the development of cycling facilities in Leeds, with 
reference to how the Council was working 
collaboratively with its partners in order to ensure 
the success of world class sporting events in the 
city continues to be built upon.

215 - 
222

15 

K

DEVELOPING THE RANGE OF CHOICES IN 
THE OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING MARKET: 
OLDER PEOPLE'S HOUSING PROSPECTUS

To consider the joint report of the Director of City 
Development and the Director of Adult Social 
Services providing an approach to older people’s 
housing, which includes a prospectus to be 
published and which encourages new supply of 
specialist accommodation. An approach which 
supports the recommendations outlined in the 
March 2015 Executive Board report on developing 
a range of choices in the older people’s housing 
market.

223 - 
284

16 

K

Burmantofts 
and Richmond 
Hill; Chapel 
Allerton; 
Killingbeck 
and Seacroft; 
Wetherby

LEARNING DISABILITY DAY SERVICE 
MODERNISATION

To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services providing an update on the 
outcomes and achievements to date of the 
Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation 
Project and presenting information on how the final 
phase of the programme will be delivered.  The 
report also requests authority to incur expenditure 
of £870.0k for the refurbishment of Potternewton 
Fulfilling Lives Centre, to be funded from within the 
current capital programme.

285 - 
316



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

9

17 

 

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL 
REPORT 2014/15 AND BUSINESS PLAN 
2015/16

To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services introducing the eighth and last 
annual report of the previous Leeds Safeguarding 
Adults Board, prior to its re-constitution as a 
statutory board under the Care Act 2014. In 
addition, the report provides an update on the 
work, going forward, of the new statutory Leeds 
Safeguarding Adults Board.

317 - 
358

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

18 

 

LEEDS SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
(LCSB) ANNUAL REPORT (2014/15) 
EVALUATING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF 
SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS IN LEEDS

To consider the report of the Independent Chair of 
the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 
which introduces and presents the key issues from 
the LSCB Annual Report (2014/15).

359 - 
400

19 

K

THE FUTURE FOR SOCIAL AND EMOTIONAL 
MENTAL HEALTH (SEMH) EDUCATION 
PROVISION IN LEEDS

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services which seeks permission to consult on the 
proposal to further develop social and emotional 
mental health (SEMH) education provision in 
Leeds, and take steps to move the governance 
(cease to provide) of some existing providers to 
become part of an outstanding local Academy.   
This would enable the establishment of additional 
SEMH provision on sites in the east and in the 
south of the city as part of the conversion process 
with an outstanding preferred sponsor.

401 - 
416



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

10

20 

 

OUTCOME OF SCHOOL ADMISSION 
ARRANGEMENTS 2015

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services providing statistical information on the 
annual admissions round for entry to Reception 
and year 7 for September 2015. In addition, the 
report considers the potential effect of the latest 
government consultation on changes to the 
admissions code, and also potential for changes 
within the Leeds City Council admissions policy. 

417 - 
430

21 

K

Moortown OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO INCREASE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES AND ESTABLISH 
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS PROVISION 
AT CARR MANOR COMMUNITY SCHOOL

To consider the report of the Director of Children’s 
Services presenting details of proposals submitted 
to meet the local authority’s duty to ensure 
sufficiency of both school and SEN places. 
Specifically, this report describes the outcome of 
the consultation regarding proposals to expand 
primary school provision and establish SEN 
provision at Carr Manor Community School and 
also seeks permission to publish a statutory notice 
in respect of these proposals.  

431 - 
450

22 

K

Pudsey OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO INCREASE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN 
PUDSEY/SWINNOW

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Children’s Services, the Deputy Chief Executive 
and the Director of City Development presenting 
details of proposals submitted to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school 
places. Specifically, this report describes the 
outcome of consultation regarding proposals to 
expand primary school provision at Greenside and 
seeks permission to publish a statutory notice in 
respect of these proposals.  

451 - 
464



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

11

COMMUNITIES

23 

K

Adel and 
Wharfedale; 
Alwoodley; 
Armley; 
Beeston and 
Holbeck; 
Bramley and 
Stanningley; 
Calverley and 
Farsley; City 
and Hunslet; 
Farnley and 
Wortley; 
Killingbeck 
and Seacroft; 
Kippax and 
Methley; 
Kirkstall; 
Morley South; 
Otley and 
Yeadon; 
Pudsey; 
Rothwell

SHELTERED HOUSING INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing providing an update on 
the Council’s investment strategy into older 
people’s housing provision across the city, and 
seeks authorisation to commence a further phase 
of work in this area.

465 - 
476

24 

K

Ardsley and 
Robin Hood; 
Bramley and 
Stanningley; 
City and 
Hunslet; Cross 
Gates and 
Whinmoor; 
Kippax and 
Methley; 
Morley North; 
Morley South; 
Otley and 
Yeadon; 
Rothwell; 
Weetwood

COMMUNITY CENTRE REVIEW UPDATE

To consider the report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities) providing an 
update on the review of ten Community Centres as 
previously reported to the Board.  Specifically, the 
report provides information on the consultation 
undertaken, the actions that have been progressed 
on all ten Community Centres under review and 
details a specific proposal to move ahead with the 
closure of two centres, one being Gildersome 
Youth Club and the other being Kippax Youth 
Centre.

477 - 
494



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

12

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 21ST OCTOBER, 2015

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors D Coupar, M Dobson, S Golton, 
J Lewis, R Lewis, L Mulherin, M Rafique 
and L Yeadon 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBER:   Councillor J Procter

APOLOGIES: Councillor A Carter

56 Substitute Member 
Under the terms of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.6, 
Councillor J Procter was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of Councillor 
A Carter, who had submitted his apologies for absence from the meeting.

57 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:-

(a) Appendix 3 to the report entitled, ‘The Regeneration of  the New 
Briggate Area’, referred to in Minute No. 71 is designated as exempt 
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 
12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the 
information contained within the submitted appendix relates to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular organisation and of the 
Council.  It is considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
content of the appendix as exempt from publication outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information, due to the impact that 
disclosing the information would have on the Council and third parties.

(b) Appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘East Leeds Extension Update and 
Next Steps’, referred to in Minute No. 74 is designated as exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the information 
contained within the submitted appendix relates to the financial or 
business affairs of a particular person, and of the Council. This 
information is not publicly available from the statutory registers of 
information kept in respect of certain companies and charities.  It is 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

considered that since this information was obtained through initial one 
to one discussions for the acquisition of the property/land, then it is not 
in the public interest to disclose this information at this point in time.  

Also, it is considered that the release of such information would or 
would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in 
relation to other similar transactions in that prospective purchasers of 
other similar properties would have access to information about the 
nature and level of consideration which may prove acceptable to the 
Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in 
disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the 
Land Registry following completion of this transaction and 
consequently the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at this point 
in time.  

58 Late Items 
There were no late items as such, however, prior to the meeting Board 
Members were provided with the following for their consideration:

 Correspondence which clarified that in relation to agenda item 16 (The 
Regeneration of the New Briggate Area), those references in 
paragraph 5.1, Recommendation 4(a) and Recommendation 6.1(a) 
should read 26-32 Merrion Street, rather than 26-32 Merrion Way 
(Minute No. 71 refers);

 An updated version of the covering report and appendix 3 to agenda 
item 18 (The Community Infrastructure Levy: Spending of the 
Neighbourhood Fund and Other Spending Matters) (Minute No. 73 
refers);

 An updated version of appendix B to agenda item 20 (Learning Places 
Programme: Capital Programme Update) (Minute No. 75 refers). 

59 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting, 
however in relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘The Regeneration of the New 
Briggate Area’, Councillors J Procter and Yeadon drew the Board’s attention 
to their respective positions on the Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House 
Board of Management (Minute No. 71 refers).   

60 Minutes 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 23rd 
September 2015 be approved as a correct record.

COMMUNITIES

61 Long Term Strategic Partnership with Leeds City Credit Union 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) submitted a report 
which provided an update on the Council’s continued joint work with Leeds 
City Credit Union (LCCU) to tackle poverty in Leeds. In addition, the report 
also presented the long-term strategy for ongoing partnership working and 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

specifically, set out the options available in respect of the Council’s continuing 
financial support and future investment in such matters.

Members welcomed the contents of the submitted report, placed on record 
their thanks for the valuable and innovative work being undertaken in this area 
and highlighted how such work provided a key example of civic enterprise.

RESOLVED - 
(a) That the significant progress made and the projects developed through 

the partnership between the Council and Leeds City Credit Union, 
which has helped in the delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives on 
financial inclusion and poverty alleviation be noted and welcomed, and 
that the ongoing strategic approach towards the partnership work also 
be welcomed;

(b) That authority be given to the Council entering into an agreement with 
the Credit Union in connection with the continuing support from the 
Council to the Credit Union, with the approval of the terms of such an 
agreement being delegated to the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens 
and Communities);

(c) That approval be given to the re-scheduling of the loan to the Credit 
Union, as set out in paragraph 3.38 of the submitted report, with the 
detailed arrangements being subject to determination by the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities).

62 Re-location of Red Hall Horticultural Nursery to Whinmoor Grange 
Further to Minute No. 76, 4th September 2013, the Director of Environment 
and Housing submitted a report regarding the latest designs and costs 
relating to the relocation of the Parks and Countryside horticultural nursery 
from Red Hall to Whinmoor Grange along with the relocation of other 
operational services currently based at Red Hall. In addition, the report sought 
approval of an injection into the capital scheme and subsequent expenditure 
of £6.5m for the construction and relocation works from Red Hall to Whinmoor 
Grange.

The Board paid tribute to the valuable work undertaken by the horticultural 
nursery service. Furthermore, Members emphasised the ongoing partnership 
work taking place between the service and community organisations across 
the city and highlighted the need for such partnership working to continue and 
develop further with the help of the proposed new facility.

A Member raised the issue of the proposed entry point to the facility and 
highlighted the need to ensure that it remained in keeping with the wider area. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That an injection of £6.5m into Capital Scheme No. 32415/000/000 be 

approved;

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

(b) That expenditure of up to £6.5m to design and build a replacement 
horticultural nursery for Leeds City Council Parks and Countryside at 
Whinmoor Grange and for the relocation of other services from the 
existing Red Hall depot, be approved, subject to planning approval and 
Local Growth Fund loan agreement;

(c) That in accordance with Contracts Procedure Rule 3.1.8, approval be 
given to the selection of a single stage develop and construct 
procurement approach via an open non-EU procurement, in order to 
obtain a specialist contractor to undertake the proposed construction of 
a horticultural nursery glasshouse at Whinmoor Grange, with the 
evaluation criteria of 70% of marks for the lowest compliant cost and 
30% of marks for quality criteria;

(d) That the current designs, as detailed at appendix 1 to the submitted 
report, and the costs for Whinmoor Grange nursery, be approved, 
subject to the necessary planning approval;

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Parks and Countryside) will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters, and to ensure that 
the Parks and Countryside service vacate the Red Hall site by the end 
of 2016.

63 Commissioning a new model for the delivery of Supporting People 
Services 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report providing a 
performance summary of the Housing Related Support commissioned 
programme during 2014/15 and updating the Board on the review and 
progress made towards developing a new model for the city which included 
the intended outcomes and benefits. In addition, the report sought the Board’s 
input and guidance on the model and forward work programme.

Members welcomed the proposed key principles and features of the new 
model, with reference being made to the person centred approach and the 
potential establishment of a triage system. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the progress of the review, as detailed within the submitted report, 

be noted;

(b) That approval be given to proceed with the recommendations within 
the submitted report for the re-procurement / re-contracting of housing 
related support services in the context of the proposed key principles 
and features of a new model to a maximum budget of £10.4 million;

(c) That it be noted that the Director of Environment and Housing will use 
his delegated authority in order to take commissioning and 
decommissioning decisions which will be a direct consequence of this 
key decision. (For example, approval of the detailed specifications for 
the procurement and subsequent contract awards, which will be at 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

most significant operational decisions. This is subject to the decisions 
being in line with the key principles and features as described within 
the submitted Executive Board report).

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMMUNITY SAFETY

64 Improving Air Quality within the City 
Further to Minute No. 139, 17th December 2014, the Director of Environment 
and Housing and the Director of Public Health submitted a joint report 
providing an update on the progress which had been made since the 
submission of the previous report. In addition, the report also provided details 
of health implications arising from air quality levels, on the West Yorkshire 
Low Emission Strategy Paper, Leeds’ action plan and also on a number of 
current and related funding opportunities.

Responding to Members’ enquiries, officers provided an update on the range 
of actions currently being taken to improve air quality in Leeds. In addition, it 
was highlighted that further monitoring of air quality levels was to be 
undertaken which would enable more quantifiable actions to be identified, and 
it was noted that such information would be presented to the Board for 
consideration. 

Furthermore, Members highlighted the pivotal role to be played by the public 
in improving air quality levels in Leeds, and emphasised the vital importance 
of raising the public awareness and understanding of such matters. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the raising of the public’s awareness and understanding of such 

matters be identified as a key priority in the approach towards 
improving air quality levels in Leeds;

(b) That the progress which the Council has made to date and its plan for 
the expansion of its own alternative fuel vehicles and associated 
infrastructure, be noted;

(c) That the West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy (WYLES) and Leeds’ 
Air Quality Action Plan, be endorsed;

(d) That the PM2.5 targets for 2020 and 2030, as referred to within 
paragraph 3.6 of the submitted report be adopted;

(e) That the allocation of parking spaces for electric vehicles in Council car 
parks, to be implemented by the end of the financial year as part of the 
‘Cutting Carbon and Improving Air Quality’ breakthrough project, be 
supported;

(f) That the enforcement of the planning conditions on new developments 
to increase charging infrastructure across the city be supported, which 
is an on-going action that falls under the Chief Planning Officer’s 
responsibility to monitor all new developments;

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

(g) That the establishment of walking and cycling friendly infrastructure be 
supported, with the use of appropriate planning conditions to ensure 
that new developments support alternative modes of transport;

(h) That support be given to further work being undertaken to determine 
the scope and number of potential Clean Air Zones required within the 
city in order to ensure that compliance with EU directives is met as a 
minimum, and which will look to improve public health outcomes for the 
citizens of Leeds;

(i) That it be noted that the Director of Environment and Housing will 
oversee the delivery of the study and will submit a progress report to 
Executive Board as part of the breakthrough project’s annual report.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the matters 
referred to within this minute)

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

65 Strong Economy, Compassionate City 
The Chief Executive submitted a report which presented the Council’s vision 
for a strong economy and compassionate city and highlighted the actions 
being taken to sustain and accelerate the economic progress that the city has 
achieved, whilst also ensuring that all people and communities in Leeds 
contributed towards and benefitted from such economic success.

Responding to Members’ enquiries, it was noted that the update report, 
scheduled to be submitted to the Board in Spring 2016 would provide further 
information on the actions being taken in the areas of social enterprise and 
also inward investment. 

Members highlighted the linkages between the Council’s breakthrough 
projects and the vision to have a strong economy and be a compassionate 
city.  Also, the Board considered the role played by the Government in the 
development of the city’s economy. Furthermore, emphasis was placed upon 
the important contribution made by Leeds’ cultural offer towards the Council’s 
overarching vision.  

RESOLVED – 
That the following be approved:-

Tackling Low Pay
i) Living wage city – Leeds City Council will work with partners to 

develop a Living Wage City campaign to encourage employers 
to pay the Living Wage as accredited by the National Living 
Wage Foundation. The aim should be to significantly increase 
the number of Living Wage businesses in Leeds over the next 
year.

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

ii) Supporting people to get better jobs – Leeds City Council will 
work with the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership, the 
Chamber of Commerce and education and training providers in 
order to develop proposals to create a careers advice and in-
work progression service, and support for employers, aimed at 
helping people move out of low paid work into better jobs.

Regenerating places
iii) A new approach to regeneration – the Council will identify a 

rolling programme of prioritised schemes in deprived areas, with 
an emphasis upon bringing together the approach to supporting 
people and communities with interventions to deliver positive 
physical development and change, with a particular focus on 
early intervention to tackle the causes of poverty. A report 
recommending the details of the approach be submitted to 
Executive Board by early 2016.

A life ready for learning – putting children at the heart of the 
growth strategy
iv) Strengthening business engagement in schools – The 

Council will work with business leaders, head teachers, 
universities and colleges and leading experts and enterprises in 
the third sector to look at how to build on existing work to 
strengthen business engagement in Leeds schools, with the aim 
of ensuring that all secondary schools, particularly those with a 
high proportion of pupils from deprived areas, have strong 
partnerships with business.

v) Enhancing careers advice and guidance for young people – 
The Council will work with business leaders, head teachers, 
universities and colleges, leading experts in the third sector, and 
the national Careers and Enterprise Company to look at how to 
strengthen independent careers advice in schools, with the aim 
of ensuring that all secondary schools are offering good quality 
careers advice.

Supporting business to invest in growth and communities
vi) Key Account Management – the Key Account Management 

approach to working with businesses should be extended across 
the Council and a wider range of businesses in order to 
strengthen the approach to promoting business growth and 
community investment, with the aim of ensuring regular contact 
with 150 businesses that are significant strategically.

vii) Promoting community investment – the Council works with 
other organisations and business leaders in order to develop an 
initiative to encourage more businesses in Leeds to commit to 
investing in their workforce and their local communities, with the 
aim being for 50 businesses to strengthen their community 
investment work.

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

Creating quality places and spaces
viii) Creating quality places and spaces – we will continue to seek 

to improve the quality of design of new development, including 
through refreshing the ‘Neighbourhoods for Living’ design 
guidance document.

ix) Securing good jobs and skills outcomes from major 
development and infrastructure projects – we will set out how 
we will build on the achievements and learning over recent 
years to set out how we can strengthen our approach to using 
major developments and infrastructure projects to support 
training and jobs for local people. A report setting out the details 
of this approach be submitted to Executive Board by early 2016.

Backing innovators and entrepreneurs
x) Keeping graduates in Leeds – we will develop an initiative to 

improve levels of graduate retention in Leeds, including 
interventions to help tackle skills shortages and fill vacancies at 
graduate level in the digital sector, and a Leeds graduate 
careers fair and clearing system to connect students to future 
job opportunities in Leeds. A report setting out the details of this 
approach be submitted to Executive Board by early 2016.

xi) Backing innovators – we will develop an initiative to support 
the future growth of innovative businesses that have been 
incubated by Universities and other bodies, and are now looking 
to grow and move on to new business space and employ more 
people. A paper setting out the details of this approach should 
be submitted to Executive Board by early 2016.

xii) Backing entrepreneurs – we will develop a new enterprise 
programme using European Funds to provide support for people 
starting new businesses. We will also provide support for small 
business accelerators in the city, including the proposed digital 
business accelerator.

Next Steps
xiii) That it be noted that the Chief Executive, supported by the Chief 

Officer Economy and Regeneration, is responsible for the 
implementation of such matters, and will update Executive 
Board on progress in spring 2016.

66 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016/17 - 2019/20 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report setting out the principles and 
assumptions underlying the proposed financial strategy for the Council 
covering the years 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

Members were provided with the timescales and framework for the 
preparation of the 2016/17 Initial Budget Proposals which were scheduled to 
be presented to the Board in December 2015 and which would inform the 
Council’s future priorities and strategies. It was also noted that 
announcements regarding the Government’s Spending Review and details of 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

the Local Government Settlement would not be released until November and 
December 2015 respectively. 

Furthermore, the Board was provided with an update on the current position 
regarding the Public Health grant and the implications arising from the in-year 
reduction which was announced in June 2015. Also, cross-party support was 
sought in relation to raising the Council’s concerns on the current in-year 
grant reduction, and also in respect of the Council’s future allocation of Public 
Health grant.  

RESOLVED – That the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2016/17 – 
2019/20 be approved, and that agreement be given for the assumptions and 
principles, as outlined within the submitted report, being used as a basis for 
the detailed preparation of the Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17 and which 
will inform the Council’s future priorities and strategies.

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

67 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 - Month 5 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report setting out the Council’s 
projected financial position for 2015/16 together with other key financial 
indicators, after 5 months of the financial year.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, it was undertook that the Member in 
question would be provided with an update on the financial position regarding 
the healthy schools initiative and also the Early Years service. Furthermore, 
officers undertook to provide an update to the same Member on the projected 
shortfall in advertising income.  

RESOLVED - That the projected financial position of the Council for 2015/16, 
as detailed within the submitted report, be noted.

68 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy 
Further to Minute No. 29, 15th July 2015, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report on the Statement of Licensing 
Policy in respect of the Gambling Act 2005. The report included the comments 
of the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) and recommended that the 
matter be referred to full Council for formal approval, in accordance with the 
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.

In considering the report, emphasis was placed upon the importance of the 
national lobby regarding the impact of gambling and also on the introduction 
of Local Area Profiles and the proposed involvement of Community 
Committees in the development of such profiles.

RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report be noted, which 
includes the comments of the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities), 
and that the matter be referred to full Council for the purposes of formal 
approval.

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

(In accordance with the Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure 
Rules, the matters referred to within this minute were not eligible for Call In as 
the power to Call In decisions does not extend to those decisions made in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, which 
includes those resolutions above)

EMPLOYMENT, ENTERPRISE AND OPPORTUNITY

69 Equality Update: Improvement Priorities 2016-2010, and the Equality 
Framework Re-accreditation 
The Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) submitted a report 
setting out the approach taken to develop the Equality Improvement Priorities 
2016-20 and how these priorities supported the ambitions of the city. In 
addition, the report also outlined the plans for the Council’s reassessment 
against the Equality Framework for Local Government, in which the local 
authority currently held an ‘excellent’ accreditation.

Members welcomed the contents of the submitted report, and it was 
emphasised that equality improvement was a key priority for the Council. In 
addition, it was acknowledged that a proactive approach needed to continue 
in order to ensure that the Council was an attractive employer to all 
communities. 

Responding to a Member’s specific enquiry, an update was provided on the 
actions being taken to promote the Council as an employer at graduate level.

RESOLVED - 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, be noted;

(b) That the contents of the Equality Framework narrative be noted, and 
that an update on the outcomes and actions arising be provided to 
Executive Board in Spring 2016;

(c) That the Equality Improvement Priorities 2016-20 be endorsed, and 
that it be noted that annual reports will be provided on progress against 
these.

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

70 An Approach to Street Design and the Public Realm in Leeds City Centre 
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining an approach 
towards street design and the public realm. The report identified some key 
principles to ensure schemes were designed and implemented within agreed 
corporate parameters and objectives, and included artist impressions of how 
the city centre may look if such an approach was adopted. Additionally, the 
submitted report included a prioritised programme for public realm 
improvements in the city centre.

Members discussed the potential approach towards the promotion of more 
pedestrian accessible spaces in the city centre and the impact of such an 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

approach. In addition, the Board considered the benefits of simplistic and 
consistent designs and also the sources of funding which could be used for 
such initiatives. 

In conclusion, emphasis was placed upon the need for the associated 
consultation exercise which was proposed to be as comprehensive and 
inclusive as possible.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the principle of the Council developing a strategic plan for public

realm improvements in the City Centre, based upon the principles as 
outlined in paragraph 3.7 of the submitted report, be endorsed;

(b) That approval be given to the Council consulting and engaging with 
stakeholders on potential schemes to be brought forward, based upon 
the design ideas and opportunities document, as detailed at Appendix 
1 to the submitted report; 

(c) That subject to the outcome of the consultation, officers be requested 
to submit a report to a future Executive Board outlining a proposal plan 
of public realm improvements, costings and funding, and that it be 
noted that the Head of Strategic Projects, City Development, will be 
responsible for the submission of this report.

71 The Regeneration of the New Briggate Area 
The Director of City Development submitted a report regarding the issues and 
opportunities related to the regeneration of the New Briggate area. The report 
identified how the area could be re-energised through partnership working 
between the Council and other stakeholders.

It was noted that prior to the meeting, correspondence had been circulated to 
Board Members clarifying that those references in paragraph 5.1, 
Recommendation 4(a) and Recommendation 6.1(a) should read 26-32 
Merrion Street, rather than 26-32 Merrion Way.

Following consideration of Appendix 3 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to 26-32 Merrion Street being declared surplus 

and marketed, with the property being added to the capital receipt 
programme. In addition, it also be agreed that the approval for the 
terms of any such disposal be delegated to the Director of City 
Development;

(b) That in principle support be given to the invitation of proposals for the 
potential development of the pay and display car park and the re-
ordering of the public open space at Belgrave Gardens, for further 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

consideration by the Council, in order to provide an additional capital 
receipt;

(c) That officers be requested to undertake an initial ‘expressions of 
interest’ marketing exercise for the lease of 34-40 New Briggate (i.e. 
the vacant shops under The Grand and Howard Assembly Rooms) with 
a reverse premium payment available (as detailed within the exempt 
Appendix 3 to the submitted report);

(d) That officers be requested to develop an initial feasibility scheme for 
improvements to the public realm of New Briggate and the immediate 
surrounding area;

(e) That officers be requested to continue partnership working and 
improvements to the public realm in order to stimulate the regeneration 
of this area, and to develop options above and beyond the ‘match 
funding’ of any contribution by the Council; and

(f) That officers be requested to report back to Executive Board on 
progress in due course; 

(g) That it be noted that the Head of Land and Property will be responsible 
for the implementation of matters relating to resolutions a), b) and c) 
above and that the Head of Strategic Projects, City Development, will 
be responsible for the implementation of matters regarding resolutions 
d), e) and f) above.

72 Our Transport Vision for a 21st Century Leeds 
The Director of City Development submitted a report setting out a transport 
vision for Leeds as a prosperous, liveable, healthy and sustainable 21st 
century city. In addition, the report recognised the challenges and 
complexities of changing the way we travel into and around the city in order to 
create a more people friendly and productive urban core, identifying the key 
policy principles that the Council would need to adopt in order to deliver a 
transport system fit for a Leeds as a 21st century city.

Members discussed the range of initiatives which were currently being used to 
address the volume of car journeys within the city centre, and also considered 
the issue of car parking provision and the role which such provision could play 
in the overall transport vision.  

When considering the suite of reports which had been submitted to the Board 
regarding pedestrian movement, transport and the public realm, it was 
suggested that when such matters were presented to the Board in the future, 
consideration be given to them being presented as one package.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the transport vision, as outlined in paragraph 3.11 of the 

submitted report be approved, and that the key policy principles, as 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

presented within the paragraphs (a) – (i) of the same report, be 
adopted;

(b) That officers be requested to use the vision and principles to work with 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority in order to help shape the 
Single Transport Plan, and that as part of this, develop a compelling 
ambition for investment in an integrated mass transit network with 
supporting strategic park and ride infrastructure, and HS2 connectivity 
package;

(c) That officers be requested to submit a report to Executive Board in 
2016 which reviews the long term options for the Leeds Inner Ring 
Road;

(d) That in accordance with the Leeds Core Strategy Local Development 
Framework, officers be requested to submit a Car Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document to Executive Board for the 
purposes of adoption during 2016;

(e) That in partnership with the Communications Team and the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority, officers be requested to develop a 
holistic transport communications strategy, compatible with social 
media that engages key stakeholders, government, and the general 
public in a city wide conversation;

(f) That the Director of City Development be instructed to co-ordinate the 
work, as detailed within the resolutions above, with an update being 
submitted to Executive Board in 2016.

73 The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy - Spending of the 
Neighbourhood Fund and Other Spending Matters 
Further to Minute No. 156, 11th February 2015, the Director of City 
Development and the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) 
submitted a joint report detailing the process undertaken to generate spending 
guidance for Community Committees in making decisions on the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Neighbourhood Fund, with a number of potential 
options being presented for consideration. Additionally, the report also 
proposed some minor changes to the Regulation 123 List and the withdrawal 
of the Council’s policy allowing discretionary charitable relief for investment 
activities to address and clarify some implementation issues following 6 
months of charging. 

Prior to the meeting, Board Members had been provided with an updated 
version of the covering report and appendix 3, for their consideration, which 
superseded the versions contained within the original agenda papers. 

Responding to an enquiry, the Board was provided with details of how 
receipts from CIL could potentially be brought forward and incorporated into 
the Council’s budget process.

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

Having discussed the issue of the CIL neighbourhood fund being allocated to 
the local Community Committee in those areas where there was no town or 
parish council, it was highlighted that such matters were already being 
discussed with Community Committee Chairs, and it was noted that Executive 
Board would be kept fully informed as discussions in this area continued. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the CIL neighbourhood fund spending 

guidance for use by Community Committees, as set out in Appendix 1 
to the submitted report;

(b) That the proposed minor changes to the Regulation 123 List, as set out 
in Appendix 2 to the submitted report be agreed, that it be noted that 
such changes will be subject to local consultation and that the Chief 
Planning Officer be authorised to consider any representations made 
and to make any further amendments considered necessary as a 
result of the consultation, prior to the implementation of the revised list;

(c) That approval be given to the removal of the Council’s policy allowing 
discretionary charitable relief for investment activities, to take effect 
from 1 December 2015;

(d) That the amendment to the Community Committee Executive 
Delegation Scheme, as set out within Appendix 3 to the submitted 
report, as revised and circulated to Board Members prior to the 
meeting, be approved, noting that the delegation is shared with the 
Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities); 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Planning Officer will be responsible for 
the implementation of such matters.

74 East Leeds Extension update and next steps 
The Director of City Development submitted a report regarding the progress 
made in planning for the delivery of major housing growth and infrastructure 
investment in the East Leeds Extension. The report also sought specific 
approval on a number of matters which would enable the investment to 
progress.

Members noted how the East Leeds Orbital Road was a key piece of 
infrastructure which was integral to the East Leeds Extension development, 
and as such, raised concerns regarding the lead role that the Council was 
being required to take in order to ensure that the Orbital Road was delivered.  

Following consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the submitted report, together with the positive progress made by 

the Council in its enabling activities to bring forward the major strategic 
growth area of the East Leeds Extension and the major infrastructure 
project for the East Leeds Orbital Road, be noted;

(b) That in principle approval be given to the Council continuing to develop 
a funding case for the costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road through the 
West Yorkshire Plus Transport Fund, prudential borrowing and 
developer contributions, with the Council also continuing to explore 
alternative means of financing;

(c) That the commitment to the East Leeds Orbital Road Roof Tax be 
reaffirmed as the principle mechanism through which developer 
contributions will be secured from the East Leeds Extension towards 
the delivery costs of the East Leeds Orbital Road, as set out in 
paragraphs 3.1.6 – 3.1.8 of the submitted report;

(d) That the programme for the planning, procurement and construction of 
the East Leeds Orbital Road, as set out in paragraphs 3.1.10 – 3.1.13 
of the submitted report be noted, and that approval be given for the 
Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) to submit a detailed 
planning application for the project, in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning;

(e) That the progress made in assembling land to facilitate the route of the 
East Leeds Orbital Road at the Northern Quadrant be noted, and that 
the recommendations, as detailed within the exempt Appendix 2 to the 
submitted report, be approved;

(f) That it be noted that the Council will make land available on the Red 
Hall site for the initial A58 junction infrastructure which will enable 
access to the Northern Quadrant site, as set out in paragraphs 3.3.12 – 
3.3.14 of the submitted report, subject to the discharge of relevant 
statutory processes by the Head of Land and Property and the 
delegated approval of the Director of City Development;

(g) That approval be given for the Chief Planning Officer to prepare and 
publish a Draft Planning Brief for Red Hall, with the detailed timetable 
to be agreed with the Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport 
and Planning;

(h) That approval be given to the approach towards marketing and 
disposal of the Red Hall site, as set out in paragraphs 3.4.18 – 3.4.22 
of the submitted report, with the details to be confirmed by the Director 
of City Development in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, Transport and Planning;

(i) That approval be given for the Chief Planning Officer to prepare and 
publish a Draft Development Framework for the Southern and Middle 

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

Quadrants, with the detailed timetable to be agreed with the Executive 
Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning;

(j) That a co-ordinated programme of public and stakeholder engagement 
for the East Leeds Extension from November 2015 be approved, which 
will include public consultation on the East Leeds Orbital Road, Red 
Hall and the Southern & Middle Quadrants, with the details being 
confirmed by the Head of Regeneration in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning and also 
Ward Members.

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

75 Learning Places Programme - Capital Programme Update 
Further to Minute No. 187, 22nd April 2015, the Director of Children’s Services, 
the Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of City Development submitted a 
joint report presenting an update on the three year strategy for providing 
sufficient school places in the city, and also on the progress made in respect 
of the projects currently forming part of the Learning Places Programme. In 
addition, the report sought the Board’s approval for further authority to spend 
on the programme, and provided an update on the applications submitted and 
approved for access to the programme risk fund.

Prior to the meeting, Board Members had been provided with an updated 
version of appendix B to the submitted report, for their consideration, which 
superseded the version contained within the original agenda papers. 

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update on the 
outcomes of the research undertaken by Leeds Beckett University regarding 
the relationship between the size of a school and the educational outcomes, 
and it was undertaken that full details would be provided to the Member in 
question. 

The Board also received an update on the continued work of the cross-party 
steering group, with emphasis being placed upon the Council’s commitment to 
continue such work on a cross-party basis. 

In discussing the approach being taken by the Council in respect of the 
Learning Places Programme, it was highlighted that although all available 
options would be considered as part of the strategy to ensure there were 
sufficient good quality learning places in Leeds, the key priority was to ensure 
that the specific needs of the local community were met.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That additional authority to spend on the Learning Places programme 

for the Roundhay scheme, with a value of £13m, be approved, which 
resets the overall approval of the schemes currently in the programme 
to £56.355m;

Page 16



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

(b) That approval be given for the balance of the programme risk fund to 
be reset to £5.635m, in order to facilitate effective risk management at 
programme level; 

(c) That approval be given for any savings made on applications to the 
programme risk fund being returned to the risk fund in order to support 
the continued management of programme risks;

(d) That the scale of identified need at primary level, and the indicative 
financial implications of £146m, be noted;

(e) That the projected funding deficit which currently stands at £69.5m and 
is based on Education Funding Agency (EFA) rates, be noted, and that 
it also be noted that this figure is likely to increase due to a number of 
factors, as set out in paragraph 4.4.5 of the submitted report;

(f) That it be noted that the Head of Learning Systems continues to have 
client responsibility for the programme, and that the Chief Officer, 
Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit continues to be 
responsible for the delivery of the projects in the Learning Places 
programme.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 23RD OCTOBER 2015

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 30TH OCTOBER 2015

(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
Monday, 2nd November 2015)  

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Recycling Strategy review

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Recycling in Leeds has been a major success over recent years, with the household 
waste recycling rate climbing from 22.3% in 2006/7 to almost 43% in 2014/15. This has 
seen Leeds become the highest recycling Core City in recent years. 

2. The Council’s kerbside recycling collection services continue to improve, with green bin 
recycling (following the introduction of alternate weekly collections) and recycling at the 
household waste recycling sites still increasing.

3. Partnership working with third sector organisations to increase the re-use of items that 
would otherwise have entered the waste stream continues to expand. The re-use shop 
at the East Leeds household waste recycling site has been a major success, and a 
second shop is now to be developed as part of the wider redevelopment of the Kirkstall 
recycling site approved by Executive Board in September 2015, with construction 
expected to start in early January 2016.  

4. However, these performance increases are being countered primarily due to the 
Council’s waste disposal contractors being able to recover less and less material for 
recycling from black bin waste due to market requirements for increasingly high quality 
recyclables. These current arrangements will shortly be superseded by the transition to 
the new PFI contract with Veolia, which will arrest this decline and safeguard recycling 
from black bin waste at an appropriate level. However, the Council’s recycling strategy 
needs to focus more on the higher quality materials captured through separation at 
source by householders.

5. The net effect of these factors has been a slowing down in the historical increases in 
the recycling rate, to the point where a small decrease is now being observed.

Report author: Andrew Lingham
Tel: 274810

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



6. In December 2011, the Executive Board approved household waste recycling targets of 
55% by 2016, and a longer-term target to exceed 60%. This strategy was based on an 
envisaged investment in the city-wide roll-out of new kerbside services and the capture 
of new recycling streams, in particular food waste and glass.

7. However, the ability to deliver on this expansion of recycling services has been 
inhibited by the current financial pressures and central government funding cuts, with 
other services across the Council currently needing to be prioritised.

8. Whilst it remains the Council’s intention to resume the expansion of recycling collection 
services across the City once resources become available, a new approach is required 
in the medium-term which takes account of the current realities, but also enables 
continued increases in recycling performance to be achieved. It is important that 
targets are set at a level that remains challenging, but yet achievable. 

9. Executive Board is therefore recommended to agree to a revised household waste 
recycling target that is in line with the EU and national target of 50% by 2020, but 
retaining the previous longer-term target to exceed 60%, when resources become 
available. 

10.The strategy for achieving the 50% target will be based on maximising existing 
recycling capacity and infrastructure, and the Council will support this with an effective 
programme of communications, community engagement, policy enforcement and 
service improvement. Capturing more materials for recycling through existing services 
will also reduce waste disposal costs, with a percentage point increase in the overall 
recycling rate achieved through diverting recyclables from the black bin to the green bin 
resulting in a disposal saving of around £250k per annum. However, this target can 
only be achieved through the engagement of all stakeholders with the recycling agenda 
and through a significant behavioural change in this area.

Recommendations

11.Executive Board is recommended to:

a) Note the contents of this report and the current context in relation to recycling 
performance; 

b) Approve a revised target to recycle 50% of household waste by 2020, with the 
longer-term target to exceed 60% remaining unchanged;

c) Approve the medium-term strategy (outlined in section 3.2) to focus on 
maximising existing capacity and infrastructure, supported by an effective 
programme of communications, engagement, enforcement and service 
improvement, but acknowledging the requirement for residents to participate 
fully if the revised target is to be achieved;  

d) Agree to the expansion of the provision of recycling collections on an ‘opt in’ 
basis (in accordance with the Ash Road, Headingley pilot outlined at 3.2.21) 
in areas of the City where there is persistently poor recycling participation; 

e) Agree to the removal of excess bins from the kerbside where households 
have more than the number for which they are eligible as set out within the 
policy agreed by Executive Board in January 2014.

Page 20



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Council’s recycling 
strategy and to seek approval from Executive Board to revise the Council’s 
household waste recycling targets in the light of current financial pressures and 
market related factors, and to bring them in line with current EU and national 
targets. The report also sets out a strategy for ensuring a continued improvement 
in recycling performance through maximising existing services and infrastructure 
and increasing resident participation.

2 Background information
2.1 Recycling in Leeds has been a major success over recent years, with the 

household waste recycling rate climbing from 22.3% in 2006/7 to almost 43% in 
2014/15. This has seen Leeds become the highest recycling Core City in recent 
years.

2.2 The Council’s kerbside recycling collection services continue to improve, with 
green bin recycling (following the introduction of alternate weekly collections) and 
recycling at the household waste recycling sites still increasing.

2.3 Partnership working with third sector organisations to increase the re-use of 
items that would otherwise have entered the waste stream continues to expand. 
The re-use shop at the East Leeds household waste recycling site has been a 
major success, and a second shop is now to be developed as part of the wider 
redevelopment of the Kirkstall recycling site approved by Executive Board in 
September 2015, with construction expected to start in early January 2016.  

2.4 In December 2011, the Executive Board approved a new phase of the Council’s 
recycling strategy and introduced stretched household waste recycling targets of 
55% by 2016, together with a longer-term target to exceed 60%. The current EU 
and national target for household waste recycling is 50% by 2020.

2.5 Since this time, the Service has introduced alternate weekly collections (AWC) of 
black and green bins to approximately 265,000 properties across Leeds. This 
significant change to the Council’s kerbside waste collection service has had a 
beneficial impact on the overall recycling performance, with a 7% increase in the 
level of dry recyclables collected at the kerbside since 2013/14, and a 2% overall 
increase in the recycling rate based on the projected full year effect of the 
completed AWC roll-out city-wide.

2.6 However, consistent with the picture nationally and in the context of the current 
budgetary constraints, the historical increases in recycling performance that have 
been achieved year-on-year have slowed, to the point where a small decrease is 
now being observed in Leeds.

3 Main issues
3.1 Recycling Performance

3.1.1 In spite of this overall picture, it is important to note that the performance of the 
Council’s kerbside recycling collection services continue to improve, with green 
bin recycling (following the introduction of alternate weekly collections) and 
recycling at the household waste recycling sites still increasing.

Page 21



3.1.2 Partnership working with third sector organisations to increase the re-use of 
items that would otherwise have entered the waste stream continues to expand. 
The re-use shop at the East Leeds household waste recycling site has been a 
major success, and a second shop is now to be developed as part of the wider 
redevelopment of the Kirkstall recycling site approved by Executive Board in 
September 2015, with construction expected to start in early January 2016.

3.1.3 However, these performance increases are being countered primarily due to a 
reduction in the level of recycling being achieved from the processing of the City’s 
residual or black bin waste by our disposal contractors. This is primarily due to 
economic factors and reprocessing market requirements for higher quality 
recyclables, also reflected in recent waste legislation. This is resulting in the 
Council’s current waste treatment and disposal contractors sending a greater 
fraction of the residual waste for incineration with energy recovery rather than 
recycling.

3.1.4 These current arrangements will be superseded through the transition to the new 
PFI contract with Veolia, which will arrest this decline and safeguard recycling 
from black bin waste at an appropriate level through the mechanical pre-treatment 
element of the process once the Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility 
commences full operations. However, the emphasis of the Council’s recycling 
strategy needs to be increasingly on securing higher quality and less 
contaminated recyclable materials separated at source by residents.

3.1.5 Garden waste is another significant factor affecting recycling performance, with 
the material collected at the kerbside constituting over a quarter of household 
waste recycling. The levels of garden waste produced each year can be 
significantly affected by the weather conditions, with a substantial decrease in 
tonnages observed between this year and last. It may be prudent in future to 
forecast garden waste tonnages based on a rolling average in order to minimise 
the impact this can appear to have year-on-year on the recycling rate. 

3.1.6 In addition to this, the ability to deliver on the main service developments 
previously identified as necessary to achieve our high recycling targets, in 
particular food waste and glass collections, has been hampered by the current 
financial pressures.

3.1.7 To introduce an additional food waste collection route similar to that currently 
provided to around 12,500 properties in the Rothwell area of the City would cost 
an estimated £165k per annum, even taking account of avoided disposal costs.

3.1.8 As regards glass collections, the inclusion of glass within the green bins has been 
discounted as a method of collection due to changes in legislation, specifically in 
terms of its impact on the quality of the other dry recyclable materials. A four 
weekly separate kerbside glass collection route covering around 24,000 
properties would cost an estimated £140k per annum.

3.1.9 To roll both of these services out to suitable properties city-wide would cost an 
estimated additional £5m per annum.

3.1.10 Therefore, whilst it remains the Council’s long term ambition to roll out these 
additional collections across the City, a new approach is required in the medium-
term which takes account of the current realities, but also enables continued 
increases in recycling performance to be achieved. With the recycling rate for 
2014/15 at 42.8%, the Council’s recycling targets now need to be reviewed and 
set at a level that remains challenging but yet achievable. It is therefore proposed 

Page 22



that the medium-term target be brought in line with the EU and national target of 
50% by 2020, but that the previous longer-term target to exceed 60% remains, 
with the intention of rolling out new services as and when resources become 
available or the net cost of collections improves.

3.2 Maximising existing capacity and infrastructure

3.2.1 The introduction of alternate weekly collections, consistent with research findings 
in this area, is having the desired effect of reducing waste and increasing 
recycling through reducing black bin capacity and balancing this with an increase 
in green bin capacity. 

3.2.2 However, it is clear that this available recycling capacity is not being fully utilised. 
There are significant differences in tonnages collected for recycling across 
different areas of the City, and analysis shows that as much as an additional 7% 
on the recycling rate could be achieved from the green bins alone if all residents 
were participating at the level of those on the highest performing collection routes 
across the City. There are also significant savings to be realised here through the 
avoided waste disposal costs, whether through getting recyclables out of the black 
bins and into the green, or through reducing contamination in the green bins.

3.2.3 Clearly, to close this gap altogether will require a wholesale behavioural change 
across the City and will not be achieved fully in the short-term. However, it does 
show the level of scope for improvement through increasing resident engagement, 
and how essential a part of our recycling strategy addressing this issue needs to 
be. 

3.2.4 The Council clearly has in important role in providing the information, tools and 
services to support high recycling in becoming more of a social norm. A 
programme of co-ordinated communications, marketing, engagement and 
enforcement is therefore required which is informed both by local performance 
data and by research on the most effective means of engaging with the different 
demographic groups across Leeds.

Communications and marketing

3.2.5 In recent years, targeted communications in relation to bins and recycling has 
accompanied major service changes, most notably the phases of introduction of 
alternate weekly collections. With these new services now in place, a more 
intelligent approach to communications is now required which is informed by 
people’s barriers to participation and the media through which communications 
will be most effective.

3.2.6 One of the clear messages arising from consultation with residents is that there is 
a lack of clarity about the materials that should go into green bins. This is 
challenging to communicate since the acceptable materials are driven by 
reprocessing markets, and, especially in the case of plastics, may be specific 
plastic ‘types’ (e.g. PET, HDPE, etc.) rather than simply particular products (e.g. 
plastic bottles). However, this clearly represents a barrier for many people, and 
clarifying and simplifying these messages is essential to improving participation.

3.2.7 It is proposed that our key recycling messages include the following:

Page 23



 Put the right thing in the right bin to provide good quality recycling;
 Remember your bin days and what can be recycled and where;
 Recycle for Leeds so your waste can be made useful again;
 Saving money on waste disposal can safeguard vital local services.

3.2.8 Some of the main areas of action proposed are as follows:

 Distribution of recycling stickers on green bins: refuse collection crews are 
currently working through a programme of placing clear pictorial stickers on 
recycling bins to explain ‘yes please’ and ‘no thanks’ to what goes in the 
green bin; 

 ‘Invest to Save’ marketing campaign: a targeted campaign run in themed 
phases during 2016 aimed at raising awareness of what materials can be 
recycled and why it is important, encouraging people to change their 
behaviours/ routines at home and on promoting the wider recycling 
opportunities available at recycling sites across the City;

 Digital media: this will focus on enabling citizens to engage with the service in 
the ways they want to, via digital channels such as the ‘Leeds Bins App’ (to 
be piloted in late 2015), the website, direct messaging and social media, thus 
also reducing our reliance on costly mass mail-outs where this is not 
required.

Community Engagement

3.2.9 In addition to direct communications with residents, there are significant 
opportunities to secure the desired behavioural change through harnessing the 
capacity within other Council service areas, other sectors and local community 
groups and organisations. 

 Maximising the impact of Council officers: building on initial work with 
Housing and Localities, staff who have regular contact with residents have 
been trained in promoting recycling participation messages as part of their 
daily role on the Leeds’ streets and within their communities. Work will 
continue to maximise the impact of this staffing resource;

 Social contract: developing relationships with community, tenant and third 
sector groups and Community Committees with the intention of securing 
support with recycling messages through their established networks, and to 
explore the potential for establishing ‘contracts’ with targeted groups. The 
Service will also continue to increase waste re-use through its range of 
partnerships with the third sector;

 Incentive schemes: whilst the evidence is not conclusive in terms of the 
benefits of incentive schemes employed by other councils, it is still felt that 
there could be merit in this approach. A potential pilot scheme aimed at 
specific targeted areas or groups of properties is therefore being considered 
based on, for example, offering reward points, short-term competitions 
alongside the ‘invest to save’ marketing campaign or a monthly prize draw. 
Citizens would be required to opt in by making a recycling pledge, and the 
incentive can be either be a community or individual reward. The outcome is 

Page 24



to instil competitive recycling social norm behaviour in citizens and establish 
green bin routines;

 Education programmes: reinforcing positive recycling behaviours in both our 
current and future citizens is a key to ensuring a continual rise in 
environmental performance. The Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility 
(RERF) Visitor Centre will open in March 2016 and will have a modern 
education space in which school groups and the general public can be 
welcomed. This facility was made a requirement of the PFI contract with the 
intention of it providing an environment in which people can hear key 
messages about the Council’s wider waste and recycling strategy, as well as 
just relating to the RERF itself. The popular schools recycling champions 
programme was launched over the summer and is being offered to all 
schools in Leeds. This work ensures that learning in the classroom is 
transferred to the home. A learning package outlining the benefits of 
recycling has been developed with the Council’s training partner QA, and will 
be rolled out to Council staff and made available for the public. 

 Retailer partnerships: the Service will explore closer working with the 
commercial sector and major retailers to help increase the impact of waste 
minimisations and recycling messages through our initial work on projects 
like ‘Love Food, Hate Waste’ and via businesses associated with Academy 
schools.

Enforcement of policies

3.2.10 In January 2014, Executive Board formally adopted a range of waste collection 
policies aimed at clearly communicating the role and responsibilities of the 
Council and residents in managing household waste and increasing recycling. 

3.2.11 Since this time, the Service has been focused primarily on the implementation of 
alternate weekly collections (AWC), and in particular the policy of not collecting 
side waste (i.e. additional bags of non-recyclable waste not contained within the 
wheeled bin) in AWC areas.

3.2.12 The wider policies also cover the issues of contaminated recycling bins and the 
number of bins to which residents are entitled.

3.2.13 Regarding numbers of bins to which households are entitled, whilst there are 
some instances in which additional bins are permitted (for example, larger 
families), evidence suggests that there is a fairly significant number of properties 
with multiple black bins for which they are not eligible. Clearly this does nothing to 
encourage the residents to minimise waste and recycle more, and the Council will 
undoubtedly also be collecting and having to pay for the disposal of some level of 
commercial waste as a result of this excessive residual waste capacity being 
available. There is also a significant cost to the Council of providing new bins to 
residents (approximately £250k per annum).

3.2.14 The Service is working with the Contact Centre to try to filter out requests where 
residents are ineligible, though it is difficult to prove eligibility. Many other 
authorities now charge residents for new bins. Whilst the Administration does not 
support a policy of charging due to the impact on those making legitimate 

Page 25



requests, a stronger line on enforcement needs to be taken. The Service therefore 
intends, where operationally practicable, to remove additional bins at the kerbside 
where they are clearly in excess of the entitlement so as to bring the City in line 
with the Council’s agreed policies.

3.2.15 As regards contaminated bins, when collection crews become aware of a 
contaminated bin, a sticker or tag will be used to explain why the bin was not 
emptied and to request that the householder remove and make arrangements for 
the safe and appropriate disposal of any contaminating material prior to the next 
scheduled collection.

3.2.16 However, if a recycling bin at a particular property is found to be persistently 
contaminated such that it becomes a cause of nuisance, this may result in the 
removal of the bin.

3.2.17 Where residents are persistently not abiding by the Council’s policies, formal 
enforcement action may also be pursued. The Council’s Localities service is 
currently reviewing its policies further to the Deregulation Act 2015 legislative 
change relating to Environmental Protection Act Section 46 fixed penalty notices 
(FPNs) to determine a robust approach to issuing these notices where bins have 
not been used or placed for collection according to policy. Where contamination 
(or side waste) is regularly present and other courses of action to address the 
issues have been exhausted, it is anticipated that an FPN may then be issued.

Collection Service Design

3.2.18 AWC areas: The new alternate weekly collection (AWC) service, which is now 
provided to over 75% of properties in Leeds, has been very successful, resulting 
in an increase in recycling at the kerbside. However, there are still parts of the 
City in receipt of AWC where resident participation and the presentation of bins is 
low, resulting in some level of spare capacity within the Service which could 
potentially be released through further re-design of collection routes. Further 
analysis will therefore be carried out to assess the scope for releasing this 
capacity through alternative models of city-wide route design, which could then 
potentially be redeployed into expanding recycling services.

3.2.19 Non-AWC areas: the remaining 25% of properties not deemed suitable for AWC 
generally either have physical constraints due to property types, are within areas 
of high transient population, or have other social or cultural factors affecting 
recycling participation. This results in low recycling rates, high green bin 
contamination levels and regular side waste.

3.2.20 It is within these areas that different, tailored collection arrangements need to be 
considered. This may involve alternative or communal collection arrangements for 
particular clusters of properties or high-rise flats where the current system is not 
working effectively.

3.2.21 Alternatively, there are areas where recycling participation is persistently so poor, 
due to the nature of the community, that the existing service is proving fruitless. 
The Ash Road pilot in Headingley, where the green bins were actually withdrawn 
and an ‘opt-in’ service offered, has been successful, and there are other areas of 
the City where this model will be appropriate. As well as addressing the issue of 

Page 26



non-participation in recycling or wholesale contamination of green bins, this 
strategy has also addressed the broader ‘street-scene’ issues associated with the 
number of bins left out on these streets. 

3.2.22 It is therefore proposed to develop a costed and prioritised plan, in consultation 
with Members, to deliver alternative collection solutions in priority areas, including 
an expansion of the Ash Road model where appropriate.

Recycling Sites

3.2.23 The eight household waste recycling sites across the City also provide a major 
contribution to the recycling rate, accounting for almost a quarter. The Service 
also operates an extensive network of around 380 recycling bank sites located 
across Leeds. Enhancing the level of waste re-use and recycling at the HWRSs 
(notably through the imminent redevelopment of the Kirkstall Road site and a 
second ‘re-use shop’) and seeking to expand the network of recycling banks city-
wide will also form an important part of the strategy to maximise existing capacity 
and infrastructure.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The waste collection policies referred to in this report have been consulted on 
previously and were approved by Executive Board in January 2014.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 A screening report has been completed and submitted to the Equalities Team, 
and is appended to this report.

4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposed strategy is consistent with the Best Council Plan 2015–20, in terms 
of contributing to:

 Dealing effectively with the City’s waste, by proposing a long term solution to  
disposing of waste and encouraging recycling;

 Becoming a more efficient and enterprising council, through a reduction in 
landfill costs.

4.3.2 Although the proposed reduction in the recycling target may be perceived as a 
lessening of the Council’s ambition in this area, it is essential that targets, whilst 
remaining stretching, are realistic and supported by a deliverable strategy. Setting 
a revised target takes account of the realities of the current financial pressures, 
whilst seeking to ensure that continued improvements in recycling performance 
are achieved.

Page 27



4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The proposed strategy clearly takes account of the current financial pressures, 
and focuses on maximising the value from existing capacity and infrastructure.

4.4.2 It should be noted that the Waste Strategy overall, primarily through the PFI 
contract with Veolia, will deliver savings of around £4m per annum from next year 
compared to this year’s budgeted levels, and around £6.8m in total compared to 
the projected costs of a continued reliance on landfill.

4.4.3 It is proposed that around £250k be invested in the programme of 
communications, engagement and enforcement detailed within 3.2 above, and 
that a resulting increase in the recycling rate of 2% be targeted for 2016/17. 

4.4.4 A single percentage point increase in the overall recycling rate achieved through 
diverting recyclables from the black bin to the green bin would result in a disposal 
saving of around £250k per annum.

        
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The recommendations in this report have been developed with regard to the 
Council’s ongoing statutory duties as Waste Collection Authority under the 
Environmental Protection Act and other relevant legislation.

4.5.2 The Service has taken advice from Legal Services on the potential risk of 
challenge in relation to a withdrawal of kerbside recycling collections in specific 
areas of the City given the requirements of waste legislation. The risk and 
potential impact of a challenge is considered to be very small, especially in light of 
the proposal to offer the ability to ‘opt in’ to those wanting to continue to receive 
recycling collections.

4.5.3 The legal issues relating to enforcement action are covered in 3.2.17 above.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 A failure to achieve the 50% EU and national target could potentially have 
implications for the Council should Central Government decide to impose some 
form of sanction.

4.6.2 The PFI business case for the residual waste treatment solution is also predicated 
on achieving this level of recycling performance, and DEFRA could seek to link 
this to the payment of Waste Infrastructure Credits, although this has not been 
explicitly stated. 

5 Conclusions

5.1 The Council’s kerbside recycling collection services continue to improve, with 
green bin recycling (following the introduction of alternate weekly collections) and 
recycling at the household waste recycling sites still increasing. Partnership 
working with third sector organisations to increase the re-use of items that would 
otherwise have entered the waste stream also continues to expand.

Page 28



5.2 However, whilst it remains the Council’s ambition to roll out further recycling 
collection services across the City, the current budgetary pressures mean that this 
is unachievable at this time. A new approach is required in the medium-term which 
takes account of the current realities, but also enables continued increases in 
recycling performance to be achieved. It is therefore proposed that the medium-
term target be brought in line with the EU and national target of 50% by 2020, but 
that the previous longer-term target to exceed 60% remains, with the intention of 
rolling out new services as and when resources become available or the net cost 
of collections improves.

5.3 The strategy for achieving the 50% target will be based on maximising existing 
recycling capacity and infrastructure, and the Council will support this with an 
effective programme of communications, community engagement, enforcement 
against agreed policies and service improvements. This target will only be 
achieved through effective partnership working between all stakeholders in the 
City to ensure engagement with the recycling agenda and a significant behavioural 
change in this area.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

a) Note the contents of this report and the current context in relation to recycling 
performance; 

b) Approve a revised target to recycle 50% of household waste by 2020, with the 
longer-term target to exceed 60% remaining unchanged;

c) Approve the medium-term strategy (outlined in section 3.2) to focus on 
maximising existing capacity and infrastructure, supported by an effective 
programme of communications, engagement, enforcement and service 
improvement, but acknowledging the requirement for residents to participate 
fully if the revised target is to be achieved;  

d) Agree to the expansion of the provision of recycling collections on an ‘opt in’ 
basis (in accordance with the Ash Road, Headingley pilot outlined at 3.2.21) 
in areas of the City where there is persistently poor recycling participation; 

e) Agree to the removal of excess bins from the kerbside where households 
have more than the number for which they are eligible as set out within the 
policy agreed by Executive Board in January 2014.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None.

 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Environment & Housing Service area: Waste Management 

 
Lead person: Andrew Lingham 
 

Contact number: 274810 

 
1. Title: Recycling Strategy review 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
In light of current financial pressures, Executive is Board being recommended to 
approve amended recycling targets and a medium-term strategy to increase 
recycling by maximising existing capacity and infrastructure through a programme of 
targets communications, engagement, enforcement and service improvement.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 31



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
Clearly, waste and recycling collection services affect all residents and have important 
links to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. However, for the most part, the 
proposals contained within the Executive Board report are simply a consolidation of the 
Council’s existing waste collection  policies agreed in January 2014. There are some 
specific issues within the proposals that have been assessed in terms of their impacts, 
and this assessment is set out below. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The broad proposals to focus the medium-term recycling strategy on maximising existing 
services and infrastructure are not deemed to have any specific impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration, except that enhanced, more intelligent and more 
targeted resident communications and engagement will serve to improve accessibility of 
and participation in recycling services where there are challenges in terms of the physical 
characteristics of properties or areas, or in terms of cultural or language issues.  
 
Improvements in the quality of information about services, in the range of media used for 
communicating, in equipping a wider range of Council staff to advise on waste and 
recycling related issues, in engaging with Community Committees to target activities, and 
in engaging with schools more effectively in relation to recycling messages, will all result 
in local environmental improvements and therefore have a positive impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
Proposals to remove green bins in areas where recycling participation is persistently poor 
may be perceived as having a negative impact on equality. However, it should be noted 
that one of the drivers for adopting this approach is to address the broader ‘street-scene’ 
issues associated with the number of bins left out on streets in these areas, thereby 
producing improvements in the quality of the local environment. It should also be noted 
that the green bin collection service would still be provided on an ‘opt in’ basis, and 
therefore those wishing to retain this service will be able to do so. 
 
It will be essential to ensure that effective consultation is carried with local communities 
and Elected Members where tailored waste collection solutions are required.  
 

Page 33



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Programmes of consultation with relevant stakeholders: ensure robust engagement with 
developing waste and recycling collection services, particularly in areas not suitable for 
standard alternate weekly collections. 
 
Use insight data to provide information on specific community perspectives or issues 
(e.g. the Citizens Panel), and use established links with third sector organisations like 
Voluntary Action Leeds to test communications messaging and involve different 
community segments in shaping the Council’s plans to tackle waste and recycling isues.  
 
Target communications activity and tailor messages to specific communities where 
appropriate (e.g. during the roll out of alternate weekly collections a leaflet was produced 
with a strong pictorial element and text in community langauges to ensure a broad 
message reach). 
  
Accessible services: ensuring equality of access to all services through providing a range 
of information digitally, in hard copy or face-to-face in Council buildings or through the 
dedicated Waste and Recycling Advisors.  

 
 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
Neil Evans 
 

 
Director of Environment 
and Housing 

 
6/11/15 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 

Page 34



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

5

a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed 26/10/15 

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

6/11/15 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

6/11/15 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: South Bank Regeneration

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 10.4 (3)

Appendix number: 1

Summary of main issues 

1. Leeds has an expanding city centre that is a critical part of the city’s ambitions to have 
a strong economy and be a compassionate city. The growth of the city centre is seeing 
further investment through new developments within the South Bank. This includes 
residential led developments at Tower Works, Ironworks and Low Fold, the new 
contemporary arts venue the Tetley and the major hubs for the digital economy at 
Round Foundry and Leeds Dock. 

2. In recent months, there have been further investments made in the South Bank. Vastint 
has acquired the 21 acre Carlsberg Tetley site and Commercial Estates Group, 
developers of Kirkstall Forge, has acquired 6 acres of land along Globe Road referred 
to as the Holbeck portfolio. The HS2 station location review is nearing completion and 
this will provide further impetus to regeneration opportunities within the South Bank. 

3. Building on this momentum, on November 3rd 2015, the global luxury brand Burberry 
detailed that they had undertaken a strategic review of their UK operation given their 
need to modernise and expand their UK manufacturing operations. The outcome of this 
is that Burberry intend to:

 Locate their UK manufacturing operation to Leeds South Bank for the production of 
its most iconic product, the heritage trench coat.

 Develop new state of the art manufacturing facilities with a key focus on 
environmental sustainability that will provide increased capacity for Burberry to 
produce the trench coat and potential to produce other products.

Report author: Martin Farrington/ 
Lee Arnell

Tel:  x75408

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 Invest an initial sum of over £50m in this proposal.

 Through this facility, provide employment for more than 1,000 people and a 
commitment to deliver a bespoke apprenticeship programme designed to preserve 
unique textile manufacturing skills in Yorkshire.

4. This report therefore seeks Executive Board approval to the principles by which the 
Council will support this initial investment in the South Bank by Burberry. In particular 
this seeks approval to commence close working with city region partners to maximise 
the economic and employment benefits across the city region.

5. Burberry also has initial proposals for future phases of development to restore and 
renew the Grade I listed and at risk Temple Works building and develop on land 
neighbouring Temple Works within the South Bank. 

6. Members will recall that large parts of Temple Works are vacant and there was a 
structural failure in 2008 with significant investment required to bring about its 
restoration. This has contributed to there being no viable development proposals in 
place to restore Temple Works and Historic England placing it on its ‘buildings at risk’ 
register.  The challenges facing Temple Works mean that a conventional development 
has not been viable.

7. In July 2015, after a failed Heritage Lottery Fund bid by a charitable trust to restore 
Temple Works, Executive Board agreed to “re-affirm that securing funding to support 
the restoration of Temple Works is a priority for the city given its at-risk status, and 
request that officers continue to work with third parties to facilitate its restoration”. 

8. Burberry’s initial proposals for the potential restoration of Temple Works are subject to 
further technical appraisal, scheme design, cost planning, approvals, land assembly 
and securing the support of the Council. Prior to Burberry finalising proposals to restore 
Temple Works, further certainty is required on these areas. A critical component of this 
is Council support and Council support is required to provide greater certainty to this 
phase of development. 

9. Accordingly, this report therefore also seeks Executive Board approval on how the 
Council proposes to work with Burberry to secure investment that results in the full 
restoration and long term sustainable use of Temple Works as well as regeneration of 
surrounding land. Agreeing to the policy principles will enable proposals to be 
developed in further detail, prior to any final commitments being made by Burberry and 
the Council. 

10.Securing the initial investment and proposals for investment in Temple Works would be 
transformational to the Leeds South Bank and reinforce the city’s international 
reputation as a centre for excellence in the cloth and textile industry.  The proposals 
would achieve objectives to secure sustainable and inclusive economic growth through 
the major investment and supply chain and employment growth that the investment 
would provide. 

Page 38



Recommendations

11.Executive Board is asked to agree:

i) The Council’s support for Burberry’s proposals to relocate a significant part of its UK 
manufacturing operations to Leeds South Bank as detailed in this report. 

ii) The Council’s support for Burberry’s initial proposals to restore Temple Works and 
land neighbouring Temple Works as part of future phases of development.

iii) The policy principles set out at section 5 of this report and the commercial terms 
detailed at exempt appendix 1 as a basis by which the Council will seek to help to 
secure the delivery of this inward investment opportunity, and produce legal 
documents for agreement with Burberry.

iv) That the Director of City Development, in accordance with recommendations i), ii) 
and iii):

a. produces and negotiates legal agreements with Burberry for the disposal of 
Council assets at Bath Road, Sweet Street and Leodis Court and where 
necessary develops a vacant possession strategy for these assets.

b. produces and negotiates a grant agreement with Burberry setting out the 
terms by which the Council will provide a restoration grant to help to restore 
Temple Works. 

c. produces and negotiates a grant agreement to a cap of £750,000 for the 
provision of  new public open space at the front of Temple Works and 
allocates £560,000 of moneys held in the Holbeck Urban Village Public 
Realm fund for this provision. 

d. commences close working with city region partners on how to mitigate any 
potential adverse implications, and develops proposals to maximise the 
economic and employment benefits across the city region. 

e. brings a report back to Executive Board by June 2016 providing an update 
on progress and seeking approval to enter into legal agreements once 
negotiated and finalised, and, if required, approval to make a Compulsory 
Purchase Order  to ensure that the land assembly required to deliver 
Burberry’s scheme can be fulfilled. 

v) That the Chief Planning Officer prepares a bespoke and updated Planning 
Guidance document for Temple Works and surrounding sites to guide the 
development proposals in this area and for this to be submitted to Executive Board 
by March 2016 as a basis for public consultation.  

vi) That the Council’s land at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street be 
appropriated for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to 
facilitate Burberry’s proposals and the proper planning of the area. 

Page 39



1. Purpose of this report

1.1. This report seeks Executive Board approval for the Council’s support to a major 
inward investment opportunity for the city. Specifically this is to support Burberry’s 
initial proposals to relocate their UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South 
Bank. It also sets out the policy principles by which the Council would work with 
Burberry to secure the restoration and long term sustainable use of Temple Works 
as part of further plans for future phases of development. 

2. Background information

2.1. The South Bank regeneration area is one of the largest city centre regeneration 
initiatives in Europe. At its July meeting, Executive Board considered progress 
being made within the South Bank and agreed policy principles to help guide 
forward future investment.

2.2. Since that report, there have been further investments made within the South 
Bank. Vastint has acquired the 21 acre Carlsberg Tetley site and Commercial 
Estates Group, developers of Kirkstall Forge, has acquired 6 acres of land along 
Globe Road referred to as the Holbeck portfolio. The HS2 station location review 
is nearing completion and this will provide further impetus and certainty to 
regeneration opportunities within the South Bank.

2.3. One area of the South Bank that is a priority for regeneration is Temple Works 
and sites in its hinterland within Holbeck Urban Village. Members will recall that 
the third party owned Temple Works is located in the Holbeck Urban Village 
district of the South Bank and is a building of international significance. Notable 
elements include:

 an Egyptian style frontage modelled on the Temple of Edfu 

 it being the location of the world’s first hydraulic lift and home to what was 
proclaimed to be the largest room in the world at 2 acres.

 innovative engineering techniques in its construction and demonstrates 
pioneering techniques environmental sustainability. 

 use as a flax mill in the 19th century and was used in the latter parts of the 20th 
Century as a factory and warehouse for Kays catalogue until closure in 2004.

2.4. Since its closure, the building has had a challenging history and:

 the condition of the building has deteriorated. In 2008, there was a structural 
failure at the building that resulted in part of the frontage being removed and 
scaffolding has provided support since. The extent of repairs required to 
secure the future of the building longer term is substantial.

 Historic England placed the building on its buildings at risk register. 

Page 40



 parts of the building that are safe to use have been used for a diverse range of 
cultural and arts activities since 2008, although the main space remains out of 
use

2.5. The challenge in restoring this unique heritage asset makes securing a 
sustainable long term use challenging and a traditional development has not 
proved to be viable to date. 

2.6. The Council holds and has acquired land neighbouring Temple Works with a view 
of helping to facilitate its timely restoration (see plan A). In November 2014, 
Executive Board gave in principle support (subject to the production of a viable 
business case), to a Charitable Trust seeking to progress a Heritage Lottery Fund 
grant application to restore Temple Works as an Art Gallery. The bid was 
unsuccessful owing to HLF concerns on the deliverability and sustainability of the 
proposals. In the absence of HLF support, it is not considered that this proposal is 
viable.

2.7. With the Trust’s bid being unsuccessful, Executive Board agreed at its July 
meeting to “re-affirm that securing funding to support the restoration of Temple 
Works is a priority for the city given its at-risk status, and request that officers 
continue to work with third parties to facilitate its restoration”.

3. Main issues

3.1. On 3rd November 2015,  Burberry PLC announced their proposals to locate their 
manufacturing operations in Leeds South Bank, and initial plans for a future phase 
of development to restore Temple Works and neighbouring land.  Details of 
Burberry, their proposals and how the Council can support the proposals are set 
out below

3.2. Burberry PLC

3.2.1. Founded in 1856, Burberry is a global luxury brand with a distinctive British 
heritage built around its core iconic outerwear. Burberry is listed on the London 
Stock Exchange is a constituent of the FTSE 100 index. 

3.2.2. The Company designs, makes, sources and sells products under the Burberry 
brand. Product design and development are centred in Burberry’s London 
headquarters. Fabrics and other materials are bought from, and finished products 
manufactured at, both Company-owned facilities in the UK and through an 
external supplier network, predominantly located in Europe. 

3.2.3. Burberry sells through a diversified network of retail (including digital), wholesale 
and licensing channels worldwide. In the year ended 31 March 2015, Asia Pacific 
represented 38% of Burberry’s revenue, Europe, Middle East, India and Africa 
(EMEIA) 35% and Americas 27%. At 30 September 2015, Burberry globally had 
218 retail stores, 218 concessions, 57 outlets and 60 franchise stores.

3.2.4. Burberry employs 11,000 employees across 34 countries.

Page 41



3.2.5. In the year ended 31 March 2015 Burberry’s revenue was £2.5 billion with 
adjusted profits before tax of £456 million. Burberry allocates 1% of its profits 
before tax to social and charitable causes including The Burberry Foundation 
which was created to help young people realise their full potential. 

3.2.6. Since its launch in 2008, the Foundation has supported over 40 youth charities 
around the world, directly and indirectly impacting the lives of over 150,000 young 
people. Further Burberry was the UK’s first luxury retailer and manufacturer to 
achieve accreditation as a UK Living Wage employer. This focus is aligned to the 
city’s ambition for compassionate and inclusive growth and child friendly status.

3.3. Burberry’s Proposals

3.3.1. Burberry oversee a large global operation. On November 3rd, Burberry detailed 
that they had undertaken a strategic review of their UK operation given their need 
to modernise and expand their UK manufacturing. The outcome of this is that 
Burberry intend to:

 Locate their UK manufacturing operation to Leeds South Bank for the 
production of its most iconic product, the heritage trench coat.

 Develop new state of the art manufacturing facilities with a key focus on 
environmental sustainability that will provide increased capacity for Burberry to 
produce the trench coat and potential to produce other products.

 Invest an initial sum of over £50m in this proposal.

 Through this facility, provide employment for more than 1,000 people and a 
commitment to deliver apprenticeship programme designed to preserve unique 
textile manufacturing skills in Yorkshire.

3.3.2. In doing so, Burberry would close and relocate smaller operations from Wakefield 
and Craven districts within the city region. However, Burberry has indicated that 
employees at their existing operations would have their roles transferred to Leeds 
and is committed to bringing about the timely reuse of the vacated sites in the City 
Region. The intention would be for the first phase of development to commence 
along Sweet Street West for the delivery of this state of the art manufacturing 
facility. 

3.3.3. Burberry’s facilities in Leeds would be a key part of its global operation. Burberry 
also has plans for future phases of development in the South Bank. Plan A shows 
an indicative boundary of land that Artisan may potentially develop on as part of 
their expansion in Yorkshire. 

3.3.4. Specifically, this includes initial proposals for Burberry to restore and secure the 
long term sustainable future of Temple Works and Burberry has an agreement to 
acquire Temple Works. Future phases of development are not yet finalised and 
are subject to further technical appraisal, scheme design, cost planning, 
approvals, land assembly and securing the support of the Council.

Page 42



3.4. Benefits to the City

3.4.1. The proposals of Burberry to relocate their manufacturing operations to the UK 
are beneficial to the city in that

 They will bring over 1,000 jobs to the city. 

 Burberry’s commitment to social programmes, directly and through the 
Burberry Foundation, would provide substantial benefits to the city’s 
employment and skills agenda, and the opportunities for collaboration with the 
city’s schools, colleges and universities and aspiring designers. 

 they would bring about the physical regeneration of a substantial part of the 
South Bank.

 they would re-invigorate and provide impetus to the city’s core strengths in the 
cloth trade and profile for the local supply chain to major international markets 
in America and Asia. 

3.4.2. The initial proposals to restore Temple Works and develop other sites in the South 
Bank, would be even more transformational to Leeds as they would bring about 
the restoration of the at risk Temple Works and will secure its long term 
sustainable future. Securing future phases of development would also bring about 
the physical regeneration of over 20 acres of land in the Leeds South Bank and 
would, in effect, bring about the near completion of the physical regeneration of 
Holbeck Urban Village

3.4.3. Put simply, the proposals have the potential to be transformational for the city and 
represents an inward investment and regeneration opportunity of national 
significance. 

3.5. Council’s Role

3.5.1. In light of the substantial benefits that would be delivered to Leeds, it is proposed, 
therefore, that the Council agrees at this early stage the level of support it can 
provide to the inward investment opportunity to help ensure that the scheme 
proposed is deliverable and the inward investment to Leeds is secured. 

3.5.2. Given the status of Temple Works as a complex listed building ‘at risk’, a 
conventional development at this site is not considered to be viable. In absence of 
a viable proposition, the long term future of Temple Works is very uncertain. 
There is clear rationale for the Council to provide support to proposals that seek to 
bring about the restoration of Temple Works given its international significance. 

3.5.3. The principles by which the Council can support the proposals are set out below 
for Executive Board approval both for the manufacturing facility and initial 
proposals for future phases - specifically the proposed restoration of Temple 
Works. 

Page 43



3.6. Council Assets

3.6.1. The Council owns 7 acres of land surrounding Temple Works at Bath Road, 
Leodis Court and Sweet Street after Executive Board approved the acquisition of 
Leodis Court in March 2014. (see plan A). 

3.6.2. Executive Board previously supported the principle of the Council’s land being 
used to facilitate the restoration of Temple Works. This was on the basis of the 
land being sold to an organisation developing Temple Works. 

3.6.3. To support the land assembly of the proposals and to enable the restoration of 
Temple Works, it is proposed that the Council disposes of its assets within 
Holbeck Urban Village to Burberry on a best price open market basis as per the 
terms set out in exempt Appendix 1 and on the basis that the disposal will support 
the full restoration of Temple Works. 

3.6.4. Whilst values and specific terms are to be agreed, they will be brought back for 
Executive Board approval in June 2016. There will also be further diligence to 
produce a vacant possession plan for the Council owned assets.

3.6.5. Executive Board is advised that these assets are currently held either for general 
purposes pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972 (Leodis Court and Sweet 
Street) or for housing purposes pursuant to the Housing Act 1985 (Bath Road) or 
for planning purposes pursuant to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

3.6.6. In order to facilitate Burberry’s proposed future phases of development and in the 
interests of the proper planning of the area, it is proposed that, in so far as it is not 
already held for such purposes, all of the Council’s land should be appropriated 
for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. If appropriated for 
this purpose, this means that any disposal of the land must then comply with the 
provisions of Section 223 of the Act. This means that the land must be disposed 
of in such manner and subject to such conditions as are expedient to secure the 
best use of the land or the proper planning of the area. 

3.6.7. Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that the Council may 
appropriate any land which it owns and which is no longer required for the 
purpose for which it is held for any other purpose which the Council is authorised 
to acquire land by agreement.

3.6.8. Section 227 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that (subject to 
the Council being satisfied that the proposed works are likely to contribute to the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of 
the area) the Council may acquire by agreement any land which is required to 
facilitate the carrying out of development, redevelopment or improvement work on 
or in relation to that land. Section 227 also authorises the Council to acquire by 
agreement any land which is required in the interests of the proper planning of the 
area.

3.6.9. As set out in this report, Burberry’s initial and proposed development will have a 
significant impact on the economic, social and environmental well-being of the 
area, and it is recommended that Executive Board should agree to the Council’s 

Page 44



land being appropriated for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (in so far as it is not already held for such purposes) on the basis that the 
land in question is no longer required for the purposes which it is currently held 
and that the development is likely to promote and/or improve the economic, social 
and environmental well-being of the area. 

3.7. Funding

3.7.1. Alongside selling its land, it is also proposed that the Council provides Burberry 
with a restoration grant for the restoration of Temple Works subject to compliance 
with the European Commission’s rules as to the provision of State aid. Put simply, 
these rules prevent state resources from being used in a way which would give an 
undertaking an advantage over its competitors and would be likely to distort 
competition between EU member states. Certain exemptions to the rules do exist 
including an exemption for the provision of up to 100m euros’ worth of aid for 
acquiring, safeguarding, preserving, restoring and rehabilitating historic buildings 
or sites, and any grant to Burberry will have to comply with the terms and 
conditions of this exemption.

3.7.2. The proposed terms by which a restoration grant would be provided and 
recommendations on next steps are proposed for approval in exempt appendix 1. 
The next steps would be to negotiate a grant agreement and to agree funding 
sources for this. It could, for example, be funded using the sales proceeds from 
the Council selling its assets. 

3.7.3. Executive Board had previously agreed the principle that Temple Works is a 
priority project in terms of securing third party funding. The proposals of Burberry 
are dependent on securing external funding support and there is scope for the 
proposals to secure Local Growth Fund, or Regional Growth Fund investments. It 
is proposed that the Council works with Burberry to support funding bids that may 
be required to enable the delivery of the scheme as well as associated activities 
that provide benefits to the local economy.  

3.8. More Jobs: Better Jobs

3.8.1. This proposal presents one of the single largest employment opportunities in the 
South Bank. This would be a major opportunity to secure employment and training 
opportunities for residents across the city and city region and ensure that this 
growth is compassionate and benefits local communities. 

3.8.2. There is also a major opportunity to support the economic growth of the local 
supply chain across the Leeds City Region – particularly in the cloth sector and 
creative organisations and designers. There are opportunities for Burberry to 
collaborate with local universities and colleges to support the city region’s skills 
agenda. 
 

3.8.3. Notwithstanding this, the proposals will bring about displacement of existing 
employment within the Leeds City Region at Burberry’s existing operations. As 
highlighted above, Burberry intends that all staff at these operations will have their 
roles transferred to Leeds and is committed to securing the timely reuse of 

Page 45



vacated sites in the city region.  Burberry is also committed to developing 
proposals to ensure a positive economic benefit for the city region’s supply chain.

3.8.4. The proposed future phases of development may also see existing businesses in 
Holbeck Urban Village relocated. 

3.8.5. Executive Board will recall that parts of Temple Works that are safe to use are 
used as an arts facility through a licence agreement and a temporary planning 
consent. Managed by Cornerstone Strategies, the programme of activities and 
commitment of volunteers have ensured Temple Works remains operational and 
open to the public in recent years.  In doing so, Cornerstone and their tenants 
have helped raise awareness of the unique heritage of Temple Works and the 
challenges it faces. On the basis that proposals to restore Temple Works are 
finalised, there would be a long term and permanent use for Temple Works. It is 
understood that the current use will therefore come to an end at an appropriate 
time. It is proposed that, should it be required, officers offer advice and support to 
Cornerstone and their tenants to identify how their operations could best be 
supported moving forward in the short, medium and long term.

3.8.6. Whilst the proposals of the potential inward investment opportunity may not be 
positively received by the potentially affected businesses and organisations where 
there is displacement, the proposals will, overall, be beneficial to the city region. 

3.8.7. It is considered that the Council can support the proposals whilst offering advice 
to businesses and cultural operations who may be displaced.  Accordingly, it is 
proposed that the Council supports Burberry’s proposals on the basis that:

 a clear plan is in place to minimise any potential job losses to the city region 
economy. 

 the Council and Burberry offers support to existing businesses and cultural 
organisations in Holbeck Urban Village that may be affected by the initial 
developments and proposed future phases

 
 both Burberry and Leeds City Council work proactively with relevant councils 

in the Leeds City Region area to ensure that there is a mitigation plan in place 
to address the impact of displacement and the timely reuse of vacated sites.  

 Burberry and the Council will work together to leverage an enhanced 
economic impact across the Leeds City Region including the development of 
the supply chain in partner districts outside of Leeds.

 the Council and Burberry develop an employment and skills plan to maximise 
training and employment opportunities across the city region, including close 
collaboration with training and education providers. 

3.9. Enabling Public Realm

3.9.1. The proposed inward investment opportunity will facilitate the regeneration of a 
substantial part of HUV and the development will be expected to contribute to 
public space and highways works as part of their development.

Page 46



3.9.2. The Council is responsible for the delivery of public realm, highways works and 
connectivity improvements on adopted highways within Holbeck Urban Village. 
Under the previous Section 106 regime, developers paid S106 sums to the 
Council and these sums are, under the terms of the S106 agreements, available 
to fund Public Realm enhancements in and close to the area. 

3.9.3. It is proposed that a priority is to use this funding to support the delivery of a major 
new public space in front of Temple Works - a space that is in close proximity to 
successful developments across the area at Marshall Mill, Round Foundry, the 
Mint and the residential developments at Ingram Row. This space would benefit 
residents and businesses across the area and act as a central arrival space for 
South Bank. It is proposed that the Council contributes a maximum of £750,000 of 
grant funding to support the delivery of this new public open space. 

3.9.4. Accordingly, it is proposed that £560,000 of remaining S106 sums from the 
Holbeck Urban Village Public Realm fund is allocated to help fund new public 
space at the front of Temple Works. This will be delivered as part of Burberry’s 
proposed scheme but the space would be accessible and a major new city centre 
public space and would be then owned and controlled by the Council. 

3.9.5. In terms of State Aid, the proposed grant is permissible under EU legislation, 
subject to there being no commercial exploitation of the space and access to it 
being available to all on a non-discriminatory basis 

3.9.6. It is proposed that the Council can also enable the delivery of the inward 
investment opportunity by making improvements to the highway network and 
public realm near to the proposed investment. 

3.10. Compulsory Purchase Order

3.10.1. The proposals for the initial investments in manufacturing facilities and future 
phases of development cover 20 acres of land of the South Bank and will require 
the assembly of land owned by third parties. There are a number of landowners in 
the vicinity of Temple Works and Burberry is proactively seeking to acquire 
relevant land interests. An indicative boundary of land that Burberry is seeking to 
assemble to deliver their proposals is set out in Plan A. This boundary is subject 
to further refinement and finalisation, although some landownerships are 
considered necessary to bring about the restoration of Temple Works. 

3.10.2. Given the scale of land necessarily involved for the comprehensive scheme and 
interests and rights potentially affected by this proposal, Burberry is seeking the 
support of the Council in terms of land assembly including the use of compulsory 
purchase powers should this prove necessary. The Council has powers under 
Section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to acquire land 
compulsorily if they think that acquiring the land in question will facilitate the 
carrying out of development, redevelopment or improvement of the land and that 
this is likely to contribute to achieving the promotion or improvement of the 
economic, social or environmental well-being of the area.  The Council must be 
satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public interest and that the purpose 
for which it is making a CPO sufficiently justifies interfering with the human rights 
of those with an interest in the land affected. 

Page 47



3.10.3. The Council has in recent times used its CPO powers to assemble land to 
facilitate the delivery of both Trinity Leeds and the Victoria Gate development. 
Given the benefits outlined in section 3.4 of this report, it is clear that the 
proposals could substantially improve the economic, social and environmental 
well-being of the area. 

3.10.4. To progress a CPO, the Council would be required to submit an order to the 
Secretary of State for confirmation. The Secretary of State, in approving or 
otherwise the order, would consider how: the proposals fit with adopted planning 
frameworks, core strategy and area action plans; how the proposed scheme will 
contribute to the achievement of the promotion or improvement of the economic, 
social or environmental well-being of the area; the financial viability of the scheme 
and whether the acquisition could be achieved by other means. It would be the 
intention to provide further information to Executive Board on all of these matters 
prior to seeking a formal resolution to make a CPO.

3.10.5. At this stage it is proposed that Executive Board approve the principle of the 
Council using CPO powers should it be required to assemble land as per the 
terms set out in exempt appendix 1. Should Burberry be unable to reach 
agreement to acquire the required land by private treaty, it would be the intention 
to seek a formal resolution of Executive Board in June 2016 to use its CPO 
powers to facilitate the delivery of the scheme against an agreed boundary. 

3.11. Planning Policy and Guidance

3.11.1. It is proposed that the Council can support the delivery of the scheme by 
producing a bespoke and updated Planning Framework to guide any development 
proposals for the boundary shown in Plan A. Supplementary Planning Guidance 
for Holbeck Urban Village was adopted in 2006 and part of the land Burberry will 
develop on is within the boundary of this guidance. A number of the policies have 
been superseded by the Core Strategy and Community Infrastructure Levy and 
land that is part of Burberry’s proposals includes land not included in the existing 
HUV planning guidance area. These sites do not therefore have formal guidance 
to guide new development proposals or specify how they should relate to 
proposals HUV.

3.11.2. Developing a refreshed guidance document can help to ensure that the emerging 
proposals are developed in accordance with the city’s vision for the regeneration 
of the South Bank and that Planning Guidance takes into account sites not 
currently included in existing Planning Guidance for HUV. Such guidance will 
consider land usages, key conservation requirements, public realm and highways 
guidance as well as key design principles. 

3.11.3. If approved, the approved Framework can then be a basis by which a CPO is 
promoted in showing that there are no planning impediments that may restrict the 
delivery of the scheme. Should Executive Board agree, it would be the intention to 
commence public consultation on a bespoke Planning Framework in early 2016. 
This is with a view to seek final Executive Board approval to the Statement in 
June 2016 and it being adopted thereafter. 

Page 48



3.11.4. Members are asked to recognise that the proposals will require the Local Planning 
Authority to consider the impacts on the Draft Site Allocations Plan and the 
proposals may see amendments made to the Plan.  

3.12.  Next Steps

3.12.1. Should Executive Board approve the recommendations in this report, the Council 
will commence detailed work across all areas with view to reporting back to 
Executive Board in June 2016. Agreeing to the policy principles will enable 
proposals to be developed in further detail, prior to any final commitments being 
made by Burberry and the Council. 

4. Corporate Considerations

4.1. Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1. Burberry did not announce its proposals until 3rd November 2015. Consequently, 
there has not been public facing consultation to date as there has been limited 
opportunity for meaningful engagement with residents, groups or others who may 
have an interest in these proposals on how the Council proposes to support the 
principles. 

4.1.2. Notwithstanding this, it is the intention to commence public consultation on a 
Planning Guidance document Temple Works in early 2016 and, subject to 
Executive Board agreeing the Council’s support, dialogue will commence with 
stakeholders to ensure that a wide range of views feed into this. There will also be 
continued dialogue with representatives from districts across the city region. 
There will be further consultation with the Holbeck Neighbourhood Forum, Local 
Ward Members and community groups. 

4.1.3. There has been consultation with the Leader of the Council, Executive Member 
for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, Chief Executive, Deputy Chief 
Executive, and City Solicitor and Chief Planning Officer on the proposals detailed 
in this report.  

4.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1. An Equality and Diversity/ Cohesion and Integration screening assessment has 
taken place and is included in appendix 2. 

4.2.2. There will be potentially positive benefits arising from the proposals, including the 
potential for substantial employment growth and the opportunities for employment 
and training across the city. This is likely to include entry level jobs that may help 
address unemployment in areas of low employment. There are also the benefits 
of enhancing the local environment and securing major economic benefits to the 
area. There are potential impacts with the proposals, due to potential 
displacement of existing businesses in HUV and impacts upon the current 
operations of Burberry in the Leeds City Region. 

4.2.3. These matters have been carefully considered in developing the principles by 
which the Council may support Burberry’s proposals. In particular a focus of the 

Page 49



Council will be to maximise the benefits and minimise any potential displacement 
impacts that may be a consequence of the proposals.

4.3. Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1. Achieving a re-development at Temple Works and securing regeneration at 
surrounding sites will support the objective of promoting sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth with particular opportunities to achieve ambitions to boost the 
local economy.

4.3.2. By helping facilitate private sector led regeneration at this location, the Council 
would achieve principles set out in the Civic Enterprise proposition and help 
achieve Best Council objectives of ‘becoming a more efficient and enterprising 
council’ by making the best use of our assets and becoming more enterprising in 
its activities.

4.3.3. The Best Council Plan sets out a vision for an economically prosperous city, 
where all residents benefit from the effect of the city’s growth. The major 
employment opportunities can help to ensure that neighbouring communities 
benefit from the proposals.  

4.4. Resources and value for money 

4.4.1. The delivery of Council activities will be managed through existing resources from 
within the Asset Management and Regeneration service. Agreeing to the 
principles at this stage will not see the Council incur expenditure on a grant or to 
enable public realm, nor will the Council receive income through a disposal of 
their assets 

4.4.2. Exempt appendix 1 sets outs the capital receipts the Council would receive 
through a disposal of its assets, and sets out the proposed capital grant that the 
Council proposes to make. At this stage, it is considered that moneys received 
through the disposal of the assets can be used to fund the restoration grant. 

4.4.3. The decisions made in this report will allow for detailed diligence and contractual 
negotiations to take place with Burberry and there will be a period of detailed 
diligence on the financial implications of the proposals. A further report will be 
produced for June’s Executive Board setting out in detail the financial implications, 
including the funding strategy, and approvals will be sought to incur expenditure 
and the final terms for a disposal of Council assets.  In particular, there will be 
further work to explore on costs to secure vacant possession at Council owned 
assets, VAT implications and cash flow implications. 

4.5. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1. By agreeing to the recommendations in this report, the Council will commit to 
working with Burberry to finalise legal agreements and undertake detailed work to 
help secure the inward investment. It will provide certainty to proposals but it is 
proposed that June’s Executive Board paper will provide final approvals to legal 
agreements, a CPO order if required, LCC’s financial commitments and the 

Page 50



informal planning statement. There will also be further diligence into any potential 
State Aid implications. 

4.5.2. Under the Localism Act 2011, the local authority has the power to do anything 
(subject to limitations that individuals generally may do) and this would include 
promoting or improving the economic, social or environmental well-being of its 
area. It is on this basis the recommendations are made to Executive Board.

4.5.3. Executive Board is advised that appropriating the Council’s land for planning 
purposes will mean that certain interests and rights that might otherwise hamper 
the development of the land will, subject to compensation being paid to the 
affected party, effectively be extinguished pursuant to Section 237 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (though it should be noted that this will not extend 
to the rights of the Council’s tenants). Further diligence will take place to establish 
where compensation may be required.

4.5.4. As regards the Council’s land at Bath Road (which is currently held for the 
purposes of the Housing Act 1985) it should be noted that as there are no houses 
on the land the restriction contained in Section 19 of the Housing Act 1985 (that 
land held for the purposes of the Act and consisting of a house or part of a house 
may only be appropriated with the consent of the Secretary of State) will not 
apply. 

4.5.5. The information contained in Appendix 1 is exempt under Access to Information Rule 
10.4 (3) as it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). It is considered that 
the public interest in maintaining the content of appendices as exempt outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.

4.6. Risk Management

4.6.1. Temple Works remains at significant risk. Its condition continues to be a cause for 
concern. The building is at risk and unless investment is secured in the short term, 
there is a major risk of a loss of a significant part of the region’s heritage. There is 
a lack of a viable alternative to restore Temple Works and the Council not 
providing support may leave very few options to secure the future of this building.

4.6.2. The proposals will see Burberry close existing facilities in the city region, and will 
require the relocation of existing businesses in HUV to facilitate its delivery. The 
proposals may therefore generate negative publicity and challenge from impacted 
parties. The Council will work with Burberry to maximise the economic benefits 
across the entire city region, mitigate any displacement impacts and look to 
provide advice to displaced businesses.  

4.6.3. In the next stage of this project, there will be a comprehensive review of risks and 
these will be reported to Executive Board as a final decision is sought to enter into 
contracts or otherwise with Burberry. This will include thorough reviews on State 
Aid and CPO legal matters. 

Page 51



5. Conclusions

5.1. The proposals of Burberry have the potential to have a transformational impact for 
the city. It is proposed that the following policy  principles are the basis of the 
Council providing support for the proposition to secure the investment and the full 
restoration of Temple Works as part of a future phase of development:

a) Both Burberry and Leeds City Council will work proactively with relevant 
councils in the Leeds City Region area to ensure that there is a mitigation plan 
in place to address the impact of displacement and the timely reuse of any 
vacated sites.  This will include working together to leverage an enhanced 
economic impact across the Leeds City Region including the development of 
the supply chain in partner districts outside of Leeds.

b) The Council and Burberry will develop an employment and skills plan to 
maximise training and employment opportunities across the city region, 
including close collaboration with training and education providers. 

c) The Council will dispose of its land at Sweet Street, Bath Road and Leodis 
Court to Burberry on a best price open market basis for Planning Purposes 
under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, and develop a vacant 
possession plan for these assets. The Council will sell its assets as a means 
by which to support the full restoration of Temple Works.

d) The Council will provide a grant for restoration works to Temple Works under 
‘Culture and heritage conservation’ (Article 53 General Block Exemption 
Regulation 2014-20). The Council will also work closely with Burberry to 
support any funding bids that may be required and the proposals for Temple 
Works are a priority for the city in terms of securing third party funding. 

e) The Council will promote a Compulsory Purchase Order, should it be required, 
to facilitate the delivery of the proposed scheme.

f) The Council will support and contributes to enabling public realm, with the 
Council utilising existing S106 funds to help create a new public open space 
for the South Bank in front of Temple Works. 

g) The Council will develop an updated Planning Framework document to guide 
the development of the proposed scheme. 

6. Recommendations

6.1. Executive Board is asked to agree:

i) The Council’s support for Burberry’s proposals to relocate a significant part of its 
UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South Bank as detailed in this report. 

ii) The Council’s support for Burberry’s initial proposals to restore Temple Works 
and land neighbouring Temple Works as part of future phases of development.

iii) The policy principles set out at section 5 of this report and the commercial terms 
detailed at exempt appendix 1 as a basis by which the Council will seek to help 

Page 52



to secure the delivery of this inward investment opportunity, and produce legal 
documents for agreement with Burberry.

iv) That the Director of City Development, in accordance with recommendations i), 
ii) and iii):

a. produces and negotiates legal agreements with Burberry for the disposal 
of Council assets at Bath Road, Sweet Street and Leodis Court and 
where necessary develops a vacant possession strategy for these assets.

b. produces and negotiates a grant agreement with Burberry setting out the 
terms by which the Council will provide a restoration grant to help to 
restore Temple Works. 

c. produces and negotiates a grant agreement to a cap of £750,000 for the 
provision of  new public open space at the front of Temple Works and 
allocates £560,000 of moneys held in the Holbeck Urban Village Public 
Realm fund for this provision. 

d. commences close working with city region partners on how to mitigate 
any potential adverse implications, and develops proposals to maximise 
the economic and employment benefits across the city region. 

e. brings a report back to Executive Board by June 2016 providing an 
update on progress and seeking approval to enter into legal agreements 
once negotiated and finalised, and, if required, approval to make a 
Compulsory Purchase Order  to ensure that the land assembly required 
to deliver Burberry’s scheme can be fulfilled. 

v) That the Chief Planning Officer prepares a bespoke and updated Planning 
Guidance document for Temple Works and surrounding sites to guide the 
development proposals in this area and for this to be submitted to Executive 
Board by March 2016 as a basis for public consultation.  

vi) That the Council’s land at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street be 
appropriated for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to 
facilitate Burberry’s proposals and the proper planning of the area. 

7. Background Documents1

7.1   None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



13
4

97

ng 's Arms

1

19

1

Meynell Heights

32.0m

9

37.2m

C
H

A
R

LE
SG

A
R

D
EN

S

El
Sub  Sta

Meynell Square

51

37

29.0m

Tow Path
29.0m

2

Builders

159.5

Green Bank

51
G

an
tr

y

WB

69

MP 195.25

SWEET STREET W EST

Engine Shed

28.3m

Car Park

14

5

SWEET STREET W EST

UNION PLACE

111

109

SL

30.8m

Works

TCB

Hotel

Commercial

27.7m

Chy

Warehouse

9

14

ESS

SLs

P B r

Warehouse

MoP
MoPs

2

ESS

W
H

A
R

F
A

PP
R

O
A

C
H

El  Sub Sta

Car Park

50

Lan ding  Stage

9

CAMP FIELD

Hol Beck

Hotel

Posts

Place

2

14 to 62

Lateral

38.7m

T

urt

SPRINGW ELL ROAD

1

33.2m

SP
R

IN
G

W
EL

L
 V

IE
W

STOCKS HILL

Freight Depot

32.0m

30.2m

29.6m

El Sub Sta

29.6m

L Col

Leeds and

Mast

WHITEHALL ROAD

L Col

W
ard B

dy

6

NINEVEH ROAD

27

SL

SI
LV

ER
 S

TR
EE

T

33.2m

B
A

TH
 R

O
A

D

El  Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

29.0m

1

22

28

8

1 to 19

113

21

27.7m

33 to 57

Saw M ill Yard

8

Key s Court

Car Park

GLOBE R OAD

10

3 to 5

12

107

Foundry

MINT

1

8

6

5

D
A

VI
D

 S
TR

EE
T

27.7m

WATER LANE

B
O

W
LIN

G
 G

R
E

EN
 TE

R
R

A
C

E

Leeds and Liverpool Canal

22

Crane

Posts

INGRAM  R OW

El

El Sub Sta

VICTORIA PLACE

SL

LI
TT

L
E 

N
EV

IL
LE

 S
TR

EE
T

13
2

5

20

1O

Studios

Fourth Court

LB

Riverside West

15

Liverpool

Hotel

15

El Sub Sta

26

39

Mills

159

Hol B
ec

k

28.3m

Leeds City Junctio
n

71

L Col

Car Park

15

67

27.7m

FB

12

2

2

125

SANDLEWOOD G
REEN

11

B
utcher Street

SL

FB

28.3m

6

Foundry Street

16

2

22

33.5m

C
anal B

asin

SL

Signal Gantry

33.2m

28

L Twr

ST
 B

A
R

N
A

B
A

S
 R

O
A

D

1

SL

1 to 201

River Aire
22

21

MP 0.25

37

Dep ot

L Col

Canal

SL

Subway

Yard

22

SL

House

55

53

27

28.3m

Signal G
antrie

s

SPs

20

101

36.3m

FB

28.0m

SPs

31.7m

WALTON STR EET

L Col

M
A

R
S

H
A

LL
 S

TR
E

E
T

38

2

LEODIS COURT

Square

L Col

Pipeline

32.9m

28.0m

Matthew Murray

Works

SL

TRENT  STREET

1

SLs

Office

The Mint

4

SL

26

Graving Dock

New Centaur House

28.3m

W
aterm

an's

Footbridge

Stage

Velocity West

El Sub Sta

3

L Twr

M
EA

D
O

W
 R

O
A

D

2a

TR
IU

M
P

H
 C

LO
S

E

m

Holbeck

Wareho use

SL

30.8m

1 to 28

11

49

29.0m

Meynell Walk

41

31.1m

MP

SL

12

L Twr

1

El Sub Sta

FB

SL

Viaduct

29.0m

JENKINS

25

29.0m

FB

El

Works

27.4m

GLOBE R OAD

16

Unio n Place

FB

Warehouse

Marshalls Mill

Temple Works

Marshall

1

27

7a

Saw
 M

ill S
treet

Mooring Posts

Mile Post

Round Foundry Car Park

103

28.0m

8

El Sub Sta

LBs

Car Park

MoPs

7

6

Sorting

JACK LANE

28.7m

ST FRANC IS PLA CE

FRON T R OW

St David's Court

93

1

SL

Tank

Cardinal House

FR
O

N
T S

TR
E

ET

5

El Sub Sta

Quayside House

Car Park

BACK ROW

2

The Arches 3

4

5a

C E

House

HOLBECK

CZAR STR EET

26

Community

35.4m

29.9m

32.3m

Monk Bridge

APPROACH

31.7m
El Sub Sta

River

61

Aquatite House

29
 to

 6
2

L Col

FB

1 12

10

8
14

SL

W
ATE

R L
ANE

L Col

1 to 194

14

El Sub Sta

2

G
aitskell W

alk

11

NIN EVEH  GARDENS

28.7m

L Col

1

NINEVEH  PARADE

Sub

FBs

SAND
LEW

OO
D

91

SANDLEWOOD CLOSE

CLOSE

29.3m

12

2 
to

 3
6

(Telecommunication)

1 to 31

1

Hol Beck

Tower Works

W
arehouse

Works

49

29.0m

1

2 to 5

105

27.4m

29.0m

Manor Court
2

1

Car Park

10

18

29.0m

Lock

N
EW

 P
R

IN
C

E
SS

 STR
EE

T

3

7

11

12 to 14

El Sub Sta

FB

Mano r Mills

MANOR ROAD

CANAL WHAR F

Granary Wharf

MP 195

SWEET STREET

32

Sta
Sub

27.1m

5

Bridgewater Place

27.1m

FB

1

1 to 12

Velocity East

3

21
a

PH

BRIDGE

Springwell

29.0m

Centre

Obelisk

4

28.3m

M
EY

N
E

LL

1 to 100

Chy

2

SL

21

31.1m

SWEET STREET W EST

Whiteh all W aterfront

24

16

30

28

2

4

SL

27.7m

1
29

24

81

W
ard Bdy

Sta

26

Warehouse

4

24

15

30

NINEVEH ROAD

Mills

7

Tower

Mast

M
A

R
S

H
A

LL STR
EE

T

99

House

16

20

1

48

SI
D

D
A

LL
 S

TR
E

ET

3

27.4m

M
EA

D
O

W
 C

R
O

F
T

Car Park

28.3m

W
ar

d B
dy

El Sub Sta

28.3m

SLs

Velocity N orth

8

13
4

TERR ACE

24

(PH)

20

ST M
A

TTH
EW

'S
 S

TR
E

ET

27

COURT

Point

TIC STREET

St Matthew's

6

L Col

Posts

B
R

ID
G

E
 R

O
A

D

L Col

10

Hol B
eck

GLOBE R OAD

17

11

23

El Sub Sta

Aire

Gaitskell Walk

MP 195.5

28.7m

18

Sluice

RIVERSIDE WAY

20

S Gantry

El Sub Sta

Midland

LB

11
15

57
30

131

Club

8

FB

Junction

Foundry

4
1

Warehouse

20

7
M

arshall C
ourt

27.4m

29.3m

38
 to

 8
4

29.3m

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

29 .0m

(PH)

ESSs

1

101

Tower

SL

97

52
54

Can dle Hou se

Depot

David House

28.7m

IN
G

R
A

M
 S

TR
E

ET

Car Park

Loc k

4

Lan ding

(PH
)

G
ro

ve Inn

3

© Crown Copyright and database right 2015 
Ordnance Survey LA100019567 

HOLBECK URBAN VILLAGE
HOLBECK

LEEDS LS11

PLAN A

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

M. CHRISTIAN

SE2932SE

18497/H

SCALE 1:3,000

DATE SAVED:          06/11/2015

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\18400 - 18499\18497H Sweet St Holbeck OWNERSHIPS V2.mxd

Legend

Bath Road (LCC Owned)

Other Registered LCC ownership

Holbeck Urban Village SPD

Indicative Burberry Boundary

Sweet Street (LCC Owned)

Leodis Court (LCC Owned)

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Asset Management and 

Regeneration 
 

Lead person: Lee Arnell 
 

Contact number: 75408 

 
1. Title: South Bank Regeneration 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
The principles by which the Council will seek to facilitate the restoration of Temple 
Works by Burberry and development on neighbouring land.  
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 

Burberry oversee a large global operation. On November 3rd, Burberry detailed that 
they had undertaken a strategic review of their UK operation given their need to 
modernise and expand their UK manufacturing. The outcome of this is that Burberry 
intend to: 

 Locate their UK manufacturing operation to Leeds South Bank for the 
production of its most iconic product, the heritage trench coat. 

 Develop new state of the art manufacturing facilities with a key focus on 
environmental sustainability that will provide increased capacity for 
Burberry to produce the trench coat and potential to produce other 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 63



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2

products. 

 Invest an initial sum of over £50m in this proposal. 

 Through this facility, provide employment for more than 1,000 people 
and a commitment to deliver apprenticeship programme designed to 
preserve unique textile manufacturing skills in Yorkshire. 

This screening document therefore screens the following recommendations being 
made to the Council’s Executive Board on whether the Council supports the 
proposals and the policy principles by which it will seek to help facilitate the delivery 
of proposals. 

i) The Council’s support for Burberry’s proposals to relocate a significant part of 
its UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South Bank as detailed in this 
report.  

ii) The Council’s support for Burberry’s initial proposals to restore Temple Works 
and land neighbouring Temple Works as part of future phases of 
development. 

iii) The policy principles set out at section 5 of this report and the commercial 
terms detailed at exempt appendix 1 as a basis by which the Council will seek 
to help to secure the delivery of this inward investment opportunity, and 
produce legal documents for agreement with Burberry. 

iv) That the Director of City Development, in accordance with recommendations 
i), ii) and iii): 
 

a. produces and negotiates legal agreements with Burberry for the 
disposal of Council assets at Bath Road, Sweet Street and Leodis 
Court and where necessary develops a vacant possession strategy for 
these assets. 

b. produces and negotiates a grant agreement with Burberry setting out 
the terms by which the Council will provide a restoration grant to help 
to restore Temple Works.  

c. produces and negotiates a grant agreement to a cap of £750,000 for 
the provision of  new public open space at the front of Temple Works 
and allocates £560,000 of moneys held in the Holbeck Urban Village 
Public Realm fund for this provision.  

d. commences close working with city region partners on how to mitigate 
any potential adverse implications, and develops proposals to 
maximise the economic and employment benefits across the city 
region.  

e. brings a report back to Executive Board by June 2016 providing an 
update on progress and seeking approval to enter into legal 
agreements once negotiated and finalised, and, if required, approval to 

Page 64



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3

make a Compulsory Purchase Order  to ensure that the land assembly 
required to deliver Burberry’s scheme can be fulfilled.  

v) That the Chief Planning Officer prepares a bespoke and updated Planning 
Guidance document for Temple Works and surrounding sites to guide the 
development proposals in this area and for this to be submitted to Executive 
Board by March 2016 as a basis for public consultation.   

vi) That the Council’s land at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street be 
appropriated for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
to facilitate Burberry’s proposals and the proper planning of the area.  

 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

X  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

Page 65



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
In drawing up recommendations, consideration was given to whether these initial actions 
could have impacts for equality, diversity, cohesion and integration. At this stage, there 
has been initial consultation with Elected Members. It is proposed for there to be more 
specific consultation as further details are developed for proposals. 
 

a) Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
In terms of the initial investment for a state of the art manufacturing facility being located 
in the city, the following was identified: 
 
 The displacement/ relocation of jobs from the Wakefield and Craven Districts 

could have a negative impact for those impacted by this proposal and for these 
locations.  There may be public concerns on this.  

 The potential to physically regenerate a substantial part of the South Bank through 
a £50m investment on currently vacant land. This will improve the local economy 
and enviornment 

 The provision of 1,000 jobs at this location, close to an area of high levels of 
deprivation and in an area where communities have identified  disconnection from 
city centre’s economic growth. The provision of just over 200 new net jobs could 
have a positive impact on local communities. The proposals could foster good 
relations, provide equality of opportunity and enhance community cohesion in this 
area.  

 The initial proposals for future phases of development may see further jobs and 
investment. Future phases may see the relocation of businesses and existing 
cultural organisations in the area. There may also be impacted landowners who 
may be subject to Compulsary Purchases. There may be concerns raised about 
this. 

 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
 
These considerations therefore informed the recommendations, with specific policy 

Page 66



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

5

principles proposed for approval by Executive Board. 

a) Both Burberry and Leeds City Council will work proactively with relevant 
councils in the Leeds City Region area to ensure that there is a mitigation 
plan in place to address the impact of displacement and the timely reuse of 
any vacated sites.  This will include working together to leverage an 
enhanced economic impact across the Leeds City Region including the 
development of the supply chain in partner districts outside of Leeds. 

b) The Council and Burberry will develop an employment and skills plan to 
maximise training and employment opportunities across the city region, 
including close collaboration with training and education providers.  

The report also states that the Council will support proposals on the basis that 
 
 a clear plan is in place to minimise any potential job losses to the city region 

economy.  
 

 the Council and Burberry offers support to existing businesses and cultural 
organisations in Holbeck Urban Village that may be affected by the initial 
developments and proposed future phases. 

 
 Burberry and the Council will work together to leverage an enhanced economic 

impact across the Leeds City Region including the development of the supply 
chain in partner districts outside of Leeds. 

 
These principles will be actions that are delivered if Executive Board approves them.  
 
As further diligence takes place and recommendations are implemented there will be 
continuous reviews of equality and diversity impacts and a further screening will take 
place in June when final recommendations are proposed. 
 
The public consultation will take place on the revised planning framework to encourage a 
wide range of views into the spatial plan for the area, including across equality 
characteristics. 
 
The proposals contained in the report to minimise impacts of the relocation will be 
montored, as will proposals to seek to maximise employment benefits to deliver positive 
equality outcomes.  
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Page 67



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

6

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Martin Farrington 
 

Director of City 
Development 

4th November 2015 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed 4th November 2015 

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 68



Report of the Deputy Chief Executive

Report to Executive Board

Date:  18th November 2015

Subject: Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2015-2019

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report sets out the latest capital programme position for both the General Fund 
and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  

2. The Council continues to deliver significant capital investment across the city which 
will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and supports the Leeds economy, 
whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the revenue budget is managed.
 

3. Whilst the capital programme remains affordable in 2015-16, ongoing reviews will 
consider the continued affordability of debt costs in future years in the context of: 
planned expenditure and the Best Council Plan priorities; projections on interest 
rates; and the continued strength of the Council’s balance sheet to fund capital 
spend. Scheme phasing will continue to be monitored to ensure that it is accurate 
and realistic.

4. There are a number of significant pressures building within the capital programme, 
including the Learning Places Programme deficit that are being reviewed and will be 
reported in the February update of the capital programme. Major and annual 
schemes continue to progress, with no significant concerns to report at this stage.
 

5. The HRA programme remains affordable over the next 3 years.

Report author:  Bhupinder Chana
Tel:  0113 3951332

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations

Executive Board is requested to :

1. Note the latest position at period 6 on the General Fund and HRA capital 
programmes;

2. Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 2015-2019 
of £63.1m since Quarter 1.  The majority of these injections £40.15m relate to the 
inclusion of annual programmes in 2018-19 as shown in Appendix B; 

3. Note that the borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme in 2015-16 has 
reduced by a further £3.3m since the Quarter 1 update. The Capital Programme 
remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2015-16, and that further 
work is underway through regular capital programme reviews to ensure that future 
debt costs are maintained within the overall Medium Term Financial strategy;

4. Approve the following injections into the capital programme :

 £40.15m, to reflect the roll forward of annual programmes into 2018-19 as set 
out in Appendix B;

 £1.5m for works to adopt 32 highways not included within the Little London 
Beeston Hill and Holbeck PFI scheme. 

 £500.0k for bridges structures to address priority works within the 2016-17 
programme.

 £221.0k for a contribution to proposed disabled access works to the Grand 
Theatre in 2015-16.

 £207.2k in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by Ward Councillors under 
the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed at Appendix D;

5. The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by the Chief Officer 
(Financial Services).  

Page 70



1. Purpose of this report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to provide Members with an update on the capital 
programme position as at period 6, the end of September 2015.  The report 
includes appendices on the Capital Programme funding statement at period 6, an 
Annual Programmes statement, a Major Programmes and other schemes statement 
and the latest Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme injection. It also includes an 
analysis of the impact any changes in capital resources may have on the cost of 
borrowing within the revenue budget as a key control of capital investment. The 
report also seeks some specific approvals in relation to funding injections. 

2. Background information

2.1. The Capital Programme approved by Council in February 2015 projected 
expenditure of £1,007.9m from 2015-19.  This included borrowing of £371.4m over 
the period, including £137.5m in 2015-16.  The cost of financing this borrowing was 
included in the debt budget also approved in February.

2.2. In July 2015 the Quarter 1 capital programme update was presented to Executive 
Board. This highlighted the 2015-19 Capital Programme had increased from 
£1,007.9m to £1,068.0m in July 2015 taking account of the outturn position and 
injections to the programme within that period. The forecast expenditure funded 
from borrowing for 2015-19 had increased from £371.4m to £422.5m. 

3. Capital Programme

3.1. Capital Programme Latest Position 2015/19 

3.1.1. A review of the Leeds funded element of the capital programme took place after 
Quarter 1 and resulted in limited overall savings but recognised that capital spend 
reflects a realistic priority based programme that contributes to the delivery of the 
Best Council Plan. Work continues to address capacity to deliver the current 
programme.  

3.1.2. The 2015-19 Capital Programme currently stands at £1,132.6m, an increase of 
£64.6m since Quarter 1. The majority of net injections relate to increased borrowing 
of £50.2m. Other injections since Quarter 1 are funded by government grants of 
£10.8m with external contributions a further £3.6m. 

3.1.3. The General Fund capital programme currently stands at £789.2m for this period.  It 
provides for investment in improved facilities and infrastructure and also has an 
impact on the Leeds economy through supporting jobs and income and business 
generated throughout the city.  The HRA capital programme currently provides for 
capital investment of £343.4m for the 3 years 2015-16 through to 2017-18.  

3.1.4. The current overall forecast position is set out in Appendix A. Members are asked to 
note the increase in the level of borrowing required to fund the capital programme of 
£50.2m from £422.5m to £472.7m since Quarter 1.  This is mainly due to the roll 
forward of annual programmes into 2018-19 as detailed in Appendix B. 

Page 71



3.1.5. Capital Programme 2015-16

3.1.6. The latest capital programme resources position for General Fund and HRA in 
2015-16 is shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1 - Capital Resources Position

Qtr 1  Report Latest Var
£m £m £m

Forecast Expenditure 386.9 363.8 (23.1)
Funded By;
Borrowing 139.0 135.7 (3.3)
Government Grants 134.6 118.0 (16.6)
HRA Self Financing 86.2 86.8 0.6
Other Grants & Contributions 16.9 14.5 (2.4)
HRA Right to Buy Receipts 8.9 8.5 (0.4)
Revenue / Reserves 1.3 0.3 (1.0)
Total Forecast Resources 386.9 363.8 (23.1)

2015/16

3.1.7. Table 1 details current projected resources in 2015-16 of £363.8m a reduction of 
£23.1m on the previous Quarter 1 projected resources. The LCC borrowing figure 
has reduced by £3.3m in this Quarter.

3.1.8. The LCC Borrowing figure of £135.7m per table 1 includes £47m of schemes where 
a revenue provision is set aside either from schemes with supported income 
streams or schemes which result in overall revenue savings (spend to save 
schemes). Annual programmes account for £44.4m as set out in Appendix B and 
other Major Programmes have LCC borrowing provision of £44.3m.  

3.1.9. Spend to period 6 is in line with previous years but is still relatively low at £126.0m 
of the projected outturn at Quarter 2 of £363.8m equating to 34.6% as shown in 
Graph 1. It is likely that there will be further slippage and the treasury half year 
update, elsewhere on the agenda, allows for a further £5.0m of slippage from 
borrowing within 2015/16.

Page 72



Graph 1: Percentage spend rates per Quarter

3.1.10. Capital Programme Affordability    

3.1.11. The cost of funding the capital programme remains affordable and within the agreed 
2015-16 debt budget.  The level of spend in 2016-17 onwards has been adjusted to 
reflect a more realistic profile and lower projections on interest costs.  As a result 
debt costs are projected to increase by £0.3m in 2016-17 and a further £9.3m in 
2017-18.  Whilst the Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes an increase of 
£4.0m to 2017-18, the likelihood of requiring the full increase in debt costs is 
dependent on the level of capital spend, interest rate assumptions and continued 
strength of the Council’s balance sheet.  These will be continue to be kept under 
review before setting the debt budget requirement in the following years.  

3.1.12. Whilst the programme remains affordable there are a number of pressures building 
seeking potential further capital investment.  These pressures will be addressed as 
part of the capital programme setting in February 2016. The two major items on the 
future pressures list relate to the Learning Places Programme and Social and 
Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Education Provision, where a combined pressure 
of over £100m is currently identified. An update report on the Learning Places 

Page 73



Programme was considered by Executive Board in October 2015 and it identified a 
funding gap of £69.5m. The strategy being considered to provide additional SEMH 
capacity in the city, considered elsewhere on the Executive Board agenda, requires 
an estimated £45.0m of capital investment across three sites.

3.2. Major Programmes and Other Directorate schemes

3.3. The major programmes and other directorate schemes continue to make significant 
progress. Ongoing reviews and more efficient monitoring of the full programme has 
allowed us to better cashflow the programme and predict more accurate borrowing 
levels earlier in the process.  Major scheme programme boards continue to address 
issues when they arise and ensure the governance and effective delivery of these 
programmes. The major programmes and other smaller schemes within objectives 
are summarised at Appendix C and are listed under the Best Council Plan 
objectives and priorities for delivery of the capital programme.

3.4. As part of central governments value for money review undertaken in 2012 the PFI 
credits awarded for the Little London Beeston Hill and Holbeck PFI of £176.0m 
excluded provision for the adoption of highways works. 32 highways are now to be 
adopted with maintenance works estimated at £1.5m. Executive Board are 
requested to approve the injection of £1.5m for these Highways to be adopted.  

3.5. A review of the condition of the bridges infrastructure identified a number of bridges 
that required urgent works over and above the existing provision of £1m Leeds 
funding in 2016-17 and LTP funding estimate of £2.707m.  A further £500.0k is 
required in 2016-17 to address these urgent works, bringing the total 2016-17 
provision for bridges and structures up to an estimated £4.2m. Executive Board are 
requested to approve the injection of £500.0k for these priority works.

3.6. The current disabled access at the Grand Theatre was installed in 1984.  It remains 
inaccessible to many larger modern wheelchairs and other disabled patrons can 
only access the building via staff and goods entrances.  In fulfilling its landlord 
requirements an injection of £221.0k into the Capital Programme will be made as 
part of a Council contribution towards the cost of improving disabled access into the 
theatre. Executive Board are requested to approve the injection of £221.0k. 

3.7. Members are asked to note that there are a number of other capital related reports 
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.8. Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme

The establishment of a Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) was approved by 
Executive Board in October 2011.  The key feature of the scheme is that 20% of 
each receipt generated will be retained locally for re-investment, subject to a 
maximum per receipt of £100k, with 15% retained by the respective Ward and 5% 
pooled across the Council and distributed to Wards on the basis of need via 
community committees.  

Some receipts are excluded from the scheme and these are largely receipts that are 
already assumed to fund the Council’s budget or are earmarked in some other way 
to previous or future spend.

Page 74



Appendix D details the additional CRIS allocations to wards and community 
committees for the period April to September 2015, and identifies the total balance 
of resources available for use. Executive Board is requested to approve the 
injection of £207.2k into the Capital Programme. 

4. Economic Impact of the Capital Programme 

4.1. Members will recall that the February 2015 Capital Programme update included 
details of the Economic Impact Assessment of the Council’s capital programme 
investment on the Leeds economy. Based on the current update at Quarter 2 of 
£1.1bn, the headline economic impact of the capital programme will result in:-  

 A maximum of 2,550 FTE jobs will be supported in Leeds in this period, with 
a further 310 elsewhere in the Leeds City Region, meaning total jobs 
supported in the LCR are 2,860. These are mainly in construction, although 
there are employment impacts in a range of sectors.

 £440m of GVA (Gross Value Added) is created by this activity in Leeds, with 
a further £43m elsewhere in the LCR, meaning a total of £483m is created in 
the LCR during this period.

5 Corporate Considerations

5.1 Consultation and Engagement 

Consultation on the Council’s budget proposals, including the capital programme, 
took place prior to the finalisation and approval of the budget in February 2015.  
This report gives an update on progress at period 6 within the approved capital 
programme.  This report also seeks to inject funding for specific proposals for which 
the necessary consultations will take place when the individual schemes are 
implemented by services.

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

The capital programme sets out a plan of capital expenditure over future years and 
further spending decisions are taken in accordance with capital approval processes, 
as projects are developed.  This is when more detailed information will be available 
as to where in the city capital spending will be incurred and the impact on services, 
buildings and people. Service Directorates will include equality considerations as 
part of the rationale in determining specific projects from capital budgets.

5.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

Capital objectives are set out as part of the February 2015 budget process and the 
capital programme approved in February 2015 is structured to show schemes under 
these objectives. The schemes have been drawn up in conjunction with the 2015-16 
budget and seek to ensure that the Council’s financial resources are directed towards its 

Page 75



policies and priorities and, that these policies and priorities as part of the Best Council Plan 
are affordable.

5.4 Resources and value for money

5.4.1 The resource implications of this report are detailed in section 3 above.  For the 
capital programme to be sustainable, the Deputy Chief Executive must be satisfied 
that the cost of borrowing currently included in the capital programme can be 
contained within the approved revenue debt budget.  The updated Capital 
Programme Funding Statement set out in Appendix A shows that the total cost of 
borrowing for 2015-16 is £135.7m which can currently be contained within the 
agreed 2015-16 debt budget. 

5.4.2 For HRA, the position set out in Appendix A and current monitoring procedures 
shows that expenditure can be managed within available resources for 2015-16.   

5.4.3 In order to ensure that schemes meet Council priorities and are value for money, 
the Deputy Chief Executive has put processes in place to ensure:

 the introduction of new schemes into the capital programme will only take 
place after completion and approval of a full business case and identification 
of the required resources;  

 promotion of best practice in capital planning and estimating to ensure that 
scheme estimates and programmes are realistic;

 the use of departmental unsupported borrowing for spend to save schemes 
is based on individual business cases and in the context of identifying the 
revenue resources to meet the borrowing costs.

5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

The recommendations in this report are available for call in and there are no other 
legal implications arising from this report.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 One of the main risks in managing the capital programme is that insufficient 
resources are available to fund the programme.  As the capital programme is fully 
funded this risk lays within the treasury management of the debt budget.  Monthly 
monitoring procedures are in place for expenditure, resources and capital receipts 
and debt monitoring to ensure that this risk can be managed effectively.

5.6.2 In addition, the following measures are in place:

 ensuring written confirmation of external funding is received prior to 
contractual commitments being entered into

 provision of a contingency within the capital programme to deal with 
unforeseen circumstances

 compliance with both financial regulations and contract procedure rules to 
ensure the Council’s position is protected.

 ensuring all major programmes are supported by programme boards 

Page 76



5.6.3 The aspiration remains not to increase the level of debt and for new schemes to be 
fully funded (either by external resources or departmental prudential borrowing), or 
are essential (under health and safety grounds or in order to ensure Council assets 
are maintained for continued service provision). However, scope exists for the 
Council to progress priority schemes whilst retaining a realistic and affordable 
programme within the current debt budget projections.

6 Conclusions

6.1 The Council continues to deliver significant capital investment across the city which 
will provide improved facilities and infrastructure and also support the Leeds 
economy, whilst ensuring the impact on debt costs within the revenue budget is 
managed.

6.2 The report concludes that the capital programme shows an increase in the overall 
resources required to fund the 2015-19 capital programme of £64.6m since Quarter 
1. The majority of net injections relate to increased borrowing of £50.2m. Other 
injections since Quarter 1 are funded by government grants of £10.8m with external 
contributions a further £3.6m. 

6.3 A further review of current scheme profiles and capacity to deliver the capital 
programme is ongoing and will be reported back to Members in the 2016-17 capital 
programme update in February 2016.

6.4 For HRA, forecast expenditure can be contained within available resources in  
2015-16.

7 Recommendations 

Executive Board is requested to:

7.1 Note the latest position at period 6 on the General Fund and HRA Capital 
programmes; 

7.2 Note the net increase in the General Fund and HRA Capital Programme 2015-2019 
of £64.6m since Quarter 1.  The majority of these injections £40.15m relate to the 
inclusion of annual programmes in 2018-19 as shown in Appendix B;  

7.3 Note that the borrowing required to fund the Capital Programme in 2015-16 has 
reduced by a further £3.3m since the Quarter 1 update. The Capital Programme 
remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2015-16, and that further 
work is underway through regular capital programme reviews to ensure that future 
debt costs are maintained within the overall Medium Term Financial strategy; 

7.4 Approve the injection into the capital programme of the following:

 £40.15m,  to reflect the roll forward of annual programmes into 2018-19 as set 
out in Appendix B;

 £1.5m for works to adopt 32 highways not included within the Little London 
Beeston Hill and Holbeck PFI scheme.

Page 77



 £500.0k for bridges structures to address priority works within the 2016-17 
programme.

 £221.0k for a contribution to proposed disabled access works to the Grand 
Theatre in 2015-16.

 £207.2k in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by Ward Councillors under 
the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) as detailed at Appendix D;

7.5 The above decision to inject funding will be implemented by the Chief Officer 
(Financial Services).  

Appendices
A – Capital Programme Funding Statement
B – Annual Programmes Statement
C – Major Programmes and Other Schemes Statement
D– Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) Funding Statement

Background documents1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website,
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include
published works.

Page 78



Whole Authority Capital Programme Funding Statement 2015/16 to 2018/19 Appendix  A

Period 6
 

Act  Spend 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 on Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EXPENDITURE

GENERAL FUND (GF)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS 30,437.1 70,913.6 95,337.4 67,074.3 39,393.5 272,718.8

INVESTING IN MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE 20,390.6 57,076.0 29,860.6 7,897.9 5,180.9 100,015.4

SUPPORTING SERVICE PROVISION 23,499.3 84,843.8 64,665.0 60,713.0 46,601.5 256,823.3

INVESTING IN NEW TECHNOLOGY 3,027.3 9,990.1 10,260.4 4,587.2 4,108.8 28,946.5

SUPPORTING THE LEEDS ECONOMY 7,264.2 29,359.3 31,730.3 5,199.8 9,364.4 75,653.8

CENTRAL & OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE 2,482.1 13,863.8 16,770.8 13,001.9 11,415.0 55,051.5

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON GF 87,100.6 266,046.6 248,624.5 158,474.1 116,064.1 789,209.3
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
IMPROVING OUR ASSETS - COUNCIL HOUSING 38,872.1 97,728.1 124,958.2 116,202.3 4,478.2 343,366.8

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON HRA 38,872.1 97,728.1 124,958.2 116,202.3 4,478.2 343,366.8

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND 125,972.7 363,774.7 373,582.7 274,676.4 120,542.3 1,132,576.1

RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND (GF)
Specific Resources

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 115,755.8 105,450.7 72,800.2 30,207.5 324,214.2

OTHER GRANTS 14,397.3 8,338.8 2,031.9 1,397.0 26,165.0
Corporate Resources

BORROWING - Corporate 88,736.4 99,061.2 71,944.0 61,690.2 321,431.8

BORROWING - Departmental 47,010.6 35,773.8 11,691.0 22,769.4 117,244.8

RCCO / RESERVES 146.5 0.0 7.0 0.0 153.5

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR GF 266,046.6 248,624.5 158,474.1 116,064.1 789,209.3
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)
Specific Resources

HRA SELF FINANCING 86,768.3 96,207.1 79,362.9 2,133.1 264,471.4

R.T.B. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 8,442.6 9,201.0 14,330.3 2,345.1 34,319.0

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 2,256.3 5,022.0 3,037.2 0.0 10,315.5

RCCO / RESERVES 123.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 123.5

OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS 137.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 137.4

BORROWING - Departmental 0.0 14,528.1 19,471.9 0.0 34,000.0

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR HRA 97,728.1 124,958.2 116,202.3 4,478.2 343,366.8

TOTAL CAP.  RESOURCES REQD 363,774.7 373,582.7 274,676.4 120,542.3 1,132,576.1

BORROWING REQUIRED TO FUND THIS PROGRAMME 135,747.0 149,363.1 103,106.9 84,459.6 472,676.6

Average Interest rate (subject to change) 0.50% 0.75% 1.35% 2.5%

Page 79



Appendix B
ANNUAL PROGRAMMES

Best Council Plan Objectives for the Capital 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total
 Programme £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Improving Our Assets
Highways Maintenance 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 40,000
Highways maintenance capitalisations 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 6,000
Corporate  Property Maintenance 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 6,000
General Refurbishment Schools 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000
Demolition 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000
Heritage Assets 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000
Schools Capital expenditure 2,500 0 0 0 2,500
Schools Capital Expenditure Capitalisation 
reconciling to the Medium Term Financial Strategy 1,000 2,500 0 0 3,500
Library Books 700 700 700 700 2,800
Sports Maintenance 500 500 500 500 2,000
Civic Hall Backlog Maintenance 250 250 250 250 1,000
Traffic Management Programme 200 200 200 200 800
Improving our assets slippage adjustments 1,603.3 3,707.9 0 -150 5,161

22,753.3 23,857.9 17,650.0 17,500.0 81,761.2

Supporting Service Provision
Adaptations - DFG LCC Funding 3,742 3,742 3,742 3,742 14,968
Adaptations - Grant & External Note 1 3,138 3,138 3,138 3,138 12,552
Telecare (ASC) 400 400 400 400 1,600
Adaptation to Private Homes outside of scope 400 400 400 400 1,600
Supporting Service provision slippage adjustments -96.3 50 200 400 554

7,583.7 7,730.0 7,880.0 8,080.0 31,273.7

Investing In New Technology
Essential Services Programme 2,900 2,900 2,900 2,900 11,600
Essential Services Programme Staffing 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 4,800
Investing in New Technology slippage adjustments -485.3 500.0 0.0 0.0 15

3,614.7 4,600.0 4,100.0 4,100.0 16,414.7

Supporting The Leeds Economy
Project Support Fund - Groundwork 70 70 70 70 280

Central & Operational Expenditure
General Capitalisation 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,900 18,100
General Capitalisation reconciling to the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy ) 800 500 500 0 1,800
Vehicle Programme 3,900 4,000 3,000 3,000 13,900
Capital Programme Management 600 600 600 600 2,400
Capitalisation Interest 300 300 300 300 1,200
Central & Operational slippage adjustments 3,563.8 6,670.8 3,901.9 0.0 14,136.5

13,563.8 16,470.8 12,701.9 8,800.0 51,536.5

Total Annual Programmes 47,585.5 52,728.7 42,401.9 38,550.0 181,266.1

Total Annual Programme Injections at quarter 2 1,800.0 3,000.0 500.0 34,850.0 40,150.0

Note 1 - This line is made up of grant funding £2,958.0k and estimated external income of £180.0k pa. 
The net LCC element for 2015/16 is £44,447.5k per 3.1.7 within the main report.

Page 80



MAJOR PROGRAMMES & OTHER SCHEMES Appendix C

Major Programmes & Other Directorate schemes
2015/16 

£000
2016/17 

£000
2017/18 

£000
2018 & on 

£000
Total       
£000

Improving our assets - Council Housing
HRA Housing Leeds Refurbishment & BITMO 79,723.9 83,720.0 83,720.0 2,133.1 249,297.0
HRA Council Housing Growth 18,004.2 41,238.2 32,482.3 2,345.1 94,069.8
Improving our assets 
Changing the Workplace 1 & 2 14,413.1 23,980.3 20,998.0 7,950.0 67,341.4
Childrens - Cap Maintenance & Devolved Formula Capital 8,462.7 16,184.5 14,555.0 9,555.0 48,757.2
Bridges and Structures including IRR Tunnel 1,839.1 4,076.0 3,318.0 0 9,233.1
Highways Maintenance LTP 5,902.6 6,580.0 5,237.0 0 17,719.6
Section 278 and Section 106 schemes 4,281.0 2,922.1 1,693.9 2,500.0 11,397.0
Parks & Countryside 2,551.1 5,740.8 12.4 0 8,304.3
Elland Road and Aire Valley Park and Ride 512.4 8,236.0 0 0 8,748.4
Highways Transport package 3,486.1 2,117.8 77.6 0 5,681.5
Conversion of RCV vehicles to Gas 360.0 384.0 48.0 792.0 1,584.0
Highways Adoption of 32 roads 0.0 500.0 500.0 500.0 1,500.0
Highways LTP Schemes 1,246.2 201.0 0.0 0.0 1,447.2
Other smaller schemes within the objective 5,106.0 558.3 2,984.4 596.5 9,245.2

145,888.4 196,439.0 165,626.6 26,371.7 534,325.7
Investing in Major Infrastructure
Flood Alleviation 16557& others 16,329.3 16,567.6 750.0 4,911.2 38,558.1
Cycle City Ambition 13,873.0 3,637.1 0 0 17,510.1
New Generation Transport (NGT) 4,000.0 5,000.0 3,432.4 0 12,432.4
Inner Ring Road Tunnel & Major Bridges 11,447.4 0 0 0 11,447.4
Kirkstall Forge Rail Growth 6,849.4 778.0 0 0 7,627.4
Energy Efficiency & Green Deal 3,007.2 1,300.0 299.4 0 4,606.6
Highways Major LTP Schemes 219.0 203.8 1,445.9 269.7 2,138.4
East Leeds Extension - Land acquisition 152.5 1,758.5 0 0 1,911.0
Section 278 Major 16.4 415.6 989.4 0 1,421.4
Solar Photovoltaic Panels 200.0 200.0 980.8 0 1,380.8
Other smaller schemes within the objective 981.8 0.0 0.0 0 981.8

57,076.0 29,860.6 7,897.9 5,180.9 100,015.4
Supporting Service Provision
Childrens - Basic Need & Cap Programme Mgt 40,717.9 46,226.9 44,641.0 20,135.7 151,721.5
Energy from Waste Plant contribution 30,000.0 0 0 0 30,000.0
Social Care and Health Fund 250.0 2,750.0 7,000.0 15,000.0 25,000.0
Kirkstall Rd HWSS 685.1 4,263.5 0 0 4,948.6
Private sector Renewal - Equity Loans 728.1 1,162.0 853.6 1,473.0 4,216.7
Other smaller schemes within the objective 4,879.0 2,532.6 338.4 1,912.8 9,662.8

77,260.1 56,935.0 52,833.0 38,521.5 225,549.6
Investing in New Technology
Customer Access Phase 1 & 2 1,750.7 3,779.4 0 0 5,530.1
ASC Care Act Implementation Systems work 745.0 727.4 0 0 1,472.4
Other smaller schemes within the objective 3,879.7 1,152.3 487.2 8.8 5,528.0

6,375.4 5,659.1 487.2 8.8 12,530.5
Supporting the Leeds Economy
Aire Valley Enterprise Zone & Logic Leeds Spine road 5,692.7 16,424.7 0 5,760.0 27,877.4
Broadband and Superconnected Cities 3,284.8 2,695.6 0 413.6 6,394.0
Sovereign Square Greenscape 1,975.5 300.0 0 0 2,275.5
West Yorkshire Playhouse 0.0 586.0 0 0 586.0
Holbeck Urban Village 507.4 0 0 0 507.4
Kirkgate Market Strategy 8,429.2 5,640.9 1,533.0 0 15,603.1
Town & District Ph2 & Townscape Heritage Initiative 1,346.1 1,095.1 1,258.3 200.5 3,900.0
Eastgate Land Proposals & works 2,085.8 285.0 0 0 2,370.8
SCIP & Group Repair 4,368.1 313.0 0 0 4,681.1
City Region Revolving Infrastructure 0 2,100.0 2,100.0 2,030.5 6,230.5
Other smaller schemes within the objective 1,599.7 2,220.0 238.5 889.8 4,948.0

29,289.3 31,660.3 5,129.8 9,294.4 75,373.8
Central & Operational Expenditure
General Capital Programme Contingency 300.0 300.0 300.0 2,615.0 3,515.0

300.0 300.0 300.0 2,615.0 3,515.0

Total Major Programmes & Other Directorate schemes 316,189.2 320,854.0 232,274.5 81,992.3 951,310.0
Annual Programmes  (See Appendix B) 47,585.5 52,728.7 42,401.9 38,550.0 181,266.1
Total Capital Programme 363,774.7 373,582.7 274,676.4 120,542.3 1,132,576.1
Memo
LCC Borrowing 2015/16 

£000
2016/17 

£000
2017/18 

£000
2018 & on 

£000
Total       
£000

Corporate Borrowing 88,736.4 99,061.2 71,944.0 61,690.2 321,431.8
Departmental unsupported borrowing 47,010.6 35,773.8 11,691.0 22,769.4 117,244.8
HRA Borrowing 0.0 14,528.1 19,471.9 0.0 34,000.0
Treasury CFR assumptions -5,000.0 -26,000.0 16,000.0 15,000.0 0
TOTAL Borrowing including treasury adjustment 130,747.0 123,363.1 119,106.9 99,459.6 472,676.6

LCC resources in system 135,747.0 149,363.1 103,106.9 84,459.6 472,676.6
Capital Programme 363,774.7 373,582.7 274,676.4 120,542.3 1,132,576.1
% LCC resources 2015-2019 37.3% 40.0% 37.5% 70.1% 41.7%

Page 81



 Additional CRIS Injections to WBI & Community Committees and Total Balance Available Appendix D

Ward Based Initiative Allocations (to Ward)
Wards Initial WBI 

Allocation 
from 2008

CRIS Injection 
Up to end of 

March 15     
15% WBI

CRIS Injection 
Apr - Sept 2015     

15% WBI

Total CRIS 
Injection

Total WBI 
Allocation

Spent to date 
(as at 

30/09/2015)

Total Balance 
Available 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £
ADEL AND WHARFEDALE 40,000 32,748 0 32,748 72,748 40,000 32,748
ALWOODLEY 40,000 75,000 20,875 95,875 135,875 83,494 52,381
ARDSLEY AND ROBIN HOOD 40,000 19,505 0 19,505 59,505 27,003 32,501
ARMLEY 40,000 12,035 0 12,035 52,035 20,790 31,244
BEESTON AND HOLBECK 40,000 24,198 0 24,198 64,198 30,000 34,198
BRAMLEY AND STANNINGLEY 40,000 52,070 0 52,070 92,070 40,697 51,373
BURMANTOFTS AND RICHMOND HILL 40,000 11,068 27,366 38,434 78,434 45,471 32,963
CALVERLEY AND FARSLEY 40,000 31,811 13,456 45,267 85,267 61,181 24,086
CHAPEL ALLERTON 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0
CITY AND HUNSLET 40,000 34,113 0 34,113 74,113 3,000 71,113
CROSSGATES AND WHINMOOR 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 28,390 11,610
FARNLEY AND WORTLEY 40,000 46,492 0 46,492 86,492 66,689 19,803
GARFORTH AND SWILLINGTON 40,000 12,561 0 12,561 52,561 49,355 3,206
GIPTON AND HAREHILLS 40,000 86,714 0 86,714 126,714 43,683 83,031
GUISELEY AND RAWDON 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0
HAREWOOD 40,000 51,623 0 51,623 91,623 40,000 51,623
HEADINGLEY 40,000 176,588 0 176,588 216,588 94,194 122,394
HORSFORTH 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0
HYDE PARK AND WOODHOUSE 40,000 175,224 42,675 217,898 257,898 15,484 242,414
KILLINGBECK AND SEACROFT 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0
KIPPAX AND METHLEY 40,000 10,805 0 10,805 50,805 38,740 12,065
KIRKSTALL 40,000 42,370 0 42,370 82,370 40,480 41,890
MIDDLETON PARK 40,000 25,445 0 25,445 65,445 44,170 21,275
MOORTOWN 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 39,174 826
MORLEY NORTH 40,000 4,805 0 4,805 44,805 32,467 12,338
MORLEY SOUTH 40,000 26,894 0 26,894 66,894 39,215 27,679
OTLEY AND YEADON 40,000 3,611 0 3,611 43,611 43,605 6
PUDSEY 40,000 102,218 0 102,218 142,218 30,614 111,604
ROTHWELL 40,000 15,016 34,812 49,828 89,828 40,000 49,828
ROUNDHAY 40,000 32,449 0 32,449 72,449 57,693 14,757
TEMPLE NEWSAM 40,000 18,450 16,254 34,704 74,704 25,790 48,914
WEETWOOD 40,000 74,132 0 74,132 114,132 47,235 66,897
WETHERBY 40,000 0 0 0 40,000 39,995 5

1,320,000 1,197,944 155,437 1,353,380 2,673,380 1,368,607 1,304,773

Community Committee Wellbeing Allocations (to Area)
Area Percentage CRIS Injection 

Up to March 15     
15% WBI

CRIS Injection 
Apr - Sept 2015     

15% WBI

Total CRIS 
Injection

Transfer from 
ACW Residual 

schemes

Spend & 
committments 

to date (as at 
30/09/2015)

Balance on ACW CRIS

5% AWB 5% AWB 5% AWB
£ £ £ £ £ £

Inner South 12.72% 49,903 6,592 56,495 4,800 0 61,295
Outer South 10.31% 40,850 5,344 46,194 5,400 10,000 41,594
Outer East 10.20% 41,168 5,283 46,451 1,300 1,000 46,751
Inner West 10.97% 30,386 5,684 36,070 600 25,000 11,670
Inner North West 8.46% 47,916 4,385 52,301 4,100 33,700 22,701
Outer West 8.73% 34,282 4,523 38,806 11,400 19,800 30,406
Outer North West 8.81% 35,771 4,565 40,336 27,100 0 67,436
Inner North East 8.85% 35,965 4,587 40,552 400 17,400 23,552
Inner East 14.83% 58,180 7,685 65,865 11,900 53,965
Outer North East 6.11% 24,894 3,164 28,058 500 13,389 15,169
Totals = 100% 399,315 51,812 451,127 55,600 132,189 374,538

Total Injection required up to September 2015 £207,249  

Page 82



 

  
 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 18th November 2015 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 – Month 6 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA).  

 
2. The 2015/16 financial year is the second year covered by the 2013 Spending 

Review and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council.  In terms 
of the medium-term financial strategy, it is clear that the Government’s deficit 
reduction plans will extend through to at least 2019/20, with the announced 
reductions in public expenditure meaning that further savings will be required. 
Executive Board received a report outlining the Council’s 2016/17 to 2019/20 
Financial Strategy at its October meeting. 
 

3. Executive Board will recall that the 2015/16 general fund revenue budget provides 
for a variety of actions to reduce spending by £45m. It is clear that action is taking 
place across all areas of the Council and also that significant savings are being 
delivered in line with the budget. However, after 6 months of the financial year the 
year-end forecast is for an overall overspend of £3.3m which represents a 
favourable movement of £0.14m compared to the previous month.  The key 
pressures continue to be in the demand-led budgets and specifically those 
supporting children in care. 
 

4. At the end of month 6 the HRA is projecting a balanced position. 

 

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



 

  
 

Recommendations 

5. Members of the Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position 
of the Authority for 2015/16. 
 

1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2015/16 together with other key financial indicators.  
 
1.2 Budget management and monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, 

and this report reviews the position of the budget after 6 months of the financial 
year and also comments on the key issues impacting on the overall achievement of 
the budget for the current year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund was set at 

£523.78m, supported by the use of £1.45m of general fund reserves.   
 
2.2 The balance of general reserves at April 2015 was £22.3m and when taking into 

account the budgeted use of £1.45m in 2015/16 will leave an anticipated balance at 
March 2016 of £20.9m. 

 
2.3 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. In 
2015/16 we have reinforced this risk-based approach with specific project 
management based support and reporting around the achievement of the key 
budget actions plans. 

 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At month 6 of the 2015/16 financial year a forecast year-end overspend of £3.3m is 

projected as shown in the table below.  
   

 
 

Directorate Director Staffing
Total 

Expenditure
Income

 Total (under) 
/overspend

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adult Social Care Cath Roff (2,809) (773) 792 19 627

Children's Services Nigel Richardson (2,240) 6,587 (2,955) 3,632 2,816

City Development Martin Farrington (985) (507) 391 (116) (2)

Environment & Housing Neil Evans (1,320) 414 (1,792) (1,378) (957)

Strategy & Resources Alan Gay (1,871) (1,672) 1,583 (89) 141

Citizens & Communities James Rogers (341) 3,396 (3,500) (104) (65)

Public Health Dr Ian Cameron (491) (2,358) 2,768 410 0

Civic Enterprise Leeds Julie Meakin 301 840 (525) 315 313

Strategic & Central Alan Gay 0 16 626 642 602

Total Current Month (9,756) 5,943 (2,612) 3,331 3,475

(Under) / Over spend for the current period
Previous Month 

(under)/over 
Spend

Page 84



 

  
 

 
 
3.2 On the 4th June 2015, Government announced a national £200m in-year planned 

reduction to the Public Health grant. At the end of July Government then issued a 4-
week consultation with a closing date of 28th August with a preferred option, based 
on ease of implementation, of a flat-rate cut across all local authorities, regardless 
of local needs and circumstances. For Leeds, this would amount to a funding cut of 
£2.8m equating to a 7% cut of the current public health budget prior to the planned 
transfer in October 2015 of the commissioning responsibilities for health visiting 
services.   

 
 Some 5 months after the initial announcement and 2 months after the consultation 

ended, Government announced the response to the consultation on the 4th 
November. Whilst there was a breadth of responses from Local Authorities with a 
majority favouring options other than the Government preferred flat rate reduction, 
Government has decided that on balance, a flat rate reduction of 6.2% remains its 
preference and issued the revised 2015/16 grant allocations which for Leeds 
confirmed the in-year grant reduction to be £2.8m. 

 
 The month 4 financial health report to the Executive Board provided details of 

£2.2m of proposed reductions, £0.6m short of the potential grant reduction.  Since 
that report, a further £0.2m of commissioning savings have been identified resulting 
in a £0.4m shortfall which is reflected in the Public Health budget projection. 

 
3.3 The key issues are outlined below and further information is shown in the financial 

dashboards at appendix 1. 
 
3.3.1 Adult Social Care – the Directorate is currently projecting a balanced position by 

the financial year-end. The overall projection has reduced by £0.6m since month 5 
reflecting further contingency savings identified, which mainly relate to staffing. 
There are some risks associated with this projection, mainly relating to the activity 
levels within the community care budget and progress over the coming months in 
delivering key budget action plans.   

 
 Some slippage and likely non-achievement of planned savings has been identified 

on some of the most challenging budget action plans. Although there is slippage in 
delivering the specific actions associated with savings of £2.5m within the 
community care packages budget, this has been largely offset by savings through 
continued careful management of care plan approvals. £1m relates to revenue 
funding for community intermediate care beds from health which is now unlikely, but 
contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes that these will 
offset the shortfall. The current projection is for shortfalls of £1.2m in the budgeted 
saving from reviewing grants and contracts with third sector providers and £0.4m on 
transport. Slippage of £0.7m on the charging review will occur as any changes will 
not now take place until April 2016. These pressures are largely offset by projected 
underspends on staffing and grant income.  

 
3.3.2 Children’s Services – overall, the Directorate is forecasting a potential overspend 

of £3.63m which equates to 2.9% of the net managed budget and represents an 
adverse movement of £800k from the last period.  The projection across the looked 
after children related budgets has increased by £0.4m from the previous month. At 
the end of September there were 1,247 children in care which is a decrease of 2 in 
the month.  Externally provided residential placements have increased by 2 this 

Page 85



 

  
 

period to 51 and independent sector fostering agency placements have reduced by 
1 to 234. A case by case review of external placements is ongoing and is working 
towards safely reducing external residential and IFA placements to 38 and 200 
respectively by the end of the financial year.   

 
 In terms of staffing, the Directorate is projecting an underspend of £2.2m, primarily 

due to slippage on planned recruitment for services funded from the Innovations 
Fund  [£1.3m], a forecast underspend on Children's Centre staffing [£0.9m], a  
projected underspend on DSG funded educational services [£0.6m] which are partly 
offset by a forecast overspend on Youth Services [£0.5m].  Within the projection, 
the Directorate is aiming to deliver a £0.5m underspend on agency staffing of which 
£0.3m relates to implementation of the in-year contingency plan. Staff turnover and 
an in-year pause on recruitment are forecast to deliver a further £0.5m of savings 
by March 2016. 

 
 The 2015/16 budget includes £3.15m of savings from service transformation across 

Children's Services against which the Directorate is currently forecasting a year-end 
overspend of around £0.65m.  In addition, the budget also includes £0.83m of 
anticipated savings around demand management, particularly around the transport 
needs of children with Special Educational Needs.  The Service are projecting a 
£1m overspend, an increase of £0.5m from  month 5, as a result of further demand 
pressures around SEN transport together with a rise in children and young people 
requiring education outside the city.  

 
On the 5th November 2015, the Youth Justice Board confirmed an in-year reduction 
of £0.14m in the grant which supports the work of the Youth Offending Service.  
This grant cut will be offset by savings in staffing costs together with additional 
income from the Innovations Fund Family Values Project.  

 
3.3.3 City Development – overall, the Directorate is anticipating an underspend of 

£0.12m against the £51.9m net managed budget. The main changes since period 5 
are that further savings are expected to be made on staffing and running costs 
which are currently shown in the Resources and Strategy service on the financial 
dashboard. It is also anticipated that the Directorate will receive additional one-off 
income within the overall forecast. The majority of the budget action plans are on 
track to deliver the anticipated savings with the exception of the plans around 
increased income [£0.6m] and the community asset transfer proposals [£0.14m].  

  
3.3.4 Environment & Housing - overall the Directorate is forecasting a year-end 

underspend of £1.4m against its £61.2m net managed budget. A key area of 
underspend relates to car parking where, through a combination of staffing savings 
and additional fee income from both off and on-street, an underspend of £0.6m is 
projected.   

 
Waste Management are anticipating an underspend of £0.5m which includes £0.4m 
of additional PFI grant income savings due to the Recovery and Energy from Waste 
Facility (RERF) being certified as ready to take waste for commissioning (testing) in 
October 2015, rather than the budgeted date of November 2015. This is in addition 
to the £2m saving that is being realised in 2015/16 from the implementation of the 
Council’s Waste Strategy.   In addition, Community Safety are forecasting a saving 
of £0.12m, due to savings on staffing offset by reduced charges to the Housing 
Revenue Account and other minor pressures.   

 

Page 86



 

  
 

  
3.3.5 Public Health - the allocation of the main ring-fenced Public Health grant funding 

for 2015/16 was frozen at 2014/15 levels at £40.5m. In addition, the responsibility 
for the 0-5 years services which include health visiting services and Family Nurse 
Partnership, transferred to the Council from October 2015 with further funding of 
£5m.  
 
As mentioned at paragraph 3.2, on the 4th June 2015, Government announced a 
national £200m in-year reduction in 2015/16 to the Public Health grant. Government 
announced the response to the consultation on the 4th November. Whilst there was 
a breadth of responses from Local Authorities with a majority favouring options 
other than the Government preferred flat rate reduction, Government has decided 
that on balance, a flat rate reduction of 6.2% remains its preference and issued the 
revised 2015/16 grant allocations which for Leeds is an in-year grant reduction is 
£2.8m 
 

 The month 4 financial health report to the Executive Board provided details of 
£2.2m of proposed reductions, £0.6m short of the potential grant reduction.  Since 
that report, a further £0.2m of commissioning savings have been identified resulting 
in a £0.4m shortfall which is reflected in the Public Health budget projection. 

 
3.3.6 Strategy & Resources – the Directorate is forecasting an underspend of £0.1m 

against its budget which reflects the positive progress against the range of budget 
savings plans in additional to other minor variations.   

 
3.3.7 Citizens & Communities – at this stage in the financial year the Directorate is 

expecting to deliver the budgeted level of savings and deliver an underspend of 
£0.1m.  Many of the required budget action plans have already been implemented 
and achieved, and in all cases work is progressing to achieve the required savings. 

 
3.3.8 Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) – the bottom-line year-end forecast for CEL is to 

overspend by £0.3m primarily due to an anticipated overspend across school 
catering services of £0.17m as the result of a shortfall on the expected increase in 
the number of meals, and also a potential £0.15m overspend on property cleaning 
due to delays in implementing a reduced cleaning specification and realising the 
associated savings. An action plan has been developed which is anticipated will 
bring the projected overspend back to a balanced position which will be reflected in 
the month 7 report. 

 
3.3.9 Strategic & Central budgets - overall, the strategic & central budgets are forecast 

to overspend by £0.64m.  There are a number of key variations within this figure. 
 

i) The Business Rates Retention Scheme came into effect in April 2013 and 
significantly changed the system of financing local government.  In terms of 
business rates income, whilst there has been some growth, this has been offset 
by the impact of successful valuation appeals and other reductions to the rating 
list, either through closure, Valuation Office reviews or other appeals against the 
rating list.  Whilst the impact of major variations in business rates income is 
managed through a collection fund and therefore will impact on future years, 
there will be an impact on the levy payment to the business rates pool which is 
budgeted for within the general fund.  Based on the latest business rates 
information, we are anticipating a levy payment of £1.8m in 2015/16 which is 
£1m less than the budget. 

Page 87



 

  
 

 
ii) An additional £1.3m of savings to the revenue budget are anticipated in 2015/16 

through the additional capitalisation of eligible general expenditure (£0.3m) and 
eligible spend in schools budgets (£1m). 

 
iii) The 2015/16 budget included a £1.2m action plan in respect of reviewing and 

reducing directorate spend outside of council contracts.  Work is on-going to 
realise these savings however it is anticipated that £0.6m of the savings will slip 
into future financial years.  In addition, the forecast on the strategic budget 
recognises that £0.7m of the £1m corporate procurement target will be achieved 
through Directorate budgets.  
 

iv) New Homes Bonus is a funding mechanism rewarding councils that increase the 
number of occupied homes within their areas. The reward effectively doubles 
the amount of Council Tax for every new home built or empty home brought 
back into use, and is payable for six years.  The 2015/16 budget assumes some 
£18.5m in respect of New Homes Bonus.  At month 6, the forecast recognises 
an anticipated shortfall of £0.4m.  

 
v) In addition, there is a potential reduction in section 2781 income of 

approximately £1.5m which reflects lower development activity than anticipated. 
 
3.3.10 Additional information across the range of budget action plans, other risk areas and 

forecast budget variations can be found in the financial dashboards at appendix 1. 
 
3.4 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.4.1 Council Tax 

 
 The current Council Tax in-year collection rate stands at 54.84% which is in line 

with the performance in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is to achieve the 95.7% 
target collection rate, collecting some £284m of income in the year. 

 
3.4.2 Business Rates  
 
 The current Business Rates collection rate stands at 56.36% which is marginally 

behind [0.47%] the performance at this point in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is 
to achieve the 97.7% target collection rate, collecting some £377m of business 
rates income.  However, whilst collection rates continue to be on target, as 
mentioned at paragraph 3.3.9, there continues to be a significant issue around the 
total income to be collected and specifically the high number and backdating of 
business rates appeals.  The financial impact of these will manifest through the 
collection fund and therefore has been recognised in the 2016/17 financial strategy. 

 
3.4.3 Prompt payment of Creditors 
 
 The current performance for the prompt payment of invoices processed within 30 

days is 92.49% which compares favourably against the target of 92%. 
 
 
 
 
1 The Council receives income from developers to fund highways works which are required for new 
development schemes. These are known as section 278 agreements and the Council’s 2015/16 revenue 
budget provides for income of £5.2m for such schemes. 

Page 88



 

  
 

 
4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 After 6 months of the financial year the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a 
balanced position.  

4.2 Overall income is projected to be £0.5m more than the budget which is primarily 
due to additional rent income of £0.25m, along with additional income from service 
charges and other income.  Savings of £0.4m are forecast in relation to employees, 
which is primarily due to vacant posts.  Additional spend on the disrepair provision 
[£0.4m] and repairs to dwellings [£0.4m] are expected to be offset by reduced 
capital charges [£0.6m] resulting from a reduction in the voluntary set-aside. 

 

5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2015/16 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
25th February 2015. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2015/16 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and 
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 
5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
5.6 Risk Management 
 
5.6.1 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.  
To reinforce this risk-based approach, specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans is in place 
from 2015/16. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the Authority 

for 2015/16. 
 

Page 89



 

  
 

7. Background documents1  
 
7.1 None

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 90



 

  
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal Charges External Providers Transfer Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health Partnerships 389 (328) 60 (62) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (62) 62 0

Access and Care 
Delivery 235,967 (43,468) 192,500 (2,038) (7) 130 (77) 503 213 194 0 0 (1,083) 658 (425)

Care Reform 1,497 (289) 1,208 (202) 0 15 (1) 33 60 0 0 0 (95) (237) (332)

Strategic 
Commissioning 23,881 (29,791) (5,910) (233) 30 (39) (13) 197 821 0 0 0 763 (33) 730

Resources and Strategy 7,570 (1,042) 6,528 (273) (0) (19) (5) 0 0 0 0 0 (297) 342 45

Total 269,304 (74,917) 194,386 (2,809) 23 87 (96) 734 1,094 194 0 0 (773) 792 19

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 2015/16 BUDGET
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall narrative

The directorate is currently projecting a balanced position by the financial year-end. The overall projection has reduced by £0.6m since Month 5 reflecting further contingency savings identified, which mainly relate to staffing. There are some 
risks associated with this projection, mainly relating to the activity levels within the community care budget and progress over the coming months in delivering key budget action plans.  

Some slippage and likely non-achievement of planned savings has been identified on some of the most challenging budget action plans. Although there is slippage in delivering the specific actions associated with savings of £2.5m within the 
community care packages budget this has been largely offset by savings through continued careful management of care plan approvals. £1m relates to revenue funding for community intermediate care beds from health which is now unlikely, 
but contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes that these will offset the shortfall. The current projection is for shortfalls of £1.2m in the budgeted saving from reviewing grants and contracts with third sector providers and 
£0.4m on transport. Slippage of £0.7m on the charging review will occur as any changes will not now take place until April 2016. These pressures are largely offset by projected underspends on staffing and grant income, further details of which 
are outlined below.  

The main variations at Month 6 across the key expenditure types are as follows:
Staffing (-£2.8m – 3.8%)
Savings due to vacancies within the care management, business support reablement and telecare services amount to £1.8m. Within older people’s residential care staffing savings of £0.6m reflect the closure of Primrose Hill and the Roseville 
laundry earlier than was anticipated when the 2015/16 budget was set. Savings of £0.5m are projected in commissioning services, resources and strategy, health and wellbeing and care reform services due to staff turnover and careful vacancy 
management.
Transport (+0.4m – 8.2%)
The budgeted savings have not yet been identified, but work is ongoing in conjunction with Passenger Transport Services. 
Grants and contracts (+0.8m – 5.8%)
Savings of £1.5m have been budgeted from third sector spend through a combination of reviewing contracts and the small number of grants, and reviewing the scope for some modest charges to be introduced by these organisations. Through a 
review of these areas savings of £0.7m have been identified without impacting on the delivery of services by the third sector. Work is continuing to assess the scope for any further savings.
Community care packages (+£0.8m – 0.5%) 
The main variation relates to residential and nursing care placements. Those relating to older people are currently running below budget but those for people with mental health needs and particularly those with complex physical impairments 
are exceeding the budget provision. These cost pressures relate mainly to a relatively small number of customers with very high cost care packages. Expenditure on the learning disability pooled budget and direct payments are slightly higher 
than budgeted, but this is offset by small projected underspends on independent sector domiciliary care and supported accommodation.
Income (+£0.8m – 1.0%)
There is a small income shortfall due to the closure of Primrose Hill residential home earlier than was expected and some slippage on the charging review budget action plan. Additional government grant income of £0.2m relates to delayed 
transfers of care.

Appendix 1 

P
age 91



 

  
 

 

 Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 

Variation against 
Plan/Budget

 A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. L Ward 0.3 G 0.0

2. L Ward 0.5 G 0.0

3. M Naismith 0.7 A 0.4

4.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

0.2 A 0.1

5. M Naismith 0.3 R 0.3

6.
J Wright / M 
Naismith

1.2 A 0.0

7. J Bootle 2.0 R 1.7

8. D Ramskill 0.9 G 0.0

9. S Hume 3.0 G 0.0

10. Health Funding S Hume 5.9 G 0.0

11. S Hume 1.0 R 1.0

12. J Suddick 0.4 R 0.4

13. M Ward 2.0 1.2

14. A Hill 0.9 R 0.7

 B. Other Significant Variations

1. Various (2.8)

2. J Bootle (2.2)

3. S Hume (1.0)

4.
Service user 
income

S McFarlane (0.2)

5. Grant income S McFarlane (0.2)

6. Other income Various 0.5

7. Various 0.1

Adult Social Care Directorate - Forecast Variation 0.0

Review of contract/grant arrangements including Supporting People £1m of savings identified with good delivery plans associated with them. Remainder looking difficult to achieve at this stage.

Transfer of home care packages to independent sector

Home care Better Care Fund scheme

Reablement service Targets set for increased referrals that will reduce the demand for community care services

Review of high cost mental health care packages Clear strategy for achieving savings including targeting of high cost providers, but delivery not yet fully evidenced

Review of high cost physical disability care packages Targeting high cost providers. Review capacity required. 

Impact of telecare Targets for increased telecare installations to reduce the demand for community care services

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 2015/16 BUDGET

Month 6 (April to September)

Includes slippage on some minor Budget Acton Plans and reduced income relating to staffing underspends

Net effect of other minor variations

Grants for delayed transfers of care

Business case being developed to calculate/evidence contribution from Health. Report then to be produced to enable detailed 
negotiations with Health

Plans in place to deliver through staff turnover and ELI

Community Intermediate Care beds - contingency actions
Options being explored to address the likely non-achievement of the CIC bed plan, namely a reprioritisation of existing funding plans, 
and slippage on integration schemes

Additional Comments

Charging and Income Collection
Dependent on the outcome of customer consultation over the summer. Some slippage in the timetable but contingency savings 
identified.

Staffing
Savings within Access and Care Delivery relate to care management, business support, reablement, telecare and the closure of 
Primrose Hill residential home earlier than budgeted.

Community care packages
Although there as been slippage in delivering the specific actions within Budget Action Plans, the resulting pressures have been 
largely contained within the overall community care budget through careful budget management.

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Client contributions are higher than budgeted and this is partly offsetting the slippage in the charging review.

Review of mental health cases (CHC and Section 117) Target saving considered difficult to achieve, but work ongoing to identify all the actions that can be taken.

Transport Delivery of savings not yet evident

Community Intermediate Care beds
Original plan for revenue payment from Health re LCC capital to build new units now unlikely to be achieved. Contingency actions 
being developed.

Reduce growth in learning disability pooled budget
Actions include reviewing care packages and reviewing the local authority that has responsibility for cases in the light of the Care Act. 
Monitoring of savings arising from these actions is quite difficult.

Funding received and the need for additional spend in addition to that budgeted in 2015/16 is minimal

Reducing care costs through innovation
Work to deliver underway, including reviews of packages, better use of technology and staff training. Monitoring of savings arising 
from these actions is quite difficult.

P
age 92



 

  
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal Charges External Providers Transfer Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Partnership, 
Development & 
Business Support

21,246 (2,848) 18,398 425 0 (182) (50) 1,050 0 0 0 0 1,243 260 1,503

Learning, Skills & 
Universal Services 132,935 (117,573) 15,362 (675) 0 (35) 0 329 870 0 0 0 489 (1,388) (899)

Safeguarding, Targeted 
& Specialist Services 124,569 (31,171) 93,398 (1,990) 0 (22) 40 55 4,826 1,946 0 0 4,855 (1,827) 3,028

Strategy, Performance 
& Commissioning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Central Overheads 9,857 (12,938) (3,081) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 288,607 (164,530) 124,077 (2,240) 0 (239) (10) 1,434 5,696 1,946 0 0 6,587 (2,955) 3,632

CHILDREN'S SERVICES FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)
Overall - the Directorate is highlighting an overall potential year end overspend of £3.63m which equates to 2.9% of the Directorates Net Managed Budget and represents an adverse movement of £800K from the last period.  

CLA Obsession - Overall the  financial projections  for CLA related spend  have worsened by  £360k this month. At the end of  September there were 1,247 CLA  - an  overall decrease  of 2 from P5.  External residential placements have 
increased by 2 this period to 51  and IFA placements have reduced by  1 to 234 . A case by case review  of external placements  is  ongoing and is working towards  safely reducing  external residential  and IFA placements to 38 and 200 
respectively by the end of  the financial year.  

Staffing - Overall the Directorate is projecting  a year end underspend of £2.2m, predominantly accounted for by slippage on  planned recruitment for services funded from the Innovations Fund  £1.3m, a forecast underspend on Children's 
Centre staffing of £0.9m, a  projected underspend on DSG funded educational services of £0.6m partly offset by a forecast overspend on Youth Services of £0.5m.  Within the projection, the directorate is aiming to deliver a £0.5m underspend  
on agency staffing of which £0.3m relates to  implementation of the in-year contingency plan. Staff turnover and an in-year pause on recruitment is forecast to deliver  a further £0.5m  of savings by the end of the financial year.

Service Transformation  - the 2015/16 budget includes  £3.15m of savings from service transformation across Children's Services  against which the Directorate is currently forecasting a year-end overspend of approx. £0.65m

Transport - the 2015/16 strategy includes £0.83m of anticipated savings around demand management , particularly around the transport needs of children with Special Educational Needs.  The service are projecting a £1m overspend, up 
£0.5m from  month 5, as a result of further demand pressures around SEN transport. and a rise in children and young people requiring education outside the city. 

Partnerships/Trading - At this stage, the action plans around rationalising/trading the learning improvement service are projected to be delivered in full. 

Other Income - overall the service are projecting a £3m over achievement of income, which reflects  £1.6m of  Health funding for Children's Centres,  an additional £1m funding from Schools Forum, £1m of additional High Needs DSG funding 
for  SEND outside placements, and £0.5m of  contingency / other actions  around improvement Partner Income, Direct Payments and Housing Benefit rebates.  These favourable variations are partly offset by slippage on the development of 
early education provision which is funded via the dedicated schools grant.

P
age 93



 

  
 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Additional 
Comments

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 
Variation

 A. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's) £m £m

1. Steve Walker 7.00 R 3.90

2 Steve Walker 3.15 R 0.60

3
Andrea 

Richardson
3.05 A 0.60

4
Andrea 

Richardson
2.16 R 0.00

5 Paul Brennan 1.00 G 0.00

6 Sue Rumbold 0.83 R 1.00

7 Paul Brennan 0.25 A 0.25

 B. Other Significant Variations

8 Paul Brennan 0.00 A (1.00)

9 Steve Walker 0.00 A (0.50)

10 Various 0.00 A (1.45)

11 0.00 A 0.23

Children's Services Directorate - Forecast Variation 3.63

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

CHILDREN'S SERVICES FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 

Children Looked After (CLA) Placements - reducing the 
need for children to be in care 

Service Transformation/Redesign 

Reduction/reconfiguration of Youth Services 
(recommissioning of targeted Information & Advice contract 
and In-house Youth Services)

 At 31/3/15 the active cohort of CLA stood at 1, 270, down 70 from the position at 31/3/14 (1,340) but 40 
greater than assumed within the budget. At P6 the CLA cohort stands at 1,247 - main issue continues to 
be dependency on external residential placements (51) and Independent Fostering Agency placements 
(234)

£3.15m savings from service re-design & Early Leavers Initiative (£2.15m) and exploration of joint/co-
funding from key partners (£1.00m) to support devolvement of preventative/targeted services to 
localities. Discussions on-going with partners re joint funding of multi-agency teams; ELI driving staffing 
savings through post deletions and service reconfiguration - slippage anticipated

£3.05m savings from re-commissioning of the Targeted Information & Advice Contract (£1.35m) and 
reducing in-house provided Youth Services (£1.70m). Commissioning target delivered - pressure of circa 
£0.6m anticipated (£0.45m staffing; £0.10m running costs & £0.05m activity centre income). 

Partner Heads/active schools/

Slippage in plans to re-configure Children's Centres and associated services circa £1.3m; ongoing 
discussions with partners re joint funding of Children's Centre services 

New "Leeds for Learning" web-site implemented enabling schools to enrol/subscribe for services on-line 
and services to track demand and inform marketing strategy.  Services aiming to deliver through 
combination of vacancy management and increased trading - no slippage anticipated at this stage.

Team continue to actively work on Independent Travel Training element of savings (circa £330k) - 
potential pressure around SEN & GRT transport

Reconfiguration of Children's Centres (including Family 
Support & Parenting Team & Early Help Commissioned 
Services)

Learning Improvement - reconfiguration and/or further 
trading 

Transport -savings through reducing demand (Independent 
Travel Training) and general efficiency savings

Original plans put on hold pending the outcome of on-going consultation with schools forum (see 8 
below)

"A life Ready for Learning" -  development/agreement of 
proposals for co-funding from Schools/Health 

Agency Staffing

Other Variations

In-year Contingency Plan

Joint funding proposal around devolvement of early intervention/targeted services to clusters  (including 
Childrens Centres services and Youth Services) agreed by Schools Forum in June).    

Directorate on track to deliver £0.2M saving on agency staffing based on current activity and aims to 
deliver a further £0.3M reduction in spend through implementation of in-year contingency plan

Implementation of in-year contingency plan to pause recruitment, reduce spend on supplies and 
services, further maximise spend against Innovations  Fund, generate Improvement Partner Income and 
claw-back direct payments 

Other minor variations

P
age 94



 

  
  

Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport Internal Charges External Providers Transfer Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning and 
Sustainable 
Development

9,037 (5,497) 3,540 34 0 (14) (3) 17 (24) (7)

Economic Development 4,979 (3,985) 994 (26) 137 (154) 17 (26) 26 0

Asset Management and 
Regeneration 12,022 (10,718) 1,304 (466) 30 (6) (10) (375) (827) 1,223 396

Highways and 
Transportation 56,854 (36,332) 20,522 (316) 452 443 (39) (32) 508 (515) (7)

Libraries, Arts and 
Heritage 25,597 (8,145) 17,452 (131) 37 393 (7) 10 20 5 327 (188) 139

Sport and Active 
Recreation 25,084 (18,893) 6,191 (126) (261) (40) (7) (434) 394 (40)

Resources and Strategy 2,014 (107) 1,907 46 (118) (72) (525) (597)

Total 135,587 (83,677) 51,910 (985) 277 622 (66) (380) 20 5 0 0 (507) 391 (116)

CITY DEVELOPMENT 15/16 BUDGET

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)
Overall - The month 6 forecast variation for City Development Directorate is that the Directorate will spend £0.12m below the £51.9m net managed budget. The main changes since period 5 is that further savings are expected to 
be made on staffing and running costs, these savings are currently shown in Resources and Strategy. It is also projected that the Directorate will receive additional one off income in achieving its balanced position. 

Staffing - An underspend of just over £985k is projected. The budgeted reduction in FTEs has been achieved following over 100 staff leaving the Directorate through the Early Leaver Initiative scheme in the final quarter of 
2014/15. Vacancies will continue to be closely managed during the year to ensure that further savings are realised.   

Income - the forecast position is an underachievement of £391k and this is mainly due to a projected shortfall in advertising and other income in Asset Management and in Sport offset by additional income in other services. 

Planning and Sustainable Development - Planning and Sustainable Development is forecast to spend slightly below budget. Staffing is currently expected to slightly overspend as the budgeted vacancy factor is not quite 
achieved. The service is still experiencing high volumes of planning applications and workloads and at Period 6 planning and building fee income is £2,522k against the phased budget of £2,413k. Overall, income is projected be 
in line with the budget for the year. Economic Development - Economic Development is forecast to spend within budget. The main risk area is the level of income and expenditure at Kirkgate Market, particularly with the 
commencement of the re-development scheme. Income at Kirkgate Market is currently in line with the budgeted assumptions. A decision to extend the 20%  rent discount for Kirkgate Market has recently been approved. This is 
funded by additional one off income to be received by the Directorate in 15/16. Asset Management and Regeneration - Asset management is forecast to overspend by £396k. Staffing is projected to underspend by £467k as a 
result of a number of vacant posts. A shortfall in income of £1,223k is forecast, mainly due to longer lead in times required to secure new income from various budget initiatives including new commercial property acquisitions, 
additional advertising income and income from operating additional car parking at the Leeds International Pool site. Although all these are progressing income will be be less than the budgeted assumptions this financial year.  

Highways and Transportation - Highways and Transportation is forecast to spend within budget with an underspend on staffing and additional spend on premises and supplies and services offset by additional income mainly 
as a result of additional spend on contractors reflecting the increase in work that the service is managing.  Libraries, Arts and Heritage - The service is projected to overspend by £139k.  The overspend is as a result of some 
budget actions not progressing as quickly as reflected in the budget.

Support and Active Recreation - The service is expected to spend slightly below budget with a shortfall in income of £394k expected to be offset by expenditure savings including savings on energy costs. 

Resources and Strategy - The service is projected to have an underspend of £597k. A Directorate staff saving target of £300k is currently included in the Resources and Strategy budget together with saving targets for the 
Better Business Management work stream. These saving targets will be allocated to individual services during the year and overall further savings in staffing and supplies and services are expected across the Directorate 
together with additional one-off income. These are currently shown as an additional underspend in Resources and Strategy. 

P
age 95



 

  
 

 

 Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation against 

Plan/Budget

Lead Officer
 A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000

1. Ben Middleton 560 G 0

2. Gary Bartlett 300 A 0

3. Ed Mylan 680 G 0

4. Tom Bridges 950 G 0

5.
Chris 
Gomersall/Ben 
Middleton

700 R 620

6. Tim Hill 300 G 0

7. Various CO's 810 G 0

8.
Cluny 

MacPherson
500 G 0

9.
Cluny 

MacPherson
820 A 140

10.
Cluny 

MacPherson
200 A 60

11. Reduction in highways maintenance budgets Gary Bartlett 360 G 0

 B. Other Significant Variations

1. Ed Mylan (604)

2. Other expenditure Ed Mylan 195

3. Ed Mylan (527)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation (116)

Additional spend mostly in Highways and LAH largely funded by additional income. 

Other additional income from fees and charges/VAT exemption and 
changes in volumes

Arts grant reduction - new funding arrangements New grant allocations will deliver the savings. DDN published 25 March and implemented 1st April

Other Culture savings. Including savings on the events 
budget, Breeze and CAT proposals for Pudsey Civic 
Hall and Yeadon Tarn Sailing Centre and other running 
cost savings

Most saving proposals being implemented. The CAT proposals are unlikely to progress so alternative savings will need to be brought 
forward in the service. 

Additional one off income anticpated to be received in 15/16 subject to final agreement being reached. 

Increased income Planning and Building Control

Other Income (net)

Other Staff savings

Efficient and enterprising Council - Reduction in asset running costs 

Dimming/switching off street lights

Staff savings through ELIs and vacancies

Joint working with WYCA and City Region efficiencies

New income in Asset Management including increased income from 
advertising from 2 new advertising towers, new commercial property 
acquisitions and income from establishing a temporary car park on the LIP 
site

Additional Comments

A further report on delivery options being produced for discussion with the Executive Member. A possibility that an Executive Board 
report may be required. Proposals may need to include invest to save initiative. Other savings expected to make up any shortfall. 

Savings in Sport and Active Recreation including 
reduction in operating hours and realignment of sports 
development unit

Detailed proposals being worked up. Any changes will require consultation therefore implementation not possible by 1 April and likely 
now to be January 16 and this will impact on savings target although expected to be offset by other savings.

Mostly savings on Merrion rent and on schedule to be delivered. Merrion purchase completed end of May.

Proposed price increases have been implemented. Some risks in terms of the increases in volumes but this will be monitored during 
the year. 

Pre-application planning charges have been implemented and there is an increased income target for building control. Additional 
income is also assumed from the Community Infrastructure Levy to fund administration costs.

Budget reduced

Projected net savings from vacancies and expected ELIs

ELI reductions managed across directorate. FTE reductions achieved following a number of ELI leavers at the end of March. 

Leeds and Partners now wound up and new arrangements put in place which will deliver the budgeted savings. The budgeted £250k 
contribution from L&P reserves has been received. 

JC Decaux progressing with the new sites including discharging the planning conditions. They are also progressing with awarding 
appropriate contracts. Determination period a min of 8 weeks, construction 4-6 mths. Earliest 'go live' date estimated end Oct. Max 
potential income 15/16 is £100k. Harper St car park purchased, additional acquisition being explored. LIP car park opened at the 
beginning of September 2015. 

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

CITY DEVELOPMENT 15/16 BUDGET

P
age 96



 

  
  

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriati
on

Total 
Expenditur

e

Income Total 
(under) / 

overspend
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Month 1 61,432 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Month 2 61,432 (573) (27) (142) (70) 95 110 (607) 377 (230)
Month 3 61,432 (972) 3 9 77 246 114 0 0 0 (523) 80 (443)
Month 4 61,223 (1,137) 234 (282) (32) 351 32 0 0 58 (776) 263 (513)
Month 5 61,223 (1,243) 196 1,127 (54) 182 32 0 0 58 299 (1,256) (957)
Month 6 61,151 (1,320) 66 1,443 (183) 65 35 0 0 308 414 (1,792) (1,378)

Latest 
Estimate Month 1 Month 2 Month 3 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000

1,745 0 (180) (159) (149) (149) (121)

Strategic Housing, SECC, Contracts 
and GFSS

10,349 0 (20) (8) (108) (157) (157)

Property Maintenance Leeds (4,992) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Parks & Countryside 8,362 0 (30) (57) (57) (88) (157)

18,640 0 0 0 0 175 60

Household Waste Sites & Infrastructure 4,234 0 0 68 99 (105) (76)

Refuse Collection 16,699 0 0 0 0 0 (87)

Environmental Action 10,676 0 0 (81) (30) (31) (51)

Environmental Health 2,451 0 0 0 (3) (3) (10)

(7,014) 0 0 (206) (265) (599) (779)

Total 61,151 0 (230) (443) (513) (957) (1,378) 0 0 0 0 0 0

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR PERIOD 6

Month 6 (April to September)

Projected Variations
Summary By Expenditure Type

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE 

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Summary By Service

Waste Strategy and Disposal

Car Parking

Community Safety

Overall Position  (£1,378k under budget)

Community Safety (£121k under budget)
A £156k staffing underspend on Leeds Watch following the 
restructure implementation.  There are £157k of other 
staffing underspends due primarily to vacant posts within 
LASBT and Signpost.  Charges to the HRA will be £110k lower 
than budgeted.  Other net pressures are expected to total 
£82k.

Parks & Countryside (£243k over budget)
The net income generated at Tropical World is projected to be 
£227k higher than the budget due to increased visitor 
numbers following redevelopment works at the 
attraction. An overspend of £57k has been projected on 
staffing. Non‐staffing pressures of £78k are expected on golf 
and £43k on forestry services. A net pressure of £146k is 
expected at Temple Newsam (after contributions of £250k 
towards a capital scheme at the café aimed at securing future 
income streams at the site). £350k of additional equipment 
costs have been projected. Underspends of £95k are 
projected at Lotherton, £42k at Roundhay and £44k on 
fuel. Other net underspends total £23k.

Environmental Action & Health (£61 under budget)
The service has now implemented the restructure. A minor 
variation of £61k. 

Car Parking (£779k under budget)
Vacant attendant posts are projected to save £223k . Fee 
income remains strong and forecast to be above the budget 
(£565k higher),  and BLE income is projected to be £230k 
higher than the budget. However, there has been a reduction 
in the number of PCNs issued. PCN income is now forecast to 
be £215k below the budget. 
Expenditure variations on the replacement IT system and 
additional bank charges for credit card payments are £24k. 

Housing Support/Partnerships/SECC/Contracts/GFSS (£157k 
under budget)
£308k of staffing underspends due to vacant posts are partially 
offset by £95k of related income pressures from the 
HRA/Capital and the £54k target for DSU and Intelligence 
efficiencies.    The efficiency target for Supporting People 
contracts is expected to be achieved alongside £34k of 
additional prioritised Domestic Violence prevention work.  
Other net pressures are projected to be £2k.

Property Maintenance Leeds (balanced position)
PM Leeds is currently projecting a balanced budget position. 
There remain key risks on the account around turnover and in 
particular around the following trades:‐ lift installation schemes 
and Aids & Adaptations Work. These risks have been discussed 
with the relevant Head of Service and identified on their risk 
register.

Waste Management (£503k under budget)

Refuse Collection (£87k) 
Staffing costs are forecast to be £74k over budget (0.5%). 
Transport costs are forecast to be £150k below budget due 
to fuel savings of (£110k) insurance reductions (£76k)  
partially offfset by hire costs are forecast +£33k due to a 
slight delay in some of the new fleet arriving . Minor  savings  
of £8k.
HWSS & Infrastructure (£76k)
Slippage on the Kirkstall Road redevelopment  will realise an 
in year saving of £220k in financing costs. A saving of £250k 
from the strategic review of HWSS was budgeted and £137k 
will be delivered, leaving a pressure of £113k. Other minor 
variations are £31k.

Waste Strategy & Disposal ‐£340k
Additional PFI grant of £400k is anticipated as a result of the 
RERF taking waste for commissioning ahead of the budgeted 
date.
Reducing market prices for recycled material  is expected to 
cost  £251k  from additional SORT  disposal and loss of 
recycling income.  Lower volumes of residual and garden 
waste  should save £183k. 
An estimated £153k of programme management costs from 
the PPPU will be required to help the service deliver key 
waste projects .However, savings of £70k on PFI advisor 
costs, staffing savings of £60k and £30k income will mitigate 

P
age 97



 

  
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Lead 
Officer

RAG
Action Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1.
Susan 
Upton

G 1.6 (0.4)

2.
Susan 
Upton

A 0.3 0.1

3.
Sean 
Flesher

G 0.4 0.0

4.
Simon 
Costigan

G 1.4 0.0

5.
Helen 
Freeman

G 0.3 (0.0)

6. Sam Millar G 1.0 0.0

7. Neil Evans G 0.8 0.0

8. Directorate wide staffing reductions Neil Evans G 1.5 0.0
9. Contract / Procurement Savings / Line by Line G 1.0 0.0
10. All Other action plan items G 0.0 0.0

Sub Total 8.3 (0.3)
B. Other Significant Variations

1.
Susan 
Upton

0.1

2.
Susan 
Upton

0.1

3.
Susan 
Upton

(0.2)

4.
Helen 
Freeman

0.0

5. Car Parking Fee Income Fee Income
Helen 
Freeman

(0.6)

6 Car Parking Staffing
Helen 
Freeman

(0.2)

6 Environmental Action staffing
Helen 
Freeman

(0.0)

7 Parks & Countryside ‐ Tropical World income
Sean 
Flesher

(0.3)

8 Parks & Countryside ‐ Bereavement Services
Sean 
Flesher

0.0

9 Property Maintenance
Simon 
Costigan

0.0

10 Community Safety ‐ CCTV/Security restructure Sam Millar (0.2)

11 Strategic Housing Partnerships
John 
Statham

0.0

12 Strategic Housing Support Liz Cook 0.0

13 All Other variations All CO's 0.2

Sub Total (1.1)

Environment & Housing ‐ Forecast Variation (1.4)

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR PERIOD 6

Month 6 (April to September)

£385k pressure in 14/15 ‐ trend to be monitored throughout the year

Restructure proposals now agreed and implementation commenced

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed

Dealing Effectively with the City's waste

HWSS Strategic Review and Permit scheme

Parks and Countryside additional income New charges implemented and working with taxation team to support VAT exemptions

Review of rates to be charged in progress;

New structure being implemented ‐ in year variation from slippage

WYP &CC grant use

Integration of Property Maintenance and 
Construction Services

Woodhouse Lane Car Park

£7.6m budget. P ‐ On street income approx. £0.35m above budget

Refuse Collection staffing costs

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed

Balance of all other budget variations across all divisions  including £220k savings on 
Kirkstall Road financing costs

Waste Disposal Costs

Car Parking Fee Income BLE / PCN income

Refuse Collection vehicle costs

Vacant posts in service 

Income rec'd in April/May above budgeted level ‐ trend to be monitored throughout the 
year

Permit scheme implemented in April 15; Strategic review underway; Report expected July.

BLE  £1.4m in total . Phase 3 to start December. PCN's   £2.4m

AWC4 roll out complete; PFI grant of £1.9m (Nov) is on target & new contracts for disposal 
now in place; Temp contracts in 14/15 all ended.

Contracts reviewed / renegotiated and savings expected to be delivered

Price rise implemented Jan 15. Income on line as at end of May

£12m pay budget in service;  Continue to monitor weekly numbers 

Repairs budget has been under pressure for a few years; additional provision made + 17 
new vehicles and reduction in landfill; Fuel costs £1.5m

£100k to be identified but given current level of vacant posts, this will be achieved
Savings from insurance, fuel, pest control contracts; 

Net budget £16.8m for 324.8k tonnes of waste;  SORT waste expected to be £320k over 
but other reductions offset to £185k

£743k funding secured; £57k from ASBU; £60k costs won't be incurred; £143k to find

Savings in Housing related support programme

Additional Comments

P
age 98



 

  
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal Charges External Providers Transfer Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy & Improvement 4,791 (607) 4,184 (74) 3 (5) 0 0 0 53 0 0 (23) 21 (2)

Finance 16,487 (7,128) 9,359 (183) 0 (51) 13 (26) 0 0 0 0 (247) 289 42

Human Resources 8,049 (1,749) 6,300 (186) (3) 96 (3) 31 0 0 0 0 (65) 1 (64)

Information Technology 21,287 (6,942) 14,345 (1,021) 0 111 2 0 0 0 (13) 0 (921) 871 (50)
Projects, Programmes & 
Procurement 7,494 (7,564) (70) (402) 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 (400) 400 0

Legal Services 5,242 (6,854) (1,612) (33) 0 17 (18) 0 0 0 0 0 (34) 34 0

Democratic Services 5,040 (56) 4,984 28 0 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 (33) (15)

Total 68,390 (30,900) 37,490 (1,871) 0 160 (6) 5 0 53 (13) 0 (1,672) 1,583 (89)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall

In respect of the savings associated with the Council's commitment to reduce the cost of support services by 30% over a 4 year period, plans are progressing well to achieve the savings in 2015/16. Use of the early leavers initiative together with 
non-filling of leavers and exploitation of income opportunities means that services should be able to realise the savings required.  

Currently an underspend of £89k is projected for the year mainly due underspends on staffing costs partly offset by lower court fee income.

Strategy and Improvement

The service has met its staffing efficiency savings targets for this year and  the projection is for a small underspend of £2k. The Intelligent Council staff have now been transferred back to their original directorates. 

Finance

The main challenge for this service is to meet the current shortfall based on staff in post to date and known recruitment and leavers through to year end and shortfall in income.  The service is  pursuing options and the budget is expected to come in 
on target by year end, though this is reliant on identifying savings of a further £116k.  A number of minor pressures on income reduction are offset by reduced staffing costs and savings on supplies and services.   However, the trend in court fee 
income, which is dependent on the number of summonses raised in respect of Council debt, is lower than budgeted and a pressure of £92k is now expected, resulting in an overall overspend of £42k. 

Human Resources

HR have met the £622k savings incorporated in the budget and a modest underspend of £64k is now forecast. The Manager Challenge Programme is expected to be funded from the earmarked reserve created in 2013/14.

Information Technology

Savings targets are expected to be achieved  and the only issue identified to date is an overspend of £50k on ICT4Leeds due to insufficient sign up from schools and academies.  At present the projections assume that this overspend will be more 
than covered by other compensating savings. Further potential pressures could arise from the expansion of the city wide Smart Cities Agenda and on ongoing dispute with Virgin Media.  Overall a £50k underspend is now projected.

Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit

Following the outturn 2014/15 a key risk area is PPPU income, specifically the level of non-chargeable or reduced rate work. A new monitoring arrangement is in place. 
Based on latest information on from the time recording system, chargeable income is expected to be £480K short compared to the budget  - this is offset by £400K savings on the staffing and an additional £80K of external income from YPO. Overall 
the service is anticipated to balance but this is dependant of been able to raise an average of £630K a month of chargeable work over the next six months.

Legal Services

Savings built into the budget for 2015/16 are on line to be delivered. The staffing budget is currently underspent but there are plans to recruit to posts and Legal Services have two locums covering vacant posts (Planning and Housing Disrepair) as 
these have proved difficult to recruit to. 

Democratic Services

It is expected that the savings targets will be met this financial year although not necessarily be delivered in line with the original strategy.   Overall a small underspend of £15k is projected.

P
age 99



 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 

Variation against 
Plan/ Budget

 A. Key Budget Action Plans £m
£m

1. Finance Doug Meeson 0.75 G 0.00

2. HR Lorraine Hallam 0.62 G 0.00

3. ICT Dylan Roberts 0.71 G 0.00

4. Legal and Democratic Services Catherine Witham 0.45 G 0.00

5 Strategy and Improvement Mariana Pexton 0.25 G 0.00

6 Business improvement - print savings Dylan Roberts 0.20 B 0.00

7 Income - court fees Doug Meeson 0.20 G 0.09

 B. Other Significant Variations

1 Net effect of other minor variances All A (0.18)

(0.09)

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Required level of savings have now been achieved through staff movements, leavers and ELI.

Fees to be monitored in year.

Strategy and Resources Directorate - Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

Definite actions now in place for c£590k.

Definite actions now in place for £620k of the savings. 

Legal services savings of £117k on-line. Democratic Services, savings delivered: £100k Scrutiny, £9k Members Support, £105k 
reduction in Members Superannuation . Balance of £91k intended to be delivered from the Members Support budget and a 
combination of ELI, maternity and other efficiencies . Implementation partially dependent upon assistance from Members.

Actions underway for delivery of £448k of savings. Plans in place for delivery of residue.

Implemented and savings being delivered on target.P
age 100



 

  
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 7,540 (1,662) 5,878 (100) 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Customer Access 13,581 (1,184) 12,397 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elections, Licensing & 
Registration

5,830 (5,239) 591 (203) 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 (200) 200 0

Benefits, Welfare and 
Poverty

297,700 (294,609) 3,091 (38) 5 235 6 0 0 3,388 0 0 3,596 (3,700) (104)

Total  324,651 (302,694) 21,957 (341) 105 238 6 0 0 3,388 0 0 3,396 (3,500) (104)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall ‐ At this stage in the year the Directorate is expecting to achieve the budgeted level of savings.  Many of the actions have already been achieved and in all cases work is 
progressing to deliver the savings and an underspend of £104k is now projected.  In terms of other volatile budget areas, trends in housing benefits overpayments can 
significantly impact on the budget position however it is too early in the year to confidently predict the outcome at this stage.  

Communities ‐ Community Centres were overspent by £100k last year and £75k of this is recurring meaning the true pressure in 15/16 is £175k . Whilst it is expected that this 
will be contained within Citizens and Communities overall we are working with Facilities Management to deliver efficiencies.  All other action plan items have been delivered.  
The Communities Team and Area Support have some vacant posts and a number of staff are on maternity leave, posts will be filled in due course but delays in recruitment will 
generate a budget saving of approx £100k.  

Customer Access ‐ Currently the staffing cost is under budget.  However recruitment is needed to be able to cope with existing workloads at the Contact Centre as efficiencies 
based on Transactional Web Services developments have not yet  been fully realised. The delays in implementation of Customer Access Phase 1 mean there is a risk that the 
staffing cost will be over budget by the year end.  Some of the pressure is partly offset with in year savings in Business Support staffing.  Community Hub recruitment could also 
create an in year pressure ‐ worst case scenario suggests this may be as much as £250k but this is dependent on timing and recruitment and to some extent may be avoidable.

Elections, Licensing and Registration ‐ Overall budgets are online but the shortfall in income in Registrars and Entertainment Licencing in 2014/15 is continuing  with a 
forecasting shortfall this year of £100k in each service (£200k in total).  Savings on staffing budgets in the same service areas are expected to offset the income shortfall.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty ‐ BWP is expected to underspend by £104k by year end based on the information detailed in Period 6.  An underspend on Housing Benefit 
payments / subsidy / overpayments income of £205k is partially offset by increased supplies and services costs.  In respect of the revised Local Welfare Support Scheme for 
2015/16, the budget of £1.1m is projected to be fully spent and this includes estimated spend of £100k on support for the migrant third sector as reported to Executive Board on 
23/9/15.

P
age 101



 

  
 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 G 0.1 0.0

2 G 0.1 0.0

3 G 0.1 0.0

4 G 0.1 0.0

5 G 0.2 0.0

6 G 0.3 0.0

7 G 0.2 0.0

8 G 0.2 0.0

9 A 0.1 0.2

10 G 0.1 0.0

11 G 0.1 0.0

12 A 0.3 0.0

13 G 0.1 0.0

14 G 0.1 0.0

15 G 0.1 0.0

A. Other Significant Budgets

1 G (0.2)

2 All G (0.1)

Citizens and Communities Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation (0.1)

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Housing Benefit Payments, Subsidy and Overpayment Income Steve Carey
Gross expenditure budget of £295m.  Monitored monthly throughout the year.  No 
variance to budgets currently anticipated.

All other budget headings

Steve Carey

Budget reduced

Additional Comments

Community based assets ‐reduction in relevant costs from 
participating services as Community Hubs formed

Fraud and error reduction incentive scheme

Use Social Inclusion Fund to support financial inclusion work

10% reduction in Well Being budget

Delivery of transactional web services

E‐Claim for Benefits

Reduce innovation fund by 25%

Reduce Advice Agency Grant by 10%

Review of community centres

Reduce opening hours of contact centres 9am‐5pm

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Budgets (£2.5m) transferred to C&C on 1st April. New management arrangements will be 
introduced during the year and there is a high level of confidence that full savings will be 
delivered.

Lee Hemsworth

Housing Benefits overpayments

Review of Communities running costs

Further integration of Contact Centre with Council Tax

Reduce property visits in Council Tax Service

Shaid Mahmood

Lee Hemsworth/Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Increase in fees in Licensing and Registration services and 
Translation and Interpretation

John Mulcahy

Low risk and ELI based. Depends on finding more efficient ways of working together

Use more efficient ways of identifying properties that may be occupied

Actioned

Assumes we continue our improved performance in this area

Govt grant. Level of payment depends on how effective we are at reducing fraud

Actioned

Budget reduced ‐ to be managed by Area Committees

Steve Carey

Shaid Mahmood

Introduce online claim form for HB and CTB. May be delayed after April which may mean 
slightly reduced saving 

Budget reduced 

Lee Hemsworth

Lee Hemsworth

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Consultation process started. Once complete a delivery plan will be developed including: 
general efficiencies in facility management; CAT or other community management 
arrangements and closure options. Any proposals for closure will require Executive Board 
decision.

Actioned

Opening hours reduced as planned on 1st April.

Some technical issues with new system meant that it was only part implemented on 1st 
April (employee portal only) in the areas of environmental services and highways. 
Customer portal will go live in May. This may result in lower overall savings being 
achieved.

P
age 102



 

  
  

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Health Grant (45,533) (45,533) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,823 2,823

Staffing and General 
Running Costs

5,464 (31) 5,433 (465) 0 (14) 0 (75) 0 0 0 0 (554) 0 (554)

Commissioned and 
Programmed Services:

 ‐ General Public Health 259 259 0 0 0 0 0 (80) 0 0 0 (80) 0 (80)

 ‐ Population Healthcare 489 489 0 0 (65) 0 0 (92) 0 0 0 (157) 0 (157)

 ‐ Healthy Living and 
Health Improvement

16,441 16,441 0 0 (36) 0 (43) (238) 0 0 0 (317) 0 (317)

 ‐ Older People and Long 
Term Conditions

3,071 (36) 3,035 0 0 (28) 0 (20) (154) 0 0 0 (202) 0 (202)

 ‐ Child and Maternal 
Health

10,654 10,654 0 0 (14) 0 0 (485) 0 0 0 (499) (17) (516)

 ‐ Mental Wellbeing and 
Sexual Health

9,200 9,200 (10) 0 (50) 0 0 (272) 0 0 0 (332) 0 (332)

 ‐ Health Protection 1,233 1,233 0 0 2 0 0 (212) 0 0 0 (210) (28) (238)

Transfer From Reserves (1,211) (1,211) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supporting People 936 (637) 299 (16) 0 (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (18) 1 (17)

Drugs Commissioning 2,886 (2,954) (68) 0 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 (11) 0
Total  50,633 (50,402) 231 (491) 0 (196) 0 (138) (1,533) 0 0 0 (2,358) 2,768 410

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

PUBLIC HEALTH 

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall
The allocation of ring fenced Public Health grant for 2015/16 had been frozen at 2014/15 levels of £40.5m.  However, in addition the responsibility for the 0 ‐ 5 years services (health visiting 
services and Family Nurse Partnership) transfers to LCC in October and further funding of £5m will be provided. Work is ongoing with the current provider of health visiting and Family Nurse 
Partnership services to ensure a smooth transition to LCC from NHS England.  In 2014/15 there was an underspend of £1,211k of the ring fenced grant which has been brought forward for use in 
2015/16 in line with grant conditions.  Of this amount, £800k had been expected to fund the base budget for 2015/16 and the remaining £411k has been allocated to services committed to during 
2014/15 but which have not yet taken place. 

On the 4th November the Government announced the result of  the consultation with local authorities on the implementation of a £200m national cut the  2015/16 Public Health grant allocation.  
This confirmed the Department of Health's preferred option of reducing each local authority's allocation by 6.2%, which means a reduction of  £2,818k for Leeds City Council.  At this stage there is 
no firm information that these cuts will be recurrent, however there are suggestions that this will be the case following the comprehensive spending review.   Although the Public Health grant for 
2015‐16 is already committed, work is ongoing to identify savings, critical decisions will need to be made in order to meet this significant challenge. To date, £2,391k of potential savings have been 
identified and are in the process of being implemented and are reflected in the projections below.   After taking into account normal variations in existing services, a further saving of £0.4m  is 
required (still to be identified).
Detailed Analysis
New contracts for integrated sexual health services and drugs and alcohol services commenced on 1st July.  Work is ongoing to identify any potential financial pressures particularly in relation to 
Shared Care activity, medical costs, testing and prescribing and dispensing costs for drugs and alcohol treatment and recovery.
There is currently an underspend on the staffing budget due to posts going through the recruitment process, any underspend achieved will be considered as part of any current pressures and the 

P
age 103



 

  
 

 
 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

2. Ian Cameron G 4.99 0.00

3. Ian Cameron G 0.25 0.00

4. Ian Cameron G 0.28 0.00

5. Ian Cameron G 0.16 0.00

6. Ian Cameron G 0.05 0.00

7. Ian Cameron G 0.15 0.00

8. Ian Cameron G 0.26 0.00

9. Ian Cameron G 0.11 0.00

10. Underspend brought forward from 2014/15 Ian Cameron G 0.80 0.00

11. Ian Cameron G 0.27 0.00

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Ian Cameron (0.49)

2 Grant reduction Ian Cameron Anticipated reduction in grant 2.82

3 Ian Cameron (1.92)

0.41

PUBLIC HEALTH 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Reduction in small projects

PPPU reviews completed during 2014/15

Increase in ring fenced grant

Reduction in staff costs

Additional Comments

From October 2015 funding and contract responsibility for 0‐5 years public health services transfers 
to the council.  This responsibility is funded by an increase in ring fenced grant.

Following a review of essential posts, savings have been identified.

Based on current levels of activity, the demand for this service has reduced resulting in an 
estimated saving.

The DoH notified the council of a PCT legacy balance outstanding.  Provision was made in 2014/15 
for this and so is not required in 2015/16.

Reduction in social marketing activity.

A number of projects carried out in 2014/15 are no longer required.

Work on new contracts is complete and no further charges are expected for this service.

PCT legacy balance not required

Reduction in social marketing costs

NHS Healthcheck ‐ estimated reduction in demand

Public Health ‐ Forecast Variation

Savings identified to fund reduction in grant

Responsibility has passed to the CCG's for this service with no requirement to transfer funding.

Grant conditions allow for underspends in one year to be used in the following year.

External Providers

Staffing budget Delays in recruitment have resulted in a projected underspend

Charge to HRA from Supporting People Team
A proportion of staff time is spent supporting HRA contracts.  An analysis of the time spent on this 
has resulted in a recharge to HRA.

Adult Weight Management

P
age 104



 

  
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) 
/ overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support 
Centre 9,993 (5,133) 4,860 (183) 10 (83) 0 79 0 0 0 0 (177) 177 0

Commercial Services 55,692 (54,911) 781 398 71 (137) 503 1 0 0 0 0 836 (521) 315

Facilities 
Management 9,723 (3,503) 6,220 48 69 11 5 0 0 0 0 0 133 (133) 0

Corporate Property 
Management 6,787 (535) 6,252 38 (6) 11 5 0 0 0 0 0 48 (48) 0

Total 82,195 (64,082) 18,113 301 144 (198) 513 80 0 0 0 0 840 (525) 315

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 6 (April to September)

Overall narrative

The overall projected position at period 6 for CEL is an overspend of £315k which is primarily accounted for by a £165k overspend against the Catering net budget and a £150k overspend on Property 
Cleaning. The Catering overspend is a result of an income shortfall against the increased budgeted number of meals whereas the Property overspend arises from not meeting efficiencies included within 
the base budget.

Business Support Centre
A balanced position is projected, savings on staffing budgets due to delays in recruitment are offset  by shortfall against the income budgets. In order to create Shared Services budgets for Mailroom , 
Document Management and Services Agency (Print and Signs) have transferred to BSC (from Facilities). The income shortfall arises from where schools switch to academies  and no longer use some 
of the BSC's services (£31k) and a shortfall against the purchasing card rebate of £38k.

Commercial Services
The Commercial Services overspend of  £315k is, as explained above, accounted for by a shortfall against an increase in the budgeted number of meals on Catering (£350k full year effect for Universal 
Free School Meals assumed in the 2015/16 budget) to Period 6; the projection assumes that the budgeted number of meals will be achieved for the remainder of the financial year. Due to delays in 
implementing the £200k budgeted savings by implementing a lower cleaning specification, Property Cleaning are forecasting an overspend of £150k.

The projection assumes that the transfer of budgets for ASC catering and cleaning staff will be cost neutral.

Facilities
A balanced period 6 position is projected. There's a £48k pressure on the staffing savings as a result of non delivery of closure savings assumed in the 2015/16 Asset Rationalisation programme for 
community centres. This pressure is recharged to Citizens and Communities.

Corporate Property Management
A balanced position is projected with the projected overspend against staffing to be managed by a combination of additional income and savings against running costs.

P
age 105



 

  
 

 
 
 
 

 Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation 

against Plan/ 
Budget

 A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 Julie Meakin 0.87 G 0.0

2 Jo Miklo 0.21 G 0.0

3 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

4 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

5
Mandy 
Snaith

0.08 G 0.0

6 Julie Meakin 0.06 G 0.0

7
Dave 
Outram/Julie 
Meakin

TBC G 0.0

8
Mandy 
Snaith

0.05 G 0.0

9 Terry Pycroft 0.05 G 0.0

10
Richard 
Jackson

0.20 R 0.1

 B. Other Significant Variations

11 Net effect of all other variations 0.2

Civic Enterprise Leeds - Forecast Variation 0.3

Increased trading with public by Fleet Services, 
servicing etc

Efficiencies from lower cleaning spec to building and 
selling services to others

Asset rationalisation

Better business management: admin/intel/mail & 
print/prog & project management

Fleet services vehicle replacement savings and 
efficiencies

Fleet services pay as you go tyre contract

Transfer of ASC properties to Facilities Management

Additional Comments

Primarily reduction in utility bills/bus rates on Merrion and other vacated buildings. Merrion vacated 
March 2015

Relates to the transfer of Catering & Cleaning staff from ASC to Cel Group. DDN now signed. 

Expected to achieve

New trading now taking place includes: MoT testing; extension of vehicle maintenance contract with 
Uni of Leeds; and safety training courses.

Half way through fleet replacement programme. New vehicles are more efficient, require less 
maintenance and are covered by warranty

Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

Extension of catering in Civic Hall Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

See comments in S&R tab against Procurement non-contract spend

New contract in place since Oct 14. Currently £10k pm cheaper than old fixed price contract.

Virements for centralising Core Admin & Exec Support into BSC are being progressed and 
hopefully finalised by month 4

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 6 (April to September)

Other savings: insurance, JNC review, legal charges, 
TU convenors

Procurement off contract spend

P
age 106



 

  
 

 

 
 
 
 

Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport Internal Charges External Providers Transfer Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (11,480) (32,488) (43,968) 0 0 0 1,900 1,900

Debt 47,052 (1,075) 45,977 (214) (214) (214)

Govt Grants 2,828 (27,830) (25,002) (1,044) (1,044) (1,044)

Joint Committees 37,697 0 37,697 0 0

Miscellaneous 2,317 (1,172) 1,145 0 0

Insurance 10,227 (10,227) 0 5,125 52 (3,903) 1,274 (1,274) 0

Total 88,641 (72,792) 15,849 0 0 5,125 0 52 0 (1,044) (214) (3,903) 16 626 642

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Overall narrative

The Strategic budget forecast for period 6 is for an overspend of £0.6m. 

External debt costs and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

The budget for MRP includes £14.8m of savings targets - £10.5m from the use of capital receipts and £4.3m for the realignment of MRP on pre-2007/08 debt to an asset lives based approach.  To support the 
achievement of these savings we are closely monitoring the levels of capital receipts both in 2015/16 and across the medium-term and also working with the Council's valuers around the reasonable detemination of 
asset lives.

Corporate targets 

The Strategic budget includes targets for general capitalisation of £4.9m, capitalisation of spend in schools revenue budgets of £2.5m and in line with the 2014/15 outturn, the latest 2015/16 projections anticipate 
additional savings from capitalising eligible costs.  In addition the strategic budget includes savings of £1m around procurement [£0.5m forecast variation at month 5) together with a PFI contract/monitoring target of 
£0.9m [which will be allocated to service budgets following confirmation of where the reductions in spend will actually be achieved].  The month 6 projection also recognises a potential shortfall in achieveing the £1.2m 
Directorate Procurement target which is currently held across Directorate budgets.  P

age 107



 

  
 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Budget RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 
Budget

Lead Officer

A.  Major Budget Issues £'000

1 Debt Costs and Extenal Income Doug Meeson 16,208 G (214)

2 Minimum Revenue Provision Doug Meeson 29,769 G 1

3 New Homes Bonus Doug Meeson (18,446) G 400

4 Business Rates  (S31 Grants, Levy & EZ) Doug Meeson (9,171) G 0

5 S278 Contributions Doug Meeson (5,200) R 1,500

6 General capitalisation target Doug Meeson (4,982) A (300)

7 Schools capitalisation target Doug Meeson (2,500) A (1,000)

8 Corporate Procurement Target Doug Meeson (1,000) A 700

9 PFI Contract Monitoring Target David Outram (860) A 0

10 Early Leaver Initiative Doug Meeson 0 A 0

11 Directorate Procurement Target David Outram (1,200) A 600

B. Other Significant Budgets

12 Insurance Doug Meeson 0 A 0

13 Business Rates Levy Doug Meeson 2,828 A (1,044)

14 Prudential Borrowing Recharges Doug Meeson (9,908) A 0

642Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation

£2m earmarked reserve established to fund the severance costs in 2015/16.  Latest information on 
approved business cases together with staffing plans from Directorates indicate that spend in the year to 
March 2016 is likely to be at or below the level of the reserve

Work is progressing around reducing the level of non-contract spend across the Council.  The latest 
information is that £0.6m of savings will be achievable in 2015/16 with £0.6m of savings slipping into 
2016/17.

Potential saving on the levy payment to the Business Rates Pool reflecting the level of Business Rates 
Growth and revaluation appeals

Contra budgets in directorates/service accounts.  Reduction on budgeted schemes currently offset by 
expected £1.2m increase ref Southbank regeneration scheme

Potential additional costs in-year which will be managed through the Insurance Reserve

Additional Comments

Potential £8m reduction in MRP from asset life method (budgeted £4.3)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 6 (April to September)

Centrally-held budget savings target.  Actual savings will be shown in Directorate budgets.

Budget held in the strategic accounts pending confirmation of where the reductions in expenditure will 
be achieved

No major changes to date.

Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across Directorate revenue budgets

Activity across the City increasing, however marginal shortfall in anticipated grant income forecast for 
2015/16

No material variations anticipated at this stage

Forecast from Capital team is £2.8m, potential risk of £2.4m

Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across school revenue budgets

P
age 108



 

  
 

 

Summary of projected over / under spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income
Co
mm

Rents (221,128) (221,375) (247) (319)

Acc
ess

Service Charges (6,588) (6,740) (152) (117)

We
lfar
e

Other Income (28,088) (28,204) (116) (143)

Total Income (255,804) (256,319) (514) (579)
Ass
et
Libr
ary

Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,500                    1,932                    432                  ‐                         

Sup
por
t

Repairs  to Dwellings 42,733                 43,133                 400                  ‐                         

Par
tne

Employees 26,847                 26,494                 (353) (324)

Premises 7,205                    7,175                    (30) (30)

Supplies  & Services 5,782                    5,835                    53                    49                          

Internal  Services 36,548                 37,050                 502                  248                        

Capital  Programme 69,888                 69,888                 ‐                   ‐                         

Appropriations (17,941) (17,858) 83                    118                        

Con
tra

Unitary Charge PFI 31,971                 31,885                 (86) (86)
GFS
S

Capital  Charges 43,032                 42,549                 (483) Capital  charges per Treasury Management £84k, Reduction in Voluntary Set Aside (£567k) 84                          

P&
C

Other Expenditure 8,239                    8,235                    (4) 45                          

Total Expenditure 255,804              256,318              514                 104                        

Tot
al

Total Current Month ‐                       ‐                       (0) (474)

Link Officers  £144k, Tenant furniture £50k, LLBHH PTC £67k, offset by Savings  on Tenant Mobility 
Scheme (£50k), Swarcliffe Insurance Refund £(68)k, Swarcliffe UC due to RTB £(25)k and savings  on 
EPCs  £(65)k.

Savings on Swarcliffe PFI.

Swarcliffe PFI £169k and LLBH £24k, Energy Portfolio Projects  from PPPU £(110)k

PPPU Category Management charge £171k, Energy portfolio work from PPPU £110k, Legal  costs for 
disrepair work £172k, additional  HR charge £116k, increased Regeneration time spent on HRA 
projects  £108k, additional  accommodation £59k, increased property cleanup work £50k, 
Contribution to floating support (ASC) £47k, aditional  recharge from Parks & Countryside £40k, offset 
by savings on ASBU (£147k), Housing Options  (£110k), Housing Support (£24k), Equal  Pay (£42k), 
PPPU PFI saving (£30k), Internal  Audit recharge (£18k).

Void incentive £35k, BITMO Management Fee £10k, reforecast transport costs (£50k)

Projected Year 
End Spend

Executive Member for Communities
Financial Dashboard ‐ 2015/16 Financial Year

Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 6 (September 2015)

Directorate
Variance to 

budget
Previous Month 

(Under) / Over SpendCurrent Budget

Loss  of £55k in telecomms  income (renegotiated leases) offset by savings  in DR&M (£71k), LLBH&H 
PTC costs  (£50k), insurance refund (£12k), RTB fee income based on projected 380 sales  (£39k)

Reduction in income from  sheltered accommodation £15k, offset by additional  furniture income 
(£80k) and MSF general  charge (£87k)

Void numbers  lower than budget.

Navigation House rent & premises  costs £75k,  Utilities saving (£100k),  Miscellaneous  Cleaning 
(£17k), Little London Bus Stop works  £10k

Savings on vacant posts  (£682k), Other staff savings (£60k), offsetting severance costs  £129k and 
Agency £260k

Additional  expenditure being incurred due to the requirement to address  outstanding repairs  
resulting from the backlog of disrepair cases, and taking a more pro‐active approach to avoid 
disrepair claims in the future

Disrepair compensation & fees

P
age 109



 

  
  

Change in Stock Budget Projection

350 380

50 50

(250) (233)

(142) (55)

(30) (30)

Total (22) 112

Provisions Budget Projection

1,928 1,928

1,610 1,610

2,835 2,835

1,124 1,124

Total 7,497 7,497

£000 £000 £000

Tenant Arrears (Domestic Rents and Charges)

Current Tenants ‐ exc Tech 5,847                      6,505                      658                   

Former Tenants 3,037                      3,171                      134                   

8,884                      9,676                      792                   

Under occupation

Volume of Accounts 5,255                      5,068                      (187)

Volume in Arrears 2,792                      2,826                      34                     

% in Arrears 53% 56% 3%

855 898                         43                     

Collection Rates

Dwelling rents 97.45% 96.36% ‐1.09%

Target 98.06% 98.06% 0.00%

Variance to Target ‐0.61% ‐1.70% ‐1.09%

Housing Revenue Account
Financial Dashboard - 2015/16 Financial Year

Month 6 (September 2015)

Right to Buy sales

Taken out of Charge

New Build (PFI)

New Build (Council House Growth)

Brought back into Charge

2014/15 Week 52 2015/16 Week 26 Variance

Disrepair provision

Bad Debt provision (Current Tenants)

Bad Debt provision (Former Tenants)

Others
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
um

be
r o

f h
ou

se
s 
so
ld

Council House Sales

Sales 2014‐15

Cumulative Sales 2014‐15

Monthly Sales 2015‐16

Monthly Sales 2015‐16 Proj

Cumulative Sales 2015‐16

Cumulative Sales 2015‐16 Proj

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

7000000

8000000

Period
1

Period
2

Period
3

Period
4

Period
5

Period
6

Period
7

Period
8

Period
9

Period
10

Period
11

Period
12

Ar
re
ae
s

Comparison of Current Tenant Arrears 2014/15 and 2015/16
(excluding Technical Arrears)

2014/15 2015/16

P
age 110



Report of Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 18th November 2015 

Subject: TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY UPDATE 2015/16 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?  Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. This report provides a review and update of the treasury management strategy for 
2015/16   

 
2. The Council’s level of external debt as at 31st March 2016 is anticipated to be £1,475m, 

£16m higher than approved in February 2015. This higher forecast borrowing 
requirement is due to a combination of capital programme scheme adjustments and 
improved revenue balances.  The level of debt is expected to remain within the 
Authorised Limit for external debt as agreed by Council on 14th February 2015. 

 
3. Monitoring of money and financial markets has resulted in forecast revenue savings of 

£0.2m excluding MRP asset life review.  This saving is largely due to continuing to fund 
the borrowing requirement from short term loans at historic low rates and internal cash 
balances.    

 
4. The investment of surplus monies will continue to have due regard for security of capital 

in accordance with the Council’s approved investment strategy. 
 

Recommendations 

That Executive Board:- 
 
1. Note the update on the Treasury Management borrowing and investment strategy for 

2015/16.  
 

2. Note the changes to investment criteria methodology as outlined in 3.4.   
 
 

 Report author:  B Chana 
Tel:  51332 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



 
 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 The 2015/16 treasury management strategy was approved by Executive Board on 11th 
February 2015.  This report provides a review and update of the strategy for 2015/16. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The operation of the Treasury Management function is governed by provisions set out 
under part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 whereby the Council is required to have 
regard to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (amended 2009 and 2011) in 
particular: 

• The Prudential Code requires that full Council set certain limits on the 
level and type of borrowing before the start of the financial year together 
with a number of prudential indicators.   

• Any in year revision of these limits must be set by Council. 
• Policy statements are prepared for approval by the Council at least three 

times a year.  
 
3 Main issues 

3.1 Review of Strategy 2015/16 

3.1.1 The current borrowing forecasts are shown in Table 1 

Table 1  

 

2015/16 
Feb 15

2015/16 
This

Report Report
£m £m
1,419 1,406

102 131
0 0

(48) (48)
(14) (14)

1,459 1,475
Capital Financing Requirement 1,890

Long term borrowing Fixed 1,262 1,358
Variable (less than 1 Year) 110 0
New Borrowing 40 69

57 54
1,469 1,481

10 6
1,459 1,475
14% 8%

Note: The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is the maximum level of debt (i.e.
borrowing PFI and finance leasing) that the Council can hold for its current year capital purposes. The
Council is also allowed to borrow in advance for up to two future years capital programmes. The
above reflects only the borrowing element of the CFR 

ANALYSIS OF BORROWING 2013/2014
Net Borrowing at 1 April
New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – Non HRA 
New Borrowing for the Capital Programme – HRA

% borrowing funded by short term and variable rate loans

Short term Borrowing
Total External Borrowing
Less Investments
Net External Borrowing

Debt redemption costs charged to Revenue (Incl HRA)
Reduced/(Increased) level of Revenue Balances

Net Borrowing at 31 March*

* Comprised as follows

Page 112



 

3.1.2 Table 1 above shows that 2015/16 net external borrowing is now forecast at £1,475m, 
£16m higher than in the report to Executive Board on 11th February 2015.  This 
higher forecast borrowing requirement is as a result of a number of  capital schemes 
(£7m) being slipped and bringing forward the full operational date of the £30m energy 
from waste scheme from 2016/17 into 2015/16.  There was also a £7m improvement 
in revenue balances.  The review of and update of the capital programme is 
considered in the half year update on the capital programme elsewhere on the 
agenda. 

3.1.3 The UK has seen growth rates of 2.20% in 2013 and 2.9% in 2014 which were 
amongst the strongest in the G7 group of nations. With Q1 growth slowing to 0.4% 
and Q2 picking up to 0.7% the Bank of England estimates growth for 2015 to be in the 
region 2.40% to 2.80% and remain at these levels over the next 3 years. Recent 
market surveys have however pointed to headwinds centred on factors such as the 
slowdown in the EU, China, Japan, and emerging markets. These headwinds are 
going to make the rebalancing of the UK economy away from the consumer and 
towards exports a more difficult prospect. 

3.1.4 Unemployment continued to fall into 2015 but currently stands at 5.4%. The region’s 
youth unemployment whilst falling is still in the region is 16.4%. CPI Inflation for 
September posted a fall to -0.1% and the inflation forecast remains subdued over the 
2 year time horizon. The fall in oil prices to around $50 per barrel is largely due to 
oversupply and reduced demand from China. It is significant that with Inflation at 
around 0% and wage growth at 2.90% household disposal income is increasing after 
several years of reducing income. 

3.1.5 In the US the Federal Reserve, after considering raising rates in September, has now 
pulled back due to the recent global slowdown. Most commentators now expect the 
first rise in Q1 2016. US growth continues to be strong with the Q2 figure showing an 
annualised growth rate of 3.9%. China has been very active with stimulus measures 
in 2015 in an effort to achieve its stated 7% growth target however concerns exist as 
to the creditworthiness of bank lending to corporates and local government since 
2008. A hard landing remains a prospect for China and confidence is fragile.  

3.1.6 The Eurozone has again put off the Greece issue after eventually reaching agreement 
on a third bailout package of Euro 86bn. Significant doubts remain as to whether the 
reforms agreed as part of the bailout package will, if implemented, resolve the issue of 
Greek debt. In January 2015 a Euro 1.1 Trillion Quantitive Easing (QE) programme 
was announced. This was implemented in March 2015 at Euro 60bn per month and is 
expected to run until September 2016.  In response, growth across the block appears 
to be responding - reaching 1.5% year on year in Q2.   

3.1.7 There are considerable risks around whether inflation will rise in the near future. Oil 
shows no sign of rebounding significantly. The slowdown in China and emerging 
markets is reducing the demand for oil and other commodities. Inflation is expected to 
only slowly increase and therefore in both the UK and the US the timing of the first 
increase in base rate is being pushed further into the future. It is suggested by some 
commentators that the effect of rate increases will be significant on heavily indebted 
consumers and this factor may therefore limit the pace of subsequent increases. 
Current expectation of the first rate increase is Q1 2016 in the US and Q2 2016 for 
the UK although these are not guaranteed and may be subject to change due to 
prevailing UK and international factors. 

Page 113



3.1.8 Chart 1, shows how the cost of longer term borrowing from the Government through 
PWLB loans has performed since the start of the financial year.  The 5 year to 5½ 
Year PWLB has moved upwards from a low point in April of 2.10% to a high of 2.63% 
in July before falling back to the current low of 2.27%.  Similarly, the 49½-50 year 
PWLB has moved from a low in April of 3.21% to a high of 3.78% in July and back to 
3.38% now.  The Council is entitled to a reduction of 20bp on all PWLB rates 
reflecting eligibility for PWLB certainty rates.  

 Chart 1

 

  

3.1.9 Given the outlook for domestic and international economic growth, the prospects for 
any interest rate changes before mid-2016 are limited.  There is potential for the start 
of Bank Rate increases to be even further delayed if growth continues to be subdued 
and inflation factors do not materialise.  The latest forecast of rates is shown in the 
following table.  

Table 2

 

3.1.10 Expectations for the first change in Bank Rate in the UK have slowly been pushed 
back during the year as the wider economic picture has emerged and the first 
increase is now not expected until Q2 2016. As a result the following table shows the 
revised forecast interest funding assumptions 

 

 

No w De c-15 Ma r-16 Jun-16 Se p -16 De c-16 Ma r-17 Jun-17 Se p -17 De c-17 Ma r-18 Jun-18
BANK RAT E 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.50 1.50 1.75 1.75
3 mo nth LIBID 0.46 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.10 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.80 1.90 1.90
6 mo nth LIBID 0.63 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.30 1.50 1.60 1.70 2.00 2.10 2.10
12 mo nth LIBID 0.94 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.60 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.30 2.40 2.40
  
5 y r PW LB 2.19 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50
10 yr PW LB 2.77 3.00 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.20
25 yr PW LB 3.31 3.60 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.20 4.30 4.40 4.50 4.60 4.60
50 yr PW LB 3.17 3.60 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.10 4.20 4.30 4.40 4.50 4.60 4.60

Page 114



Table3 

 

3.1.11 The current borrowing strategy continues to fund the borrowing requirement of the 
capital programme from short dated loans and internal cash balances.  There will 
come a point when rates begin to rise and more expensive longer dated funding will 
be required, even though this continues to be pushed further back as the economic 
outlook evolves.  No new long term loans have been acquired during 2015/16 so far.  
The Deputy Chief Executive will continue to monitor market dynamics with a view to 
securing longer term debt at the appropriate time.  

3.1.12 The strategy of deferring long term borrowing will increase the amount of debt that the 
Council is funding from short term loans and its balance sheet to a forecast £532m.  
This exposure is considered manageable given historical capital programme slippage, 
the continued strength of the Council’s balance sheet and the market for supplying 
short term funds remaining strong.  These factors will continue to be monitored and 
should be considered in the context of the stability of the current debt maturity profile.  
 

3.1.13 To mitigate against the exposure to rising interest rates the Council is exploring a 
number of forward funding options which will give the Council the ability to lock in 
future funding at current rates.   
 

3.1.14 The Council’s current long term debt of £1.367bn has an average maturity of just over 
38 years if all debts run to maturity.  Approximately 33% of the Council’s debt has 
options for repayment, in the unlikely event that all these options were exercised at 
the next option date then the average maturity of long term debt would be lowered to 
21½ years.  This compares favourably with the average maturity of the UK’s 
government debt portfolio which remains just above 14 years and the US where the 
average is just under 6 years (source FT 20/10/2015). The existing profile of the 
Council’s debt provides considerable certainty of funding costs.  Prudential Indicator 
16 in Appendix A shows the maturity profile of the Council’s long term fixed debt and 
highlights that 55.3% or £707m matures in periods greater than 10 years. 

 
3.1.15 Short term debt at low rates of interest and existing revenue balances continue to be 

used to fund the borrowing requirement which has resulted in forecast savings of 
£0.2m.  This excludes any further savings from MRP that may accrue from the review 
of as assets lives which is currently ongoing. 

3.2 Borrowing Limits for 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 

3.2.1 The Council is required to set various limits for 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, having regard for CIPFA’s 
prudential code (as amended 2009 and 2011). These limits including prudential 
indicators are detailed in Appendix A.  

3.2.2 Borrowing limits for 2015/16 were approved by Council on 11th February 2015 and 
remain unchanged. 

3.2.3 It is anticipated that the authority will continue to remain within the Authorised Limits 
for 2015/16.  Both the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary are made up of a 
limit for borrowing and a limit for other long term liabilities. The Deputy Chief 
Executive has authority, under the Prudential Code, to vary these two elements within 

Bud g e t Ra te  
Assump tio ns

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Exe c Bo a rd  Fe b  15 0.65 1.75 2.25 3.50* 3.50*
No w 0.50 0.75 1.35 2.50 3.50*
*  provisional assumption

Page 115



the overall limits.  Current performance against borrowing limits is shown in Appendix 
B.  

 
3.3 Investment Strategy & Limits  

3.3.1 The Council’s external debt is reduced by the availability of revenue balances.  The 
Treasury policy also allows for the external investment of these balances at 
advantageous rates but with due regard for security of capital invested.  At present 
the Council’s surplus monies continue to be held in short periods until required.  As 
market sentiment to counter-party risk improves, together with enhanced returns -
surplus monies will be invested in accordance with the approved lending list.  This 
lending list is based upon the assessment of the financial standing of counterparties 
as determined by international credit rating agencies and further refined and updated 
by the Council’s advisors on a continual basis.  The lending list is often further 
restricted based upon the Council’s view of the credit worthiness of counter-parties. 

3.3.2 The investment strategy, as re-affirmed by Executive Board and full Council in 
February, allows for the Council to invest in only the most highly rated financial 
institutions around the world.  The Council will only lend up to a maximum of £15m to 
financial institutions that are rated as excellent.  There is also a limit of £5m for 
financial institutions that are rated as very good.  

3.4 Change to Credit rating agencies Methodology 

3.4.1 The Council uses a counterparty investment list, supplied by the Council’s Treasury 
Advisors, before consideration is given to placing an investment.  This list is based 
upon the main rating agencies financial assessment of the counterparty.  Changes 
have been made to the methodology to reflect that as Government support is 
withdrawn the banks have a greater capital buffer to cope with financial stresses in 
the economy.  In summary the change in methodology has not significantly impacted 
on the ratings of the counterparty. 

3.4.2 Prior to 2008 the main rating agencies applied an uplift on various institutions due to 
implied levels on sovereign support. During 2015 these have begun to be steadily 
removed as the evolving regulatory regime of “bail-in” has taken hold.  In many cases, 
the balance sheets of banks are now much more robust than they were before the 
2008 financial crisis when they had higher ratings than now. 

3.4.3 These changes have led to certain elements of rating being either withdrawn 
(Moody’s Financial Strength rating) or significantly downgraded (Fitch’s Support and 
Viability ratings) It is important to stress that the other key elements to this process, 
namely the assessment of Rating Watch and Outlook information as well as the Credit 
Default Swap (CDS) overlay have not been changed.  

3.4.4 These rating agency changes do not reflect any changes in the underlying status or 
credit quality of the institution, merely a reassessment of their methodologies in light 
of the regulatory environment in which financial institutions operate. Some banks are 
rated modestly higher whilst some are rated modestly lower. 

3.4.5 Over and above this methodology for evaluating the credit worthiness of 
counterparties, which is performed by the Council Treasury Advisors, the Council 
continues to apply its own in-house view as to the desirability of any potential 
counterparty, before an investment is made.  

 
Page 116



4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 This report is an update on strategy as presented to Executive Board in February 
2015, as such no consultation has taken place.  However, consultation with the 
Council’s treasury advisors takes place regularly throughout the year.  

4.1.2 The borrowing requirement is an outcome of the capital programme.  Consultation is 
undertaken by individual services in relation to capital investment schemes.  A capital 
programme update report is included elsewhere on this agenda. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration requirements are addressed as part of 
individual capital scheme and programme approvals.  The borrowing to deliver these 
capital schemes is executed through treasury strategy and as such there are no 
further equality diversity cohesion and integration issues.   

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 Treasury Management strategy secures funding to support the Council’s Policies and 
City Priorities as set out in the Council capital programme and is consistent with the 
Best Council Plan. 

4.4 Resources and Value for Money  

4.4.1 This update on the treasury strategy recognises the borrowing necessary to fund the 
capital programme requirements of both General Fund and HRA.  Where borrowing is 
supported the revenue costs are met by the Government, whilst for unsupported 
borrowing revenue costs are met either by the General Fund or HRA.   

4.4.2 The updated strategy 2015/16 is forecast to deliver savings of £0.2m against the 
budgeted position. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 There are no legal, or access to information issues arising from this report.  The report 
is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 This report sets out the framework for the treasury strategy for the year ahead.  The 
execution of strategy and associated risks are kept under regular review through: 

• Monthly reports to the Finance Performance Group 
• Quarterly strategy meeting with the Deputy Chief Executive and the 

Council’s treasury advisors 
• Regular market, economic and financial instrument updates and access to 

real time market information 
• Treasury management meetings with the Core Cities and West Yorkshire 

Districts. 
 
 
 

Page 117



5 Conclusions 

5.1 The Council’s level of external debt at 31st March 2016 is anticipated to be £1,475m, 
£16m higher than expectations in February 2015.   

5.2 Treasury Management activity has enabled revenue savings of £0.2m.  This is largely 
due to funding the Council’s borrowing requirement from short-term loans at historic 
low rates and use of internal cash balances, in lieu of more expensive longer term 
funding at much higher rates.  

5.3 It is anticipated that the authority will remain within the approved limits for 2015/16 as 
outlined in paragraph 3.2.3.  

5.4 The Council’s Advisors have amended the methodology used to compile the 
investment counterparty list.  These changes reflect updated rating agencies 
methodology in response to the continued removal of Government support, as the 
banks have greater capital buffers to cope with financial stresses in the economy.  In 
summary the change in methodology has not significantly impacted on the rating of 
the counterparty. 

6 Recommendations 

That Executive Board:- 
 
6.1 Note the update on the Treasury Management borrowing and investment strategy for 

2015/16.  

6.2 Note the changes to investment criteria methodology as outlined in 3.4.  

7 Background documents1 

None

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless 
they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published 
works Page 118



 

 
 

Appendix A

Leeds City Council - Prudential Indicators 2015/16 - 2017/18
No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

(1).  EXTRACT FROM BUDGET AND RENT SETTING REPORTS

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream
1     General Fund - Excluding DSG (Note1) 12.81% 13.80% 14.87%

2       HRA 11.88% 11.80% 12.70%

Impact of Unsupported Borrowing on Council Tax & Housing Rents £ . P £ . P £ . P 
3      increase in council tax B7(band D, per annum) (Note 2) 13.77 54.47 87.56
4      increase in housing rent per week 0.00 5.73 24.88

5 Net Borrowing and the capital financing requirement (Note 3) OK OK OK

Estimate of total capital expenditure
6     Non HRA  261,047 222,125 173,974
7     HRA           97,728 124,958 116,202

    TOTAL     358,775 347,083 290,176

Capital Financing Requirement (as at 31 March) £'000 £'000 £'000
8     Non HRA 1,781,333 1,824,694 1,855,392
9     HRA 820,260 833,779 843,492

    TOTAL 2,601,593 2,658,473 2,698,884

9a Limit of HRA Indebtedness as implemented under self financing 725,327 725,327 725,327

No. PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
(2).  TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS £'000 £'000 £'000

10 Authorised limit for external debt - (Note 5)
    borrowing 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000
    other long term liabilities 780,000 760,000 740,000
    TOTAL 2,580,000 2,560,000 2,540,000

11 Operational boundary - (Note 5)
     borrowing 1,600,000 1,650,000 1,750,000
     other long term liabilities 760,000 740,000 720,000
     TOTAL 2,360,000 2,390,000 2,470,000

14 Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
     expressed as either:-
     Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / investments OR:- 115% 115% 115%
     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments

15 Upper limit for variable rate exposure
     expressed as either:-
     Net principal re variable rate borrowing / investments OR:- 40% 40% 40%
     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments

17 Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days (Note 5) 150,000 150,000 150,000
     (per maturity date)

18 Net Debt as a percentage of Gross debt 99.6% 99.6% 99.6%

16 Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing  as at 31/03/2015 Lower Limit Cumulative Projected
Upper Limit 31/03/2016

        under 12 months 0% 15% 1.86%
       12 months and within 24 months 0% 20% 4.30%
        24 months and within 5 years 0% 35% 27.90%
        5 years and within 10 years 0% 40% 10.60%
        10 years and within 20 years 3.43%
        20 years and within 30 years 0.00%
       30 years and within 40 years 28.67%
       40 years and within 50 years 23.24%
        50 years and above 0.00%

100%

otes.

1 The indicator for the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for General Fund is now
calculated based on the Net Revenue Charge less the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The
Government changed the funding of education to DSG from 2006/07.

2 The code requires that the Council identifies the capital financing costs arising from unsupported
borrowing expressed as the amount per band D property.  

3 In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the
Council should ensure that net external borrowing does not exceed the total capital financing
requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for
the current and next two financial years. This is a key indicator of prudence.

4 Prudential indicator 12 relates to actual external debt at 31st March, which will be reported in the
Treasury Management Annual Report.

5 Prudential indicator 13 relates to the adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management. The Council formally adopted this Code of Practice in March 2003, and the revised code in
Frebruary 2010 and 2012

25% 90%

Page 119



 

 

 
Appendix B 

 

P
age 120



Report of Alan Gay, Deputy Chief Executive

Report to the Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Open Data: Realising the potential of an untapped resource

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

1. Summary of main issues 

1.1 In a time of diminishing resources, local authorities need to find new ways to deliver 
services and achieve outcomes within budget.  Non-personal, when combined 
across organisations and places, can provide opportunity for better decisions and 
new solutions, leading to increased efficiencies in the council and better outcomes 
for citizens, communities and the local economy. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 Executive Board are asked to:

 set the policy that the Council adopt an ‘open by default’ approach to proactively 
publish all its non-personal datasets;

 endorse the ‘Leeds: The Data City’ manifesto (Appendix 1) as the direction of 
travel for the Council and one which will be promoted across the city;

 agree to the setting of targets for all services to publish open data on Leeds 
Data Mill, and;

 support the approach of the Council working across all sectors to get them to 
open their data for the benefit of the city as a whole.

Report author: Stephen Blackburn
Tel: 0113 39 52758

Page 121

Agenda Item 11



3. Purpose of this report

3.1 To provide Executive Board with the drivers for publishing council data and to 
recommend a particular strategic and policy approach to facilitate publication.

3.2 To update progress and achievements so far.

4. Background information

4.1 Open data is the publication of non-personally sensitive data.  It is made available in 
a format which enables members of the public to view it and data analysts, 
academics, businesses and web/app developers to easily re-use it and combine it, 
potentially to deliver better insights and solutions to our city’s challenges. For 
example, an independent analyst has used data published on Leeds Data Mill to 
provide insight into childhood poverty in Leeds, whilst another has interrogated road 
traffic accident data to identify the ‘Who, What, Where and When’ of casualties.

4.2 Opening up data which has previously been locked away can provide a boost to the 
digital sector resulting in new jobs and new services at little or no cost to the 
council.  Leeds has a vibrant and creative digital sector (best outside of London) 
that have the potential to do great things if they had access to data which has never 
been previously available.  

4.3 The Leeds Data Mill website is a data repository managed by the council.  The site 
however is not just for Leeds City Council data, but one for the whole city.  Leeds is 
pioneering in taking a multi-organisation, cross-sector approach to open data which 
is already being replicated by other cities and is a national exemplar. There are 
currently 27 different organisations publishing on the Leeds Data Mill including 
Yorkshire Water, Northern Power Grid and Heritage Lottery Fund.  Work is 
continuing to increase the number of publishers who can contribute.

5. Main issues

5.1 Transparency is high on the Government’s agenda at present and Leeds is one of 
the leading UK cities promoting the benefits.  The council is already fully compliant 
with the Local Government Transparency Code which outlines data which must be 
published, and the EU Public Sector Information Directive which was revised in July 
2015 states that all information which is generated in the delivery of services should 
be made available.

5.2 Publication of data has led to the reduction of Freedom of Information (FoI) requests 
ensuring work continues to be delivered within budget and frees up staff resources 
to concentrate on delivering front line services.

5.3 Key city outcomes such as the Breakthrough Projects can be supported through 
open data.  For example, data on street lighting columns, pedestrian crossing 
locations and timings, and public toilet locations can contribute to Leeds being the 
Best City to Grow Old in.  Additionally, work is continuing with the Sustainable 

Page 122



Energy & Climate Change team to identify ways to improve energy efficiency in 
council buildings and contribute to reducing carbon emissions.

5.4 There has been much talk recently of the ‘Northern Powerhouse’, and with the 
launch in 2014 of TechNorth, a new scheme to co-ordinate existing digital 
technology expertise in the north of England, Leeds is well placed to take the lead in 
this area and to become the digital city of the North.  It is the home of the only UK 
internet exchange operator outside of London, and is the only city in the world 
(outside of London) with a physical Open Data Institute space. 

5.5 Leeds in seen by many as being at the cutting edge in the digital/data sector.  The 
University of Leeds secured £12m of funding which resulted in a state-of-the-art 
centre for data analytics and recently a further £4.2m to carry out pioneering 
research on how robots can improve the running of the city’s infrastructure.  These 
projects rely on data and generate data.  It is no surprise then that notable recent 
investment has come from the likes of Google and Sky, bringing with them new jobs 
to the city.

5.6 Opening up data enables individuals, SMEs, and larger organisations to create new 
and innovative solutions to some of city’s problems, provide an economic stimulus 
leading to job creation, and increasingly cements Leeds as a great place to live, 
visit, work, and do business.  

5.7 Leeds is currently seen as a front-runner on this agenda and seen as the exemplar 
due to its outward-looking approach.  Engagement with the digital sector has 
already led to the creation of some early prototypes which not only provide citizens 
with new services but also help the council become more efficient.  Increasingly 
however, other cities are seeing the value of opening up their data and it’s important 
that Leeds continues to stay ahead of the game if it wants to mark itself out as being 
the ‘best city for open data’ and reap the rewards which come with that title.

5.8 The council cannot rest on its laurels and leave this to a small element of the Smart 
Cities Team, it needs to continually lead, innovate, and shape the future direction of 
this agenda as a whole. Clear commitment is required from all services to 
proactively identify and publish any appropriate data and to continue to work with 
the ever growing digital sector to realise its potential.

6. Examples of the use of open data and progress so far

6.1 Using open data (cycle routes, accident data, traffic counts, air quality data), a 
developer has created a family friendly cycle app for use on smart phones.  It 
provides the cyclist with information on the safest and cleanest routes to cycle and 
allows them to share additional information such as places of interest along the 
route.  This is an example of how data which was originally collected for one 
purpose is being re-used to provide a new service which also promotes health and 
wellbeing.

6.2 The council has seen a reduction in FoI requests for the previous two quarters.  
Furthermore, evidence shows that the council has saved the equivalent of around 
£3,500 in officer time due to the publication of Business Rates data alone.  

Page 123



Increasingly, the council does not have enough capacity to effectively deal with any 
significant rise in FoI requests which can take up to 18 hours to deal with each one. 
Leeds has seen a reduction in FoI requests, 5% last year, and continuing the trend 
with a 3% decrease in the 1st quarter of this financial year. On the whole, other 
local councils are continuing to see increases.  It is widely acknowledged that the 
work carried out so far in publishing open data has contributed to this decline.

6.3 ViaggiArt, is an Italian based visitor app promoting cultural attractions.  Its creators 
Altrama wanted to expand outside Italy and saw the UK as the best place to further 
their ambitions.  Leeds was chosen as their first pilot city for 2 fundamental reasons; 
the investment made in open data (Leeds Data Mill) and that “Yorkshire is one of 
the most important tourist destinations in Europe”.  The next step for Altrama is to 
find the right partners to start to market the app.  Trying to replicate the Italian 
model, the partner search will focus on companies and organisations managing 
airports, ports and stations, tour operators, car rental companies and public 
transport companies.  This is a new visitor app providing new services to citizens 
and visitors and was produced at no cost to the council through the combination of 
open data from different sources.

6.4 Doorda’s Streetwise.life (Appendix 2) website is using data from Leeds Data Mill to 
provide citizens with easy and intuitive access to planning applications, accidents, 
and places to eat combined with data from Zoopla, NHS & Trip Advisor.  This 
service is being offered at no cost to the council or the public and provides a ‘one 
stop shop’ for public and visitor information.

6.5 Ongoing work is taking place on the design of a new website (Appendix 3).  Using 
open data to provide parents with more information when they are applying for a 
new primary school place for their child. It will include detailed information on 
numbers of places available, subscription rates, and likelihood of acceptance based 
on the previous years’ data.  The end result is that it will enable parents to make 
better, more well informed choices, which can lead to more children being allocated 
their preferred options and result in less appeals and FoIs.

6.6 Journalists, academics, businesses, and independent analysts are using published 
data to create visualisations about the city.  Appendices 4a & 4b provide an easy to 
understand view of data which is available in the public domain and in an era of 
diminishing council resources can help council officers in their decision making.  
These analysts are civic minded and passionate about Leeds and are working in 
their free time to provide insight about the make-up of Leeds.

6.7 The council is working with an SME in Leeds to create a Leeds City Dashboard 
(Appendix 5).  Using data published on Leeds Data Mill, such as council spending 
and statutory notices, it will enable councillors, officers, and citizens to curate their 
own unique dashboard showing visualisations important to them.

7. Corporate considerations

7.1 None

Page 124



8. Consultation and Engagement 

8.1 The Smart Cities approach, which incorporates open data, has been considered, 
reviewed and approved by the appropriate council officer boards and Lead Member.

9. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

9.1 Issues of equality and diversity, cohesion and integration will be considered at all 
stages of this agenda. The provision of open data enables more individualised 
solutions to be developed for specific needs. 

10. Council Policies and Best Council Plan

10.1 The council has aspirations to promote Leeds as being the ‘Best City for Open 
Data’.  Open data can make a positive contribution to the key council and city 
objectives.  Data is already being opened up to contribute to the city’s Breakthrough 
Projects and contributes to the council becoming a more efficient and enterprising 
organisation. 

11. Resources and value for money 

11.1 Funding for ‘Smart Cities: Delivering a sustainable City in the Digital Age’ was 
discussed and agreed at the Executive Board on 17th December 2014.  Part of this 
funding is to facilitate open data events which bring together service providers and 
technologists to help deliver new and innovative services and solutions to some of 
the city’s problems. The Information Management and Technology teams located in 
Directorates are there to support all service heads to progress this agenda.

12. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

12.1 There are no specific legal implications or issues relating to access to information.

13. Risks

13.1 As in all research and development-type projects, some may fail.  Data may be 
published and work carried out by a developer which doesn’t provide any instant 
benefits.  This should be outweighed however against the potential that something 
may be delivered which could put Leeds on the digital map.  Benefits could also be 
less obvious, for example, the release of accident data could lead to a cycling app 
which improves health amongst citizens. To mitigate against this the majority of 
projects delivered so far have been low or no cost to the Council and have delivered 
benefit. The purpose of this type of approach is that the innovations are delivered by 
third party independents in the most part at their cost.

13.2 It important that there is buy-in from Members, officers, and senior management.  
This is a new area of work for many at a time when resources are stretched.  To 

Page 125



address this issue it is important to promote the drivers and the potential positive 
outcomes of the agenda and to work with and support services who contribute.

14. Recommendations

14.1 Executive Board are asked to:

 set the policy that the Council adopt an ‘open by default’ approach to proactively 
publish all its non-personal datasets;

 endorse the ‘Leeds: The Data City’ manifesto (Appendix 1) as the direction of 
travel for the Council and one which will be promoted across the city;

 agree to the setting of targets for all services to publish open data on Leeds 
Data Mill, and;

 support the approach of the Council working across all sectors to get them to 
open their data for the benefit of the city as a whole.

Page 126



15. Background documents1

15.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not 
include published works.

Page 127



Appendix 1 (page 1): Leeds: Data City manifesto
 

Page 128



Appendix 1 (page 2): Leeds: Data City manifesto

Page 129



Appendix 1 (page 3): Leeds: Data City manifesto

Page 130



Appendix 1 (page 4): Leeds: Data City manifesto

Page 131



Appendix 2: Doorda’s Streetwise.life website 

This website has been created independently of the council and uses data published by 
the council (and others) to provide citizens with local community news and information.  In 
addition to the information already published, Business Rates and Planning Application 
data will soon be available. 

Page 132



Appendix 3: Leeds Schools Admissions website

Website using open data published on Leeds Data Mill to provide parents with details 
about availability of pupil places for schools in their area.  This website, once launched, will 
not only provide information which can automatically answer Freedom of Information 
requests, but also help parents make better informed choices of which schools to apply for 
in future.

Page 133



 Appendix 4a: Serious and fatal road traffic accidents in Leeds City Centre, 2013

An independent analyst has plotted road traffic accident data onto a map for the whole of 
Leeds.  The above visualisation shows serious and fatal accidents in the city centre.  
Viewing data in this way rather than in a spreadsheet format instantly shows accident ‘hot 
spots’ which can help council officers in their decision making. 

Appendix 4b: Life expectancy in Leeds

2001 – 2003          2008 – 2010 

An independent analyst has used HMRC open data to map life expectancy in Leeds over a 
10 year period.  Use of data in this way clearly visualises how, as a city, we are living 
longer and in which areas there is still work to do.  Use of data and visualisation tools in 
this way can help inform decision making and ensure resources are targeted in the right 
areas.

Page 134



Appendix 5: Leeds City Dashboard

The Leeds City Dashboard provides visualisations of data published on Leeds Data Mill for 
a variety of audiences.  Publishing data and information as spreadsheets ensures we are 
compliant with legislation such as the Local Government Transparency Code.  This 
platform however, aims to go one step further and ensure data more accessible to all and 
contributes to the council’s value of being ‘open, honest, and trusted’.  

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Regeneration Progress in East Leeds 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): Killingbeck & Seacroft, Gipton & 
Harehills

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The Council has a key leadership role in stimulating, supporting and delivering 
regeneration in parts of the city that have not benefitted from economic success and 
related investment to the same extent as its more prosperous areas.  East Leeds is 
one of the city’s priority areas for such work. This report sets out progress in securing 
investment and supporting the delivery of new housing developments across the 
area that will help drive further positive and sustainable changes for local 
communities.  

2. The delivery of housing is critical to supporting the city’s growth, realising the Vision 
for Leeds and delivering the Best Council Plan.  New homes and the investment that 
comes with them will play a central role in meeting the needs of current and future 
residents of Leeds; enabling families and children to be healthy and to succeed; 
meeting older people’s needs and preference to live at home independently; and in 
helping communities realise ambitions for the regeneration of their neighbourhoods. 

  
3. East Leeds will see extensive new housing development in future years with the 

development of land within the East Leeds Extension, Grimes Dyke and on Manston 
Lane.  In addition mixed use and commercial led development will come forward at 
Thorpe Park and in the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone at J45 of the M1. 

Report author:  Jason Green

Tel:  0113 3950271

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



4. However, there is a substantial amount of brownfield land in the inner area, which will 
play a vital role in ensuring an appropriate balance of housing development on 
greenfield and previously developed land, and which has the potential to support the 
wider regeneration of some of the more deprived parts of East Leeds.

5. The Council has a key role in bringing brownfield sites forward for development 
where it owns land, in working with other landowners to enable development of third 
party sites and in providing guidance and certainty to stimulate the necessary 
investment to get the best value and outcomes for local people and their 
neighbourhoods.

6. Over the last two years the Council has worked closely with residents, Ward 
Members and other stakeholders to create a Neighbourhood Framework for the 
Killingbeck and Seacroft area that will set out a local vision for regeneration, identify 
and help promote development opportunities to developers, guide development 
schemes, inform the determination of planning applications and identify wider 
improvements to ensure that new development is sustainable and provides benefits 
to the wider community.  

7. The Framework, appended, identifies opportunities for housing development on both 
Council and third party land, improvements to open space and green connectivity, 
improvements to public transport including walking and cycling to help local people 
access training and job opportunities in the local area, and sets out the likely need for 
new schools and additional local facilities to meet growing demand as a result of 
population growth and new housing development.

8. This report also advises Executive Board of the intention to accept a loan from the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority through the Local Growth Fund, to further enable 
the development of brownfield sites currently in its ownership.

Recommendations:

Executive Board is recommended to: 

(i) Note the progress made in bringing forward new housing development in East 
Leeds;

(ii) Note that the Council has secured a Local Growth Fund loan to support the 
development of brownfield sites in East Leeds and that the Deputy Chief 
Executive can approve that the Council enters into the loan agreement under 
existing delegations;

(iii) Note the preparation of the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework;

(iv) Agree the development principles and approach included within the framework 
as summarised in paragraphs 3.23 - 3.40 of this report;

(v) Approve that the Director of City Development makes future changes to the 
Framework to ensure consistency with the Site Allocations Plan upon its 
adoption.

Page 138



1. Purpose of this report

1.1 This report provides an overview of the Council’s positive and proactive enabling 
activity to progress regeneration in the urban areas of East Leeds, focusing on the 
role of new housing developments in providing the investment required to deliver 
sustainable neighbourhood improvements.

1.2 It sets out the principles and primary proposals within the Neighbourhood 
Framework for Killingbeck and Seacroft and seeks approval to this document. 

1.3 Executive Board is also asked to note the intention to accept a Local Growth Fund 
loan from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, to be injected into the capital 
programme to support the Brownfield Land Programme.

2. Background information

2.1 The delivery of new housing is critical to supporting the city’s growth, realising the 
Vision for Leeds and delivering the Best Council Plan.  It plays a key role in 
meeting the needs of current and future residents of Leeds; enabling families and 
children to be healthy and to succeed; meeting older people’s needs and 
preference to live independently at home; and in helping communities realise 
ambitions for the regeneration of their neighbourhoods.  

2.2 The Council has a key leadership role in stimulating and supporting housing 
development, particularly in areas of the city where there are challenging market 
conditions and on sites where there may be complex technical and delivery 
challenges to resolve.  In many of the Council’s priority regeneration areas, new 
housing and regeneration investment will principally come through the 
development of brownfield land, where the Council takes a proactive approach to 
addressing such issues, working in partnership with developers and other public 
agencies.  

2.3 The city’s regeneration areas are sustainable locations for new homes, but have 
not been the focus of significant market-led housing development as in some 
more prosperous parts of the city.  The Council therefore has a key role to play in 
bringing its own land forward for development, working with other landowners to 
unlock sites and in providing guidance and certainty to stimulate the necessary 
investment for regeneration to get the best value and outcomes for local people 
and their neighbourhoods.

2.4 In January 2004, the proposals for the regeneration of the East and South East of 
Leeds (EASEL) first emerged and were recognised as an ambitious and multi-
faceted regeneration programme which was intended to utilise the assets held by 
the Council, capture the expertise of the private sector and develop a vehicle 
which could maximise the generation of resources for the benefit of the area. 
Bellway was duly selected as the partner to deliver the regeneration ambitions for 
the area and entered in to a Strategic Development Agreement with the Council in 
2008 for the development of over 700 homes on eight sites across Gipton and 
Seacroft. Although, the EASEL programme was hit hard by the economic and 
housing market downturn and has not delivered as originally intended, there has 
been a steady programme of delivery of almost 400 new homes.  

Page 139



2.5 Coming out of the downturn, the Council has sought other routes through which 
the investment in new homes and infrastructure for East Leeds can be attracted 
and secured.  Development of brownfield land in these inner areas should also 
now be seen in the context of proposed new housing developments in the wider 
East Leeds area, through the development of land within the East Leeds 
Extension, Grimes Dyke and on sites at Manston Lane.  In addition mixed use and 
commercial led development will come forward at Thorpe Park and in the Leeds 
City Region Enterprise Zone at J45 of the M1. 

2.6 In January 2013, Executive Board agreed to establish a Brownfield Land 
Programme which sought to progress the delivery of new housing on Council sites 
in the city’s more marginal locations, to support neighbourhood regeneration.  In 
November 2014, Executive Board agreed to the use of the Homes and 
Communities Agency’s Delivery Partner Panel as a means of procuring one or 
more development partners to accelerate delivery at scale.  

2.7 Further, in March 2015 Executive Board noted the ongoing approach to 
supporting the acceleration of housing growth as a ‘breakthrough project’ and that 
the Council had been successful in provisionally securing funding through the 
Local Growth Fund to support the development of brownfield sites in East Leeds.

2.8 The main part of the report provides a progress update on how the Council is 
progressing  enabling activity to support the delivery of regeneration in East 
Leeds, together with related matters for Executive Board’s consideration, 
covering:

   Current and forthcoming housing developments, including progress on the 
Brownfield Land Programme;

   Funding for site development and new development guidance proposed 
through the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework

3. Main Issues

Progress on Housing Developments in East Leeds

3.1 Following gradual recovery of the housing market since 2008 there are now 
positive indications that new residential development, if properly enabled and co-
ordinated, can offer a sound basis for delivering neighbourhood regeneration 
plans across East Leeds.

3.2 At Barnbow development of former industrial sites has progressed with Bellway 
and Optare having built out circa 120 units since 2012/13.  Further progress on 
these sites will be closely linked to the availability of new road infrastructure at 
Manston Lane to be provided through the development of Thorpe Park. 

3.3 Despite the recession Bellway was able to develop four sites in Gipton, the most 
recently completed being 51 homes at Thorn Walk.  Bellway has recently 
submitted a planning application for 100 homes on land at Oak Tree Mount in 
Gipton and recommenced development of the Parkside site in Seacroft, which 
following sale to the developer by the Council in 2008 had been partially built out 

Page 140



but mothballed by 2012, due to very slow sales rates causing viability challenges 
for the developer. 

3.4 However, Bellway has been unable to bring forward schemes on land at 
Amberton Terrace, Gipton, and the former York Road depot site in Seacroft, 
which were included within the EASEL Development Agreement as it considers 
these sites to be unviable due to site conditions, abnormal costs and achievable 
sales prices.  These sites will now be subsumed back into the Council’s 
Brownfield Land Programme.

3.5 In Halton Moor, Gleesons is building 44 houses on land acquired from a third 
party at Cartmell Beck comprising a mix of two, three and four bedroom houses.

3.6 In March 2015, the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) announced its 
selected developer for the Seacroft Hospital site, with a partnership of Keepmoat 
and Ignite (Strata Homes) currently undertaking pre-planning application 
consultation on a c500 home development scheme, part of which is a brownfield 
site.

3.7 Following a marketing exercise started in May 2014, the Council has exchanged 
contracts with Strata Homes for the disposal of two sites at Asket Drive, Seacroft.  
Planning approval for a 128 home scheme was granted in October 2015 and 
completion of the sale is imminent; development is expected  to commence on 
site in January 2016. 

3.8 In July 2015 the Council invited expressions of interest from the HCA’s Delivery 
Partner Panel for the development of 33 ha of land in two packages across 
Seacroft (8 no. sites/ 26 ha) and Halton Moor (5 no. sites/ 7 ha).  The response to 
this has been very positive with the procurement now moving into a tendering 
phase .  It is anticipated that preferred bidder(s) will be selected early in 2016, 
following which a development agreement will be entered into and planning 
consents sought.

3.9 The Council is utilising the HCA’s Delivery Partner Panel on the premise that the 
procurement process is simple, includes key delivery partners, and allows for a 
quicker start on site and more certainty over development of a large package of 
land, than would be achieved through more traditional, individual disposals.  The 
programme aims to secure delivery partner(s) and commence development of the 
first of up to 1,000 new homes across the areas by early 2017.

3.10 However, the area does remain challenging in parts and there remains a need for 
the Council to take a leadership role, continue to provide guidance and to seek, 
stimulate and co-ordinate both public funding and third party development 
interest. 

Funding for Site Development

3.11 In recognition of the residual challenges to making market-lead development work 
in some parts of East Leeds, the Council has secured in principle £1.1m of 
funding from West Yorkshire Combined Authority’s (WYCA) Local Growth Fund, 
to support the development of brownfield sites. 

Page 141



3.12 Local Growth Funding cannot be offered as a grant to the Council, with WYCA 
offering loans through this fund and requiring at least the value of its investment to 
be returned in due course.  The Council proposes to accept a loan at 0% interest 
to fund infrastructure works on sites within the Brownfield Land Programme, with 
the objective to improve their viability for development.  It is anticipated that the 
funds will be made available as a 0% loan to the developer(s) selected through 
the Delivery Partner Panel process described above.  

3.13 Following the sale of the sites and completion of the loan funded  works, the loan 
will be repaid to the Council.  The Council will then repay its original loan from 
WYCA provided sufficient receipt is achieved from the sale of the land. However, 
some flexibility has been agreed, which would allow the Council the opportunity to 
recycle the loan to support further brownfield sites in East Leeds to be brought 
forward for development.

3.14 The Deputy Chief Executive can approve the terms of the LGF loan as negotiated 
between the Council and WYCA, under existing treasury management 
delegations. 

Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework

3.15 The Seacroft area has large areas of brownfield land and will be a focus for the 
Council’s activity in bringing forward new homes.

3.16 To help to guide and promote future development here and to ensure the benefits 
of investment are realised as part of an integrated approach to regeneration, a 
strategy is required which helps set out local aspirations for change, the delivery 
of which could be supported by new development through S106 contributions and 
the Community Infrastructure Levy.

3.17 On this basis, a Neighbourhood Framework has been prepared for Killingbeck  
and Seacroft which:

 accompanies and strengthens existing neighbourhood management and 
partnership work by articulating the community and stakeholders aspirations 
for physical changes and new development;

 promotes development opportunities to potential investors and developers; 
 provides guidance to developers about the key principles for future 

development. 

3.18 The Localism Act provides the communities in areas such as Seacroft with the 
opportunity to come together to lead the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan.  A 
Seacroft Neighbourhood Planning group has been set up and is now constituted 
as a Neighbourhood Forum to develop a Neighbourhood Plan for the area. The 
Council has engaged with the Forum and the Framework presented in this report 
is likely to form the basis for any future work on a Neighbourhood Plan by the 
local community.

3.19 Scoping work on the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework 
commenced in June 2014 with the Killingbeck and Seacroft Ward Members who 
have supported the process throughout, with input from a range of Council 
services to ensure the plan provides a sustainable solution for the area.  The 

Page 142



culmination of this work resulted in the production of a Draft Plan which was 
consulted on in January 2015. 

3.20 Over 100 completed feedback forms were received through the consultation 
sessions which were held over a period of 6 weeks at a range of locations 
including shopping areas and community facilities. The feedback received from 
the consultation has helped to shape and inform the preparation of the Killingbeck 
and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework document. Further consultation since 
the production of the document has taken place with the Killingbeck and Seacroft 
Community Leadership Team and Seacroft Neighbourhood Planning Forum. In 
addition consultation took place at a number of Children’s and Young People’s 
events in August 2015. There was broad support for the Framework and in 
particular the approach of prioritising investment into existing greenspaces and 
improving greenspace connectivity across the estate rather than creating new 
areas of greenspace as part of new development schemes.  The key emphasis 
was on improving the image, range of children’s facilities and security at the 
neighbourhood parks.  Traffic management and traffic calming are also 
considered a key priority across the estate to improve safety and the local 
environment.

3.21 The vision that has emerged for the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood is to 
create an attractive, well connected and sustainable place to live, in particular 
improving the quality and range of housing for existing residents, whilst also 
providing much needed housing for new residents.  It is also important to make it 
easier for local people to access training and job opportunities in the local area, in 
particular the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone, and Thorpe Park, as well as 
construction jobs arising from the development associated housing development 
in the wider East Leeds area.

3.22 Once approved, the framework will be used to promote regeneration opportunities 
to developers and guide proposals as they emerge.  This will assist the delivery of 
the sites included in the brownfield land programme as well as helping to bring 
forward other investment as set out in the document.  As the document sets out 
an overarching vision and high level development and investment opportunities, 
there is further work to be done to define the nature of individual schemes working 
with developers.  There are further opportunities for community involvement as 
development proposals emerge and around options for greenspace investment.

3.23 The key elements of the framework are set out in the following paragraphs:

 Housing

3.24 Local people are concerned about the shortage of good quality, affordable 
housing in the area.  People want to stay in the area to be near friends and family 
but there is a view that housing options and choice are limited.  One of the aims of 
the framework is to identify future housing development sites to meet this need, 
whilst also seeking to attract new people the area.

3.25 Local people want to see more family and older people’s housing.  This allows 
existing families to grow in the area and allows older people to downsize without 
moving away.   

Page 143



3.26 Differing housing types and tenure to give people affordable options for owning 
their own property are needed. There should also be opportunities for people to 
buy houses on the open market. Rental properties will continue to play an 
important role in the area providing much needed affordable and flexible housing. 
Some sites lend themselves better than others to affordable or market housing. 
Sites of varying sizes have been identified within the framework for housing 
including a number of small infill sites which may be attractive in particular to 
small developers or housing associations. Many of the sites have been identified 
for redevelopment for some time following the demolition of poor quality and non-
traditional housing over the last 10 years.  However, some new sites have 
emerged through the process, which are primarily underutilised areas of land 
which contribute little to the overall estate environment and provide little benefit to 
the community in their current form.

3.27 Based on an average density of 30 dwellings per hectare, there is the potential to 
deliver circa 2000 homes across 20 development sites in Killingbeck and 
Seacroft. It should be noted that some sites identified in this framework will 
achieve lower densities given development constraints, such as topography, tree 
coverage and ground conditions.

 Economy

3.28 For an area to be sustainable it should be accessible, have a good range of shops 
and facilities which meet local needs and provide local employment opportunities. 
Seacroft has a vibrant commercial centre with the largest concentration of shops 
at the Seacroft Town Centre which is anchored by Tesco Extra. This centre 
serves as a popular destination for shopping for both residents living in and 
outside the area. Opportunities that would help to diversify the range of shops in 
this centre would be supported.  

3.29 There are other freestanding food stores within the area and a number of smaller   
shopping parades that include convenience stores that are performing well. Whilst 
these shops provide an important function meeting the needs of local people in  
the area there may be further opportunities for investment to sustain and enhance 
the retail offer in the future. 

3.30 Other than ‘green’ leisure, Fearnville Leisure Centre lies to the west of the area. 
Options are currently being explored by the Council to review leisure centre 
provision in the area, to ensure high quality, accessible provision. 

3.31 Development of housing will provide employment and training opportunities for 
local people. Improving links to surrounding areas will also be critical to helping 
people to access new jobs in particular at Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone 
which is located a J45 of the M1, Thorpe Park and the City Centre.

Greenspace

3.32 Improvements to greenspace and public realm and better pedestrian and cycle    
connections will help to improve the liveability of the area whilst also providing 
improvements to health and well-being. The key areas for investment will be The 
Rein, Seacroft Gardens, Seacroft Hall and Wyke Beck Valley including 
connections to these areas of open space.

Page 144



3.33 Rather than providing significant new areas of greenspace as part of development 
schemes, developers will be encouraged to provide contributions which can be 
used to invest into existing greenspace.  The area is currently well served with 
open space but its quality and usability can be improved.  Equally the provision of 
fewer but better, safer and more accessible play areas and facilities for young 
people is needed.  Such improvements and improved access to greenspace and 
nearby attractions will help to promote more active and physical recreation and 
make the area more child friendly. Opportunities have been identified for 
community led improvements which could include the creation of community 
gardens and local food growing schemes.  This will not only improve the 
appearance of the area but has the potential to provide significant health benefits 
for residents.

Connectivity

3.34 For Killingbeck and Seacroft to become more sustainable, good connections need 
to be created across the area and beyond. Seacroft already has a bus station at 
the District Centre which benefits from regular bus services to the city centre, 
pedestrian and cycle routes across the area including cycle paths through Wyke 
Beck, however, residents want to see further improvements to help them get to 
nearby facilities and employment centres.

3.35 Bus services to the city centre are good but there are no services to nearby areas   
of employment such as Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone and Thorpe Park.  
The re-tasking of services to provide links is critical to the success of the area, 
allow residents the opportunity to access training and employment opportunities.  
The development of new housing will help to improve the viability of existing bus  
services and the creation of new ones to major employment growth areas. In the 
future there may be scope to extend the New Generation Transport line to cover 
the eastern side of the City which would bring significant economic regeneration 
benefits to the area. The introduction of New Generation Transport to East Leeds 
could provide important opportunities for bus services to feed into this network, 
making it easy to use for residents in Killingbeck and Seacroft.

3.36 The option of building a new road to link between North Parkway and South   
Parkway around the David Young Community Academy site, which could also 
become a bus route.  This will improve connectivity across the estate and is 
something that developers are being encouraged to respond to as part of the land 
disposals being progressed through the Homes and Communities Agency’s 
Delivery Partner Panel.

3.37 Walking and cycling offers one of the easiest ways to get around the local area. 
Investing in the infrastructure of the area with some ‘low cost’ improvements 
supported by development schemes will help to make this easier. 

Page 145



   Community Facilities

3.39   There are a number of community buildings within the area providing services run 
  by the Council and partners.  These facilities range in quality, usage and   
  sustainability and some need to be better promoted to maximise their benefit to  
  the local area.  The Council is currently reviewing assets across the city and the

   framework will inform this work, so that any changes proposed to facilities and  
  services takes place in a co-ordinated way in the context of wider neighbourhood

   improvements.  The demand for other public services will increase as the  
  population grows and new development is realised.  The demand for health 
  related services will increase and surgery provision will need to be reviewed.

3.40 Expected population growth, alongside the development of new houses will put  
more pressure on nursery and childcare provision, as well as primary and  
secondary schools. Opportunities to expand existing schools are already being  
addressed and new schools may be required.  

 
4. Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Ward Members for Killingbeck and Seacroft and Temple Newsam (for Halton 
Moor) have been engaged in the work to bring sites through the DPP procurement 
and have supported the intention to remediate, prepare and develop them for 
housing.

4.1.2 Consultation on the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework has 
been extensive and robust, covering local residents, community leaders, ward 
members, Council services and external partners, as well as the Seacroft 
Neighbourhood Planning Group. The Executive Member for Regeneration, 
Transport and Planning has also been briefed.

4.1.3 Scoping work on the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework was 
started in June 2014 with Killingbeck and Seacroft Ward Members, who have 
since been closely involved throughout the drafting and preparation of the 
document.  

4.1.4 Public consultation on the draft framework plan took place in January 2015 and 
again in summer 2015. The feedback received from the consultations has been 
generally positive and has helped to shape and inform the preparation of the 
Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework document. In addition 
officers have attended a series of events in August as part of the Children’s and 
Young People’s day. Consultation has resulted in further changes to the 
document and the plan.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An Equality Impact screening was completed for the engagement and 
consultation phase of the Neighbourhood Framework to ensure that effective 
community engagement took place. The EDCI report is attached as an appendix 
to this report.

Page 146



4.2.2 Proposed housing developments will require planning consent including a 
consideration of affordable housing requirements in line with Leeds City Council 
policy.  This will include housing market assessment data and will consider the 
housing needs of equality groups in the neighbourhood context. The principle of 
working with existing community networks is perceived as the most likely to 
involve as wide a range of people as possible. Factors that might impact on 
community cohesion as new residents in different tenures arrive will be explicitly 
considered in response to perceived risk.

  
4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The delivery of new homes on brownfield land and regeneration of deprived areas 
seeks to deliver the Council’s Strong economy – Compassionate city ambitions.  
In addition, such work contributes to a number of Best Council Objectives, in 
particular: 

 promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth through the 
development of new homes including affordable provision with linked 
construction jobs and training opportunities; 

 becoming a more efficient and enterprising Council through reducing the 
costs associated with managing surplus land, providing better quality 
living accommodation and environmental quality of neighbourhoods whilst 
securing New Homes Bonus income to the Council; 

 building a Child Friendly City through ensuring high quality design and 
linked provision of play areas and open space; and

 supporting the delivery of the better lives programme by facilitating 
opportunities for the delivery of specialist older people’s housing.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The procurement of a delivery partner(s) through the Delivery Partner Panel is 
being managed through existing officer resources.  

4.4.2 No specific resources have been identified to support the preparation of the 
neighbourhood frameworks.  Officer time from within the Asset Management and 
Regeneration, Environment and Housing, Area Support, Planning and the 
Sustainable Design Unit has been met from within existing resources.  Costs of 
community consultation, printing and any other work to inform the preparation of 
the frameworks has been met by the Regeneration Programmes Division budget.

4.4.3 The majority of development sites identified in the framework are Council owned 
and could provide a capital receipt for the Council.  There are costs associated 
with the implementation of some of the wider improvements identified in the 
framework such as greenspace enhancements.  Possible grant funding sources 
and the use of planning contributions will assist with the delivery of such work. 

Page 147



4.4.4 The Council has secured in principle £1.1m of funding from the Leeds City Region 
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) Local Growth Fund (LGF), to support the 
development of eight sites in East Leeds through infrastructure works.  The loan is 
provided at a 0% rate of interest, and is provided on the basis that where possible 
it will be repaid by the Council following disposal of sites for development.

4.4.5 The Deputy Chief Executive can approve the terms of the LGF loan as negotiated 
between the Council and LEP, under existing delegations.  It is intended to accept 
the loan and complete the related agreement.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 Local Growth Fund approval is subject to a legal agreement with the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority.  Legal advice on the terms of this agreement has 
been provided through solicitors in the Projects, Programmes and Procurement 
Unit.

4.5.2 There are no specific legal implications on the Neighbourhood Framework.  Legal 
input will be required as the Council engages with developers to bring forward 
schemes.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The bringing together of the Neighbourhood Framework has been managed 
according to the principles of the Council’s DSC project management 
methodology.  The principle risks associated with this work concern the need to 
ensure proper engagement with local stakeholders and to effectively identify the 
full range of local issues such that the Framework has a basis in fact and is 
deliverable.

4.6.2 The drafting of the framework is the product of robust research and consultation 
and has been brought forward with full reference to the Council’s activities in 
reviewing development potential.  As such it is considered that there are minimal 
risks to the Council in agreeing the Framework as a tool for assisting planning and 
guiding development in the area.

4.6.3 The majority of sites are consistent with the Site Allocations Plan. However, there 
are some sites that contain areas of greenspace that need to be considered 
through the Site Allocations process. These sites are presently out to consultation 
and there may be opportunities to consider the particular greenspace sites before 
submission to the Secretary of State.  The adopted Core Strategy includes 
policies which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to compensate for the 
loss of existing greenspace which will need to be applied in bringing these sites 
forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

4.6.4 A range of options for the way the Local Growth Funding could be used to support 
development have been considered.  The Council has also sought Counsel 
advice to ensure the funding is used in a state aid compliant way.  It is proposed 
to pass the funding onto the developer(s) selected through the Delivery Partner 
Panel procurement process via a loan agreement.  The bidders will be asked to 
set out their approach to using the loan on publicly adoptable infrastructure and 
for its repayment to the Council upon completion.  The approach proposed 

Page 148



represents the best value for money as it removes the risk of the Council using 
the funding on potentially abortive works in advance of site disposal, ensures the 
funds will be targeted at necessary works, reduces standalone preliminary costs 
and complies with state aid requirements.

4.6.5 The Council will undertake full legal, financial and commercial due diligence 
checks on developers bidding to take forward this work to enable a consideration 
of any risks of default in making loans on the basis described.  The Council will 
also place a charge on the sites for the value of any loan, until repaid.

5. Conclusions

5.1 There are positive signs of market recovery and housing development gathering 
pace across the urban areas of East Leeds, offering a sound basis for progressing 
local regeneration plans.  The Council’s own activities to enable this are moving 
forward, with both availability of funding and procurement of partner or partners 
also progressing 

5.2 The Council owns a number of brownfield sites in the Killingbeck and Seacroft 
areas which could come forward as part of this work and to ensure the local 
regeneration vision is clear, to promote the area to developers,  assist in the 
determination of planning applications a Neighbourhood Framework has been 
prepared setting out where new housing could be developed and the other 
investment needs in the area to ensure that all residents benefit.

5.3 The Framework has been prepared with substantial input from ward members and 
the local community.  Once approved, the document will be disseminated widely 
and published on the Council website.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:  

i) Note the progress made in bringing forward new housing development 
in East Leeds;

ii) Note that the Council has secured a Local Growth Fund loan to 
support the development of brownfield sites in East Leeds and that 
the Deputy Chief Executive can approve that the Council enters into 
the loan agreement under existing delegations;

iii) Note the preparation of the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood 
Framework;

iv) Agree the development principles and approach included within the 
framework as summarised in paragraphs 3.23 - 3.40 of this report;

v) Approve that the Director of City Development makes future changes 
to the Framework to ensure consistency with the Site Allocations Plan 
upon its adoption.

Page 149



7  Appendix

7.1 Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework document and the 
Engagement and Consultation report.

7.2 EDCI screening

8 Background documents1 

8.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 150



 

Killingbeck & Seacroft  
Neighbourhood  
Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

October 2015 

 

P
age 151



Contents 

  Foreword   Page 3 

     

  Executive Summary  Page 4 

     

  Vision  Page 5 

     

  A Neighbourhood Framework for Killingbeck & Seacroft  Pages 6– 7 

     

  Killingbeck & Seacroft  - The Future  Pages 8 

     

  History of Killingbeck and Seacroft  Pages 9 

     

  Economic/Social profile of the area  Pages 10 

    
 Neighbourhood Framework Proposals:     

    Development Opportunities   Pages 11 - 17 

          

    Economy   Pages 18 

          

    Recreation and Greenspace   Pages 19 - 20 

          

    Connections   Pages 21 - 23 

          

    Community   Pages 24 - 25 

    Delivery and Implementation of the Neighbourhood Framework Pages 26 - 28 

Development Opportunities 

Economy 

Recreation and Greenspace 

Connections 

Community 

P
age 152



Foreword 

The Killingbeck and Seacroft areas are noted for their generous swathes of open space laid out as part of the 
planned housing development in the 1950s but the function and quality of these open spaces has changed with 
many now of poor quality and attracting little use. In recent years, there has also been a large amount of housing 
clearance that has created new development opportunities to regenerate the area.  The area is a great place to live, 
but we want to take that extra step to improving the local environment through investing in existing and new 
greenspace and make the area an even better place to live with improved community facilities and jobs in 
accessible locations and a range of housing options that are affordable. 
 

This Neighbourhood Framework has been prepared to set out the investment and development opportunities to 
help do this, building on the good work already done and complementing the strong local partnership working to 
improve all aspects of the area.  It sets out where new houses could be built, improvements and changes to 
greenspace, and the potential for better local facilities.  There has been a great deal of consultation with residents 
about the ideas included in this plan and we would like to thank everyone for their time. 
 

Delivery of the proposals is key to the future success of Killingbeck and Seacroft. The Council must now work hard 
with service partners and developers to release the area’s potential and bring forward the ideas included in this 
framework. 
   

October 2015 

Page 3 

P
age 153



Executive Summary 

Seacroft  is an inter-war  and post war housing estate to the east of Leeds City Centre.  Whilst there is a sense of community and passion for the area from local 
residents, there has been large scale housing clearance over the years, which has left a large amount of vacant land. In addition the areas of open space that are an 
integral part of it are in need of revitalising through prioritising greenspace investment to ensure that it is better connected, safe and more useable by people who live 
there.  This Neighbourhood Framework aims to improve the quality and range of housing for existing residents living in the Killingbeck and Seacroft areas, whilst also 
having the benefit of providing much needed housing for new residents to make the area an even better place to live.   
 
This framework identifies the following development opportunities: 
 
 Total of 20 potential development sites across Killingbeck and Seacroft; 
 67 ha of land identified for possible new housing; 

 Sites with mixed use development opportunities; 

 Opportunities for new/ improved leisure facilities. 
 

Other improvements include: 
 
 Improved access and usability of existing open space. 

 Improvements to pedestrian and cycle movement around the area in particular to jobs and facilities in nearby areas; 

 Improved connectivity to the surrounding areas in particular the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone and Thorpe Park  to make it easier for residents to access 
employment opportunities; 

 The provision of better play areas which are in desirable and accessible locations that are less vulnerable and can be more easily maintained; 

 Neighbourhood improvements which include the creation of community gardens or allotments; 

 Delivery of sustainability measures in new and existing homes to improve energy efficiency;  
 
 

The Council and its partners will work hard to promote the ideas included in this framework.  The private sector will play a key role in delivery by bringing forward new 
development and contributing to the other improvements identified. 

Page 4 

P
age 154



Vision 

Over the next 10 years our aim is to improve the quality and range of housing for existing residents living in the Killingbeck and Seacroft areas, whilst also 
having the benefit of providing much needed housing for new residents.  To ensure that the area is an even better place to live, there will also be investment 
in greenspace to ensure that it is better connected, safe and more useable by people of all ages.  Transport infrastructure improvements including 
improving bus services and pedestrian and cycle facilities will also help to make it easier for local people to access training and job opportunities in the local 
area, in particular the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone, and Thorpe Park , as well as construction jobs arising from the development associated with the 
expansion of East Leeds “East Leeds Extension”. 
 
Overall the perception of Killingbeck and Seacroft will be transformed and it will be recognised as an attractive, well connected and sustainable place to live 
and will be a key part of the major regeneration and development of this part of the city. This Neighbourhood Framework aims to: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 

Innovative New Housing 

 Identify a range of sites for residential development which could potentially deliver over 2,000 new homes.  These could 
include a mix of homes for sale and rent including affordable options. 

 identify other investment and development opportunities to ensure that the area has a broad mix of sustainable uses; 

 Provide better and more secure play areas and enhance the quality of greenspace provision in the area; 

 ensure that the area is well connected with improved pedestrian and cycle links; 

 ensure that nearby employment areas are made more accessible; and 

 ensure that there are sufficient training and job opportunities for local 
residents. 

East Leeds Academy 

P
age 155



A Neighbourhood Framework for 

Killingbeck and Seacroft 

 
 

What is it and how has it been developed?  

What is a Neighbourhood Framework? 
 
This Neighbourhood Framework will present the Council’s vision for Killingbeck 
and Seacroft which will help shape the future of the area. It will set out a range of 
development and investment opportunities for Killingbeck and Seacroft including 
land for new housing, community uses, improved greenspace and better links to 
improve connectivity to nearby employment areas. The document will be used to 
promote the area to developers, support community projects, help to decide 
planning applications and ensure that investment is prioritised. 
 
This framework is prepared in the context of a range of other national and local 
policies and initiatives and seeks to contribute to Leeds becoming ‘the best city in 
the UK’.  

Why Killingbeck and Seacroft? 
 

The development of a Neighbourhood Framework for Killingbeck and 
Seacroft is a chance to refresh and build on a number of plans prepared in 
the last few years. Whilst those plans ensured that over a hundred new 
houses were built in Seacroft on South Parkway and the former Killingbeck 
hospital site, despite a major recession, we now need to revisit what Leeds 
City Council can realistically achieve using its own land and buildings.  
  
This framework is needed to help support future planning decisions in 
Seacroft and will help the Council and its partners explore and support ways 
of bringing forward new development and help promote the area to 
developers, attracting their investment. The framework will consider all types 
of development and identify wider community benefits which could be 
delivered using S106 contributions/CIL from new future development. 
The intention remains to change the area for the better and help make the 
most of wider social, economic and environmental opportunities. 
 
In tandem with the Neighbourhood Framework local people in Seacroft are 
coming together to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan that aims to set out how 
Seacroft can change. It is intended to work in a complementary way with the 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum to make sure that the Framework can help 
manage any specific development proposals. The Framework will set the 
locaton of housing, shops and greenspace and the Neighbourhood Plan will 
provide more detail about the design of these aspects and will look at other 
possible improvements. 

Core Strategy 

Page 6 

Neighbourhoods for Living 

P
age 156



A Neighbourhood Framework for 

Killingbeck & Seacroft 

Involving local people 
 
 
The views of the local community have been central to the emergence of this framework. In January 2015, a comprehensive consultation programme was undertaken at a wide range of locations 
and venues across the area including children centres, community centres, shops and schools. The comments received have informed the preparation of this framework. 
 
In total, 104 completed feedback forms were received through the consultation sessions although even more people attended sessions to discuss the proposals, The consultation established that 
there was a broad level of support for the proposals set out within the Neighbourhood Framework Plan.  A lot of respondents were keen to see new quality housing delivered in the area, but 
wanted to see affordable housing as a main part of the new housing delivery.  Employment and training opportunities were identified as a key priority in the area. Most people were generally 
happy with retail provision in the area, although there was criticism of the lack of variety caused by the impact of the large supermarket chains on smaller businesses.  People generally thought 
that more was needed to be done to cater for children and teenagers  in the area, 

‘Need more local shops and not 
enough doctors and dentists’ 

‘The state of the paving in the 

area makes it difficult to get 

‘There isn’t a direct bus 
service to North Leeds, 
Crossgates, LGI or 
Seacroft Hospital ’ 

‘The area needs a youth hub 

and leisure centre’ 
‘There needs to

 be 

im
proved tra

ffic
 

calm
ing m

easures 

across th
e esta

te’ 
‘Better connections are needed be-

tween North and South Parkway’ 

‘More employment and training opportunities 
are required in the area 

‘High quality housing should 
be delivered in the area’ 

‘Cafes in the area would be 

good as well as a pub that 

serves food’ 

‘Better lighting in 

some parts of the 

area to make it 

feel safer’ 

‘Priority should be given o improving 

the existing Council housing stock in 

the area’ 

‘Older p
eople’s housing 

and fa
mily housing-

should be a prio
rity

’ 

‘Better play areas are         

required that are well        

located and more secure for 

younger children’ 

‘More sports pitches 

are needed in the area 

Page 7 

P
age 157



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Killingbeck and Seacroft—The Future 

 

The Neighbourhood Framework sets out a range of development opportunities.  Some of these 
are recognisable from earlier plans and strategies, but there are also a number of new ideas and 
proposals.  Whilst a number of housing sites have been previously identified, the framework sets 
these in a wider context and includes new sites  to make better use of and meet housing need 
on land in the urban area.  The framework identifies 20 potential development sites on 67 ha of 
land. 
 
These development opportunities sit alongside other investment ideas including: 
 

 focussed greenspace improvements including the Wyke Beck, The 
Rein, Seacroft Gardens, Seacroft Hall; 

 the option of building a new road to link North Parkway with South Parkway around  
      the David Young Community Academy site;  

 improved pedestrian and cycle routes around the area and to       
neighbouring parts of the city; and  

Innovative housing Focused greenspace improvements 

Page 8 

 opportunities for new leisure uses and more efficient use of community buildings; 

Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework Plan 

P
age 158



 

       History of the area 

Seacroft has a long history and was referenced in the Domesday Book as long ago as 1086. There is also 
evidence that the area was inhabited in the Neolithic Age (3500BC to 2100BC)! This was established when 
the estate was being built in the 1950s and construction workers unearthed a stone axe from the period on 
what is now Kentmere Avenue.   

 

The area was originally known as Saecroft, an Anglo Saxon name, Sae meaning lake or pool and Croft 
meaning farm or enclosure.  The area developed into a small village to the east of Leeds which was 
surrounded by a number of farms and remained largely unchanged for centuries.   

 

Seacroft Hall was built by the Shiletto family around 1605. Seacroft Hall was located on the site of what is 
now East Leeds Academy, having been demolished in the 1950s. 

 

In the early 1930s work started on the construction of Council housing to the south of the estate.  The original 
plan was to continue to develop the estate to the north, however this was interrupted by the outbreak of the 
Second World War.  Development of Seacroft started again after the war had ended with many pre-
fabricated houses and high-rise flats being constructed throughout the 1950s and 60s.   

 

Seacroft shopping centre was also constructed around this time and offered a range of retail outlets including 
Woolworths.  However, by the 1980s and 90s it was becoming dated with many retailers moving to other 
more modern locations such as the Cross Gates Arndale Centre.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9 

Aerial 1933 

Aerial 1953 

Aerial  2006 

Seacroft Hospital 

Original Seacroft Shopping Centre 

Seacroft Hall P
age 159



Economic/Social Profile of the Area  

 
A general overview of the economic and social conditions of the Killingbeck and Seacroft Ward is outlined below: 
  
 
 According to the Mid-Year Population Estimates 2013, this area has a population of 23954 (this is split into 11325 Males and 12629 Females (47.28%/ 

52.72%); 
 
 Figures from the Census of Population 2011 show that people of Non-White ethnic groups make up 10.11% of the resident population (2402 People);  
 
 Job Seekers Allowance Claimants in the area for 01-15 total 733 which is a rate of 4.9% of the working age population; 
 
 The average house price for all property types (2013) for the ward is £112,081 in contrast to the Leeds average of £171,635; 
 
 Educational Attainment in the area showed that GCSE results for students achieving A*-C Grades was at 85.4% for 2013; 

 41.8% of occupied households in the ward are "owner occupied", compared to 58.6% for the city, and the rate for owner occupation has increased slightly 
from 38.2% in 2001 (while overall the city has seen a decrease in owner occupation); 

 
 56% of occupied households in the ward are rented, compared to a city average of 39.9%, and the ward has a much higher proportion renting from the local authority, through an ALMO, 

(41.2% compared to a city average of 16.9%); 
 
 Overall the percentage of households living in rented accommodation has fallen from 61.8% in 2001 to 56% in 2011 (across the city there has been a slight increase); 
 
 The proportion of households that are renting from the local authority (through an ALMO) has fallen from 48.2% in 2001 to 41.2% in 2011, while the proportion of households renting from a 

housing association or oher RSL has increased from 6.8% to 7.9%); 
 
 The proportion renting from a private landlord or letting agency has more than doubled over the decade from 2.6% in 2001 to 6.1% in 2011; 
 
 35.8% of all households in the ward are occupied by people living on their own, (the city average is 33.3%); 
 
 The proportion of single person households has increased from 32.8% in 2001 to 35.8% in 2011; 
 
 19.8% of households consist of pensioners only (compared to 19.1% for the city), of the 2,044 pensioner only households in the ward 1,472 are occupied by a lone person (14.2% of all 

households in the ward); 
 
 32.5% of all households in the ward contain dependent children, and 13.3% contain children under 5 years of age (compared to city rates of 27.6% and 11.7% respectively) 

Page 10 

P
age 160



Page 11 

Development Opportunities 

Housing 
Local people are concerned about the shortage of good quality, affordable housing in the area.  People want to stay in the area to be near 
friends and family but there is a view that housing options and choice are limited.  One of the aims of the framework is to identify future 
housing development sites to meet this need, whilst also seeking to attract new people the area. 
 
Local people want to see more family and older people’s housing.  This allows existing families to grow in the area and allows older people 
to downsize without moving away.  New housing is therefore much needed in order to sustain this community lifecycle. 
 
Differing housing types and tenure to give people affordable options for owning their own property. There should also be opportunities for 
people to buy houses on the open market. Rental properties will continue to play an important role in the area providing much needed 
affordable and flexible housing. Some sites lend themselves better than others to affordable or market housing. Sites of varying sizes have 
been identified including a number of small infill sites and may be attractive in particular to small developers or housing associations. 
Based on an average density of 30 dwellings per hectare, there is the potential to construct circa 2000 homes across 20 development 
sites in Killingbeck and Seacroft. It should be noted that some sites identified in this framework will achieve lower densities given 
development constraints, such as topography, tree coverage and ground conditions. 
 
In order to achieve comprehensive regeneration of the Killingbeck and Seacroft areas, some sites identified for housing in this framework are 
proposed to be retained as greenspace in the Council’s Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan. The adopted Core Strategy includes policies 
which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to compensate for the loss of existing greenspace which will need to be applied in bringing 
these sites forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

 
Character 
Housing development in Killingbeck and Seacroft will need to reflect the local context and complement the local identity and character of these areas. The ‘character’ of an area refers to the look 
and feel of the local neighbourhood which gives it an identity and a unique sense of place. As with all sites in the Neighbourhood Framework, future redevelopment should accord with the City 
Council’s Neighbourhoods for Living guide to ensure that the new development reflects and complements the character of the area. In particularly in the Seacroft area the character is derived from 
the ‘garden suburb’  ideal which aims for low housing density, wide streets with areas of incidental open space. It is important that development respects this unique character and sense of place. 

Community Safety 
Development should adopt secure by design’ principles. Care should be taken to ensure that footpaths do not become overly 
enclosed to create a ‘ginnel’ effect.  Footpaths should be as open as possible, well lit, and overlooked to minimise opportunities for 
anti-social behaviour. 
 
Good quality affordable and varied housing options that adopt secure by design principles are very much needed in the area to 
help make Leeds the best city to live. 

Future Development 

Over time, additional development opportunities may emerge in Killingbeck and Seacroft.  These will need to be brought forward 
in line with the overarching principles of this framework and will be expected to help deliver the wider improvements identified to 
maximise the regenerative benefits for the area. 

P
age 161



Page 12 

Development Opportunities 

Killingbeck and Seacroft Development Opportunities 
 
The Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework  identifies a number of housing sites, some of which have been carried forward  rom other Plans. Other than a small number of greenfield 
sites identified for housing the majority of sites are  brownfield. 
 

Site 2 – Ramshead Drive 
This sloping greenfield site is accessed off Ranshead Drive via Limewood Approach which is a 
no through road. The site is bounded by Seacroft Industrial estate to the east, Lime Kiln Wood 
and Ramshead Wood to the north and south respectively and housing to the west. Half of the 
site is currently protected as greenspace/urban green corridor and a local nature area. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the whole of the site is proposed for protection as 
greenspace. The adopted Core Strategy includes policies which allow for off-site greenspace 
improvements to compensate for the loss of existing greenspace.  This approach which will 
need to be applied in bringing this site forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are 
adopted in their current form.   

Site 1 – Kentmere Avenue 
This cleared infill site previously accommodated maisonette 
properties . The site modestly slopes from its eastern 
boundary towards Kentmere Avenue and features a belt of  
mature/semi-mature trees along its eastern boundary.  It is 
surrounded by housing on all sides. 

© Copyright Bluesky Interna onal Limited and Infoterra Limited, 2009 © Copyright Bluesky Interna onal Limited and Infoterra Limited, 2009 

P
age 162



Page 13 

 Development Opportunities 

Site 3 - Barncroft Road Close 
This cleared sloping housing site is surrounded by housing on 3 sides and Grange 
Farm primary school on the other and benefits from long distance views to the south. 
The site contains few landscape features and has a footpath that cuts across it. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is allocated for housing (HG2-90) 

 

Site 5 – Asket Drive North 
This site is a cleared housing site bordered by the A58 to the west, a high rise tower block to the 
north, a medical centre to the south and Asket Drive to the east. A planning application has 
been submitted by Strata Homes Ltd (Application no.15/00903/FU) for private market housing 
with a proportion of affordable housing in line with Council policy. In the Publication Draft Site 
Allocations Plan the site is identified for housing (HG1-210). 

Site 4 – Ramshead Approach 
This large expanse of open space slopes from Ramshead Approach towards North Parkway. 
Mainly grassland the site features sporadic pockets of trees with a footpath linking Ramshead 
Approach to North Parkway. The site is bounded by Seacroft Industrial Estate to the north, 
housing to south and west and the Ring Road to the east.  This site offers the opportunity to 
improve pedestrian and cycle links from Seacroft District Centre to the industrial area to the 
north. In the Leeds Unitary Development Plan the site is allocated as greenspace which is 
replicated in the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan. The adopted Core Strategy includes 
policies which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to compensate for the loss of existing 
greenspace.  This approach which will need to be applied in bringing this site forward, if the Site 
Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

Site 5 - Thorpe View  © Copyright Bluesky Interna onal Limited and Infoterra Limited, 2009 
© Copyright Bluesky Interna onal Limited and Infoterra Limited, 2009 

Site 6 – Asket Drive South 
This is the larger of the two Asket Drive sites and is a cleared housing site 
bordered by the Wyke Beck to the west, medical centre to the north and housing 
to the east and south. A planning application has been submitted by Strata 
Homes Ltd (Application no.15/00903/FU) for private market housing with a 
proportion of affordable housing in line with Council policy.  In the Publication 
Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is identified for housing (HG1-211). 

P
age 163



Page 14 

 Development Opportunities 

  
Site 7 – Former Asket Hill Primary School 
This site includes the former Asket Hill primary school site and an area of open space. 
The site topography varies with the steepest slope from Boggart Hill Gardens down 
towards Kentmere Approach. It also benefits from long distance views from Boggart Hill 
Gardens. Access can be achieved from Boggart Hill Gardens or Kentmere Approach 
although other access options could be explored. In the Publication Draft Site 
Allocations Plan the site is allocated for housing (HG2-91). 

Site 8 – Boggart Hill Road 
This small previously developed infill site slopes gradually from Boggart Hill Drive towards 
the southern site boundary. The grassland site featureless and is bounded by flats to the 
north and housing on all three remaining sides. In the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan 
the site is identified for housing (HG1-213). 

Site 9 - Kentmere Approach 
This linear greenfield site represents a unique opportunity to create a development that 
integrates positively with its surroundings and other development opportunity sites notably 
Asket Drive and the former Asket Hill Primary School and which takes advantage of its 
topography, adjacent open spaces, footpath routes. and long distance views. The eastern 
half of the site was previously designated as Greenspace in the Leeds UDP Review. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is allocated for housing (HG2-92). 

Site 10 - Asket Avenue 
This flat greenfield site is located between Asket Avenue and North Parkway and is linked by 
a footpath that runs down one side of Asket Walk. The site is bounded by open space to the 
south and north and housing to the east and west. There is an opportunity to improve 
pedestrian connectivity through this site to the wider network. In the Leeds UDP Review part 
of the site is allocated as greenspace/urban green corridor with the greenspace allocation 
replicated in the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan. The adopted Core Strategy includes 
policies which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to compensate for the loss of 
existing greenspace.  This approach which will need to be applied in bringing this site 
forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

P
age 164



Page 15 

      Development Opportunities 

 

Site 13 – Middleton Park Grove 

Site 11– Seacroft Crescent North 
This site includes the former Fariview care home and an area of open space located on the 
western edge of the Seacroft district centre.. The open space element has a pronounced west to 
east slope and enjoys long distance views. The former care home part of the site  has been the 
subject of a previous outline planning permission for residential development. The site benefits 
from excellent access to the Seacroft town centre and its facilities. Part of the site falls within the 
Seacroft town centre boundary in the Leeds UDP Review with the remainder unallocated. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocation Plan the main part of the site is allocated as greenspace. The 
adopted Core Strategy includes policies which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to 
compensate for the loss of existing greenspace.  This approach which will need to be applied in 
bringing this site forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

Site 12 - Seacroft Crescent South 
This previously developed site is situated within the southern part of Seacroft town centre and 
benefits from excellent access to town centre facilities and Seacroft Bus Station. The site 
represents a unique opportunity to create a quality development that integrates positively with its 
surroundings and which takes advantage of its sustainable town centre location. The site is 
identified within Seacroft town centre boundary in the Leeds UDP Review  and is replicated in 
the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan. 

Site 13 – Bishop’s Way 
This relative flat greenfield site sits next to David Young Academy and includes the site of the 
former East Leeds Family Learning Centre. The site provides a unique opportunity to provide an 
additional load link between North Parkway to South Parkway to improve accessibility and 
permeability across the Seacroft estate and take advantage of its location next to the Wyke 
Beck. Part of the site is reserved for a new school. In the Leeds UDP Review the site is partly 
unallocated, partly protected as greenspace and partly protected as playing pitch land. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is partly allocated as greenspace and partly 
allocated for school use. The adopted Core Strategy includes policies which allow for off-site 
greenspace improvements to compensate for the loss of existing greenspace.  This approach 
which will need to be applied in bringing this site forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals 
are adopted in their current form.   

Site 14 - Brooklands Drive 
The former brownfield site  slopes from Brooklands Drive towards Brooklands Avenue , The 
site represents a unique opportunity to create a development that integrates positively with its 
surroundings and which takes advantage of topography and views. The site contains very few 
landscape features. In the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is allocated for 
housing (HG2-95) 

P
age 165



Page 16 

 Development Opportunities 

Site 15 – Acre Road South Site 16 – Tivoli Building, Acre Road 

Site 17 – Acre Road North Site 18 – Middleton Park Road 

Site 15 - Parkway Close 
This is a cleared housing site with the exception of a block of town houses located on Parkway 
Close. Historically the site was split in to two separate sites accessed independently from 
Parkway Close and Brooklands Garth. The site is surrounded on all sides by housing. The site 
has been the subject of a previous outline planning permission for residential development 
(Application no.10/02225/LA ). In the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is identified 
for housing (HG1-225). 

Site 16 – Blencarn Road and Vale and Brooklands Avenue 
This cleared site slopes gradually from Brooklands Avenue towards South Parkway with further  
cross falls from east to west. Part of the site is currently used as open space. Tree 
planting within the site is limited although there is a distinct group of  trees that lie to the north of  
the existing bungalows. The site is bordered by mainly housing to the west and north, housing and 
a parade of shops to the east and housing and a children’s centre to the south. The main part of 
the site has been the subject of a previous outline planning permission for residential development 
(Application no.10/02225/LA). In the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the site is partly 
allocated for housing (HG1-226 and HG2-96). 

 

Site 17 - Brooklands Avenue/Lambrigg Crescent 
This sloping backland greenfield site is surrounded by housing and can be accessed 
from Lambrigg Crescent. It lies in close proximity to the Black shops located on South 
Parkway. In the Leeds Unitary Development Plan the site is allocated as greenspace 
which is replicated in the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan. The adopted Core 
Strategy includes policies which allow for off-site greenspace improvements to 
compensate for the loss of existing greenspace.  This approach which will need to be 
applied in bringing this site forward, if the Site Allocation Plan proposals are adopted in 
their current form.   

Site 18 – York Road/South Parkway 
This important gateway site in to Seacroft includes the  former York Road highway depot and 
occupies a prominent position at the junction of York Road and South Parkway.  The site lies 
adjacent to the Seacroft Conservation Area and any development will need to be carefully 
designed to be respectful of its character.  The surviving gatehouse should be retained and 
integrated within the development. Several mature trees feature within the site. The site is 
surrounded by housing to the north and east and open space to the west and south. Part of the 
site is unallocated and part allocated for greenspace in the Leeds UDP Review. In the 
Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the main part of the site is allocated for housing (HG2-94) 
with the remainder allocated as greenspace. The adopted Core Strategy includes policies which 
allow for off-site greenspace improvements to compensate for the loss of existing greenspace.  
This approach which will need to be applied in bringing this site forward, if the Site Allocation 
Plan proposals are adopted in their current form.   

P
age 166



Page 17 

 Development Opportunities 

Site 19 – Stank Hall, New Hall and Stank Hall Barn 

Site 22 – Manor Farm Rise 

Site 19 - Moresdale Lane 
This rectangular sloping previously developed site is bounded by housing to the north 
and south, Seacroft Gardens recreation area to the east and a church to the west, The 
site is bereft of any landscape features. In the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan the 
site is allocated for housing (HG2-97). 

 

 

Site 20– Seacroft Hospital 
This large site is located to the rear of Seacroft Hospital and is owned by the Homes and 
Community Agency. Mainly grassland the site includes hospital buildings. The site could 
deliver in excess of 700 dwellings, although if a school is built, this figure would be reduced 
to circa 500 dwellings. The Leeds UDP Review allocates the site for housing (H3-2A.04) 
which is replicated in the Publication Draft Site Allocations Plan (HG1-296). 
 

© Copyright Bluesky Interna onal Limited and Infoterra Limited, 2009 P
age 167



Page 18 

Economy 

Economy 
 
For an area to be sustainable it should be accessible, have a good range of shops and facilities which meet local needs and provide 
local employment opportunities. Given that Killingbeck and Seacroft  are suburbs set within the context of a larger city, requirements 
will be met  mainly outside of the area but they must be effectively connected so that residents from the area have easy access. 
 
Retail 
 
Seacroft has a vibrant commercial centre with the largest concentration of shops at the Seacroft Town Centre which is anchored by 
Tesco Extra. This centre serves as a popular destination for shopping for both residents living in and outside the area. Opportunities 
that would help to diversify the range of shops in this centre would be supported.   
 
Anchored by  Asda and B&Q stores Killingbeck retail park ,which is located off York Road, also serves the area. 
 
There are other freestanding food stores within the area notably Aldi and Farm Foods and a number of smaller shopping parades that 
include convenience stores that cater for day to day needs shopping. 
 
Neighbourhood shops 
 
There are a number of smaller parades of shops located across the area that are performing well. These include the  parade of shops 
on Cross Gates Road, “Black Shops” on South parkway, Dib Lane shops and Ramshead Hill shops. There may be further opportunities 
to invest in these smaller parades to sustain them in the future. For one of the existing parades at Ramshead Hill there is an  
opportunity to explore future changes to the parade alongwith the adjacent former Gate public house to maximise wider regeneration  
benefits for the area. 
 
Leisure 
 
Other than ‘green’ leisure, people have to travel out of the area for leisure purposes. The nearest leisure centre is at Fearnville  
which lies to the west of the area. Options to improve leisure centre provision are being considered by the Council.  
 
Training and Employment 
 
Agencies already work hard to provide a range of training opportunities and support to residents in the area to get them ready for work.  
This work will continue, and will be complemented by the range of proposals which aim to make it easier for people to commute to jobs.  
The process of up-skilling must be linked to emerging development proposals in the area as well as outside the area in particular the 
Leeds City Enterprise Zone, Thorpe Park and BUPA hospital on Coal Road. 

Aerial of Seacroft District Centre 

Black Shops 

Thorpe Park 

P
age 168



Page 19 

Recreation and Greenspace 
Open Space, Public Realm and  Play Areas 
 
The framework has identified as a priority the need to improve the quality of existing greenspaces in the 
area which received widespread support from consultation with local people. These improvements will be 
complemented by new greenspace provision arising from the housing developments with the focus on 
achieving enhanced network connectivity of spaces that will help to strengthen the area’s identity and char-
acter and contribute to the great sense of community that the area possesses.   
 
Open Space, public realm and play facilities are important to ensuring the long term sustainability of an   
area. The preparation of this framework provides an opportunity to review the provision of these facilities 
so that they are more accessible and better quality. The key areas for investment will be The Rein, 
Seacroft Gardens, Wyke Beck Valley including connections to these areas of open space. 
 
Public open space that is well designed, well maintained, clean, safe and accessible can provide areas for 
appreciating wildlife as well as enjoying sport and recreation.  The importance of providing good quality 
green space should not be underestimated as it can benefit people’s physical and mental wellbeing. Good 
quality greenspace in Killingbeck and Seacroft will make a key contribution towards Leeds being the best 
city for health and wellbeing. 
 
A well connected network of good quality public green spaces can provide walking and cycling routes  
forming part of an environmentally friendly transport system as well as making a valuable contribution to 
the environmental biodiversity of the area. Private and semi-private garden space form part of the green 
space network in a locality adding further value to the biodiversity of the area.  New housing development 
should consider a garden’s orientation and design in order to maximise solar gain, encouraging people to 

Views of  Wyke Beck  

Child Friendly  
 
People generally thought that quality provision for play was needed in the area to cater for children and young 
teenagers. One key consideration in the provision and design of play facilities is the security and management as 
there has been a historical problem with new play areas being vandalised and removed soon after installation. 
Suggestions included play areas that could be locked up at times they were less likely to be used (such as eve-
nings) or CCTV installation to monitor activity . 
 
Continuing to involve the community in the type of play area provided and the location is key to ensure a sense of 
ownership and a reduction in vandalism that may have led to disrepair in the past.  The provision of a multi games 
play area (MUGA) facility at Seacroft Gardens  to complement the activities that take place from the Denis Healey 
centre will be an important asset to the area. 

New  MUGA  planned for Seacroft Gardens 

Outdoor Gym and Trim Trail 
 
There is an opportunity to provide outdoor gym equipment as part of a play area. The benefit of an 
outdoor gym is that they are free to use and accessible for all, young and old alike. Installation of 
such a facility in Seacroft Gardens would further promote the use of the local park and help people 
towards leading a healthier lifestyle. 

Denis Healey Centre Playing 
Field Consultation 

P
age 169



Page 20 

Recreation and Greenspace 

Gateways 
 
‘Gateways’ help give a sense of arrival to somewhere and can take various forms from just a simple sign, to 
landscaping, to a sculpture that reflects an area’s past. A number of gateway opportunities throughout Killingbeck 
and Seacroft are identified which local community groups could take ownership of and develop into small projects 
potentially eligible for arts based grants. The gateways will help identify the distinctive areas of Killingbeck and 
Seacroft and further promote the sense of community and pride that people take in the area in which they live. 

Tree Lined Streets 
 
Extending the use of street trees on North and South Parkway will help to develop the areas distinctiveness. There is further 
scope to extend this concept in other areas where new housing is proposed to help soften the appearance of new housing and 
retain the area’s green character. There are numerous benefits associated to having trees lining our streets: 
 

 Health – help to reduce pollution in the air; 

 Climate – shade and shelter from trees means that energy can be saved on heating and cooling buildings.  
Branches and leaves can slow the rate at which rainwater hits the ground preventing flash flooding; 

 Crime – presence of greenery can reduce acts of anti-social behaviour; 

 Economy – people are attracted to live, work or invest in Belle Isle and Middleton because of the ‘Garden City 
Suburb’ feel; 

 Housing – house prices can increase where a property is associated with nearby mature trees; 

 Community – the presence of trees can help build on the pride for the area that already exists;  

The species of street trees selected must have a root growth pattern which will not cause future damage to paved    
highway surfaces. Root protection may also be needed to prevent root ingress into existing services. 
 
Development and Greenspace 
 
The numerous areas of greenspace throughout Killingbeck and Seacroft area means that the provision of additional 
green space as part of new development may not always be necessary, as this introduces small parcels of difficult to 
manage greenspace rather than complementing and enhancing to the network of existing provision. 
 
Qualitative improvements to existing greenspace provision through contributions from the redevelopment of the sites 
could maximise regeneration benefits across the area. 

Tree lined  North Parkway 

Arthurs Rein 

P
age 170



Page 21 

Connections 

Transport and connectivity 
For Killingbeck and Seacroft to become more sustainable, good connections need to be created across 
the  area and beyond. Seacroft already has a bus station at the District Centre which benefits from reg-
ular bus services to the city centre, pedestrian and cycle routes across the area including cycle paths 
through Wyke Beck, however, residents want to see further improvements to help them get to nearby 
facilities and employment centres. 

 
The option of building a new road to link between North Parkway with South Parkway around the David 
Young Community Academy site which could also become a bus route will improve connectivity across 
the estate. 
 
 
Pedestrian and Cycle routes 
Walking and cycling offers one of the easiest ways to get around the local area. However, the condition 
of the paving and the absence of lower kerbs means that getting around the area in particularly for push 
chairs and mobility scooters is difficult. Investing in the infrastructure of the area with some ‘low cost’ 
improvements supported be development schemes will help to make this easier.   
 
It will be important that new housing sites are designed to be cycle and pedestrian friendly and that new 
routes link in to the wider established network. 

Leeds-Bradford cycle super highway 

Seacroft Bus Station 

P
age 171



Page 22 

Connections 

New Generation Transport 
The New Generation Transport (NGT) scheme aims to provide a high quality, fast frequent service using state of 
the art electric trolley buses.  The initial route is proposed from Holt Park to Stourton. However, in the future there 
may be scope to extend the NGT line to cover the eastern side of the City which would bring significant economic 
regeneration benefits to the area. The introduction of NGT to East Leeds could provide important opportunities for 
bus services to feed into this network, making it easy to use for residents in Killingbeck and Seacroft. 

Public Transport 
 
Bus services from Killingbeck and Seacroft into Leeds City Centre are frequent and reliable. However, users express concerns 
that there is no direct service to Crossgates from north or south Seacroft, Seacroft or LGI hospitals and Sunday service 
is poor. Work must be undertaken with transport providers to address these issues to ensure that residents have a service 
which they can rely on. 
 
The area is also not served by any direct services to Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone or Thorpe Park making it difficult for 
residents to access new job opportunities in these areas. 
 
The re-tasking of services to provide links is critical to the success of the area, by broadening training and employment 
opportunities for local residents.   
 
The development of new housing will help to improve the viability of existing bus services and the creation of new ones to major 
employment growth areas. The opportunity for community transport provision should be explored for such routes or as a ‘dial 
up’ service at a lower cost than taxi fares. 
 
The East Leeds Transport Strategy includes outlines the priorities for investment in East Leeds over the short, medium and long 
term that would benefit the framework area. York Road public transport corridor 

P
age 172



Page 23 

Connections 

Road Improvements 
 
People have expressed concern about the state of the roads and the backlog of repairs to potholes.  
 
Speeding was seen as a particular issue by residents with many wanting to see further traffic calming 
measures introduced.  Design solutions to address specific problems will need to be explored by the Local 
highway Authority to improve road and pedestrian safety across the area 
 
Traffic passing through the area is seen as an issue by many residents.  This has increased as the Ring 
Road and York Road have become busier.  The East Leeds Extension and East Leeds Orbital Route pro-
posals are intended to mitigate this issue by re-diverting traffic away from the Ring Road offering the oppor-
tunity to downgrade the Ring Road and improve pedestrian crossing points and connectivity between the 
communities of Whinmoor, Swarcliffe and Seacroft. The orbital road is not expected to be fully open until the 
early 2020’s.  

Continuing to increase road safety in the area is a priority 

P
age 173



Page 24 

Community  

Community Buildings and Action 

Killingbeck and Seacroft have a rich social history. The areas have a strong sense of community and 
residents have pride in where they live. There is a strong community desire to further improve the area 
and there are many ways that local residents can get involved. 
 
 
Community Facilities and Buildings 
There are a wide range of community services in Killingbeck and Seacroft operating from dedicated 
premises  that serve the current population. The Denis Healey Centre  is one such centre that provides 
a wide range of activities for different age groups including  After School Club, Street Works Soccer, 
Junior and Senior Youth Club, Health and Fitness Classes etc. Whilst many of the buildings are valued 
there may be the opportunity to rationalise the number of community buildings by encouraging joint 
service delivery and co-location to utilise remaining  buildings more efficiently.  Some buildings may 
lend themselves more than others to redevelopment because of their proximity to the development 
sites identified within this document or to established district centres. 
 
 
GP Services 
Residents feel that there is not enough doctors and dentists in the area especially if you consider the 
scale of new housing  proposed. GP provision for the area will need to be carefully considered by  
the health commissioning bodies to ensure future demand is met 
 
 

 
 

The Methodist  Chapel 

Seacroft  Library David Young Academy 

P
age 174



Page 25 

Community 

Youth Provision 
The Denis Healey centre is a vibrant community hub wihich provides lots of activities catering for different age groups within the community. The intention is to 
further broaden its appeal by publicising the events that take place and offering arrange of  activities that are tailored to the local community needs. To address 
the needs of younger people  there are plans to invest in a new multi use games area (MUGA) with associated, CCTV/Floodlighting  on Seacroft Gardens  
linked to the Denis Healey Centre.  
 
Play Areas 
As part of the Seacroft Gardens refurbishment  there are also proposals to introduce outdoor gym equipment  and younger play facilities. The quality of 
children’s play areas in the area is one of the key issues flagged up by local residents given the previous vandalism of the previous equipment in the same 
location. In addition it is proposed to promote The Rein as a family park during the school holidays engaging the local school s and  nearby children’s centre. 
 
 
 

Child Friendly 
Expected population growth, alongside the development of new houses will put more pressure on nursery and childcare provision, as well as primary and 
secondary schools. Opportunities to expand existing schools are already being addressed and new schools may be required.   
 
Schools in particular, need to be well placed with good access and measures in place to limit the impact on local residents particularly at the beginning and end 
of the school day.  There is also scope to locate schools close to existing playing pitches to make more efficient use of these facilities through the week and 
reduce the amount of land take a new school requires.  

Image of Denis Healey Centre  

P
age 175



Page 26 

Delivery and Implementation 

Delivery 
There framework adopts two delivery approaches: investment in new buildings such as houses and other investment in green infrastructure such as  greenspace improvements and connections.  

Investment in new buildings 
The majority of the housing sites set out in this framework are owned by Leeds City Council. The City Council will market the sites in a coordinated way to make sure that development and it’s 
impact is phased across the area and that it delivers the type of investment which is required at the time. 
 
Some land in the area is privately owned. Where this is the case the Council will seek to enter into discussions with land owners to discuss the opportunities for their land and the wider vision 
and aspirations for the area.  This has been the case with the Homes and Community Agency and their development proposals for the Seacroft Hospital site 
 

Other Investment and changes 
Developers are required to pay planning contributions as part of any new development, to cover the cost of works without which the development would not be supported or its full benefits might not 
be realised.  At present these contributions are called S106 obligations but in the future some will  be made under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
 
Contributions can be for open space and public realm improvements, the creation or enhancements to new footpaths, playing pitches, play areas, changes or improvements to public transport 
services, schools and finally to ensure the delivery of the right number of affordable houses. Equally, S106 agreements can also be used to ensure that jobs and training opportunities are made 
available to local people in the first instance. 
 
The Council will be reviewing its buildings in the area to make sure that its assets are well used and in a good condition to be sustained in the long term.  This may mean some difficult decisions are 
made and it will be essential that these are worked through with any affected organisations and community groups to ensure that they can continue their work. 

Community Action 
Local residents can become more involved in directly improving their neighbourhood.  There are a number of small-scale open space improvements identified which local groups could take forward 
to create community gardens or allotments. Some organisations such as Groundwork offer small pots of grant funding to support this type of work which community groups may be able to bid for if 
they develop proposals that meet the funding criteria. 
 
There is also an active Neighbourhood Planning Forum that the Council will continue to work with in developing their Neighbourhood Plan for Seacroft. 
 P

age 176



Page 27 

Delivery and Implementation 

Funding 

 
 
Financial contributions from new development in the 
Killingbeck and Seacroft area will be used to pay for 
some of the open space and connectivity improvements 
set out in the framework and proposals plan. 
 
Equally, more significant developments in adjoining    
areas will also be expected to contribute to the            
improvements identified in this framework, to ensure 
that residents in the area can commute to new jobs    
either as a pedestrian or by public transport.  They will 
also be expected to make commitments to utilise local 
labour.  
 
The identification of particular proposals in this          
document will help to support grant applications to    
funding bodies should money be made available for 
open space and public realm projects. If applications are 
successful this funding could be matched with any 
developer and private sector contributions to maximise 
the impact of schemes. 
 
Overall, the private sector will play a key role in          
delivering the proposals in this framework. 

Step 1 - Planning approval for new development 

Step 2 - Community Infrastructure Levy 

Step 3 - Construction on site utilising local labour where     
possible 

Step 4 - Local Greenspace Improvements 

P
age 177



Page 28 

Delivery and Implementation 

Shopping List of Improvements to be delivered with the assistance of contributions 
from new development: 
 

 

 

 

 Play areas – investment in accessible play facilities for children of differ-
ent age groups;  

 Outdoor Gym – provision of accessible and free to use outdoor gym 
equipment to help residents towards leading a healthier lifestyle; 

  Greenspace improvements – investment in local parks, greenspace  

    connectivity with particular focus on The Rein, Seacroft Gardens, Wyke    
 Beck Valley; 

 Traffic calming –  investment in making roads within the area safe; 

 Bus services – Re-task services to create direct links to adjoining areas                                
in particularly the Leeds City Region Enterprise Zone and Thorpe Park. 

 Road improvements – creation of new road link between South Parkway 
and Asket Avenue; 

Site No. Site Name Location Site Size 
(ha) 

Suitable Develop-
ment Use 

1 Kentmere Avenue Seacroft  0.26 Housing 

2 Ramshead Drive Seacroft  0.86 Housing 

3 Barncroft Close Seacroft 0.54 Housing 

4 Ramshead Approach Seacroft 3.51 Housing 

5 Asket Drive North Seacroft 0.82  Housing 

6 Asket Drive South Seacroft 3.12  Housing 

7 Former Asket Hill Primary Seacroft 5.4 Housing 

8 Boggart Hill Road Seacroft 0.30  Housing 

9 Kentmere Approach Seacroft 4.33  Housing 

10 Asket Avenue Seacroft 0.64  Housing 

11 Seacroft Crescent North Seacroft 1.52 Housing 

12 Seacroft Crescent South Seacroft 1.53  Mixed use 

13 Bishop’s Way Seacroft 5.61  Housing/School 

14 Brooklands Drive Seacroft 1.58 Housing 

15 Parkway Close Seacroft 1.23 Housing 

16 Blencarn Road Seacroft 6.85 Housing 

17 Brooklands Avenue/ Seacroft  0.53 Housing 

18 York Road/South Parkway Seacroft  1.12 Housing 

19 Moresdale Lane Seacroft  0.39 Housing 

20 Seacroft Hospital Killingbeck  26.84 Housing/School 

    Total  66.98   

P
age 178



P
age 179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Regeneration 

 
Lead person: Mark Mills 
 

Contact number: 0113 2476241 

 
1. Title:  Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Briefly, the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood Framework provides direction 
for deploying potential investment resources created by the sale of land for new 
housing, supporting wider regeneration activity. 
 
The Framework has been prepared to set out the investment and development 
opportunities to help do this, building on the good work already done and 
complementing the strong local partnership working to improve all aspects of the 
area.  It sets out where new houses could be built, improvements and changes to 
greenspace, and the potential for better local facilities. 
   
The framework is now complete following consultation and final approval is now 
being sought from Leeds City Council’s Executive Board at its meeting on 21 
October 2015. 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 181



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2

Executive Board is asked to: 
 

 note the contents of this report and  
 

 approve the final document. 
 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
 
 

X 
X 
 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  

Page 182



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3

 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
Edci screenings have been completed to support the consultation phase in January 2015 
in support of the Executive Board report. Actions to be taken to mitigate potential 
discrimination as proposals emerge included further selective consultation in the summer 
2015 

This most recent consultation was designed to reach out parents with young children 
across the neighbourhood with events taking place in two neighbourhood parks in the 
Seacroft area. From the feedback there was broad support for the Framework and in 
particular the approach of prioritising investment into existing greenspaces and improving 
greenspace connectivity across the estate rather than creating new areas of greenspace 
The key emphasis was on improving the image, range of children facilities and security at 
the neighbourhood parks.  Traffic management and traffic calming are also considered a 
key priority across the estate to improve safety and the local environment. 

Subject to Executive Board approval for the Framework, detailed consultation on specific 
proposals as they come forward will take place with residents.  
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Next stage consultation, for individual projects and proposals, will come forward from 
developers bringing forward development sites as part of the planning process.  
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Housing 
Proposed housing developments will require planning consent including a consideration 
of affordable housing requirements in line with Leeds City Council policy.  This will 
include housing market assessment data and will consider the housing needs of equality 
groups in the neighbourhood context.   
 
Engagement and consultation; and integrating communities 
The principle of working with existing community networks is perceived as the most likely 
to involve as wide a range of people as possible.  
 
Factors that might impact on community cohesion as new residents in different tenures 
arrive will be explicitly considered and action plans derived in response to perceived risk. 
 

Page 183



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4

Next steps, assuming Executive Board and any consequent Community Committee  
approvals 
 
Development proposals 
Engagement will be managed in line with normal planning processes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Mark Mills  Project Manager 24/9/15 
 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screenings should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed 24th September 2015 

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 184



 Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Design and Cost Report for Acquisition of Tribeca House, Deacon House 
and Unit 2 Killingbeck Court for Council Accommodation

Capital scheme number: 32441 / 32442 / 32443

Are specific electoral wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of ward(s):  

City & Hunslet and Killingbeck & Seacroft

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 10.4(3)

Appendix number:  4

Summary of main issues 

1. This report is put forward in the context of the Best Council Plan 2015-20, specifically 
‘becoming  a more efficient and enterprising council’, through acquisition of buildings 
which will deliver revenue savings contributing towards the Medium Term Financial 
Plan’s asset savings target of £4m by March 2017.  The proposals with the report 
would also contribute to the objective of ‘supporting communities and tackling poverty’ 
through enabling the creation of a Community Hub in Seacroft.

2. The Council’s Asset Management Team is working closely with services across all 
directorates to deliver asset efficiencies, either through defined projects and 
programmes, or via moves of teams to deliver service improvements.  Over the past 
two financial years £1.46m of savings have been achieved, with a further £4m 
identified for delivery by March 2017.

3. It is proposed to acquire Tribeca House on Roundhay Road, Harehills, a detached 
office building which the Council currently leases-in.  Due to the need to extend the 
existing lease term to fit with the timescales for reoccupation of Merrion House, the 
associated rent implication and the fact the building has recently been put on the 
market for sale a business case to acquire has been developed which would deliver 
savings to the Council.

1

Report author:  Dayle Lynch
Tel:  07891 271325

Page 185

Agenda Item 13



4. Deacon House is a property which sits adjacent to Seacroft Green Shopping Centre 
where the Council currently leases-in a unit for the purpose of providing a 
Neighbourhood Housing Office and One Stop Centre.  The opportunity has arisen to 
purchase Deacon House with 50% being vacant and suitable for delivery of a 
Community Hub with a consolidated and extended service offer from that currently 
provided in the area.  The proposal would allow hand back of the leased-in unit, as well 
as disposal of Seacroft Library which currently sits remotely from the shopping centre 
and other Council services.

5. Lastly, it is proposed to acquire Unit 2 Killingbeck Court which sits immediately 
adjacent (making up a pair of semi-detached) to Unit 1 Killingbeck Court, already 
owned by the Council.  The acquisition is proposed to enable the Council to hand back 
a leased-in unit at 1 Acorn Business Park, and also provide an essential 
accommodation solution for the Seacroft Integrated Health & Social Care 
Neighbourhood Team.  Through the Integrated Health & Social Care Programme all 
options have been explored to identify an accommodation solution for the Seacroft 
Neighbourhood Team, but unfortunately the size of space required for the 119 staff in 
the team cannot be found within the existing estate portfolio of either the Council or 
Leeds Community Health.  The delivery of a neighbourhood base in Seacroft is 
impacting on the ability to deliver solutions for other neighbourhood teams across the 
city as staff cannot be moved from their current locations until a solution has been 
found and delivered.

Recommendations

6. Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Note the contents of the report, and specifically the progress made to deliver revenue 
savings through asset rationalisation;

ii) Approve the acquisition of Tribeca House on the terms identified in confidential 
appendix 4;

iii) Approve the acquisition of the long lease interest in Deacon House on the terms 
identified in confidential appendix 4, which will provide the Council with the 
unencumbered freehold interest in the site;

iv) Approve the acquisition of Unit 2, Killingbeck Court on the terms identified in 
confidential appendix 4;

v) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to agree the final detailed terms 
for the acquisitions;

vi) Approve the injection of the sums identified in confidential Appendix 4 into the Capital 
Programme and give authority to spend the monies as required;

vii) Approve the ring fencing of the capital receipt from the sale of Seacroft Library site to 
contribute towards the acquisition cost of Deacon House; and

viii)Note that the Head of Asset Management is responsible for the implementation of the 
Asset Review Programme and proposed acquisitions.

2
Page 186



1   Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Executive Board with an updated position on 
work to generate revenue savings from the Council’s asset portfolio, through the 
Asset Review Programme which forms part of the Council’s Asset Management Plan 
2014-17.

1.2 The report also seeks Executive Board approval to the acquisition of three properties 
to achieve revenue savings and support the delivery of three key corporate 
programmes, Asset Review, Integrated Health & Social Care and Community Hubs. 

2   Background information

2.1 Given the significant budget pressures faced by the Council a programme of asset 
rationalisation has been actively pursued over the past two financial years in order to 
achieve £5m of revenue savings by March 2017.  One of the main areas of focus for 
the rationalisation programme has been, wherever possible, to come out of leased-in 
buildings.

2.2 Executive Board has previously considered reports in respect of the asset review in 
July 2013 and October 2014 as part of the report seeking approval of the Council’s 
Asset Management Plan.  These reports outlined the need to improve the efficiency 
of our property portfolio through a programme of selective rationalisation and 
maximising occupation of the retained estate.  As part of these reports Executive 
Board noted the principles of good asset management, this proposal has been 
brought forward in light of these principles and links together three elements which 
are:

 The release of ‘leased-in’ accommodation;

 To bring forward a potential opportunity to support the housing growth and 
regeneration initiatives and other city priorities, as well as possibly realising a 
capital receipt; and

 Having Council staff in good quality accommodation which is fit for purpose, 
in the appropriate location and meets the needs of services and customers.

2.3 Further to the above the Asset Management Plan 2014-17, approved by Executive 
Board in October 2014, sets out ten main areas of focus, specifically relevant to the 
proposal outlined in this report are:

 Asset review and rationalisation;

 Opportunities for community hubs for localities under the Citizens@Leeds 
agenda; and

 Making the Council’s portfolio work better.

3
Page 187



3     Main issues

3.1   Asset Review

3.1.1 Good progress has been made in identifying and delivering asset rationalisation 
opportunities to meet savings targets, with £1.4m achieved over the last two 
financial years and a further £4m identified over the current and next financial 
years.

3.1.2  There has been a specific focus on coming out of ‘leased-in buildings’ whenever 
possible. Within this reporting period 3 buildings have been handed back with a 
further 3 planned by the end of this financial year.  Work to enable release of 2 
significant city centre ‘leased-in’ buildings in now underway, which requires 
increasing capacity within St George House and elements of Civic Hall by adopting 
CtW principles.

3.1.3 The Council’s Strategic Asset Management team is expediting, wherever possible, 
the declaration of sites as surplus where services no longer have an operation 
requirement for retention.  To date 15 sites have been declared surplus this 
financial year, including 8 in this reporting period with a good pipeline of sites to 
follow by March 2016.

3.1.4 Involvement across a breadth of corporate projects and programmes, where asset 
and estate implications exist, continues to be a priority work area for Strategic Asset 
Management.  This is not only in terms of delivering the most appropriate and 
efficient asset solution but also to ensure that requirements are considered in 
totality across the Council rather than in isolation.

3.1.5 The current position on identified potential gross running cost savings is as follows:

September 2015

Savings achieved 2013/14 £418,000

Savings delivered 2014/15 £1,042,000

Total net savings already assumed in service budgets £1,460,000

Savings identified 2015/16 £2,758,000

Savings identified 2016/17 £1,242,000

Total savings 2015/16 and 2016/17 £4,000,000

Deliverable by March 2017  (includes a one off saving of £1.5m from 
Merrion House being temporarily vacated)

£5,460,000

Deliverable 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20 £4,806,000

Total

(Net of the Merrion House £1.5m saving)

£8,766,000

4
Page 188



3.1.6 The Council’s default position on ‘leased-in’ properties is that no leases will be 
renewed except in exceptional circumstances.  Every opportunity to exercise break 
clauses prior to lease expiries will be explored.  Asset Management is proactively 
working to source accommodation solutions for services operating from ‘leased-in’ 
buildings to ensure that break clauses will be exercised and lease expiries met.  
Progress has already been made to significantly reduce the number of ‘leased-in’ 
buildings across the city, and specifically within the city centre where five properties 
have already been released and staff relocated within the Council owned building 
portfolio.

3.1.7 Two ‘leased-in’ buildings have been handed back to the landlord in the last 12 
months: Unit 19 Limewood Approach (Seacroft) and White Rose House 
(Headingley).  Furthermore, the lease for Westfield Chambers (Lower Wortley) has 
been assigned to Aspire as from 15th October 2015 and Library HQ (Hunslet) is due 
to hand back in mid-November 2015.

3.1.8 In addition to the Asset Review Programme, Asset Management is continuing its 
work on key corporate priorities and projects to ensure that estates implications are 
considered, that space is used to maximise efficiency and that opportunities for 
delivering revenue savings are identified wherever possible.  The programmes 
include, amongst others:

 Integrated Health & Social Care;

 Community Hubs;

 One Public Estate;

 Future Refuse Depot Strategy;

 Better Lives Programme;

 Housing Growth;

 Basic Needs;

 Changing the Workplace Phase 1 (city centre);

 Changing the Workplace Phase 2 (localities);

 Community Centre Review;

 Community Asset Transfers; and

 Investment Strategy.

3.2   Tribeca House

3.2.1 Tribeca House was originally leased by the East North East ALMO, as was, which 
took a lease on the building from new in 2003.  Following the Housing function 
being brought back into the Council the building has transferred from the HRA to 
General Fund and used to meet the decant requirement of Merrion House.  

5
Page 189



3.2.2 The building extends to 15,779 square feet, predominantly spread over three floors, 
with a ground floor entrance and parking at ground level.  A site plan is attached at 
Appendix 1. 

3.2.3 The lease on Tribeca House is due to expire in February 2018, a date which is now 
likely to need extending to be coterminous with the timescales for reoccupation of 
Merrion House.

3.2.4 Tribeca House currently accommodates 185 staff, 46 of whom are locality based 
and are not therefore in scope for moving back into Merrion House.  Should the 
Council continue to lease-in Tribeca these staff will need to be accommodated 
elsewhere within inner east Leeds following hand back of the building to the 
landlord.  

3.2.5 There is already significant pressure on office accommodation in inner east Leeds, 
with a number of small buildings identified for rationalisation by March 2017 being 
unable to progress due to the lack of alternative space to move to, e.g. Lavender 
Walk, Woodsley Green and 95 Foundry Avenue.  On this basis it is anticipated that 
post Merrion House reoccupation Tribeca could offer the opportunity to release a 
number of assets in the localities.

3.2.6 Options at this point are to either seek an extension to the current lease term, or 
acquire the building which has recently been placed on the market.  The financial 
implications of acquiring Tribeca are detailed in confidential Appendix 4, under 
section 1.0 of this report.  

3.2.7 As Tribeca House formed part of the decant programme for Merrion House 
investment in the building, via Changing the Workplace, has already taken place 
with all occupants now operating on New Ways of Working.  Acquisition of the 
building would therefore ensure this investment is not lost over the medium term, 
and also has the benefit of meaning no further investment to bring the 
accommodation up to Changing the Workplace standard would be necessary. 

3.2.8 The building is ideally located for both, inner east and inner north east staff, as well 
as being in close proximity to the city centre, it would therefore be a suitable long 
term acquisition to house locality staff in the north of the city and allow other 
buildings to be released in the future.  Asset Management is confident that Tribeca 
could be fully occupied following any movements out of existing occupants into the 
New Merrion House.

3.3   Deacon House

3.3.1 Housing Leeds currently leases in Unit 8 Seacroft Green Shopping Centre for the 
purpose of accommodating the north Seacroft Housing Management team, as well 
as delivering front facing housing services.  Alongside this a One Stop Centre 
(OSC) and Post Office Counter service also operate from the unit.

3.3.2 In addition to the above services operated out of Unit 8, the Council also has a 
community library, based to the rear of the shopping centre, in a building used 
solely for this purpose.

6
Page 190



3.3.3 Ward Members, as part of discussions on both the Asset Review and Community 
Hub programmes, have highlighted the need to maintain front facing services in this 
locality, and have suggested the use of Deacon House be investigated.

3.3.4 Deacon House is located on the boundary of Seacroft Shopping Centre, close to 
the bus station and providing good access for the public by vehicle, public transport 
and pedestrian routes.  A plan of the site is attached as Appendix 2.  

3.3.5 The offers approximate 17,000ft² split equally over two floors in two wings.  The 
East wing is leased to Leeds City College and the area available for the Council to 
occupy extends to 8,500ft² in the West wing, split over ground and first floors.

3.3.6 The Council owns the site freehold, with c.65 years unexpired on the head lease 
which is on a peppercorn rent.

3.3.7 Leeds City College occupies the ground and first floors of the east wing (8,852ft²).  
In July 2015 the college signed a five year full repairing and insuring lease with 
service charge, which would provide a revenue stream to the Council.  Leeds City 
College may, at the end of their current lease term or at lease-break points decide 
to withdraw from the site.  Should this be the case the Council could look at either 
bringing in another tenant(s), including public or third sector partners, or looking at 
options for occupying the space itself which could enable release of other assets 
elsewhere.

3.3.8 The property is well located to meet both the Council’s current and future service 
which the Council may wish to bring forward through either the existing building or 
redeveloped site.  It has good road and public transport links; ideal space for 
dedicated front facing service delivery; offers opportunity to expand on services 
currently delivered in the area; and synergies with partners (Leeds City College).   

3.3.9 Heads of Services from Citizens & Communities, Housing Management and Library 
Services have viewed the property and confirm it would meet all the locality needs 
in terms of delivering front facing services and back office provision.

3.3.10 Unit 8 Seacroft Green Shopping Centre is leased-in with an expiry in October 2017.  
The cost of the lease is charged to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), with 
contributions paid by Citizens & Communities and Post Office in respect of space 
used to provide their services.  Should a move to Deacon House go ahead there 
would be a reversed arrangement in terms of the HRA being charged for use of 
space by HRA funded staff.

3.3.11 The unit is suffering from over occupation with cramped conditions for staff who are 
doubling and tripling up on the use of desk space on the first floor.  It lacks staff 
meeting rooms, as well as adequate welfare facilities and storage for essential 
housing files which delays response time to OSC customers.

3.3.12 The Council sub-lets space within the OSC to The Post Office, for the purposes of 
this proposal it is assumed for the moment that the Post Office will move with the 
One Stop Centre, although confirmation is awaited on this.

7
Page 191



3.3.13 Should the acquisition proposal progress the Council’s Land & Property service will 
be asked to negotiate an early surrender to the lease at Unit 8.  It is anticipated 
Deacon House would be ready for occupation in mid-2016, there will therefore be 
over 12 months to run of the existing lease of Unit 8. 

3.3.14 The Library Service has a long time aspiration to review the library provision and 
relocate closer to the district centre, which hasn’t been achievable to date due to 
the lack of suitable property within Council ownership.

3.3.15 The library has a backlog maintenance requirement of c.£136k.

3.3.16 The proposal to relocate the library to Deacon House would enable the existing 
library site, along with cleared land immediately to the south and the site of the East 
Leeds Labour Club (a leased-out property to the west), to be included within a 
potential development site known as Seacroft Crescent South.  A Neighbourhood 
Framework is currently being prepared for Killingback and Seacroft, including the 
area around the library site.

3.3.17 In addition, it is anticipated that Deacon House could help support the release of a 
further leased-in building, Navigation House, which is currently occupied by c.200 
staff who would need to be found alternative accommodation. 

3.4   Unit 2 Killingbeck Court 

3.4.1 The Council has for over ten years occupied, under lease, Unit 1 Acorn Business 
Park (2,400ft²).  The current lease expired in November 2014, since when the 
Council has been holding over, pending alternative accommodation being identified 
for the staff based at the unit.

3.4.2 In 2009 the Council acquired Unit 1 Killingbeck Court, a new office unit adjacent to 
Unit 1 Acorn Business Park, for the purpose of decanting Adult Social Care staff 
from the Roundhay Road Social Services site.  Unit 1 and Unit 2 being a pair of 
adjoining semi-detached buildings. 

3.4.3 A 5,000ft² unit at 2 Killingbeck Court, as shown on site plan at Appendix 3, has now 
come to the market with vacant possession. 

3.4.4 The current occupants of the leased-in Unit 1 Acorn Business Park form part of the 
Integrated Health programme, therefore identification of an accommodation solution 
in the Seacroft locality is necessary to confirm their future work base.

3.4.5 Staff from across Council and LCH health and social care teams, currently based at 
various locations throughout the city, need to be brought together to operate from 
one main base in the Seacroft area.  Due to the configuration of the new teams and 
where staff will be coming from, there is no capacity space in the Seacroft area, 
either in the Council or LCH’s estate portfolios, to create the required 
accommodation.

3.4.6 Options at this point are to either enter into a new lease term in respect of Unit 1 
Acorn Business Park, or acquire Unit 2 Killingbeck Court.  The financial implications 
of acquiring Unit 2 are detailed in confidential Appendix 4.  

8
Page 192



3.4.7 Unit 1 Acorn Business Park is a non-Changing the Workplace building, and as such 
if a new lease on the building were the preferred option, there would be some 
investment works required to introduce New Ways of Working.  This would include 
provision of CtW furniture and equipment at about half the cost to that estimated for 
Unit 2 Killingbeck Court, detailed with confidential Appendix 4. 

3.4.8 The Council could, in acquiring Unit 2 Killingbeck Court, enable the release of a 
leased-in property, which it is currently holding over as the lease expired in 
November 2014.  It will also, further down the line, enable either, or both the 
Council and LCH to release additional buildings once the cumulative impact of the 
staff movements under the Integrated Health programme are realised.

3.4.9 The acquisition would also expand the Council’s portfolio of owned, fit for purpose, 
office accommodation in this area of the city, in effect creating a mini social care 
campus with Unit 1 Killingbeck Court and Kernel House.

4     Corporate considerations

4.1   Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1 The Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport & Planning has been consulted 
on the acquisitions detailed in this report and is supportive of the proposals. 

4.1.2 The proposed acquisitions have been supported by the Finance Performance 
Group, chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive.

4.1.3 Asset Management Board has been consulted and has supported the proposed 
acquisitions.

4.1.4 Specifically in regard to Deacon House Ward Members have supported the 
proposition through discussions with both Asset Management on the asset review 
programme and Citizens & Communities on the Community Hub programme.  The 
proposal has also been supported by Citizens & Communities, Housing Leeds and 
Library Services.

4.2   Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

4.2.1 An equality screening exercise has been carried out and the outcome is a full 
impact assessment is not required as there are no impacts on equality for the 
approvals requested.  The screening document is attached at appendix 5.

4.3   Council policies and the best council plan

4.3.1 The work of the Asset Review Programme, including the acquisitions proposed 
within this report, will support the Best Council Plan 2015-20 objectives of 
‘becoming a more efficient and enterprising council’ and ‘supporting communities 
and tackling poverty’.

4.3.2 The proposal also supports the Council’s value of spending money wisely, through 
the release of leased-in buildings and the generation of revenue savings.

9
Page 193



4.3.3 Specifically in relation to the proposed acquisition of Deacon House this fits with the 
delivery of the ‘providing more accessible and integrated services’ proposition under 
the Citizens@Leeds agenda, as agreed by Executive Board in June 2013.

4.3.4 The work of the Integrated Health & Social Care and Community Hub programmes 
is in line with Leeds’ involvement in the One Public Estate programme, working 
across public sector partners to make more efficient use of the public estate through 
co-location and integrated services.

4.3.5 All three proposed acquisitions will also contribute towards the Council’s aim of 
having a modern and fit for purpose estate, with Changing the Workplace principles 
to be applied throughout.

4.4   Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Details of the proposed acquisition costs are provided in confidential Appendix 4.

4.4.2 The net position on all three proposed acquisitions would be to generate revenue 
savings to the Council, as detailed in the confidential appendix which will contribute 
towards the £2 million Asset Rationalisation Savings Target over the next financial 
year.       

4.5   Legal implications, access to information and call-in

4.5.1 The Executive Board has authority to discharge any function in relation to the 
management of land, (including valuation, acquisition, appropriation, disposal and 
any other dealings with land or interest in land) and Asset Management.

4.5.2 The information in confidential Appendix 4 attached to this report relates to the 
financial or business affairs of a particular of a particular person and the Council.  
This information is not publicly available from the statutory registers of information 
kept in respect of certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since this 
information relates to a financial offer that the Council has submitted to purchase 
the property in a one to one negotiation it is not in the public interest to disclose this 
information at this point in time.  Also it is considered that the release of such 
information would or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests 
in relation to other similar transactions in that prospective purchasers of other 
similar properties would have access to information about the nature and level of 
consideration which may prove acceptable to the Council.  It is considered that 
whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be 
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this transaction 
and consequently the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing this information at this point in time. It is therefore 
considered that this element of the report should be treated as exempt under Rule 
10.4.3 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

4.5.3 The Head of Land & Property confirms that in his opinion the figure offered is a fair 
market value for this leasehold interest.

10
Page 194



4.6   Risk management

  Tribeca House

4.6.1 Should the Council acquire Tribeca House there is a risk that post Merrion House 
reoccupation there will be space within the building for which there is no in-house 
requirement for.  As previously detailed Asset Management is confident that such is 
demand for good quality office accommodation in this area that filling vacant space 
will not be an issue.  There are several potential opportunities to use such space to 
enable release of other locality based assets.

Deacon House

4.6.2 As the lease on Unit 8 does not expire until October 2017 there is the risk that the 
landlord will not accept an early surrender.

4.6.3 Should Deacon House not be acquired the only option to maintain front facing 
services in the area will be to continue leasing in a unit at the Tesco shopping 
centre.  This will mean that there is no opportunity to consolidate the library and 
OSC, therefore either the library building will require investing in to bring up to an 
acceptable standard or an alternative approach to delivery of the service will be 
required. 

4.6.4 There is a risk that the Post Office may not wish to relocate with the OSC to Deacon 
House, should this transpire there will be a loss of income, as detailed in 
confidential Appendix 4.  

Unit 2 Killingbeck Court

4.6.5 The lease term at Unit 1 Acorn Business Park expired in November 2014, since 
which time the Council has been holding over.  The business park has recently 
been acquired by a new owner who is actively marketing available space, including 
Unit 1 as the Council has indicated it does not wish to enter into a new lease 
agreement.  This creates a significant risk that the landlord could at any time serve 
4 weeks’ notice to vacate the building, with no identified solution for the staff on site, 
other than the purchase of Unit 2, Killingbeck Court.

4.6.6 Should the acquisition go ahead and at some point in the future the site wholly, or in 
part, become vacant then the Council can look to consolidate further its estate by 
moving staff from other buildings into Unit 2, releasing site(s) for disposal.

5     Conclusions

5.1 A significant amount of work has been undertaken over the last three years to deliver 
£1.46m of asset savings, with a further £4m forecast to be achieved by March 2017.

5.2 The three proposed acquisitions will contribute further revenue savings as detailed in 
confidential appendix 4.

5.3 The accommodation at all three locations will be fitted out to Changing the Workplace 
standard, ensuring the properties are used to maximum efficiency.

11
Page 195



5.4 There is a corporate drive to deliver accommodation solutions, in the Seacroft & 
Killingbeck ward, for the Integrated Health & Social care and Community Hub 
programmes.  The proposed acquisitions of Unit 2 Killingbeck Court and Deacon 
House support this, enabling service improvements as well as generating an overall 
revenue saving to the Council.

Tribeca House

5.5 If the acquisition of Tribeca were not to progress then the Council would need to seek 
a two year extension to the current lease term to allow for the shift in Merrion 
House’s redevelopment programme.  

5.6 Tribeca House is already operating under New Ways of Working as a result of being  
part of the Merrion House decant programme.

Deacon House

5.7 The proposed acquisition of Deacon gives the only identified solution to enable 
creation of a Community Hub in the north Seacroft area.

5.8 The acquisition of Deacon House would enable release of a leased-in unit at Seacroft 
Green Shopping Centre and a Council owned site currently accommodating the 
Seacroft Library.  Should the acquisition not progress release of neither sites would 
be achievable.  

Unit 2 Killingbeck Court

5.9 If the acquisition of Unit 2 Killingbeck Court were not to progress the only other 
solution, across both the Council and LCH’s estate portfolio, to enable a base for 
the Seacroft Integrated Health Neighbourhood Team to be created would be to 
extend the lease at Unit 1 Acorn Business Park.

5.10 The Council already owns the adjacent semi (Unit 1 Killingbeck Court) which is 
solely occupied by Adult Social Care staff, as well as Kernel House on the adjacent 
site occupied by Children’s Services.  The proposed acquisition would create a 
campus of purpose built office accommodation in this high demand area of east 
Leeds.

5.11 There would be a net increase in running costs following the acquisition as a larger 
unit is being purchased, however Adult Social Care has agreed it would be 
prepared to accept these increased costs in order to help deliver the integrated 
health programme.

5.12 Unit 1 Acorn Business Park is not currently a Changing the Workplace building and 
therefore if retained there would be a drive to make use as efficient as possible.  
This would have a cost implication and require purchase of New Ways of Working 
furniture and equipment, this cost in regard to Unit 2 Killingbeck Court has been 
factored into the case to acquire.

6   Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

12
Page 196



i) Note the contents of the report, and specifically the progress made to deliver 
revenue savings through asset rationalisation;

ii) Approve the acquisition of Tribeca House on the terms identified in confidential 
Appendix 4;

iii) Approve the acquisition of the long lease interest in Deacon House on the 
terms identified in confidential Appendix 4, which will provide the Council with 
the unencumbered freehold interest in the site;

iv) Approve the acquisition of Unit 2, Killingbeck Court on the terms identified in 
confidential Appendix 4;

v) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to agree the final 
detailed terms for the acquisitions;

vi) Approve the injection of the sums identified in confidential Appendix 4 into the 
Capital Programme and give authority to spend the monies as required;

vii) Approve the ring fencing of the capital receipt from the sale of Seacroft Library 
site to contribute towards the acquisition cost of Deacon House; and

viii) Note that the Head of Asset Management is responsible for the 
implementation of the Asset Review Programme and proposed acquisitions.

7    Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available for download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

13
Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



1

6

Playing 65

3

1

7

11

11

Warehouse

Factory

GRANT AVENUE

Centre

37.8m

37.5m

Clifford Brooke

Central Kitchen

Social Services

Warehouse

ROUNDHAY ROAD

2

Mast

5

BARRACK

CR

Centre

ENFIELD TERRACE

36.9m

79

ROAD

Haines Park

El Sub Sta

Boro Const & Ward Bdy

41.5m

34

Depot

Kellett Centre

1:1,250Scale

®

TRIBECA HOUSE
ROUNDHAY ROAD

LEEDS LS7

DATE
PREP BY

OS No

PLAN NoCrown Copyright. All rights reserved.
Leeds City Council LA07621X 2006

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND OWNED BY
APPLICANT

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCILSUBJECT SITE´

B. HAZELWOOD
11/09/2007

SE3134NW

10687

´

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



5

4

562

51.5m

Kernel House

Meml

16

10

Spreads

49.1m

3

564

6

Pond

3

2

47.6m

El Sub Sta

564a

1

KILLINGBECK DRIVE

FB

Path

1

KILLINGBECK DRIVE

Killingbeck Court

Retail Park
Killingbeck

1:1,250Scale

®

UNIT 2
KILLINGBECK COURT
KILLINGBECK DRIVE

LEEDS LS14

PREP BY

OS No

PLAN No

T. STENGER

SE3434SW

18481

SUBJECT SITE´

LAND SOLD BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND OWNED BY
APPLICANT

LAND OWNED BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

LAND LEASED OUT BY
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL

(c) Crown Copyright and database right [2015]
Ordnance Survey LA100019567

0 10 20 30 405
Metres

Killingbeck & Seacroft
Ward

´

WARD BOUNDARY

Date: 29/09/2015

Path: G:\PLANS AND PROJECTS\Land Records Plans\18400 - 18499\18481 Unit 2 Killingbeck Ct PANEL.mxd

Unit 1 Killingbeck Court
(Acquired a couple of years ago)

Unit 1 Acorn Court
(Leased in)

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 205

Exempt / Confidential Under Access to 
Information Procedure Rules 10.4 (3)



This page is intentionally left blank



   
   
  

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development  Service area: Asset Management 

 
Lead person: Dayle Lynch 
 

Contact number: 07891 271325 

 
1. Title:  Acquisition of three buildings (Deacon House,Unit 2 Killingbeck Court and 
Tribeca House) for Council Accommodation 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The proposed acquisition of three buildings for the purpose of providing the Council 
with fit for purpose Changing the Workplace office accommodation and front facing 
service delivery via a Community Hub (in the case of Deacon House only).  The 
three acquisitions are each linked to the release of a leased-in property, therefore as 
a whole enabling the Council to surrender three leased-in buildings. 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 211



   
   
  

2

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Page 212



   
   
  

3

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Ben Middleton 
 

Head of Asset 
Management 

13/10/2015 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed  

12/10/2015 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

16/10/2015 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of: Director of City Development

Report to: Executive Board

Date: 18 November 2015

Subject: White Paper response – Cycling facility development in Leeds

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report responds to the Full Council request:

“Council therefore calls on officers to prepare a report for Executive Board on the 
development of cycling facilities in Leeds, including in particular how the Council can 
work collaboratively with its partners, including the Sport Leeds Board, to ensure the 
success of world class sporting events in the city continues to be built on.”  

2. Work is ongoing with the development of a city cycle strategy as well as a number of 
facility developments both relating to highways improvements and cycle hubs. There 
are numerous cycling development initiatives underway within the city in an effort to 
support more people cycling.

3. British Cycling stated priority remains the development of a closed circuit cycle track. 
Plans are now well developed with the University of Leeds to deliver a new facility.

Recommendations

4. Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Note the report;

ii) Receive a report on the Cycling Starts Here strategy at a future Executive Board.

Report author:  Mark Allman
Tel: 24 78323 

Page 215

Agenda Item 14



1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide a response to the white paper motion outlining the development of 
cycling facilities in Leeds.

2. Background information

2.1 Following the recent White paper motion at Full Council officers were asked to 
prepare a report for this Board on the development of cycling facilities in Leeds, 
including in particular how the council can work collaboratively with its partners, 
including SportLeeds Board, to ensure the success of world class sporting events in 
the city continues to be built on.

2.2 Carrying on from the tremendous success of the grand depart in Leeds, 
considerable work has been on going with partners to develop cycling opportunities 
in Leeds. A “Cycling Starts Here” Programme Board has been established to 
oversee the coordination of cycling development opportunities which is currently 
overseeing the development of an overarching cycling strategy and plan for the city.

2.3 As has been reported in previous Executive Board reports a tremendous amount of 
work has already been put in place to develop and promote cycling opportunities 
and this work continues,  including for example:

 The ongoing development of the Leeds cycle network, through City Connect;

 The development of cycle hubs in 3 locations across the city, including the 
introduction a  bike library at Fearnville;

 Delivery of Skyride (7000 participants) and Skyride local events (the current 
programme will finish beginning of November 2015);

 Delivery of cycling opportunities for women including lead ride programme 
(Breeze), Health 4 All project and soon to have specific support through the 
National Governing Body  Place Pilot to appoint a women’s activator post with a 
focus on Cycling in priority communities;

 Delivery of Ride leader training for example in March this year at the Fearnville 
hub, 16 people completed  the Level 1 Ride Leader course delivered by British 
Cycling with funding from LCC and West Yorkshire Sport; the ride leaders where 
from local clubs including Alba Rosa and 3rd sector organisations such as ZEST, 
Black Health Initiative and The Works;

 Continue to teach young people to ride through Bikeability, the recently awarded 
contract will see over 6500 young people have access to Bikeability training a 
cross Leeds. Leeds has recently had confirmation that Bikeability Plus places 
will be made available,(figures to be confirmed), this will include sessions to 
teach balance ability and led rides

 As part of the go:cycling initiative, provided by the WYCA and LCC Highways 
and Transportation, over 200 adult cycling training engagements have been 
delivered in Leeds since April 2015.

Page 216



2.4 The partnerships developed through SportLeeds have enabled the successful 
delivery of much of the development programmes. Of particular interest is the 
development of cycling facilities in the city, above and beyond the investment being 
made within the City Connect programmes. The Council has been working very 
closely with British Cycling and partners within SportLeeds in looking at the future 
cycle facility priorities in the city. In terms of facility development this work has 
underlined the need for the development of a closed circuit cycle track as well as 
locally based hubs for cycling.

3. Main issues

3.1 The white paper motion suggested that the city should consider the introduction of a 
Velodrome in the City. Consultation with British Cycling confirms that their stated 
priorities are to deliver one close road circuit, one national standard BMX Track and 
one outdoor Velodrome. The development of good quality cycling sports facilities 
and investment in wider cycling infrastructure remains a key focus for the city. 
Specifically in relation to the Velodrome it should be noted: 

 The costs of providing a specialist indoor Velodrome are significant. The most 
recent indoor Velodrome/Arena was Derby and this cost over £30m to build. 
British Cycling’s view is that that a Closed Road Circuit  can be ridden by all 
level of abilities and within reason can be used by any type of bike, and 
therefore it is a better legacy facility than an indoor Velodrome, which requires 
specialist coaching and training as well as fixed wheel track bikes.  All the UK 
indoor Velodromes and the modern outdoor Velodromes operate an accredited 
riders system, therefore participants have to have a good level of competency 
to ride.  

 British Cycling propose that the city needs to consider supporting an outdoor 
velodrome. Outdoor Velodromes have recently been built in York, which 
includes a closed circuit track, (2014) and Middlesbrough (2015).  An outdoor 
Velodrome could complement the plans for the Closed Road Circuit at the 
University and the cycle hub plans at Fearnville Leisure Centre and also the 
Mountain Bike Trails in Middleton Park but consideration would need to be 
given by the landowner to the capital costs and the need for a sustainable 
business and management plan. British Cycling were also keen to point out it is 
important that the city as a whole (working with British Cycling) also invests in 
the programmes and people that encourage and support 'participation' and help 
people get the most out of their cycling. 

3.2   Putting the Velodrome proposal in context there is a huge amount of cycling 
development work that is ongoing within the city and that has been reported to this 
Board of part of the tour De France cycling legacy update in January 2015. Building 
on what was then reported and to illustrate progress some examples are set out 
below; 

 Cycling is a focus sport in 2015 for the Active Schools (Children’s Services/City 
Development) and the Sport and Active Lifestyles Teams and as such Officers 
are helping to develop clear pathways from grassroots, through to performance 

Page 217



exit routes and wider recreation opportunities. Both teams are working with key 
partners (internal and external) to establish a coordinated approach to the 
delivery of Cycling across the City.

 The Local Strategic Transport Fund (LSTF) “Access to Education” project will 
be continued in 2015/16 across five secondary schools and their feeder primary 
schools and the 3 universities in Leeds. In these  schools it provides a model for 
engaging with pupils and their parent/ guardians to show case sustainable 
travel behaviour on the school journey 

 Sportivate is a £56milion Lottery funded London 2012 legacy project. The 
programme gives 14-25 year olds who are not particularly “sporty” access to 6 – 
8 weeks of free coaching in a range of sports. A good example of this scheme 
supporting Cycling includes the Leeds BMX club which have two Sportivate 
projects which will was delivered earlier this year and will saw 20 – 25 young 
people from both the David Young Academy in Seacroft and the Co-Operative 
Academy in Burmantofts get access to a fleet of bikes and skill development 
training. 

 Adaptive cycling takes place throughout the week at the John Charles Centre 
for Sport, the sessions are staffed and suitable for adults and children over the 
age of 5; there are a variety of bikes available to use including quads, trikes, 
hand cycles, mountain trikes and tandems. Elements of adaptive cycling are 
also available at Herd Farm, Lineham Farm and Yeadon Tarn, with work 
currently taking place to expand and grow the offer at these sites

 Leeds has introduced a series of cycle measures over the last 25 years; a 
number of schemes were introduced including a number of substantial rural 
routes in partnership with Sustrans, cycle parking was introduced throughout 
the city centre and other district centres and a process of cycle auditing was 
also introduced whereby all highway schemes are subject to a cycle audit, to 
ensure that the needs of cyclists are considered. In 2009 Leeds City Council’s 
Executive Board approved the Leeds Core Cycle Network, a network of 17 
largely radial routes, 7 of which have now been implemented. In 2013 the 
Department for Transport announced the Cycle City Ambition Grant (CCAG) 
which amounted to a step change in capital funding. The Department were 
impressed by Leeds level of ambition which stated that over the next 10 years 
(from 2013) Leeds would develop; a network of 6 Cycle Superhighways 
(including the one in the initial bid),  complete the Leeds Core Cycle Network, 
and the development of  a City Centre Cycling Loop – the Inner Tube.   

 Leeds (along with Bradford) was successful in obtaining £20 million to 
implement:-

 Leeds to Bradford cycle super highway (14 miles long) 
 Public realm streetscape improvements through the centre of Stanningley
 Leeds City Centre Cycle City Loop; improving the cycle connectivity of the 

city centre
 High quality resurfacing of the Leeds Liverpool Canal towpath between 

Armley and Shipley

Page 218



 High quality cycle parking in Leeds City Centre and at key points on the 
superhighway

 20 mph schemes in the areas adjacent to the route.
 A new organisation is proposed to bring together partners to engage with 

communities in encouraging the take–up of cycling

 After a successful contracting process this huge scheme started site works in 
January 2015 and is due for completion by the spring/summer of 2016, including 14 
miles of Super Highway and 38 x 20mph schemes. The majority of the towpath 
improvement works are now complete. 

 On a separate but related matter cycle parking has already provided over 350 
spaces in the city centre, including a dozen using the “car port” system, which 
provides attractive cycle parking at locations where footway width meant we had not 
previously been able to provide cycle parking.

 Leeds have been successful in securing funding for phase 2 of City Connect. In 
Phase 2 Leeds will benefit from;

 an additional 7km of super cycle highway to the North and South of Leeds City 
Centre

 Improvements to City Centre cycle access in Leeds

 Neighborhood improvements to provide access for pedestrians and cyclists

 Activity to enable access to a bike and encouragement to ride

 Consultation on phase two will start in late Autumn 2015 and run until summer 
2016. More detail on consultation opportunities will be released soon.  

3.3 Work has also been ongoing to develop 3 cycle hubs within the city, these being:

Fearnville Bike Hub

This is being managed and activity delivered through Cycle Pathway CIC (a 
community investment company) with the support of LCC and key external partners 
such as go cycling, there is currently a 2 year plan for the development of the hub; 
and is the site for the first sponsored Yorkshire Bike Library Scheme in Leeds. There 
are 180 bikes being prepared to lend to the local community with support 
programmes of activity to help biking confidence e.g. Bikeability, aimed at specific 
target groups such as girls and women with links to wider interventions including 
British Cycling’s Sky Ride Local and Breeze. Fearnville is a great example of the 
planning and joining-up of activities and programmes with a share of resources to 
make an impact at a local level.

Middleton Bike Hub 

Parks and Countryside and Sport and Active Lifestyles services are in discussion with 
British Cycling to develop the former golf course and club house into a mountain 
biking (all levels of tracks from entry to competition), BMX and cyclo cross venue; 
currently site plans and proposals are being completed with a feasibility study due to 

Page 219



be commissioned by the end of October.  The “off road” cycling will link to activities 
and space at the John Charles Centre for Sport, for example, the adapted bikes 
programme and future potential use of the road circulating the facility for developing 
biking confidence.

Weetwood Bike Hub

Of particular note is the work being led by University of Leeds. Their proposal to build 
a 1.5km closed circuit track is now well developed and also includes significant 
improvements to the on-site pavilion. The project is still at pre tender stage but the 
track and associated facilities will be Regional standard and available for community 
use. The project will also help service not only cycling but also Triathlon, cementing 
Leeds as the best city in the UK for Triathlon. In addition, the facility will offer the 
opportunity to develop competitive hand cycling an identified gap in current provision. 
An update from the University is outlined below:

“University of Leeds, in partnership with British Cycling, is progressing plans to 
develop a 1.6k closed loop cycle track at the Boddington Sports Fields, owned 
by University of Leeds.  

The plans are currently at feasibility stage and external consultation with wider 
stakeholders will take place during October to determine local and regional 
demand for the track.

It is envisaged that the facility will be available for use by university students, 
local cycle clubs, local schools plus for a range of sports events.

The new facilities will also include a redevelopment of the existing pavilion, 
which will include changing facilities and social space for groups using the cycle 
track.”

3.4 Cycling events within the city continue to underpin the wider ambitions to get more 
people cycling. The 2015 Skyride event again proved to be hugely popular with over 
7000 active participants. Furthermore the news that Leeds will once again be 
hosting the Tour De Yorkshire in 2016 presents opportunities to showcase cycling 
nationally as well as build on opportunities to promote cycling to women. Officers 
have also been working with British Triathlon to submit a funding bid to Sport 
England to support the development of Triathlon on the back of the 2016 World 
Triathlon Series in Leeds in 2016. The approach will specifically target cycling, 
running and swimming.

3.5 The bike library at Fearnville is one of a number of bicycle re-cycle schemes across 
the city including Meanwood Urban Valley Farm, The Works Skate Park, Peddlers 
Arms and Leeds Bike Mill.

3.6 Moving forward the “Cycling Starts Here” programme Board has been established 
to oversee the development of a city plan for cycling development. This group is 
chaired by Cllr Harrington and includes officers from LCC, British Cycling and 
representation from the Leeds cycle Forum. The Board is still at an early stage but 
is in the process of considering a draft cycling strategy for the city. 

Page 220



3.7 A more comprehensive update on cycling development will be brought forward in 
due course, together with the draft City “Cycling starts here strategy”.

4. Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Consultation has taken place with University of Leeds, the “Cycling Starts Here”       
programme board and British Cycling. The Executive Board member for Health and 
Wellbeing and Sport has also been consulted.

  
4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The development of the closed circuit track referenced in this response is led by the 
University Of Leeds. Wider developments relating to cycling that are governed by 
Leeds City Council continue to develop and will be subject to the appropriate 
screening as and when proposals are brought forward.

4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1  The work on Cycling Starts Here contributes to the following Council objectives

 Tackling health inequalities ( and the joint health and wellbeing strategy 2013-
18)

 Child friendly city
 Raising the profile of Leeds nationally and internationally
 Building cohesive and harmonious communities

The proposals being developed also underpin or contribute to a number of the 
council’s breakthrough projects in particular those that relate to “hosting world 
class events on a global stage” and “Reducing health inequalities through healthy 
lifestyles”. 

4.3.2 The cycling legacy work also supports the Leeds Sport and Active Lifestyles 
Strategy ‘Leeds to become the most active big city in England’ with three primary 
outcomes of:

 Improving health and wellbeing through sport and more active lifestyles
 Widening access to sport
 Nurturing success in sport across the city

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 There are no specific implications.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no specific implications.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Nil

Page 221



5. Conclusions

5.1 The development of opportunities to cycle remains a priority for this council. Whilst 
the construction  of a Velodrome is not currently a priority there are a number of 
facility developments and wider cycling development work underway that will create 
more opportunities for the wider community of Leeds to cycle safely. Executive 
Board will note that progress across a range of initiatives is ongoing and that a city 
cycle strategy is currently being produced.  The latest development of the cycling 
Hub at Weetwood in particular presents exciting opportunities to encourage more 
people to cycle.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Note the report;

ii) Receive a report on the Cycling Starts Here strategy at a future Executive 
Board.

7. Background documents1 

7.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 222



Report of the Director of City Development / Director of Adult Social Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: Wednesday 18th November 2015

Subject: Developing the range of choices in the older people’s housing market:   
Older People’s Housing Prospectus

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): All

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 
1. The provision of new housing for older people is a priority for the Council and is 

underpinned by the Leeds aspiration, outlined within the Best Council Plan, of being the 
best city in the UK to grow old in. Alongside this, there is a requirement to ensure that 
housing growth is delivered to meet the needs of the city. This is set out within the Core 
Strategy for 70,000 new homes to be developed in the period up to 2028 through 
sustainable growth which supports a Strong Economy and Compassionate City. The Older 
People’s Housing Prospectus has been produced as one of the key tools in order to 
stimulate housing growth in this sector and to promote collaborative working with a wide 
range of partners to deliver new housing for older people.

2. The prospectus outlines the potential location for and type of accommodation required to 
meet the needs of older people, along with details of identified land deemed to be suitable 
as part of the current Unitary Development Plan and Site Allocation Plan (subject to final 
approval).

3. Sites under Council ownership that have been assessed to be suitable for 
provision of new specialist and Extra Care accommodation are identified for 
disposal within the report. 

Report author:  Sarah May
Tel:                     3781091

Page 223

Agenda Item 15



Recommendations

4. The Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Approve the content of the Older People’s Housing Prospectus, attached at 
Appendices 1 and 2, and support the formal publication, following graphic design, of 
this document in Autumn 2015;

ii) Declare the sites listed at 3.12 surplus to Council requirements and approve the 
identified sites for marketing for disposal with a preference for the development of 
older people’s specialist accommodation;

iii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to identify further sites to 
support the delivery of older people’s specialist accommodation;

iv) To note that any offers received for the sites listed at 3.12 to be referred to Executive 
Board for consideration. 

Page 224



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide Executive Board with an approach to older 
people’s housing including a prospectus to be published to encourage new supply 
of specialist accommodation. This supports the recommendations outlined in the 
March 2015 Executive Board report on developing a range of choices in the older 
people’s housing market.

2 Background information

2.1 The number of older people in Leeds is growing and by 2020 it is estimated that 
those most in need of care and support, mainly older people aged 75 plus, will 
increase by around 13%. Leeds City Council has recognised that this 
demographic shift is likely to require a change in how services for older people are 
delivered with an emphasis on better lives through the provision of specialist 
housing with care and support, by integration of services and by encouraging local 
enterprise. As older people aspire to be independent for longer there is an 
emphasis on choice, control and services that are more responsive to individual 
need.

2.2 In February 2013, Executive Board approval was secured for the implementation 
of a holistic, city-wide, approach to increase and improve accommodation for 
older people available in Leeds. A co-ordinated programme of activity across the 
directorates of City Development, Adult Social Care and Environment and 
Housing has been working in partnership to drive forward this agenda. 

2.3 The Leeds Core Strategy was adopted by the City Council in November 2014 and 
sets an overall housing requirement of 70,000 (net) new homes for the plan period 
(2012 – 2028).  The Plan sets out Policies for the overall scale and distribution of 
growth including policies H4: housing mix and H8: independent living, which make 
particular reference to housing for older people. 

2.4 At November 2014’s Executive Board, progress towards an anticipated delivery 
pipeline of c850 units across all supply types by 2018 was indicated. Even though 
there is ongoing delivery of new supply, there is still a current and projected 
shortfall in the provision of older people’s accommodation across tenure and type. 
This is outlined in more detail at sections 3.3 – 3.7 of this report and within the 
locality profiles of the prospectus.

2.5 In March 2015, it was agreed by Executive Board that an older people’s housing 
prospectus should be developed. The prospectus would set out the requirements 
and contributions of various sectors in order to assist the Council in its efforts to 
stimulate investment and in order to work collaboratively to increase delivery and 
shape, rather than simply manage the market.

 
2.6 The objective of the prospectus is to ensure that there is a mix of homes provided 

to meet the needs of older people, including those with dementia, and a choice of 
accommodation for rent and owner occupation. It will aim to meet a wide range of 
aspirations and care and support needs across a variety of tenures and localised 
housing markets by ensuring a mix of community led, public and private delivery. 
The delivery of Extra Care housing, in line with the Council’s strategic approach, 

Page 225



is promoted by the prospectus along with other forms of specialist provision to 
meet a range of needs.

2.7 The March report highlighted current and projected need for different types of 
older people’s accommodation. This figures highlighted a significant undersupply, 
both now and in the future, in the provision of Extra Care housing. New Extra 
Care units are primarily being delivered through independent and third sector 
organisations and it is hoped that the prospectus will stimulate further dialogue to 
encourage further such developments. Alongside this, the Council is in the 
process of building its own Extra Care scheme; Wharfedale View in Yeadon. This 
is the first Council managed Extra Care development in the city. A proposal has 
also been submitted to the HCA for grant funding towards the development of a 
further 45 apartment scheme at Westerton Walk, West Ardsley, with the outcome 
of the bid likely to be known in autumn 2015.

2.8 Elsewhere on the Executive Board agenda is a report from Housing Leeds on a 
sheltered housing investment programme proposed for Council managed stock. 
Together, these reports provide a comprehensive picture of the provision of older 
people’s housing in Leeds. 

3 Older People’s Housing Prospectus

3.1 The older people’s housing prospectus, attached at Appendices 1 and 2, has 
been developed to act as a mechanism to stimulate housing growth for specialist 
accommodation. The Council wants to encourage growth in the number of homes 
available for older people and increase the range, quality and accessibility of 
housing options to meet various and changing needs of people as they advance 
with age. Through the delivery of additional housing options available for older 
people, it will support the delivery of the following objectives:
 Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible; 
 Allow older people to age in their place of choice;
 Improve quality of older peoples housing;
 Provide sustainable housing choices to meet the needs of todays and 

tomorrow’s older people ;
 Promoting the delivery of  new high quality accommodation with care for 

people with complex needs, including dementia, particularly in those parts of 
the City where none currently exist;

 Ensure communities have housing options for varying life stages;
 Support work across the city to address health related inequalities in later life.

3.2 To ensure that new housing developments for older people are delivered, the 
Council will act in an enabling role by:
 Involving local communities in the co-production of specialist housing for older 

people;
 Ensuring that commissioners of care services encourage the development of 

social enterprise care providers that are locally based;
 Taking a proactive approach to investment by working with developers, local 

communities, social enterprises and Registered Providers to encourage supply 
via the dedicated Housing Growth Team to help accelerate delivery and 
provide timely advice;

Page 226



 Identify areas of need to show spatial distribution and inform developers’ 
investment decisions;

 Identifying opportunities for developers and providers to work collaboratively 
and to explore co-investment opportunities including via the Right to Buy 
Replacement programme for social and affordable rent;

 Making Council land available specifically for this purpose via the Housing 
Investment Land Strategy and the Brownfield Land Programme of disposals. 

Current and future demand for older people’s housing

3.3 Population projections highlight that there is set to be a significant increase in the 
number of older people living in Leeds over the next 5 – 10 years, primarily those 
aged over 75. Therefore, it is essential that the City has a range of housing 
choices, across all tenures and levels of dependency, available for older people. 
Through the production of the prospectus, this sets out the quantum of need, 
along with site opportunities for this type of housing development.

3.4 An area of identified need is the provision of more specialist accommodation for 
older people, in particular the provision of Extra Care. From current demand 
forecasts there is an estimated shortfall of over 600 Extra Care units, rising to over 
1,000 by 2028. To support with the delivery of Extra Care, the Leeds Model for 
Extra Care has been produced. This outlines some guiding principles regarding 
quality, core design requirements, operation of the schemes and the 
commissioning model for care and support. Relevant to any tenure: rent, shared 
ownership and sale; the model, and hopes to:
 Support the health and well-being of older people who wish to live 

independently;
 Provide an alternative to residential care; 
 Ensure that older people have a wider choice of housing and care options 

including the provision of person centred care and support.

3.5 Alongside this, current requirements and future projections also indicate a need for 
the provision of additional care beds with nursing across the city. At present, there 
is an undersupply of nearly 500 care beds with nursing, which is projected to rise 
by 2028 to nearly 1,400. With regards to care beds without nursing, figures 
indicate that there is current and future sufficient provision across the city – at 
present there is an oversupply of over 700 beds, rising to over 1,000 in 2028. 
However, it is to be acknowledged that some Wards in the City do not have 
sufficient provision to meet future demand.

3.6 The number of people with dementia is currently forecast to rise and the Council 
would welcome the development of more Extra Care housing and nursing care 
places that are able to support people with dementia. This will include internal and 
external spaces that are designed specifically for people with dementia.

3.7 With regards to demand for sheltered and general needs units for rent by people 
over 75, figures supplied by Housing Leeds on Leeds Housing Register waiting 
list, dated July 2015, indicated that there are over 1,700 older people interested in 
accessing this type of accommodation.
Ensuring quality accommodation for older people

Page 227



3.8 The prospectus has an emphasis on delivering good quality housing which is 
underpinned by the Leeds Standard to ensure excellent quality in the delivery of 
new homes under three themes: Design Quality, Space Standards (including 
accessibility) and Energy Efficiency Standards. Of relevance to the delivery of 
specialist accommodation for older people, the Leeds Standard includes best 
practice approaches to deliver affordable warmth and the construction of 
accessible properties. Alongside this, where possible, the Council would 
encourage potential providers to consider dementia friendly developments and the 
best practice standards from Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation 
(HAPPI), which seeks to reduce the institutional feel of buildings and emphasises 
light, space and adaptability, are implemented as part of any new housing 
developments for older people.

3.9 Alongside this, for two years, Leeds has operated a quality framework with 
providers of registered residential and nursing care in the City aligned to a 
sustainable fee structure. We believe this provides a long term, stable platform for 
developers and care home operators from the independent and third sectors to 
consider investment in new facilities the City particularly those which will provide 
long term care to older people with high complex needs, including those 
experiencing dementia. We know that a wider range of housing options designed 
to maximise independence, choice and control, will need to be matched by 
ensuring the continuing provision of this type of specialist care facility.

3.10 The Older People’s Housing prospectus links to Adult Social Care’s Market 
Position Statement 2014-15. The Market Position Statement is aimed at providers 
of housing and care services in the city, outlining the evidence base for Adult 
Social Care’s future commissioning intentions. It gives an overview of the type and 
nature of support that older people in Leeds currently require and how this is 
expected to change over the next 5-10 years. The document is currently being 
updated, with a view to publishing the 2015/16 statement in autumn 2015. 

3.11 The production of the Older People’s Housing Prospectus also contributes towards 
the recommendations outlined with the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 
2014/15, which was focussed on planning a healthy city through the delivery of 
housing growth. Recommendations outlined in the report underpin one of the key 
aspects of the prospectus; to ensure the provision of quality, well designed 
accommodation and that health benefits are considered as part of designing new 
housing developments.

Provision of sites for Older People’s Housing

3.12 In order to support the development of older people’s housing, the Council has 
identified the following suitable sites which have the capacity for specialist older 
people’s accommodation: 
 Former Wortley High School Site;
 2 – 4 Bodmin Road, Middleton;
 Former Ash Tree Primary School Site, Kippax;
 Former Primrose Hill Home for Older People, Boston Spa;
 Holt Park;
 Windlesford Green, Rothwell.

Page 228



3.13 Ward Members have been consulted on the principle of developing these sites for 
specialist accommodation for older people and are supportive of this potential use. 
It is proposed that all but the latter are included within the prospectus for sale, 
whilst the development options and delivery route for Windlesford Green are being 
developed separately and will be the subject of a future report to Executive Board. 
Full details of the sites which will form part of the prospectus are outlined in 
Appendix 2 of this report.

3.14 The sites identified within the prospectus will be advertised on the open market, 
with a preference for offers for the provision of older people’s specialist 
accommodation. This will ensure that the sites will attract interest from providers of 
this type of accommodation and meet need as highlighted in the prospectus. The 
Executive Board is requested to approve this approach to marketing, with a further 
report submitted to Executive Board to consider offers received for the sites. 

3.15 Nomination rights may be requested for developments on Council land sold for the 
provision of older people’s housing. It is to be acknowledged that this could have a 
potential impact on the sale value of the land and will be taken into account when 
offers are assessed. At this time, there isn’t a standard policy for levels of 
nomination rights requested; these would be assessed on a case by case basis 
linked to current and projected need.

3.16 Alongside the disposal of the already identified sites for older people’s housing, 
work will continue to identify appropriate land in council ownership for older 
people’s housing and opportunities for collaboration, working with developers, 
local communities, social enterprises and Registered Providers. 

3.17 Locality profiles, included in the prospectus, provide details of suggested sites, 
both publically and privately owned, identified through the Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP) and Site Allocations Plan deemed to be suitable for provision of older 
people’s accommodation following an assessment against the Core Strategy’s 
accessibility standards. The standards state that sites should be accessible and 
within easy walking distance of town and local centres, ideally no more than a five 
minute walk (400m). It is also suggested that other factors such as, but not 
restricted to, the proximity to a frequent bus service, topography, location of GP 
surgeries and neighbourhood shopping parades, should be considered when 
suitable sites are selected. A sifting exercise of the sites identified for older 
people’s accommodation has also been undertaken to assess their suitability for 
specialist provision. Further details on the exercise have been included in the 
prospectus. It is to be noted that the Site Allocations Plan is still at an early stage; 
the period for public consultation concluded on the 16th November and has not yet 
been formally adopted by the Council.

3.18 Before official publication, the Council’s Creative Services Team will redesign the 
prospectus to ensure that the document meets corporate design guidelines and 
looks professional and engaging for external partners.

4 Corporate Considerations

Page 229



4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Executive Members for Regeneration, Transport & Planning and Health, 
Wellbeing & Adults have been consulted as part of the drafting of this report via 
the Housing Growth Elected Members Steering Group and are supportive of the 
development of a prospectus to encourage the provision of new housing 
opportunities for older people.

4.1.2 Consultation has been and will continue to be undertaken with Ward Members to 
ensure that they are supportive of sites within their Ward being disposed of for the 
provision of older people’s accommodation.

4.1.3 To ensure that older people have had an input into the development of the 
prospectus, Voice for Older Leeds Tenants (VOLT) has been consulted with as 
part of the development of the prospectus. Feedback provided by the Leeds Older 
People’s Forum on future development of older people’s housing has been 
included in the prospectus and reflects the aims and priorities of what the 
prospectus aims to achieve. Engagement with VOLT and the Leeds Older 
People’s Forum will continue following publication of the prospectus.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The Equality and Diversity/Cohesion and Integration screening document has 
been completed to ensure due regard to equality issues. This is attached for 
reference at Appendix 3.

4.2.2 The screening process found that this is a positive opportunity to promote the 
delivery of significant investment in improved, sustainable, specifically designed 
homes for older people.

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The production of the older people’s housing prospectus contributes towards the 
following Best Council Plan 2015-20 objectives:
 Promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth
 Delivering the Better Lives programme

4.3.2 The delivery new housing for older people as promoted through the prospectus 
projects will also contribute towards the following breakthrough projects:
 Housing growth and high standards in all sectors 
 Making Leeds the best place to grow old in

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 There are no direct resource implications arising out of the proposals in this 
report, other than that noted at paragraph 3.12 relating to site disposals.

4.4.2 Research on the effectiveness of Extra Care in reducing the amount of care or 
delaying an increase in care combined with an improvement in individual wellbeing 
has indicated that access to Extra Care housing has a positive impact on health 

Page 230



and social care services costs, providing value for money benefits as well as an 
improvement in quality of life for the city’s older people. The delivery of additional 
housing units specifically for older people can also assist in freeing up larger family 
homes by encouraging downsizing and facilitate a more effective use of the 
existing housing stock.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no legal implications associated with the recommendations of this 
report.

4.5.2 There is no exempt or confidential information contained within this report.

4.5.3 This report is classed as a key decision and is subject to Call In.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1    Delivery risks will be managed in association with specific sites.

5 Conclusions

5.1 It is essential that older people have access to a range of housing options 
appropriate to their stage in life and level of dependency.  In order to maximise 
investment and delivery of the number of type of homes for older people it is 
proposed that the prospectus will encourage collaboration with other sectors to 
shape provision in order to meet identified gaps in the older peoples housing 
market.

6 Recommendations

6.1 The Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Approve the content of the Older People’s Housing Prospectus, attached at 
Appendices 1 and 2, and support the formal publication, following graphic 
design, of this document in Autumn 2015;

ii) Declare the sites listed at 3.12 surplus to Council requirements and approve 
the identified sites for marketing for disposal with a preference for the 
development of older people’s specialist accommodation; 

iii) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development to identify further sites 
to support the delivery of older people’s specialist accommodation;

iv) To note that any offers received for the sites listed at 3.12 to be referred to 
Executive Board for consideration.

7 Background documents1 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 231



7.1  None.

Page 232



Prospectus: Development opportunities for the provision 
of housing for Older People

Autumn 2015

Appendix 1

Page 233



Page 2 of 35

Contents:

Foreword from Councillor Lewis and Councillor Mulherin Page 3

Why have we developed a housing prospectus for older people? Page 4

A supportive and enabling Council Page 5

Older People shaping future housing provision Page 5

How the Council will ensure the provision of quality housing for 
older people

Page 6

The spectrum of accommodation required for older people Page 9

Identification of suitable sites Page 10

Leeds City Council sites available for the development of older 
people’s accommodation

Page 10

Investment by Leeds City Council into older people’s housing 
provision

Page 10

Locality Profiles and demand for Older People’s Specialist 
Housing

Page 12

Site Brochure Appendix 2

For further information about the prospectus, please contact:

Sarah May

Principal Regeneration Officer, Affordable & Specialist Housing

sarah.may@leeds.gov.uk 

0113 3781091 / 07712 216397

Page 234

mailto:sarah.may@leeds.gov.uk


Page 3 of 35

Foreword

Leeds has an ambition to be the best city to grow old in. 

One of the main factors in making this ambition a reality is to ensure that we have the right housing 
choices available for older people. This is one of the key priorities for the housing growth agenda in 
the city. To support this, we are publishing this prospectus to encourage delivery of new housing 
opportunities.

The age profile of the city is projected to change in the coming years with an increased number of 
people over 65 living in Leeds. It is acknowledged that this could potentially present some challenges 
but we see this as an exciting opportunity to develop new and innovative housing that is sustainable 
and takes into account the diverse needs of this age group.

It is acknowledged that housing can have an impact on health and wellbeing. Housing related 
inequalities exist with older people more likely to live in ‘non decent homes’ and energy inefficient 
homes compared to the general population.  Poor housing conditions can lead to a wide range of 
physical and mental health problems.  We want to ensure that through the provision of good quality 
housing, this will enable people to live good quality lives.

Meeting housing need is complex and the Council cannot do this alone. We are committed to work 
in partnership with developers, local communities, social enterprises and Registered Providers in 
order to meet aspirations, provide choice, quality, sustainability and promote independence. 

Councillor Richard Lewis Councillor Lisa Mulherin

Executive Member for Regeneration, Executive Member for Health,
Transport and Planning Wellbeing and Adults

Page 235



Page 4 of 35

Why have we developed a housing prospectus for older people?

This prospectus has been produced to encourage the development of new housing for older people 
in Leeds. Work undertaken over the past couple of years has demonstrated the need for a full 
spectrum of housing options to meet the differing needs of older people across Leeds’ communities.

This prospectus highlights opportunities for investment to expand housing provision in the city’s 
differing localities and varying housing markets.

It is hoped that potential developers,  from the private sector, communities, social enterprises and  
Registered Providers,  will then progress these opportunities further and deliver this type of 
accommodation where the need is demonstrated.  10 locality profiles have been produced, which 
include demand forecast information to illustrate the type of accommodation needed and details of 
potential opportunities as outlined in the Site Allocations Plan.

In formulating this prospectus we recognise that the changing needs and aspirations of older people 
need to be matched by attracting new, high quality, accommodation options to deliver a wide 
spectrum of provision across all tenure types and including accommodation with care for people 
with complex needs.

The prospectus will be refreshed on a periodic basis to reflect any new development opportunities, 
changes in policies and funding sources. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The adopted Leeds Core Strategy indicates that Leeds aims to build 70,000 new homes by 2028, 
delivering economic benefits from jobs and training to attracting new businesses and funding to the 
City. In order to meet this target, Leeds requires 3,660 homes a year 2018 followed by 4,700 
thereafter. 

As part of the delivery of new housing, we want to ensure that the provision meets the need of 
current and future citizens of the City, through providing a mix of housing, in the right location 
across a range of affordability levels.

In order to meet the growth targets set out in the Core Strategy, the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) will 
identify sites to ensure that sufficient land is available in appropriate locations.  The SAP will identify 
specific allocations for housing, employment, retail and greenspace to 2028. Potential suitable sites 
for older people’s housing will also be indicated within the SAP.

The full version of the Leeds Core Strategy can be found on the Council’s website:

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Core-Strategy-Introduction-Page.aspx 

Details regarding the Site Allocations Plan can be found by following the link below:

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Site-Allocations-Development-Plan-Document-(LDF).aspx 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 236

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Core-Strategy-Introduction-Page.aspx
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Site-Allocations-Development-Plan-Document-(LDF).aspx


Page 5 of 35

Provision of new housing for older people is a key priority for the Council. Leeds has a vision of being 
the best place to grow old in and to ensure that housing growth is delivered to meet the needs of 
the City.

Projections show that there is expected to be an increased number of older people living in the City 
in the coming years. Therefore, the Council wants to maximise the number of homes available for 
older people and increase the range, quality and accessibility of housing options to meet various and 
changing needs of people as they advance with age. In turn this will:

 Enable older people to live independently for as long as possible; 
 Allow older people to age in their place of choice;
 Improve quality of older peoples housing;
 Provide sustainable housing choices to meet the needs of todays and tomorrow’s older 

people;
 Ensuring the continuing availability of new high quality accommodation with care for people 

with complex needs, particularly in those parts of the City where none currently exist;
 Ensure communities have housing options for varying life stages;
 Support work across the city to address health related inequalities in later life.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

A supportive and enabling Council

Leeds City Council acknowledges that we cannot deliver the provision of new housing for older 
people without working in partnership. Therefore, we intend to take a proactive approach to 
investment by working with developers, communities social enterprises and Registered Providers to 
encourage supply to help accelerate delivery, identify areas of need, and promote a collaborative 
approach.

We are keen to identify opportunities for developers, communities, social enterprises and 
Registered Providers to work collaboratively and explore co-investment opportunities including 
Right to Buy Replacement programme for social and affordable rent. The Homes & Communities 
Agency are supporting this strategic approach to the provision of more specialist accommodation for 
older people. The HCA would welcome further discussion with on potential investment 
opportunities. 

The Council has also made land available specifically for this purpose and details are contained 
within Appendix 2 of the prospectus.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Older People shaping future housing provision

Older people have been consulted with on their views about future housing provision in Leeds. It is 
important that older people have a voice to ensure that their needs and views are taken into 
account as part of the provision of any new housing developments. 

Voice for Older Leeds Tenants (VOLT)

Page 237



Page 6 of 35

Housing Leeds Voice for Older Leeds Tenants has been consulted with as part of the development of 
the prospectus in August 2015. VOLT is very supportive of the approach which is being undertaken 
to encourage new developments in order to provide a range of accommodation for older people 
from active to assisted living. The group were keen to ensure that resident’s views were taken into 
account as part of any new developments which the Council would be undertaking in partnership 
with third parties. Therefore, ongoing dialogue will continue with VOLT to ensure that older people 
have the opportunity to influence new developments moving forward.

Leeds Older People’s Forum

In October 2014, Leeds Older People’s Forum presented a paper on their thoughts on what should 
be included in a housing policy developed for older people in Leeds. Some of their recommendations 
underpin the ambitions of the prospectus:

 Specialist housing, including sheltered and extra care, should be planned based on clear 
assessments of need and designed to allow people to remain living in them for as long as 
possible, with links to local services and amenities;

 Any new housing developments for older people in Leeds should have access to good 
transport and proximity to local shops and amenities, which will help to reduce loneliness 
and social isolation;

 From feedback provided by older people, new housing developments should include the 
provision of bungalows and / or ground floor flats, with good links to local transport GP 
surgeries and social amenities;

 In order achieve independent living for the longer term, all new homes should be built to 
Lifetime Homes Standards.

In September 2015, the Leeds Older People’s Forum provided their support for the development of 
the prospectus and felt that it was a positive step towards the provision of a wider range of housing 
opportunities for older people.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

How the Council will ensure the provision of quality housing for older people

Leeds City Council has adopted a number of principles to ensure than new housing is of a high 
standard and meets the vision for high quality, sustainable accommodation. 

The Leeds Standard

The Council, working alongside commercial developers to encourage design excellence, has led to 
the concept of a new design standard – the Leeds Standard. 

The idea behind the development of improved standards flows out of the recognition that good 
design can make a positive contribution to neighbourhoods, meeting the need for new homes in a 
way which ensures consistently good quality housing across all tenures.  

Page 238



Page 7 of 35

The Leeds Standard has three key components:

Design quality – incorporating good urban design and layout set out within Neighbourhoods for 
Living. NfL was initially adopted by Leeds City Council in 2003 to provide guidance to developers for 
the delivery of quality housing designs that recognise local character and identities. This is 
underpinned by 10 Urban Design Principles which the Councils Executive Board adopted in 2005. The 
NfL continues to illustrate a full range of quality concepts for the delivery of good housing design. It 
is the Council’s view that these sound concepts continue to be valid to help delivery the objective of 
good housing design. The full version of Neighbourhoods for Living can be found on the Councils 
website by visiting: 

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Neighbourhoods-for-living.aspx

Space standards - developing properties to appropriate sizes which can be flexible and able to be 
reconfigured if required. Space standards within the Leeds Standard reflect the Nationally Described 
Space Standards which came into effect from 1st October 2015. The Standard utilises best practice in 
terms of accessibility and the Council is in the process of evaluating the Housing Standards Review 
(including the accessibility options) through the Local Plan system subject to the demonstration of 
need and a viability test. The anticipated timescales given the stages which the Local Plan Process 
must undertake are that we hoping to adopt policies by the end of 2016 or as soon as practical.

Energy efficiency standards – wherein design solutions which provide very high energy efficient 
properties will be developed to minimise running costs for tenants, address fuel poverty and 
contribute to broader sustainability agendas. 

Extra Care Housing – The Leeds Model

In order to assist with the delivery of the Extra Care housing, required to meet current and projected 
need, the Leeds model for Extra Care has been produced. This outlines some guiding principles 
regarding quality, core design requirements, operation of the schemes and the commissioning 
model for care and support.  This Leeds vision for Extra Care housing is to:

• Support the health and well-being of older people who wish to live independently;
• Provide an alternative to residential care; 
• Ensure that older people have a wider choice of housing and care options including the 

provision of person centred care and support; 
• Promote specialist homes for older people that are for rent, shared ownership and for 

sale.

There is an aspiration to provide Extra Care housing in every locality of Leeds. This will mean that 
apartments will be a range of rented, owned outright or part owned/part rented, with some 
schemes having a mix of tenures.

From experience, it is suggested that the optimum size for an Extra Care housing scheme is 45 
apartments. It is also suggested that Extra Care housing schemes should ideally be comprised of two 
bedroom properties with a relatively small number of one bedroom properties if for example the 
size or location of the site restricts development.

Page 239

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Neighbourhoods-for-living.aspx


Page 8 of 35

A full copy of the Extra Care Housing – The Leeds Model, can be provided on request.

The Leeds Quality Framework for Accommodation with Care Provided

For two years now Leeds has operated a quality framework with providers of registered residential 
and nursing care in the City aligned to a sustainable fee structure. We believe this provides a long 
term, stable platform for developers and care home operators to consider investment in new 
facilities the City particularly those which will provide long term care to older people with high 
complex needs, including those experiencing dementia.

We know that a wider range of housing options designed to maximise independence, choice and 
control, will need to be matched by ensuring the continuing provision of this type of specialist care 
facility.

Housing our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation

Alongside the Leeds Standard and Extra Care Housing Model outlined above, where possible, the 
Council would encourage potential providers to consider the best practice standards from Housing 
our Ageing Population: Panel for Innovation (HAPPI). HAPPI seeks to reduce the institutional feel of 
buildings and emphasises light, space and adaptability, are implemented as part of any new housing 
developments for older people.

For further information on the HAPPI standards, please visit:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-our-ageing-population-panel-for-innovation 

Improving the quality of life for older people

Good quality, affordable and accessible housing, complemented by strong community networks, is 
the key to helping older people maintain good levels of health and wellbeing.   Therefore, we want 
to place health and wellbeing at the heart of future housing provision.  This will enable us to support 
older people to live healthier, independent lives and ensure that future housing meets the needs of 
the most vulnerable older people in Leeds.

Housing is a social determinant of health.  There is a link between housing conditions and health 
inequalities later in life. Older people are more likely to live in ‘non decent homes’ and energy 
inefficient homes compared to the general population.  Poor housing conditions can lead to a wide 
range of physical and mental health problems.  National research has established a link between 
poor housing and chronic health conditions such as heart disease, stroke, mental health, respiratory 
conditions, arthritis and rheumatism.

Housing related factors that influence older people’s health include:

• Housing type and design: through the provision of well designed, adaptable homes meeting 
changing needs of older people, will contribute towards reducing the risk of accidents and falls, 
and also depression which lack of mobility can lead to;

• Neighbourhood effects: through well designed neighbourhoods, underpinned by 
Neighbourhoods for Living, this can have a positive effect on older people’s mental health. 

Page 240

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-our-ageing-population-panel-for-innovation


Page 9 of 35

Poorly designed neighbourhoods can affect older people’s perception of their safety and this can 
lead to reluctance to leave home, loss of confidence and prevent them leading a normal life. In 
addition older people can feel excluded from their neighbourhoods which can lead to feelings of 
loneliness and isolation.

There is a need then to provide older people with a choice of tenure, location, size, affordability and 
type of care and support offered through specialist and alternative housing.   Through the provision 
of good quality, accessible and affordable housing a significant impact can be made to maximise 
older people’s quality of life, physical health and social wellbeing, especially for those who are most 
vulnerable in our communities.

NHS England Healthy Towns Programme

NHS England have invited expressions of interest in their ‘Healthy New Towns’ programme, in which 
they are seeking to establish up to five ambitious, long-term partnerships with local areas through 
which to develop healthier neighbourhoods and towns. It is one of the initiatives as part of the Five 
Year Forward View and is part of the ambition by NHS England to have more input to health 
promotion and place making.

NHS England are looking to form partnerships with local areas with future population growth and 
housing needs in order to develop these radical new approaches to shaping the built environment. 

Partners in Leeds are interested in submitting an expression of interest to the NHSE Healthy New 
Towns programme to form a strategic partnership with NHSE and others. The areas within scope of 
the expression of interest are:

 Older People – specialist provision and intergenerational living

 New models of care and provision for physical spaces

 Obesogenic environment

 Best use of old NHS estate

 Social connectedness and community cohesion

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

The spectrum of accommodation required for older people

This prospectus is to encourage developers and providers to deliver a wide range of accommodation 
for older people and articulate the range of needs in the city. It is acknowledged that there is a 
significant need for accommodation for older people aged 75+, specifically through the provision of 
Extra Care housing but alongside this, a range of other housing types are required to ensure that 
options are available for older people through the spectrum of active to assisted living:

• Accommodation for those able to live totally independently; 

• Provision for those with some support needs and requirement for communal facilities; 

• Assisted living with full care provision.

Page 241



Page 10 of 35

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Identification of suitable sites 

Core Strategy Policy H4 states that development should include an appropriate mix of dwelling types 
and tenures and include the need to make provision for independent living (Policy H8). It states that 
for developments over 250 units in or adjoining the main urban area and major settlements or for 
developments over 50 units in or adjoining smaller settlements, developers need to submit a 
Housing Needs Assessment addressing all tenures, including older people and independent living to 
ensure that the needs of the locality are met.

For smaller scale developments, Core Strategy Policy H8 seeks to ensure that developments can 
contribute towards the provision of housing aimed at older people; this could include the provision 
of level access.

As a requirement of Core Strategy Policy H8, the Site Allocations Plan identifies housing sites 
considered to be particularly suitable for older people housing that are within 400m walking 
distance of town and local centres across Leeds and as such, close to amenities and facilities. 
However, it must be stressed that this is not an exhaustive list of sites suitable for older people; 
moreover they are located close to amenities. 

Other sites within the SAP of over 250 units in or adjoining the main urban area and major 
settlements and development of over 50 units in or adjoining smaller settlements, are required to 
demonstrate that they are meeting the need for local housing including  providing for older people 
where required 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Leeds City Council sites available for the development of older people’s accommodation

As part of the Council’s commitment to support the development of accommodation for older 
people, a number of Council owned sites have been identified for sale for this type of housing 
provision.  The Council sites identified for sale have been strategically selected to link with locality 
demand profiles to ensure that there is an opportunity to deliver schemes to address unmet need. 
Specific details are included in a site brochure which accompanies the prospectus.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Investment by Leeds City Council into Older People’s Housing Provision

Leeds City Council has made significant investment into housing for older people; building new Extra 
Care accommodation, designating Council owned land for older people’s housing provision and 
improving existing sheltered housing stock. This demonstrates the Council’s commitment to the 
provision of improved housing choices for older people.

Page 242



Page 11 of 35

Extra Care

The provision of a new mixed tenure Extra Care housing scheme on the site of the former Howarth 
Court sheltered housing at Yeadon is currently under construction. The Wharfedale View scheme 
will provide 45 self-contained high quality apartments and will be the first council owned and 
managed extra care scheme in the City. The development comprises of 18 one bedroom and 27 two 
bedroom apartments, along with a range of vibrant communal and outdoor spaces. The scheme is 
supported by grant funding from the Department of Health. 

An architect’s impression of Wharfedale View Extra Care Scheme, Yeadon

Sheltered Housing 

Leeds City Council is reviewing its existing sheltered housing stock to ensure that it is fit for purpose 
and provides sustainable accommodation for older people. A number of schemes are in the process 
of or have benefited from capital investment to improve the quality of accommodation available for 
Housing Leeds tenants:

An investment programme is underway at Wharfedale Court to covert an unused annex into four 
new self-contained apartments. This will provide new accommodation within the Otley & Yeadon 
Ward, which has the most significant levels of demand for both older people aged 65-75 and 75+.

Farrah Lane, located in Adel & Wharfedale Ward, has also benefitted from a significant level of 
investment. A c£1.6m refurbishment project has been completed in order to convert bedsit 
accommodation into self-contained apartments. 

Alongside this, c£12m allocated within the Housing Leeds investment strategy for sheltered housing 
remodelling, plus additional funding for expenditure on communal areas, and decency works within 
individual dwellings.

Page 243



Page 12 of 35

Ingram Court, in Beeston & Holbeck Ward, has benefited from PFI investment to remodel an existing 
sheltered housing scheme. The scheme comprises of 23 fully refurbished apartments, three of which 
are fully adapted for a disabled tenant and include two bedrooms. The one bedroom apartments are 
self-contained and have been reconfigured to provide tenants with more space, wet floor showers 
and new kitchens. Tenant’s warmth, safety and security have been considered throughout the 
design. Alongside the internal remodelling, external improvements were also made to create better 
outdoor facilities for the tenants.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Locality Profiles and demand for Older People’s Specialist Housing

To provide potential developers with information about demand and site opportunities, 10 locality 
profiles have been produced. The profiles provide an overview of each area in terms of the levels of 
current and projected future demand and the type of accommodation needed. Alongside this, maps 
of sites identified as being suitable for older people’s housing, as identified through the Site 
Allocations process, are also included. 

All sites currently identified in Phase 1 of the Site Allocation Plan (SAP) deemed to be appropriate in 
whole or part for older people’s housing and / or independent living accommodation have been 
reviewed for their likely suitability to potentially provide specialist older people’s accommodation. 

It is to be acknowledged that this is not a definitive list of sites and there will be other locations 
across the city which could be suitable for this type of provision but serves to illustrate the potential 
investment opportunities available. 

As indicated above, current and future demand forecast for different types of older people’s 
accommodation is outlined. This provides potential developers and providers with an outline of the 
projected quantum of need across the City. The projections have been produced by the Council’s 
Adult Social Care Directorate based on Cordis Bright and Planning4Care, 2009, and More Choice 
Greater Voice, DOH 2008, methodologies. These are  a forecasting model which is  reviewed on a 
regular basis and is  therefore subject to change in line with changes to demand and supply patterns. 
Figures indicated in red with a minus symbol indicates an under supply. 

The number of people aged over 75 on the Leeds Housing Register is also provided to show the level 
of current demand for those wanting an affordable rented property. 

Copies of individual locality maps are available on request.

Inner East Locality Profile
Locality Overview
Inner East Leeds is made up the electoral wards of Burmantofts & Richmond Hill, Gipton & Harehills, 
Killingbeck & Seacroft and comprises a number of distinct communities. From 2013 mid-year 

Page 244



Page 13 of 35

estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 8,924, which is equivalent to 10.8% of the 
total population of the locality.

There is a neighbourhood framework in place for the Killingbeck & Seacroft Ward which the Council 
has developed to outline a vision for the future shape of some areas of the City and will act as 
informal planning guidance which will support the regeneration of these areas. For further 
information, please visit: http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Killingbeck-and-Seacroft-
Neighbourhood-Framework.aspx

Current indicative profile of demand and need: 

Inner East Locality Burmantofts & 
Richmond Hill

Gipton & Harehills
Killingbeck & 

Seacroft
Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

21 30 32

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

6 -27 -45

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

-24 118 27

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing

76 -49 -60

Projected  indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Inner East Locality
Burmantofts & 
Richmond Hill

Gipton & Harehills
Killingbeck & 

Seacroft
Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-6 -37 -61

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

-18 123 35

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing

54 -67 -89

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocation Plan – Phase 1 sites: 

Reference Location Approx. site size ha

Page 245

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Killingbeck-and-Seacroft-Neighbourhood-Framework.aspx
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Killingbeck-and-Seacroft-Neighbourhood-Framework.aspx


Page 14 of 35

AV18 Marsh Lane 3.67
AV20 Yorkshire Ambulance Station, Saxton Lane 0.60
AV28 Bow Street and East Street 0.13
AV29 Ellerby Road and Bow Street 0.81
MX2-8 Former Compton Arms, Compton Road 0.45
HG2-87 Amberton Terrace 1.57
HG2-93 Brooklands Avenue 0.83
HG2-101 Hudson Road, Hudson Mill (Arcadia), Burmantofts 11.37

Page 246



Page 15 of 35

Page 247



Page 16 of 35

Inner North East Locality Profile

Locality Overview

Inner North East Leeds is made up of many distinct neighbourhoods and covers the electoral wards 
of Chapel Allerton, Moortown and Roundhay. From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people 
aged over 65 stands at 10,329, which is equivalent to 14% of the total population of the locality.

There is a neighbourhood framework in place for the Beckhills Estate, Chapel Allerton Ward, which 
the Council has developed to outline a vision for the future shape of some areas of the City and will 
act as informal planning guidance which will support the regeneration of these areas. For further 
information, please visit: http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Beckhills.aspx 

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Inner North East Locality Chapel Allerton Moortown Roundhay

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

51 61 10

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

-34 79 16

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing 

22 -2 51

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

109 -42 235

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Inner North East Locality Chapel Allerton Moortown Roundhay

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-46 60 -2

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

28 7 74

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

87 -76 202

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
MX2-3 Meanwood Road Working Men’s Club, Meanwood Road 0.47
HG1-77 468 Harrogate Road 0.13
HG1-80 467 Street Lane 0.04
HG1-207 Beckhill Garth / Approach 2.70
HG2-50 Church Lane - Paddock, Meanwood LS6 0.70
HG2-85 Beckhill Approach, Miles Hill Primary School, Meanwood 2.28

Page 248

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Beckhills.aspx


Page 17 of 35

Page 249



Page 18 of 35

Outer North East Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The Outer North East area of Leeds, covering the Wards of Alwoodley, Harewood and Wetherby, is 
made up of a number of local communities and rural villages. The locality has 16 Town & Parish 
Council’s within the boundary.

From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 13,970, which is 
equivalent to 22.9% of the total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Outer North East Locality Alwoodley Harewood Wetherby

Social Housing Demand: Leeds Housing 
Register Waiting List 75+ Age Range 

24 31 99

Current Under / Over Supply of Extra 
Care 

13 -50 -47

Current under / over supply of Care 
Beds without Nursing

-41 -36 -16

Current under / over supply of Care 
Beds with Nursing

-103 -90 -32

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Outer North East Locality Alwoodley Harewood Wetherby

Projected under / over supply of Extra 
Care housing 

52 -68 -66

Projected under / over supply of Care 
Beds without Nursing 

-31 -27 -7

Projected under / over supply of Care 
Beds with Nursing 

-140 -122 -68

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
HG1-30 Wetherby Health Centre 0.40
HG2-20 Mercure Hotel, Wetherby Road, Wetherby 1.85

Page 250



Page 19 of 35

Page 251



Page 20 of 35

Inner South Locality Profile

Locality Overview

Inner South Leeds is made up the electoral wards of Beeston & Holbeck, City & Hunslet and 
Middleton Park.  From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 8,318, 
which is equivalent to 10.1% of the total population of the locality.

There is a neighbourhood framework in place for Middleton & Belle Isle, which the Council has 
developed to outline a vision for the future shape of some areas of the City and will act as informal 
planning guidance which will support the regeneration of these areas. For further information, 
please visit: http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Middleton-and-Belle-Isle-Neighbourhood-
Framework.aspx 

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Inner South Locality
Beeston & 

Holbeck
City & Hunslet Middleton Park

Social Housing Demand: Leeds Housing 
Register Waiting List 75+ Age Range 

44 21 51

Current Under / Over Supply of Extra 
Care 

-18 28 -40

Current under / over supply of Care 
Beds without Nursing 

-26 47 56

Current under / over supply of Care 
Beds with Nursing 

18 165 -23

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Inner South Locality
Beeston & 

Holbeck
City & Hunslet Middleton Park

Projected under / over supply of Extra 
Care housing 

-31 19 -55

Projected under / over supply of Care 
Beds without Nursing 

-20 51 63

Projected under / over supply of Care 
Beds with Nursing 

-6 148 -49

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
AV32 Rose Wharf Car Park, East Street 0.46
AV48 Former Motor Dealers, Church St, Hunslet 1.29
AV94 South Bank Planning Statement Area 19.52
MX2-7 Thomas Danby College, Roundhay Road 4.82

Page 252

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Middleton-and-Belle-Isle-Neighbourhood-Framework.aspx
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Middleton-and-Belle-Isle-Neighbourhood-Framework.aspx


Page 21 of 35

MX2-13 Benyon House 2.48
MX2-16 Bridge Street, Baker House 0.2
MX2-17 North Street - Leeds College of Building 0.9
MX2-18 Regent Street / Skinner Lane LS2 0.21
MX2-23 Quarry Hill/York Street Leeds 2.74
HG1-247 Bridge Street, Gower Street, Regent Street 0.91
HG1-264 86 Elland Road, Holbeck 0.06
HG1-265 Fairfax Road 0.72
HG1-271 Malvern Rise 0.82
HG1-275 Bismarck Street 1.30
HG1-277 272a Dewsbury Road 0.04
HG1-327 Barkly Road 0.54
HG1-440 17 Regent Street, Sheepscar 0.23
HG2-113 Round House (rear of) 0.99
HG2-114 Cambrian Street, LS11 0.64
HG2-138 Park Lees site, St Anthony's Road, Beeston 0.51
HG2-139 Old Lane - Jubilee Works, Beeston 1.23
HG2-140 Dewsbury Road, Leeds, LS11 7DF 1.85
HG2-141 Westland Road 2.03
HG2-189 North Street (59) - Caspar building and Centenary House LS2 0.73
HG2-190 Leylands Road LS2 0.03

Page 253



Page 22 of 35

Page 254



Page 23 of 35

Outer South Locality Profile

Locality Overview

Outer South Leeds comprises of four Wards; Ardsley & Robin Hood, Morley North, Morley South and 
Rothwell. From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 14,676, 
which is equivalent to 16.5% of the total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Outer South Locality
Ardsley & 

Robin Hood
Morley 
North

Morley 
South

Rothwell

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

18 21 117 96

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

-31 -42 -39 -46

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

-22 70 18 105*

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

-55 -19 -71 -47

* Includes new build care home due to open in February 2016.

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Outer South Locality
Ardsley & 

Robin Hood
Morley 
North

Morley 
South

Rothwell

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-42 -58 -53 -63

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

-17 78 25 113

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

-75 -47 -96 -77

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
HG1-330 Drighlington Junior School, Whitehall Road 0.37
HG1-350 South Street – Park Mills, Morley 0.40
HG1-360 Corporation Street, Morley 0.36
HG1-364 Land at Junction of St Paul’s Street, South Queen Street 0.07
HG1-365 The Former Sycamore Public House, High Street 0.07
HG1-366 Bridge Street, Morley 0.25
HG1-404 Marsh Street, Rothwell 0.05
HG2-155 Joseph Priestly College 0.40
HG2-156 Rod Mills Lane, High Street, Morley 1.84

Page 255



Page 24 of 35

Page 256



Page 25 of 35

Outer East Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The Wards of Crossgates & Whinmoor, Garforth & Swillington, Kippax & Methley and Temple 
Newsham are located with the Outer East locality. The locality has eight Town & Parish Councils 
primarily operating within the locality. From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged 
over 65 stands at 16,315, which is equivalent to 20.3% of the total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Outer East Locality
Crossgates & 
Whinmoor

Garforth & 
Swillington

Kippax & 
Methley

Temple 
Newsham

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

32 102 55 73

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

38 -48 -40 -44

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

-39 147 129 -32

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

-24 -86 15 59

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Outer East Locality
Crossgates & 
Whinmoor

Garforth & 
Swillington

Kippax & 
Methley

Temple 
Newsham

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

19 -65 -54 -60

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

-29 213 136 -24

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

-59 -117 -11 31

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites: 
Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
HG1-309 Beech Grove / Avenue, Garforth 0.07
HG2-129 Ash Tree Primary School, Kippax 0.55
HG2-130 Land at 25 - 29 High Street, Kippax 0.40

Page 257



Page 26 of 35

Page 258



Page 27 of 35

Inner West Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The Inner West locality comprises of the Wards of Armley, Bramley & Stanningley and Kirkstall. The 
area has four large designated town centres: Armley, Bramley, Kirkstall & Kirkstall Road. From 2013 
mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 8,366, which is equivalent to 
12.1% of the total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Inner West Locality Armley
Bramley & 

Stanningley
Kirkstall

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

37 74 17

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

-40 5 -34

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

183 -26 0

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

-12 -65 -61

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Inner West Locality Armley
Bramley & 

Stanningley
Kirkstall

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-55 -8 -46

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

190 -20 6

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

-38 -89 -83

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
MX2-4 Kirkstall District Centre 3.62
MX2-5 Waterloo Lane, Leeds 1.25
HG1-145 3 Canal Wharf, Wyther Lane 1.12
HG1-250 Theaker Lane 0.10
HG2-110 Wesley Road (west of ), Tong Road (north of), Armley 1.03
HG2-200 Stanningley Road, Leeds 0.56

Page 259



Page 28 of 35

Page 260



Page 29 of 35

Outer West Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The Wards of Calverley & Farsley, Farnley & Wortley and Pudsey are located within this locality. The 
area has five designated town and local centres: Farsley, Stanningley Bottom, Pudsey Chapeltown, 
Pudsey and Lower Wortley.  From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 
stands at 11,606, which is equivalent to 16.4% of the total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Outer West Locality
Calverley & 

Farsley
Farnley & Wortley Pudsey

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range

36 31 163

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care

-44 -47 -50

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

-32 126 81

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing

78 -15 -49

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Outer West Locality
Calverley & 

Farsley
Farnley & Wortley Pudsey

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-60 -65 -69

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

-24 134 90

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

49 -46 -81

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
MX2-6 Wortley Low Mills Whitehall Road 2.46
HG1-137 Cherry Tree Drive, Farsley 0.48
HG1-149 New Street, Farsley 0.25
HG1-162 Bradford Road (83-105), Stanningley 1.17
HG1-163 Vernon Place, LS28 0.06
HG1-177 Lane End, Pudsey 0.74
HG1-189 Robin Lane / Longfield Road, Pudsey 0.86
HG1-259 236 Tong Road LS12 0.12
HG2-74 Station Street, Pudsey 0.46
HG2-83 Upper Wortley Road, Thornhill Road, Bramley 0.50

Page 261



Page 30 of 35

Page 262



Page 31 of 35

Inner North West Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The Inner North West locality is made up of the Wards of Headingley, Hyde Park & Woodhouse and 
Weetwood. The area has six designated town and local centres: Burley Lodge, Hyde Park Corner, 
Royal Park, Cardigan Road, Headingley and Weetwood (Far Headingley). From 2013 mid-year 
estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 5,079, which is equivalent to 7.4% of the 
total population of the locality.

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Inner North West Locality Headingley
Hyde Park & 
Woodhouse

Weetwood

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

27 36 1

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

61 -13 -45

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

43 -9 -32

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

61 35 -81

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Inner North West Locality Headingley
Hyde Park & 
Woodhouse

Weetwood

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

56 -17 -61

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

45 -7 -24

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

52 27 -110

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
HG1-106 Monk Bridge Road (3) LS6 0.51
HG1-237 25 Moorland Avenue, Woodhouse 0.04
HG1-238 Cardigan Road (214-244) LS4 0.57
HG1-241 114 Burley Road LS4 0.09
HG2-187 Brandon Road, LS3 0.22

Page 263



Page 32 of 35

Page 264



Page 33 of 35

Outer North West Locality Profile

Locality Overview

The area covers the Wards of Adel & Wharfedale, Guiseley & Rawdon, Horsforth and Otley & 
Yeadon. From 2013 mid-year estimates, the number of people aged over 65 stands at 17,898, which 
is equivalent to 20.6% of the total population of the locality.

The Council has prepared a Planning Statement for Holt Park District Centre setting out development 
opportunities for redundant land including retail, housing and improved public space. The vision is to 
create a new heart for Holt Park, which supports and complements recent investment to serve the 
community and users of the district centre. For further information, please visit: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Holt-Park-District-Centre.aspx 

Current indicative profile of demand and need:

Outer North West Locality
Adel & 

Wharfedale
Guiseley & 

Rawdon
Horsforth Otley & Yeadon

Leeds Housing Register Waiting 
List 75+ Age Range 

30 33 47 190

Current Under / Over Supply of 
Extra Care 

-54 54 -40 -57

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds without Nursing

23 -2 0 9

Current under / over supply of 
Care Beds with Nursing 

-97 -8 -54 -103

Projected indicative need for different types of specialist accommodation by 2028:

Outer North West Locality
Adel & 

Wharfedale
Guiseley & 

Rawdon
Horsforth Otley & Yeadon

Projected under / over supply 
of Extra Care housing 

-74 37 -57 -33

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds without Nursing 

33 7 9 19

Projected under / over supply 
of Care Beds with Nursing 

-132 -39 -86 -141

N.B. Figures in red indicate an under supply

Site Allocations Plan – Phase 1 sites:

Reference Location Approx. site size ha 
MX1-26 Otley (East of) 29.99
MX2-2 Westgate, Otley 0.83
HG1-5 Parkside Works, Otley Road, Guiseley 0.24
HG1-13 26-28 New Road Side, Rawdon 0.05
HG1-67 Long Row, Horsforth 0.16

Page 265

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/council/Pages/Holt-Park-District-Centre.aspx


Page 34 of 35

HG1-84 Salmon Crescent / Stanhope Drive 0.17
HG1-98 Victoria Avenue, Horsforth 0.42
HG1-99 Low Fold Garage, New Road Side, Horsforth 0.18
HG2-6 Silverdale Avenue (land at), Guiseley 1.98
HG2-7 Swaine Hill Terrace - former Brookfield Nursing Home, Yeadon 0.42
HG2-11 Larkfield Drive (off) - Ivy House (adjacent), Rawdon 0.45
HG2-14 East Chevin Road, Otley 1.50
HG2-30 Eyrie Public House 0.40
HG2-32 Cookridge Fire Station 0.42
HG2-33 Land south east of Holt Park Leisure Centre, Holt Park, Leeds 0.78
HG2-34 Farrar Lane, Adel 0.86
HG2-44 Clarence Road (land at) - Horsforth LS18 4LB 0.71
HG2-45 St Joseph's, Outwood Lane, Horsforth 0.83

Page 266



Page 35 of 35

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



Site Brochure: Development opportunities for the provision of housing for Older People 

Autumn 2015

Appendix 2

Page 269



Site 1: Former Wortley High School Site

Address: Swallow Crescent, Leeds LS12 4RB

Ward: Farnley & Wortley

Site Plan:

Description:  The former school site is located off Swallow Crescent in the Farnley & Wortley Ward, 
close to Farnley Ring Road and approximately 2 miles to the west of Leeds City Centre in a 
predominantly residential area. Topographically, the site slopes in an east to west direction. The 
former school has been demolished and site is cleared.

Type of housing: A planning statement has been drafted for the site and it has been deemed to be 
suitable for C2 or C3 housing.  The Council’s preference for this site is the development of an Extra 
Care scheme. 

Potential Capacity: A capacity study undertaken by the Council has highlighted that it is possible to 
provide a two storey, 45 unit Extra Care scheme based upon the Schedule of Accommodation 
outlined in the Leeds Extra Care Model.

Size of site: Approximately 1.5 ha.

Delivery Considerations: Access / highways alignment / parking provision are all subject to 
consultation with the Council’s highways service.

Anticipated timescales for delivery: The site is available for development now.

Page 270



Landowner: Leeds City Council

Contact for further details:

Site Disposal

Ruth Rutter

Land & Property, Asset Management & Regeneration 

ruth.rutter@leeds.gov.uk  0113 39 50679

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Site 2: Former Bodmin Road Children’s Home 

Page 271

mailto:ruth.rutter@leeds.gov.uk


Address:  2 -4 Bodmin Road, Leeds LS10 4UB

Ward: Middleton Park

Site Plan: 

Description: This site is the location of a former Council managed Children’s Home, within the 
Middleton Park Ward, Inner South Leeds. The buildings located on the site are to be demolished 
imminently.

Type of housing: The Council’s preference for this site is the development of an Extra Care scheme. 
This is based on evidence provided through the Adult Social Care modelling system.

Potential Capacity: A capacity study undertaken by the Council has highlighted that it is possible to 
provide a two storey, 45 unit Extra Care scheme based upon the Schedule of Accommodation 
outlined in the Leeds Extra Care Model.

Size of site: Approximately 0.765ha.

Page 272



Delivery Considerations: Access / highways alignment / parking provision are all subject to 
consultation with the Council’s highways service.

Anticipated timescales for delivery: The site is available for development now.

Landowner: Leeds City Council

Contact for further details:

Site Disposal

Mike Ross

Land & Property, Asset Management & Regeneration 

mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk 0113 39 51479

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Site 3: Former Ash Tree Primary School

Page 273

mailto:mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk


Address:  Leeds Road, Kippax, LS25 7HG

Ward: Kippax & Methley

Site Plan: 

Description: The former primary school site is located in the heart of Kippax on the edge of the town 
centre. It is in a predominantly residential location, with a mix of residential property types and ages. 
Kippax library is accessed off Westfield Lane directly opposite the site. The scheduled historic 
monument of Manor Harth Hill ringwork lies to the east off Church Lane and can clearly be viewed 
from the site.

The site sits in a prominent location on the brow of the hill, approached in both directions, (north 
and south) along Leeds Road. The site has been cleared and is flat. To the northern end, where the 
trees and shrubs are, the land starts to drop away quite steeply.

Type of housing: A planning statement has been drafted for the site and it has been deemed to be 
suitable for C2 or C3 housing.

Page 274



Potential Capacity: New housing could be built at a higher density to reflect the site’s sustainable 
location on the edge of town centre. Initial views are that development should not exceed three 
storeys.

Size of site: Approximately 0.6ha.

Delivery Considerations: Access / highways alignment / parking provision are all subject to 
consultation with the Council’s highways service.

Anticipated timescales for delivery: The site is available for development now.

Landowner: Leeds City Council

Contact for further details:

Site Disposal

Mike Ross

Land & Property, Asset Management & Regeneration 

mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk 0113 39 51479

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 275

mailto:mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk


Site 4: Former Primrose Hill Home for Older People

Address:  Westwood Way, Boston Spa, LS23 6DX

Ward: Wetherby

Site Plan: 

Description: The site of the former Older People’s Home is located in the village of Boston Spa in the 
Wetherby Ward.

Type of housing: The site and it has been deemed to be suitable for C2 or C3 housing.

Potential Capacity: There is a building still on situ at the site which is a 33 bed former older people’s 
home. The preferred option would be for the building to be converted and re-used.

Size of site: Approximately 0.44ha.

Page 276



Delivery Considerations: Access / highways alignment / parking provision are all subject to 
consultation with the Council’s highways service.

Anticipated timescales for delivery: The site is available for development now.

Landowner: Leeds City Council

Contact for further details:

Site Disposal

Mike Ross

Land & Property, Asset Management & Regeneration 

mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk 0113 39 51479

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 277

mailto:mike.ross@leeds.gov.uk


Site 5: Holt Park 

Address: Farrar Lane, Holt Park, Leeds LS16 7JW

Ward:  Adel & Wharfedale 

Site Plan*: 

*Indicative only

Description: The site is located adjacent to the Holt Park Active Centre, Holt Park District Centre and 
a recently refurbished Council owned and managed sheltered housing scheme. 

Type of housing: The site and it has been deemed to be suitable for C2 or C3 housing.

Potential Capacity: It has been suggested that the site could be split into two opportunities to 
provide both Extra Care and care home provision.

Size of site:  Approximately 1.31ha

Delivery Considerations: Access / highways alignment / parking provision are all subject to 
consultation with the Council’s highways service. 

Anticipated timescales for delivery: The site is available for development now.

Landowner: Leeds City Council

Contact for further details:

Site Disposal

Page 278



Chris Bellamy

Land & Property, Asset Management & Regeneration 

christopher.bellamy@leeds.gov.uk 0113 24 77882

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 279

mailto:christopher.bellamy@leeds.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development  
 

Service area: Asset Management & 
Regeneration 
 

Lead person: Sarah May 
 

Contact number: 3781091 

 
1. Title:  
Developing the range of housing options for the older peoples housing market; Older 
People’s Housing Prospectus 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify:  
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
This screening document is in relation to an Executive Board report, dated 18th 
November 2015, regarding the development of an Older People’s Housing 
Prospectus.  
 
The report presents a market facing prospectus, for the Executive Board to adopt, in 
order to encourage Registered Providers and developers to provide more specialist 
accommodation for older people. The need for further specialist older people’s 
accommodation is justified in the prospectus through the provision of figures 
highlighting current and projected levels of need.  
 
A number of Council sites are also outlined to be marketed and sold for specialist 
older people’s accommodation provision. 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

X   

Page 281



   
   

2

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
The focus of the report by definition prioritises older people. It recognises the need to 
respond to evidence of existing gaps in supply of a range of housing options as the 
number of people over 75 increases over the coming years.  
  
Approximately 600 units of extra care accommodation are required to meet the current 
needs of people over 75.  Capacity to deliver sufficient units towards meeting this need is 

Page 282



   
   

3

therefore being drawn out from a range of sources, including the independent sector, 
registered providers and the Council House Growth Programme.  
 
As older people aspire to be independent for longer there is an emphasis on choice and 
control and services that are more responsive to individual need.  The ambition to 
develop additional units of accommodation in areas of undersupply across the city, in a 
variety of tenures and by a range of providers will ensure that older people have a choice 
about where they live. 
 
Some initial consultation has been undertaken with Voice for Older Leeds Tenants 
(VOLT) and representatives from the Leeds Older People’s forum. Further engagement 
will continue on an ongoing basis to ensure that there is an awareness of work being 
undertaken to further develop the range of housing options available for older people. 
 

 Key findings 
The proposals reflect differences in need in relation to existing and predicted supply 
across the city’s neighbourhoods. The proposals seek to facilitate an increase in supply 
to meet current and predicted localised gaps in provision across the city.  
 
No diversion of resources from other equality provision is anticipated, since funding is 
likely either to come via dedicated, specialist routes, including that only available to 
housing associations, or benefit from commercial sector investment. 
 
Of particular relevance for integration and cohesion, Better Lives for Older People is 
predicated on the principle that outcomes for older people improve when they are able to 
stay, for as long as possible, in familiar surroundings with services delivered to them.  
This means that families and carers are also able to remain in close contact with their 
elders, offering support but also deriving well-being from maintaining an integrated family 
life.  
 
The provision of a range of housing options facilitates individual choice.  This will have 
positive impact on the high incidence of poverty in many areas of the city gained by 
releasing larger council and housing association homes for general family use. 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Governance is provided by a Head of Service led Steering Group who will continue to 
monitor progress.  Clearly programme managers will be looking for measurable positive 
impact on older people and neighbourhood well-being. 
 
As individual proposals come forward, managers will undertake project specific EDCI 
screening and action plans that will look in detail at potential EDCI impacts. 
 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:  

Page 283



   
   

4

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening: 
Name Job title Date 
 
Sarah May 

Principle Regeneration 
Officer 

September 2015 

Date screening completed September 2015 

7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

Page 284



1

Report of: Director of Adult Social Services

Report to: Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): 

Burmantofts and Richmond Hill,  Chapel Allerton, Killingbeck & 
Seacroft and Wetherby
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. As part of Adult Social Care’s Better Lives Programme, the Learning Disability Day 
Service Modernisation Project has, since 2009, positively transformed day 
opportunities for over 560 adults with learning disabilities in the city. Six years ago 
learning disability day services in Leeds consisted of eight segregated, poorly 
maintained buildings, mostly located away from the local community. They provided 
an institutionalised model of care with each centre attended by over a hundred 
customers each day. The service model is now based on inclusion with 
personalised approaches that are based around each individual customer’s 
aspirations and needs. Services are now delivered in modern, fit for purpose 
buildings located in the heart of local communities. The project has delivered a wide 
range of new choices and opportunities for greater integration and community 
participation, as people have moved into new community bases, third sector 
projects and have greater access to mainstream facilities and community assets.

2. The project has to date delivered 21 new community bases, 22 Changing Place 
toilet facilities and 20 voluntary sector projects.  A new day centre has been built at 
Rothwell and the centre at Bramley has been extensively refurbished.  The sites at 
Moor End, West Ardsley, Rothwell East and Horsforth have been declared surplus 
and returned to void management.

Report author:  Ivan Barnett
Tel: 0113 37 3499

Page 285

Agenda Item 16



2

3. This report will detail the outcomes and achievements of the project to date and 
inform Executive Board of the details of the final stage of the Learning Disability 
Day Services Modernisation Capital Programme.  This will involve developing three 
final community bases in the East North East area of the city and the refurbishment 
of Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre.  Once completed, this will allow Wetherby 
and Ramshead Wood day centre sites to be declared surplus and be put into void 
management.

4. This report also seeks authority to spend of £870.0k on the refurbishment of 
Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre to make it fit for purpose for long-term use as a 
resource for learning disabled customers with additional complex health needs.

           Recommendations

5. The Executive Board is asked to note the achievements to date of the Learning 
Disability Day Service Modernisation Project which has so far positively transformed 
day opportunities for over 560 adults with learning disabilities in the city.

6. The Executive Board is asked to note, in accordance with the Better Lives Strategy, 
the plan to complete the Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Project in 
the East North East of the city.  The plan will create three new bases at Wetherby, 
Cross Gates and Richmond Hill in addition to the refurbishment of Potternewton 
Fulfilling Lives Centre.  In turn this will allow both Wetherby and Ramshead Wood 
day centre sites to be released by Adult Social Care and put into void management.

7. The Executive Board is recommended to agree, as part of this plan, the proposal to 
refurbish the existing Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre and to give the authority 
to spend a total of £870.0k for this development, which has been identified and 
transferred from existing resources within the capital programme.

8. To note that it is intended for the scheme described in section 3.5 of this report will 
be started and completed between February and September 2016 and the lead 
officer responsible for implementation is the Director of Adult Social Services.

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Executive Board on the outcomes and 
achievements to date of the Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Project 
and to inform them of how the final phase of the programme will be delivered.  It 
also requests authority to incur expenditure of £870.0k for the refurbishment of 
Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre funded from within the current capital 
programme.

2. Background information: Achievements of the programme to date

2.1 In January 2009 Executive Board approved the plan to modernise learning disability 
day services.  The overall strategy for the modernisation programme is to support 
customers to move out of segregated settings and invest into a range of community 
buildings which will enable adults with learning disabilities to take an active part in 

Page 286



3

community life alongside non- disabled citizens.  With the opening of the new 
Rothwell base on the 27th April 2015 this process is now complete in the South and 
West of the city.

2.1.1 Since implementation began in 2010, the Learning Disability Day Service 
Modernisation Project has created 21 new community bases, detailed in Appendix 
One of this report.  A new base has been built at Rothwell and the centre at 
Bramley has been extensively refurbished to ensure South and North-West Leeds 
has fit-for-purpose provision that will meet the needs of customers with the most 
complex needs in the future.  To date, the programme has allowed Adult Social 
Care to release four large former day centre sites for alternative development or for 
the generation of capital receipt.

2.1.2 The Learning Disability Community Support Services (LDCSS) has gained 
Executive Board approval to become a social enterprise.  From 1st August 2015, 
the service has been known as Aspire Community Benefit Society Limited, which is 
a social enterprise and a separate legal entity.  Aspire will continue to run all the 
learning disability supported living, respite and day services previously provided by 
the Council’s LDCSS.

2.2 Benefits of the community base model of day opportunities

2.2.1 The 21 bases created by this programme have transformed the way learning 
disability day services are delivered in the city moving away from the previous “one 
size fits all” approach of traditional services.  They have delivered a number of 
significant benefits for the customers who use them and the people who care for 
and support them.

2.2.2 To date, over 430 customers have been moved out of large, segregated, 
geographically isolated buildings, most of which were in a poor state of repair, to 
new smaller community bases.

2.2.3 These customers and the staff now spend their days in small, modern, newly 
refurbished bases located in the heart of their local communities with a greatly 
expanded range of activities available to them.

2.2.4 In surveys carried out by customer involvement officers, feedback from the 
customers who have moved to the new community bases has been extremely 
positive with over 98% of customers saying they would not return to their old day 
centre if given the opportunity.

2.2.5 The care management planning team have also reported consistently positive 
feedback from family carers about the new services from the formal three month 
reviews they carry out for each customer.  This is in part due to the service 
maintaining its commitment to providing the same level of service to meet the 
respite needs of family carers.

2.2.6  As part of this project, hundreds of customers have undergone a comprehensive 
assessment of their and their carers needs, undertaken by a member of the care 
management planning team.  This has ensured that customers and their carers 
have been involved in developing and agreeing their personalised plan of support.  

Page 287



4

This is certainly one of the factors that have delivered such high customer and carer 
satisfaction levels with the new services.

2.2.7 The project has delivered greater community participation for people with learning 
disabilities who have moved from the old day centres into a series of new 
community bases and third sector choices.  The project team undertook a study in 
2011 which measured the amount to which a customer’s timetable facilitated 
community participation before and after the closure of Moorend day centre in 
Hunslet, which was the first day centre to be re-provided.  The results demonstrated 
significantly increased level of participation in community activity for all customers in 
their new services compared to the service they received in the former day centre.

2.2.8 The partnership this programme has developed with the Council’s Sport Service 
has been particularly successful.  There are now learning disability community 
bases in ten of the city’s leisure centres with the aim of removing barriers to 
participation for this disadvantaged group and to reduce health inequalities.  These 
bases have vastly improved opportunities for people with learning disabilities to 
participate in healthy, sporting activity in the heart of their communities.

2.2.9 The project has brought customers greater social inclusion by creating new services 
and opportunities close to where people live, in the heart of their local community 
rather than in isolated and segregated locations.

2.2.10 Previously, the average attendance at a day centre was in excess of one hundred 
people a day.  At the community bases this is approximately fifteen.  In this 
environment, staff have reported being able to deliver a far more individually 
tailored service where customer needs are better understood and met and their job 
satisfaction has increased.

2.2.11 Staff have reported that these smaller, quieter environments have been particularly 
beneficial not only to the growing number of older customers in the service but also 
to many other customers who struggled to cope in the larger, noisier environment of 
the traditional day centre.  For some customers incidences of challenging or 
distressed behaviour have reduced significantly in the new bases.

2.3     The creation of Day Care provision for people with complex needs

2.3.1 Despite the success of the community base model of service, some customers still 
require a more specific environment to meet their complex needs.  All available 
demographic information, both locally and nationally, points towards a steady 
increase in the demand for services for customers with complex health needs.  This 
is the result of both an ageing population and improvements in health care for 
people with learning disabilities.

2.3.1 In each of the three areas of the city it has, therefore, been the intention to retain 
one of the existing Fulfilling Lives centres, and upgrade them to provide a base for 
each area capable of meeting the needs of customers with the most complex care 
needs.  So far 134 customers have moved out of old day centre buildings into these 
newly built or re-furbished facilities.

Page 288



5

2.3.2 A £300.0k investment has been made into the existing Fulfilling Lives centre at 
Bramley, to ensure that there is an asset base able to cater for those customers 
with the most complex profound and multiple disabilities in the West North West of 
the city.

2.3.3 In the South of the city a new £2,500k, state of the art centre has been built on half 
of the former day centre site at Rothwell, after the refurbishment option was 
discounted.  This provides a service for up to 55 customers a day with complex 
health care needs.  The building opened in April 2015 marking the completion of the 
day service modernisation programme in the South and West of the city.

2.3.4 In the East North East area the specialist facility will be created by the 
refurbishment of Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre as detailed in this report.

2.4 The Changing Places Programme

2.4.1 Through this project, Adult Social Care has taken the lead on the development of 
Changing Place facilities as part of its capital programme.  Changing Places is a 
national campaign to establish toilet and changing facilities, well equipped and of an 
adequate size, which carers can use to assist adults who are not independent in 
personal care needs.  This has the potential to reduce greatly the difficulties which 
customers and carers experience while accessing community facilities.

2.4.2 At the beginning of this programme there was just one Changing Place facility in 
Leeds.  As a result of the work of the Fulfilling Lives Team and Council partners 
there are now 22 building-based Changing Places in Leeds and more facilities are 
in the pipeline for the bases at Barleyfields, Richmond Hill and as part of the 
Merrion Centre refurbishment.  A full list of Changing Places is contained in 
Appendix One of this report.

2.4.3 In October 2014, LCC took delivery of the first mobile Changing Place or High 
Dependency Unit (HDU) for Leeds.  This is the first mobile Changing Place in the 
city and is now available for numerous outdoor events such as the German 
Christmas Market, Ice Cube, Breeze, Light Night and Learning Disability Week.  
The council’s Events Team manage bookings and tow the unit to sites.

2.4.4 Some of the Changing Places delivered did not require funding from the Learning 
Disability Capital Programme but rather were delivered through partnership work 
with City Development to ensure new developments such as the Arena, Trinity 
Centre and Reginald Centre had the provision of a Changing Place as part of their 
plans.

2.4.5 The programme has also funded other schemes to make community buildings more 
accessible to disabled people such as contributing to new lifts at the Hamara 
Healthy Living Centre and at the Yorkshire Dance centre.

2.5 Investment into voluntary sector day opportunities

2.5.1 In keeping with the overall Better Lives Strategy, one of the key aims of this project 
was to move investment away from large congregated services, toward more 
personalised, community-based services and support.  There were two main 
approaches to this work.  One was to develop the network of community bases 

Page 289



6

across the city.  The other was to invest in voluntary sector organisations to develop 
direct alternatives to the existing day services.

2.5.2 This was delivered through grant funding 20 separate projects, with applications 
encouraged from a diverse range of organisations.  The grants process was 
purposely non-prescriptive to encourage creativity and innovation, while offering the 
required level of support that would enable the de-commissioning of some of the 
traditional day centres. These projects have been extremely popular with customers 
and their carers and an evaluation undertaken in late 2012 showed that all projects 
were meeting the conditions of their grant funding.

2.5.3 The community bases and the voluntary sector projects have also provided a 
number of volunteering and employment training opportunities for adults with 
learning disabilities in the city.  Aspire now run the cafés at Middleton Park visitors’ 
centre and at Otley Chevin, whilst Gardening Works, Hollybush Conservation 
Centre, SLATE furniture store, the Courtyard Cafe and the People First Office all 
provide placements for adults with learning disabilities to work alongside non-
disabled staff and volunteers.

2.5.4 The 20 projects have greatly increased the available choice and opportunities for 
adults with learning disabilities in the city.  They have helped to stimulate an 
alternative market in voluntary, community and faith sector provision which in turn, 
has offered viable, value for money alternatives to traditional Adult Social Care day 
services.  All these projects have now been re-commissioned and moved on to 
long-term, sustainable financial arrangements.  In total approximately 400 people 
with learning disabilities have so far benefited from these projects as detailed in 
Appendix One of this report.

 
2.6 Building Successful Partnerships

2.6.1 The Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Programme has been built upon 
a series of successful partnerships with key stakeholders who have together 
delivered the buildings, services and benefits detailed in this report.  This “One 
Leeds” approach has been essential to enable learning disability services to 
transform their services.

2.6.2 The work of the project has been built on years of extensive local consultations with 
customers, relatives and carers, staff members and other key stakeholders such as 
local Ward Members.  Gaining this local consensus and support from the outset has 
helped to ensure the services delivered have not only met the needs of customers 
but had a positive impact for the local community.

2.6.3 The project team has worked closely with Corporate Asset Management, City 
Development and Facilities Management to identify suitable buildings across the 
city where community bases and Changing Places could be developed.  The 
development of these positive working relationships has supported the project to 
negotiate the use of space in these buildings, oversee the design and building 
works necessary to create the new facilities, establish lease and rental agreements 
and oversee the return of day centre sites into void management.

Page 290



7

2.6.4 As mentioned earlier, this project has seen a particularly successful partnership 
between Adult Social Care and Sport.  There are now learning disability community 
bases in ten leisure centres across the city.  These bases have led to greater use of 
the centres during the day and represent a total investment of £640.0k by the 
project into improving underused spaces at these centres.  Each day at these 
centres, staff from Aspire work alongside leisure centre staff to support adults with 
learning disabilities access the facilities of the centre promoting social integration 
and the development of healthy lifestyles.

2.6.5 The twenty voluntary sector projects created by the project have all maintained 
close links with the learning disability services now run by Aspire.  There are 
numerous joint events held by these organisations across the city and the choice 
and opportunities created for adults with learning disabilities continues to grow each 
year.

2.6.6 The partnership with Health colleagues continues to be an important one, 
particularly when meeting the needs of customers with the most profound learning 
disability and health care needs.  Nursing staff are based at three centres for people 
with complex needs and health professionals such as physiotherapists, 
occupational therapists and nurses were involved by the project team in the design 
of the new Rothwell centre.

2.6.7 Other Council departments who have positively contributed to the delivery of this 
programme include, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Human Resources, 
Financial Management, Leeds Library & Information Services, Leeds Museums and 
Galleries, Youth Services, PPPU Procurement and Contracts, Legal Services and 
ICT Service Delivery.

2.7 Facilitating wider financial benefits

2.7.1 The project has also contributed to the delivery of efficiencies in a number of areas 
since implementation began in 2010.

2.7.2 Before modernisation many customers were transported long distances each day to 
attend their day centre.  The modernisation process has ensured that all customers 
have been returned to their local area and attend the closest service which can 
meet their assessed needs.  As a result many customers are spending far less time 
each day on transport. For some it has removed the need for LCC transport 
altogether.  This in turn has also helped to deliver transport efficiencies as more 
customers are now receiving their service in their local community.

2.7.3 The asset programme has allowed four large former day service sites at Moor End, 
West Ardsley, Rothwell East and Horsforth to be declared surplus and returned to 
void management.  As well as the potential for a capital receipt, these closures 
have avoided the need to invest the significant sums which were needed to address 
urgent building maintenance issues at these sites.  Ongoing revenue and 
maintenance costs at the new smaller community bases will also be significantly 
less.

2.7.4 By completion, the programme will have invested approximately £1,300.0k into 
improving leisure and community centres in Leeds. These bases will also provide a 

Page 291



8

valuable income stream for these centres. In addition, most of the community bases 
created for learning disability services are available for hire for other groups on 
evenings and weekends.  The intention of these investments is not only to improve 
the buildings themselves but to make these spaces more desirable to increase the 
use and income from other groups using these centres.

2.7.5 As mentioned earlier, staff satisfaction around working in the smaller bases has 
been high and in some services this has led to a significant fall in sickness absence 
compared to staff working in the large traditional day centres.

3. Main issues

3.1. Plan to complete the modernisation process in the East North East area

3.1.1 The final stage of the Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Project is to 
create a further set of new community bases in the East North East of the city and 
Wetherby.

3.1.2 New bases have already been created at Naburn Court former older persons day 
centre, Garforth, Scott Hall and Fearnville Leisure Centres and the existing base at 
Technorth has been extended.  This leaves the project needing to deliver the 
proposed community bases at Barleyfields in Wetherby, Cross Gates and 
Richmond Hill and carry out the refurbishment of Potternewton centre to complete 
the city wide programme.  This approach was supported by the Council’s Asset 
Management Board on 14th May 2015.

3.2. Wetherby

3.2.1 Customer numbers have continued to decline at the current Wetherby centre as 
people have been relocated to services in their local communities as part of the Day 
Service Modernisation process, rather than being transported out to Wetherby.  
Numbers on the register have fallen from 40 to 32 in past two years, however daily 
attendance at the centre is between 14 and 22 people per day.  The new site at 
Barleyfields Community Centre will be better suited to meet the reduced service 
needs.  The community centre is a short walk from the town centre and will 
therefore offer customers a far greater opportunity to access local community 
facilities without the need to be transported from the centre by minibus.

3.2.2 Barleyfields will provide a discrete service in a community base for up to 25 learning 
disabled customers each day with high support needs who live in the local area.  
The plans include the provision of a Changing Place toilet facility to ensure the 
needs of customers with complex care needs that live in the Wetherby area can be 
met at the base.  This will be the first Changing Place facility in Wetherby and will 
be accessible to the wider community as well as the users of the day base.

3.2.3 The investment by Adult Social Care will be in the region of £180.0k and will provide 
a fit for purpose base for the customers currently attending the existing day centre 
on Sandbeck Way.  The scheme gained support from the Council’s Asset 
Management Board in October 2014 and, other than the main hall, will involve the 
complete refurbishment of all parts of the centre.  It is intended that the 
refurbishment of the site will also encourage better community use of an improved 

Page 292



9

site.  Improvements will also be made to the fabric of the building, including new 
windows and external improvements to pathways and the car park.

3.2.4 Local area consultations have taken place with customers, staff, relatives and 
carers over a number of years at Wetherby in an effort to find a suitable asset 
solution.  These discussions further emphasised the need to base learning disability 
day service provision in a smaller, more socially inclusive base closer to the centre 
of Wetherby.  Customer groups locally at Wetherby and the Customer Council have 
recently complained about the deteriorating condition of the current Wetherby 
centre.  These groups have been briefed on the scheme and are strongly 
supportive of the plan to re-locate to Barleyfields.

3.2.5 Throughout this year all current customers of the Barleyfields building have been 
extensively involved in discussions around Aspire’s proposed use and in agreeing 
the re- design of the building.  These have been carried out both on an individual 
basis and through a user group chaired by a local Ward Member.  The scheme 
design has been developed through consultation with these groups and allows for a 
specific “community room” which ensures existing community groups can continue 
to use the centre alongside the learning disability service.  Current users include the 
Food Bank, Youth Services, Salvation Army and a mental health support group.  
The Changing Place toilet facility and much of the other proposed upgrades, for 
example the new IT infrastructure, will benefit these groups and is intended to 
encourage an increased use by the wider community.

3.2.6 The refurbishment works began on site on the14th September and will take 
approximately ten weeks to complete. It is the intention for the centre to re-open in 
early December.  Once the Aspire service has been fully re-located to this new 
facility, Adult Social Care will hand the existing day centre site on Sandbeck Way 
back to Asset Management in January 2016.

3.3. Cross Gates Community Centre

3.3.1 Following the same process used in the other areas of the city, the project team has 
worked with colleagues in Corporate Property Management to identify buildings in 
the East North East of the city in which new community bases can be created.  One 
of these buildings is the Cross Gates Community Centre, which is currently 
underused and would benefit from a general upgrading of its facilities.

3.3.2 The creation of the base at Cross Gates Community Centre will provide a discrete 
service in a community base for up to 25 learning disabled customers with high 
support needs who live in the local area.  The proposed works include minor 
structural alterations to the inside of the building to allow the creation of a separate 
activity area. The provision of suspended ceilings will be installed along with new 
lighting throughout.  The current toilet facilities will be fully refurbished and new vinyl 
flooring will be laid throughout and new carpet laid in the office area.

3.3.3 The scheme design has also been developed through consultation with the existing 
centre user groups with the aim that they can continue to use the centre alongside 
the learning disability service.  Current users include the Cross Gates Good 
Neighbours Scheme, Youth Services and the Over 60’s club.

Page 293



10

3.3.4 This scheme represents an investment of approximately £165.0k into the 
community centre by Adult Social Care.  The work began at the end of September 
and is scheduled to be completed by December 2015.  It is anticipated that Aspire 
will open its service there, early in January 2016.

3.4. Richmond Hill Housing Office

3.4.1 The former Richmond Hill Housing Office building has been identified as an ideal 
base for up to twenty customers each day and there is a high demand for day 
service places in the local area. This scheme would also involve the creation of a 
Changing Place toilet facility.

3.4.2 The building will be returned to void management on the 30th November.  The 
intention is then to undertake the necessary works in early 2016.  This will be the 
final community base of the asset programme. Local ward members have been 
briefed on the proposed change of use for this building.

3.4.3 Consultations have been held at the existing Ramshead Wood Fulfilling Lives 
Service and customers, staff and relatives and carers are strongly supportive of the 
move to local community bases.

3.5. Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre

3.5.1 As mentioned earlier, in each of the three areas of the city it has been the intention 
to retain one of the existing Fulfilling Lives day centres to provide a base in each 
area capable of meeting the needs of customers with the most complex care needs.

3.5.2 A detailed Options Appraisal was undertaken in 2012 on whether to retain either 
Ramshead Wood or Potternewton centre to be the specialist day centre in the ENE 
area of the city.  This was presented to Project Board on the 30th November 2012 
and the preferred option to retain and refurbish Potternewton centre and look to 
replace Ramshead Wood centre with a number of community bases was agreed.

3.5.3 The plan is to temporarily close Potternewton centre in February 2016 to allow 
extensive re-furbishment works to be undertaken (subject to Executive Board 
approval).  The works will take approximately six months to complete.  During this 
time customers from Potternewton will be transferred to Ramshead Wood centre.  
Numbers at both these centres will, by this time, have reduced to the point where all 
customers can be accommodated at the one establishment.  On the completion of 
the works in the autumn of 2016, all customers remaining at Ramshead Wood will 
transfer permanently to Potternewton and Ramshead Wood will be declared surplus 
by Adult Social Care.

3.5.4 The Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre requires significant backlog maintenance 
works to the fabric of the building.  It will also require internal alterations and 
upgrades to the existing personal care facilities if existing customers from 
Ramshead Wood are to be re-located.

3.5.5 Surveys indicate the cost of bringing Potternewton up to the required standard 
would amount to £870.0k.  No other suitable buildings have been identified in the 

Page 294



11

East North East area and the cost of building a new centre on the site could 
approach £3,000.0k based on the recent experience of creating a similar, but 
smaller facility at Rothwell.

3.5.6 Consultations have been held at Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Service and 
customers, staff and relatives and carers are strongly supportive of the plans to 
refurbish the centre.

4 Corporate Considerations
4.1 Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 An intensive city wide consultation exercise on how best to modernise learning 
disability day services, was undertaken between October 2006 and July 2007. This 
involved 75 public meetings and over 1200 stakeholders. This exercise resulted in 
locally agreed implementation plans which formed the basis of the plan to transform 
learning disability day services which was approved by Executive Board in January 
2009. The Learning Disability Partnership Board has also been regularly consulted 
on and has been strongly supportive of the modernisation plans.

4.1.2  Local area stakeholder engagement has continued with customers, carers and staff 
throughout the project which have further emphasised the need to base ASC day 
service provision in socially inclusive environments rather than traditional 
segregated settings. The proposal to refurbish Potternewton was supported by 
customers, staff and carers at six separate meetings held at the centre in 2014.

4.1.3 As detailed earlier in section three, significant engagement has taken place with key 
stakeholders and local ward members on the four schemes at Barleyfields, Cross 
Gates, Richmond Hill and Potternewton. Written briefings on these schemes have 
been provided to local ward members in the Burmantofts and Richmond Hill, 
Chapel Allerton, Killingbeck & Seacroft and Wetherby wards. No concerns have 
been raised following these briefings and a number of face to face meetings have 
been held with members from Killingbeck & Seacroft and Wetherby wards who are 
actively supporting the schemes in their areas.

4.1.4 The Executive Member for Adult Social Care has also been regularly briefed on, 
and is supportive of, the modernisation process in the east of the city and of the 
individual schemes mentioned in this report.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening reports are completed for 
each building which is affected by the project.  The screening report for the 
Potternewton scheme is included as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposal contributes to the delivery of Adult Social Care’s Better Lives 
Programme which in turn supports the delivery of the Best Council Plan.

4.3.2 The proposed scheme will generate an opportunity for the disposal of the current 
Ramshead Wood and Wetherby Fulfilling Lives Service buildings and sites and 

Page 295



12

therefore the potential to realise capital receipts.  The scheme will potentially 
contribute directly to one of the Best Council Plan set of key indicators (KPI); to 
increase the capital receipts from the disposal of assets.

4.4 Resources and value for money

4.4.1 The January 2009 Executive Board report highlighted the need for a £5.700.0k 
capital investment to deliver the whole of the project across the city. 

4.4.2 The £870.0k proposed Potternewton scheme will be funded from a number of 
existing funding streams already injected into the capital programme. These are as 
follows: £336.8k from the balance on the 14997 Learning Disability parent scheme; 
£98.2k from the Community Capacity Grant on scheme 16771; £200.0k transferred 
from Corporate Property Management parent scheme 14268 and £235.0k LCC 
funding from within the current programme.

4.4.3 This will mean that the total Learning Disability Modernisation programme has been 
delivered at a cost of £5,475.9k. This is within the initial estimate of £5,700.0k 
approved by Executive Board in 2009.

4.4.4   To date, four large sites at Moor End, West Ardsley, Rothwell East and Horsforth 
have been declared surplus and returned to void management for disposal or new 
development. The project will release two further sites at Wetherby and Ramshead 
wood in 2016.

4.4.5   By completion, the project will have invested approximately £1,300.0k into 
improving leisure and community centres in Leeds. Fifteen of the community bases 
created in these centres are made available to other community groups to support 
local activities.

4.4.6 Capital Funding and Cash Flow.

Page 296



13

Previous total Authority TOTAL TO MARCH
to Spend on this scheme 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 3888.3 3509.1 362.2 17.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 351.6 262.2 89.4
DESIGN FEES (6) 70.7 70.7
OTHER COSTS (7) 295.3 293.2 2.1
TOTALS 4605.9 4135.2 453.7 17.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Authority to Spend TOTAL TO MARCH
required for this Approval 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
CONSTRUCTION (3) 783.0 113.0 670.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 87.0 87.0
TOTALS 870.0 0.0 200.0 670.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL TO MARCH
(As per latest Capital 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LCC Supp Borrow ing (original) 2639.1 2036.9 267.2 335.0
Capital Receipt 1332.0 691.7 386.5 253.8
Health Authority DOH 749.1 650.9 98.2
Govt Grant (Aiming High) 175.7 175.7
SCE ( C ) 467.6 467.6
SCE ( R ) 112.4 112.4

Total Funding 5475.9 4135.2 653.7 687.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

FORECAST

4.4.7 Revenue implications: the revenue implications will be met from within existing 
resources.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The provision of in-house day services is not a statutory duty of the Council and 
therefore there are no explicit legal risks associated with providing for customers’ 
needs in a different manner.

4.5.2 The Executive Board’s decision is a key decision and will be subject to call-in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The project is delivered through a structured Delivering Successful Change project 
management approach.  This involves the use of a risk register as a tool for 
managing identified risks in terms of their proximity and impact.  Once identified 
risks are managed by the implementation of counter measures designed to lessen 
the risk and its potential impact.  Members of the Learning Disability Day Service 
Modernisation project board and project team are assigned responsibility for each 
identified risk.

Page 297



14

4.6.2 The most significant risks have involved gaining and maintaining the support of key 
stakeholders for the project and the delivery of the capital schemes and projects to 
time and budget.  The success of the project in both these areas is a reflection of 
the structured risk management approach employed by the project team.

5 Conclusions

5.1 The Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Project has positively 
transformed day opportunities for adults with learning disabilities in the city. It has 
delivered new choices and opportunities and greater integration and community 
participation as people have moved from the old day centres into new community 
bases and third sector projects.  

5.2     The opening of the new community base at Barleyfields Community Centre will 
allow Adult Social Care to hand the existing day centre site on Sandbeck Way back 
to Asset Management in January 2016.

5.3 The creation of the two final community bases at Cross Gates Community Centre 
and the former Richmond Hill Housing Office building will leave only the provision of 
the specialist day centre in the ENE area of the city to be resolved. As detailed in 
this report, this will be achieved through the refurbishment of the Potternewton 
Fulfilling Lives service building.

5.4 Once complete this will allow Ramshead Wood day centre site to be declared 
surplus and be put into void management.  This will complete the city wide LD day 
service modernisation programme.

6 Recommendations

6.1 The Executive Board is asked to note the achievements to date of the Learning 
Disability Day Service Modernisation Project which has so far positively transformed 
day opportunities for over 560 adults with learning disabilities in the city.

6.2. The Executive Board is asked to note, in accordance with the Better Lives Strategy, 
the plan to complete the Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Project in 
the East North East of the city.  The plan will create three new bases at Wetherby, 
Cross Gates and Richmond Hill in addition to the refurbishment of Potternewton 
Fulfilling Lives Centre.  In turn this will allow both Wetherby and Ramshead Wood 
day centre sites to be released by Adult Social Care and put into void management.

6.3     Executive Board is recommended to agree, as part of this plan, the proposal to 
refurbish the existing Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre and to give authority to 
spend a total of £870.0k for this development, which has been identified and 
transferred from existing resources within the current capital programme.

6.4 To note that it is intended for the scheme described in section 3.5 of this report will 
be started and completed between February and September 2016 and the lead 
officer responsible for implementation is the Director of Adult Social Services.

Page 298



15

7 Background documents1 

None 

Appendices

1. The Transformation of Learning Disability Day Services
2. Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration screening report for Refurbishment of 

Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



The Transformation of Learning 
Disability Day Services 

Since 2010 the Learning Disability Day Services Modernisation 
project has transformed day opportunities for adults with learning 
disabilities in Leeds.  This paper details and illustrates what has been 
achieved.  

Page 301



Building Bases 
South South East 

South South East Service Postcode 

Specialist Day Centre 

Rothwell Fulfilling Lives Centre – new build  LS26 8EL 

Community Bases 

Rothwell Leisure Centre LS26 8EL 

Hillside  LS11 8ND 

John Charles Centre for Sport LS11 6RD 

Blackgates Youth Centre WF3 1QQ 

Morley Library LS27 8HZ 

Middleton Leisure Centre LS10 4AX 

Garforth Leisure Centre LS25 1NX 

 

Basing services in community buildings such as 
Hillside has led to joint working with many 
different groups. The Cultural Awareness Day 
was jointly organised with Health 4 All and Hamara 
and attended by numerous other community 
groups. 

Page 302



From the Old to the New: 

In the south of the city, old centres such as West Ardsley (top left) and Moor End 

(top right) have been replaced by community bases such as the one at Garforth 

Leisure Centre (below left) and the newly built day centre at Rothwell (below right 

and bottom right) 

Page 303



Building Bases 
West North West 

West North West Service Postcode 

Specialist Day Centre 

Bramley Fulfilling Lives Centre – re-furbished  LS13 3AA 

Community Bases 

Calverlands LS18 5LA 

Aireborough Leisure Centre LS20 9BT 

Strawberry Lane Leisure Centre LS12 2SF 

Pudsey Leisure Centre LS28 7BE 

Otley Courthouse LS21 1BG 

Kirkstall Leisure Centre LS5 3BE 

Holt Park Active LS16 7RX 

Headingley Heart LS6 3HN 

 

Some community bases have been located in voluntary sector buildings such as 
Otley Courthouse and Headingley HEART to ensure they are at the very centre of 
their local communities. 

Page 304



The new leisure centre at Holt Park has a dedicated Adult Social Care wing which 
enables our customers to have daily access to state of the art sports facilities 
and hydrotherapy. 

Community Participation in Action 

Customers and staff from the adult social care learning disability community base at 

Pudsey Leisure Centre ‘swam the channel’ recently. Everyone swam 23 lengths of 

Pudsey baths each week for 10 weeks which, added together, made 21 miles in 

distance! The swimmers raised over £350 for the Leeds Wellbeing Centre which 

supports homeless people with mental health problems. 

Page 305



Building Bases 
East North East 

East North East Service Postcode 

Community Bases 

Fearnville Leisure Centre LS8 3LF 

Scott Hall Leisure Centre LS7 3DT 

Naburn Court LS14 2DF 

Richmond Hill Community Centre LS9 8NP 

Tech North Phases 1 and 2 LS7 3NB 

Gardening Works at Meanwood Urban Valley Farm LS7 2QG 
 

The project has seen a particularly successful partnership between Adult Social 
Care and Sport.  There are now learning disability community bases in ten leisure 
centres across the city.  This year in the North East of the city, new bases have 
opened at Scott Hall and Fearnville Leisure Centres.  These bases have vastly 
improved opportunities for people with learning disabilities to participate in healthy, 
sporting activity in the heart of their community.   

Page 306



Involvement 
 
Hundreds of customers who have moved to a new service have undergone a 
comprehensive assessment of their and their carer’s needs, undertaken by a 
member of the care management planning team.  This has ensured that 
customers and their carers have been involved in developing and agreeing their 
personalised plan of care. 

The use of technology such as Smart 
Boards in the new bases has aided our 
customer’s involvement in having a say in 
how their services are run. 

Page 307



Third Sector Projects Created Through the Day Service 
Modernisation Programme 

Organisation Name of Project Aim 

 
Chapeltown 

Citizens Advice 

Bureau 

Specialist 

Advice Worker 

To provide specialist 

advice to people with 

learning disabilities 

and their families 

HFT Keeping In 

Touch 

Organising regular small and large group social events 

to ensure people who used to attend large day centres 

keep in touch when they move to smaller services 

Leep 1 (Articulate 

Advocacy) 

People First 

Office 

Project which 

promotes advocacy 

and work 

experience run by 

people with learning 

disabilities 

themselves. 

The Conservation 

Volunteers (TCV)  

Hollybush 

Garden Scheme 

Gardening and environmental volunteering project run 

at Hollybush in Kirkstall 

Hamara HLC HALO Full time day service 

for up to 12 people 

each day from BME 

communities. 

Health for All  The Bridge Full time day service for up to 15 people each day 

from inner south Leeds area 

Connect in The 

North 

Through The 

Maze 

Information and signposting service for people with 

learning disabilities and their families 

Page 308



Carlshead Ltd Wetherby Care 

Farm 

Animal care and craft 

based activities 

Open Country  Wild About 

Wetherby 

Walking group 

and 

environmental 

projects  

Purple Patch Arts Inspiring Creative 

adventure 

Two full day arts courses held in Adel and 

Meanwood  

HFT  On My Doorstep Individual support to access community facilities in 

Wetherby. 

Yorkshire Dance Leaps & Bounds Three dance classes 

held at the 

Yorkshire Dance 

studio and at 

Blackburn Hall in 

Rothwell 

Leep 1 (Articulate 

Advocacy) 

Fitness Group Fitness class held in a community venue in 

Wetherby 

Pyramid of Arts Exploring the Arts Community arts 

projects and in-reach 

arts classes for 

customers with 

profound learning 

disabilities 

People In Action 

(Leeds) UK 

Apprentice 

Project 

Community based group for people with learning 

disabilities from BME groups. 

Creative Support  Courtyard Café 

Horsforth 

Community café providing employment training for 

people with learning disabilities 

Page 309



SLATE SLATE Recycled furniture store and café providing 

sheltered employment and training  

YAMSEN YAM Activities Large group music 

classes and choir 

Better Action For 

Families 

As One Providing support for family carers and sessional 

activities such as Salsa classes. 

LPF NHS Trust Your Health 

Matters 

Course promoting 

healthy living and 

accessible health 

related resources  

Right: The Pyramid of 
Arts project Exploring 
the Arts at Light Night 
2014 

Page 310



Employment opportunities through partnerships with 
voluntary sector groups and the wider council 

Clockwise from top: Gardening Works, Middleton Park Café, SLATE and 
Creative Support’s Courtyard Café. 

Page 311



Changing Places 

Through this project Adult Social Care has taken the lead on the 
development of Changing Place facilities as part of its capital 
programme.  Changing Places is a national campaign to establish 
toilet and changing facilities, well equipped and of an adequate 
size, which carers can use to assist adults who are not 
independent in relation to toileting.  This has the potential to greatly 
reduce the difficulties which customers and carers experience 
while accessing community facilities. 
The project has led to the creation of 22 Changing Place facilities to 
date. 

1) Gallery Café & Shop  Central Library & Art Gallery, The Headrow, Leeds, LS1 3AA  

Tel: 0113 395 7116  
2) Trinity Leeds  Albion Street, Leeds, LS1 5AT Tel: 0113 3942415  

3) Chevin Forest Park  Education Building, Johnny Lane, Otley Leeds, LS21 3JL  

Tel: 01943 465023  
4) First Direct Arena Leeds  Arena Way, Leeds, LS2 8BY Tel: 0844 248 1585 

5) West Yorkshire Playhouse  Playhouse Square, Quarry Hill, Leeds, LS2 7UP  

Tel: 0113 213 7800 
6) Assisted Living Leeds  81 Clarence Road, Leeds, LS10 1LZ Tel: 0113 378 3300 

7) The Reginald Centre 263 Chapeltown Road Leeds, LS7 3EX Tel: 0113 333 6715 

8) Tiger 11 at Hillside  Beeston Road, Leeds, LS11 8ND Tel: 0113 387 6300 

9) Tech North  9 Harrogate Road, Leeds, LS7 3NB Tel: 0113 224 3555 

10) Headingley HEART  Bennett Road, Headingley, Leeds, LS6 3HN Tel: 0113 275 1080 

11) Armley Leisure Centre  Carr Croft Armley Leeds, LS12 3HB Tel: 0113 336 7880 

12) White Rose Shopping 
Centre  

Dewsbury Road, Leeds, LS11 8LU  

Tel: 0113 2291234 

13) John Charles Centre for 
Sport  

Middleton Grove Leeds, LS11 5DJ  

Tel: 0113 395 0000 

14) Temple Newsam Park Temple Newsam Road, Off Selby Road, Leeds, LS15 0AE  

Tel: 0113 264 5535 
15) Middleton Leisure Centre  

  

Middleton Ring Road, Leeds, LS10 4AX  

Tel: 0113 378 2455  

Page 312



16) Holt Park Active  

  

Holtdale Approach, Cookridge, Leeds, LS16 7RX  

Tel: 0113 378 1301 
17) Garforth Leisure Centre 

  

Ninelands Ln, Garforth, Leeds LS25 1NX  

Tel: 0113 378 1312 
18) Lotherton Hall  

  

Lotherton Lane, Off Collier Lane, Aberford, Leeds,  LS25 3EB  

Tel: 0113 281 3748 
19) Pudsey Leisure Centre  

  

Market Place, Pudsey, Leeds, LS28 7BE  

Tel: 0113 336 7686 
20) Morley Leisure Centre  

  

Queen's Way Morley Leeds, LS27 9JP  

Tel: 0113 336 7890 
21) Golden Acre Park 

  

Off Arthington Road, Bramhope, Leeds LS16 8BQ  

Tel: 0113 247 8336 
22) HDU Mobile Changing 
Place Unit 

Can be towed to wherever it is needed for a major event 

To be completed:  Barleyfields Community Centre in Wetherby , the former 
Richmond Hill Housing Office and the Merrion Centre 
refurbishment will bring the city wide total to 25 by the end 
of the programme. 

Above: The Changing Place at Leeds 
Gallery café and shop.  

Left: Taking delivery of the new HDU 
Mobile Changing Place Unit. 

Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening 
 
Directorate: Adult Social Care Service area: Learning Disability 
Lead person: Ivan Barnett 
 

Contact number  07891 272089 
 

 
1. Title:  Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation Programme – Refurbishment of 
Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre. 

 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
Despite the success of the community base model of service, it is still accepted that some 
customers still require a more specialised environment to meet their complex needs. All 
available demographic information, both locally and nationally, points towards a steady 
increase in the demand for services for customers with complex health needs. This is the 
result of both an ageing population and improvements in health care for people with 
learning disabilities. 
 
In each of the three areas of the city it has been the intention to retain one of the existing 
Fulfilling Lives day centres to provide a specialist base for each area capable of meeting 
the needs of customers with the most complex care needs. 
  
The plan is to close Potternewton centre in February 2016 to allow extensive re-
furbishment works to be undertaken, subject to Executive Board approval. The works will 
take approximately six months to complete. During this time any customers from 
Potternewton will be transferred to Ramshead Wood centre for the duration of the works. 
 
On the completion of the works in the autumn of 2016, all customers remaining at 
Ramshead Wood will transfer permanently to Potternewton. 
 
The estimated cost of the Potternewton refurbishment is £870,000 and is therefore a key 
decision. 
 
 

1. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the policy 
or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

 
X  

Page 315



Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment practices? X  
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 

• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment 

• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

X  

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

- The refurbishment aims to make the day centre fit for purpose to provide a specialist base 
capable of meeting the needs of customers with the most complex care needs in the North 
East area of the city. 

 
- The scheme includes the creation of Changing Place toilet facilities which will allow people 

with profound physical health care needs to access the centre and the local community. 
 
- The centre is well established and the local community is positively welcoming of our 

presence. 
 
- The refurbishment will drastically improve the physical working environment for both staff and 

customers at the day centre. 
 
- The proposal contributes to the delivery of Adult Social Care’s Better Lives Programme which 

in turn supports the delivery of the Best Council Plan. 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

n/a 

Date to complete your impact assessment n/a 
 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

n/a 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Steve Hulme Chief Officer Resources and 

Strategy , Adult Social Care 
 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity has been 
given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the screening document will 
need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed 29.09.15 
If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance 

 

Any other decision please send to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 
 

Page 316



Report of Director of Adult Social Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 and Business Plan 
2015/16

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report introduces members of the Board to the eighth Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board Annual Report, for 2014/15 and the work plan for 2015/16.

2. During 2014/15, the Safeguarding Adults Board has been preparing for the 
implementation of the Care Act 2014. From April 2015, under the Act, safeguarding 
adults boards (SABs) were put on a statutory footing.

3. The Annual Report will be available to access at www.leedsafeguardingadults.gov.uk 
following the Board meeting.

Recommendations

4. Members of the Board are requested to note the content of the attached 2014/15 
annual report and endorse the work programme of the Safeguarding Adults Board for 
2015/16. 

Report author:  Hilary Paxton
Tel:  0113 224 3099

Page 317

Agenda Item 17

http://www.leedsafeguardingadults.gov.uk/


1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to introduce the eighth and last annual report of the 
previous Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board, prior to its re-constitution as a 
statutory board under the Care Act 2014, and to update the Executive Board on 
the work, going forward, of the new statutory Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board.

2 Background information

2.1 Each year Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board produces an annual report of its 
business for the previous year and a work programme for the following year.  The 
work programme is informed by the priorities of the Board and its partner 
agencies.

2.2 The Care Act 2014 includes the duty on the local authority to establish a statutory 
Safeguarding Adults Board from April 2015. The Care Act signals parity for 
Safeguarding Adults Boards in that regard with Safeguarding Children Boards, 
and a formal recognition of the work of Safeguarding Adults Boards as a national 
priority for central government.  

2.3 Schedule 2 of the Care Act places a duty on the Safeguarding Adults Board to 
publish an annual plan and to report on achievements in an annual report. In 
Leeds, the Safeguarding Adults Board has been satisfying this requirement for a 
number of years.

3 Main issues

3.1 The Leeds Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report 2014/15 details the 
achievements of the Board over the last 12 months. The Board involves statutory 
and non-statutory agencies as members with the sole purpose of achieving 
continual improvements in practice that safeguards adults at risk of abuse or 
neglect in Leeds. 

3.2 Achievements during 2014/15 include: 

 Responding to 4,951 safeguarding alerts during 2014/15. This is an increase of 
32% over the previous year and indicates that there is an increasing awareness 
of safeguarding adults within the city.

 A Prevention of Abuse campaign that used social media, press releases, radio, 
leaflet and poster campaigns, to help ensure that more and more people across 
our city know how to report abuse and have the confidence to do so.   

 New initiatives to improve partnership working between agencies. The Front 
Door Safeguarding Hub has provided new opportunities for closer, more 
integrated working practices, providing for better coordinated responses to 
domestic abuse.  Think Family approaches, developed with the Leeds 
Safeguarding Children Board and Safer Leeds Executive have provided an 
improved framework for practitioners to consider the needs, not just of 
individuals, but of families as a whole.

Page 318



 The completion of a Safeguarding Adults Review in relation to a young woman 
with a learning disability who lived in supported accommodation and had been 
reportedly harmed during the course of receiving care. Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews are opportunities to identify learning and improve practice; in this 
review, learning was achieved about provision of mixed-gender care, the 
timeliness of case conferences and the involvement of families in that process. 
All the review recommended actions have now been implemented.

 The completion of a Local Government Association led Peer Review of 
Safeguarding Adults in Leeds, which provided a good validation of the Board’s 
assessment and provided useful learning for Board members about how to 
progress its work.

 An independent review of the Support Unit of the Safeguarding Adults Board.

 Developing new West Yorkshire and North Yorkshire Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Adults Policy and Procedures in preparation for June 2015. The revised 
approaches will help us to focus on working towards the adults desired 
outcomes and to provide more proportionate and individualised responses to the 
concerns raised.

There have also been significant developments in promoting the safeguards of the 
Mental Capacity Act, these include the work of Independent Mental Capacity 
Advocates (IMCAs) and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).

 IMCAs provide representation for people who lack mental capacity in relation to 
certain important decisions. Although Leeds already had the highest use of 
IMCAs in the country, use of IMCAs increased by 33% during 2014/15. This 
provides reassurance that those in need of representation are receiving the 
support they need.

 The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are a legal safeguard for adults 
who lack capacity to consent to care or treatment that deprives them of their 
liberty. Changes in case law in March 2014 has meant that substantially more 
people are covered by the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) than 
previously.  In 2014/15 DoLS was put in place for 1455 people, this is an 
increase of 2108% on the year before. This has only been possible due to the 
substantial response taken to plan for and provide for the assessments required.

3.3 Each of these and other achievements within the report illustrate the continued 
progress of the Board in promoting and improving safeguarding adults within our 
city.

3.4 An analysis of safeguarding referrals and investigations over the last 12 months 
reveals the following findings: 

 940 safeguarding investigations were started during 2014/15.  

Page 319



 In 55% of completed investigations abuse or neglect was substantiated “on 
the balance of probabilities”.  

 In 97% of responses to safeguarding concerns, the actions taken either 
reduced or removed the risk of abuse or neglect.  As part of supporting 
people to live the life they choose, it should be noted that some people 
prefer to live with a risk rather than for it to be removed.

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) Authorisations increased from 69 
during 2013/14 to 1455 in 2014/15, an increase of 2,108%.  This was 
following a landmark ruling in March 2014, after which it was anticipated that 
many more people would be covered by the protection of the Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards in future. 

 Use of the Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy (IMCA) service increased 
from 2013/14 to 2014/15 overall by 33%.  This is in part due to the dramatic 
increase in the number of cases going through the DoLS process. 

3.5 Performance monitoring and quality assurance of safeguarding adults work is 
undertaken locally within each local authority area.  2014/15 has seen the second 
year of the national Safeguarding Adults Return.  This national data return has 
been modified for 2015/16 to take account of the requirements of the Care Act.

3.6 Looking forward into 2015/16, the Board, informed by its learning from the Local 
Government Association led Peer Review, has set out its Annual Plan for the year 
ahead focusing on 4 key priorities:

 Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 

Promoting safe services through providing safeguarding standards for 
service specifications and commissioning arrangements, and developing 
multi-agency arrangements to respond to potential risks posed by ‘persons 
in position of trust’, such as an employee or volunteer within the course of 
their duties. 

 Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how to report abuse

Undertaking targeted approaches to those most in need and developing 
engagement events, to promote increase awareness of safeguarding adults.

 Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve the changes they want

This includes, developing multi-agency guidance and partnership working 
arrangements, as well as a Learning and Improvement Plan, and a revised 
approach to managing quality and performance.

 Learn from people’s experiences to help others

Improving how we gather the feedback of people involved in safeguarding 
adults about their experiences, to inform and develop good practice.  

Page 320



4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Building on the Board’s Customer Perceptions Questionnaire, further 
development work has led to the development of surveys aimed at service 
providers, family carers and others involved in the safeguarding process.

4.1.2 These questionnaires are to be implemented in 2015/16, as relevant, in all cases 
that are the subject of a safeguarding adults case conference meeting. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 There are no specific considerations in relation to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Safeguarding Adults work contributes to keeping people in Leeds safe. The 
Safeguarding Adults Board works together with the Leeds Safeguarding Children 
Board and the Safer Leeds Executive to progress this priority.  The work also 
supports the Best Council Plan objectives of, ‘Building a child-friendly city’ and 
‘Supporting communities and tackling poverty’.  

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 For several years, the Board’s work has been funded equally by the NHS and 
Adult Social Care.  In addition to funding, Board members work together to 
undertake enquiries into allegations of abuse and neglect and to support adults at 
risk to manage the risks they face by developing protection arrangements.  Under 
the Care Act, West Yorkshire Police is now considering contributing to the cost of 
the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board, as one of the new statutory partners 
of the Board.  The Care Act explicitly refers to NHS, Adult Social Care and Police 
as the bodies responsible for resourcing the work of the Safeguarding Adults 
Board.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The Care Act 2014 provides a new statutory basis for the Safeguarding Adults 
Board, and associated duties on both the Board and local authorities.  The Care 
Act also places duties on others, such as the duty to cooperate and the duty to 
supply information to enquiries or safeguarding adults reviews. 

4.5.2 In addition to the Care Act, the legal implications relate to a significant array of 
legislation in relation to offences against the person, guidance in relation to Care 
Standards, Mental Capacity, the implementation of specific guidance in relation to 
Adult Safeguarding, the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act and the Protection 
of Freedoms Act. 

4.6 Risk Management

Page 321



4.6.1 The nature of Safeguarding Adults work is that there is always risk involved.  It is 
often the case that there is disagreement between parties involved.  The Board is 
determined to ensure that its processes are just and fair to reduce the risk of 
challenges to partner organisations.  Where challenges do arise, legal advice is 
provided by the Council to the Board, to ensure that risk to the statutory sector 
partners is informed and well-managed.  The Council ensures regular monitoring 
of safeguarding adults as a standing risk on the corporate risk register.

5 Conclusions

5.1 The Annual Report provides evidence that systems and practices to safeguard 
adults at risk continue to be firmly established as being everybody’s business in 
Leeds, and used more widely across all sectors. 

5.2 Work throughout 2014/15 has ensured that this principle is now embraced across 
West Yorkshire in the new revised multi-agency policy and procedures for West 
Yorkshire and North Yorkshire, ensuring compatibility with the Care Act 2014. 

5.3 The Annual Report provides assurance that that all the partners have committed 
to a continuing programme of work designed to achieve excellence in 
safeguarding practice in Leeds.

6 Recommendations

6.1 Members of the Board are requested to note the content of the attached 2014/15 
annual report and endorse the work programme of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board for 2015/16.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 322



1

ANNUAL REPORT
2014 - 15

Page 323



Page 324



3

Important Contact Details 

 

 
 How to report abuse:

To report a crime

• In an emergency, contact the police: Tel. 999
• If the person is not in danger now, contact the police: Tel. 101

To report a safeguarding concern: 

• Contact Adult Social Care: Tel. 0113 222 4401
• Out of hours: Tel. 0113 240 9536
• Textphone for deaf and hard of hearing people: Tel. 0113 222 4410

Not sure what to do?

You can get advice and information: 

• Safeguarding Adults Board Advice Line: Tel. 0113 224 3511
 (Office Hours, Mon-Fri)
• Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board website: www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS):

Need advice: 

• Leeds Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Helpline: 
  Tel: 0113 855 2347 (Office Hours, Mon-Fri)
 
Need more information:
 

 For more information about Safeguarding Adults, Mental Capacity Act or Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) please go to the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board website:

• www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk

Page 325



4

I am pleased to introduce the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board’s Annual Report for 2014/15.  This Annual Report 
provides a summary of our work in Leeds to safeguard adults at risk from abuse and neglect. It also identifies 
areas where work is still needed and sets out the future priorities of the Board.

Across the city, people are safeguarded from abuse and neglect because of the vigilance of communities 
looking out for their friends, family and neighbours, and due to the network of partner organisations working 
together to end abuse and to help people recover from their experiences.  This is what we strive to promote as 
a safeguarding Board in Leeds.

This report will tell you about developments in safeguarding adults in Leeds.  Much has been achieved over the 
last year, but we must never be complacent. During 2014/15 we invited a Local Government Association Peer 
Review of Safeguarding in Leeds, this has helped us to reflect on our strengths and identify our priorities for the 
year ahead.  

We work as a Board to make Leeds a safer place to live, and I would like to take this opportunity to thank all 
those individuals and organisations who work with us, tirelessly, to achieve this shared vision for the city.
 

Ellie Monkhouse
Acting Chair of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board

Message from the Director of Adult Social Services and the Executive Member for Health, 
Wellbeing and Adults

We are both very pleased to have taken up our roles in support of safeguarding adults in recent months, and 
at such an important time. The Care Act 2014 placed safeguarding adults on a statutory footing from April 2015, 
providing a great opportunity to review how we can best work together and with our communities to safeguard 
those at risk of abuse.  

As we look forward into 2015/16, we have set ourselves clear objectives for the year that build on our 
achievements and help us to keep the adult at risk of abuse at the centre of all our work. 

There is much to be done, but we have found in Leeds strong working relationships and a wealth of 
safeguarding knowledge and expertise across all partners, as well as a clear unyielding commitment to reach 
out to all those in our community to prevent abuse and help people bring the impact of the experience of abuse 
to an end. 

We look forward to being part of this continued journey towards making Leeds a safe place for everyone.
 

Cath Roff
Director of Adult Social Services  

Councillor Lisa Mulherin
Executive Member for Health, Wellbeing and Adults

Foreword

Page 326



5

1.  Executive Summary 6

2.  Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 2013/14 7

2.1  Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 7

3.  Making a difference in Leeds 8

3.1  Safeguarding Adults 8

3.1.1 Getting the message out 10

3.1.2 Providing for skilled practitioners 11

3.1.3 Working better together 11

3.1.5 Learning from practice 13

3.1.6 Improving quality and performance 13

4. Mental Capacity Act safeguards 14

4.1 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 14

4.2  Independent Mental Capacity Advocates (IMCAs) 16

6.  Going Forward 18

6.1  Annual Plan 2015/16 18

7.  Appendix A: Work of Board Member Organisations 19

7.1   Leeds Adult Social Care 19

7.2.  West Yorkshire Police 19

7.3   Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 19

7.4   Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust (LTHT) 20

7.5   Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) 20

7.6   Leeds and York Partnerships Foundation NHS Trust (LYFPT) 20

7.7.   West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 20

7.8.  Leeds City Council Housing 21

7.9   Healthwatch Leeds 21

7.10   NHS England 21

Appendix B: Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews 2014/15 22

Appendix C: Prevention of Abuse Campaign 23

Appendix D: Safeguarding Adults Board Member Organisations 24

Contents

Page 327



6

In relation to safeguarding adults, these achievements 
include: 

• Responding to 4951 safeguarding alerts during 2014/15. 
This is an increase of 32% over the previous year and 
indicates that there is an increasing awareness of 
safeguarding adults within the city.

• A Prevention of Abuse campaign that used social media, 
press releases, radio, leaflet and poster campaigns, to 
help ensure that more and more people across our city 
know how to report abuse and have the confidence to 
do so.   

• New initiatives to improve partnership working between 
agencies. The Front Door Safeguarding Hub has 
provided new opportunities for closer, more integrated 
working practices, providing for better coordinated 
responses to domestic abuse. Think Family approaches, 
developed with the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board 
and Safer Leeds Executive have provided an improved 
framework for practitioners to consider the needs, not 
just of individuals, but of families as a whole.

• The completion of a Safeguarding Adults Review in 
relation to a young woman with a learning disability 
who lived in supported accommodation and had been 
reportedly harmed during the course of receiving care. 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews are opportunities to 
identify learning and improve practice; in this review, 
learning was achieved about provision of mixed-gender 
care, the timeliness of case conferences and the 
involvement of families in that process. All the review 
recommended actions have now been implemented.

• Developing new West Yorkshire and North Yorkshire 
Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedures 
in preparation for June 2015. The revised approaches 
will help us to focus on working towards the adults 
desired outcomes and to provide more proportionate 
and individualised responses to the concerns raised.

There has also been significant developments in promoting 
the safeguards of the Mental Capacity Act, these include 
the work of Independent Mental Capacity Advocates (IMCAs) 
and the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS).

• IMCAs provide representation for people who lack 
mental capacity in relation to certain important 
decisions. Although Leeds already had the highest use 
of IMCAs in the country, use of IMCAs increased by 33% 
during 2014/15. This provides reassurance that those in 
need of representation are receiving the support they 
need.

• The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are 
a legal safeguard for adults who lack capacity to 
consent to care or treatment that deprives them of 
their liberty. Changes in case law in March 2014 has 
meant that substantially more people are covered 
by the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) than 
previously.  In 2014/15 DoLS was put in place for 1455 
people, this is an increase of 2108% on the year before. 
This has only been possible due to the substantial 
response taken to plan for and provide for the 
assessments required.

Looking forward into 2015/16 the Board, informed by its 
learning from a Local Government Association, Peer Review 
has set out its Annual Plan for the year ahead focusing on 4 
key priorities.

1. Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 
 Promoting safe services through providing 
 safeguarding standards for service specifications and  
 commissioning arrangements, and developing multi- 
 agency arrangements to respond to potential risks  
 posed by ‘persons in position of trust’, such as an  
 employee or volunteer within the course of their duties. 

2. Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how to  
 report abuse
 Undertaking targeted approaches to those most in  
 need and developing engagement events, to promote  
 increase awareness of safeguarding adults.

3. Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve the  
 changes they want
 This includes, developing multi-agency guidance and  
 partnership working arrangements, as well as a 
 Learning and Improvement Plan, and a revised   
 approach to managing quality and performance.

4. Learn from people’s experiences to help others
 Improving how we gather the feedback of people 
 involved in safeguarding adults about their   
 experiences, to inform and develop good practice.

1. Executive Summary

The Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 provides 
an overview of the Board’s achievements over the last 12 months and 
its priorities for the year ahead. 

Page 328



7

2.1 Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 

The vision of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board during 
2014/15 was for the city of Leeds to be a place where:

all the citizens of Leeds, irrespective 
of age, race, gender, culture, religion, 
disability or sexual orientation live 

with their rights protected, in safety, 
free from abuse and the fear of abuse

From 1 April 2015, the Board became a statutory body with 
specific duties and requirements as set out in the Care Act 
2014. However, during the period of this report, the Leeds 
Safeguarding Adults Board was a voluntary arrangement 
of statutory and non-statutory organisations, working 
together to safeguard adults at risk of abuse, and to 
promote the safeguards of the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

Dr. Paul Kingston has been the Independent Chair during 
2014/15, providing for independent perspective, challenge 
and support to the Board in achieving continuous 
development. The Board is overseen by the Director of 
Adult Social Services. 

The Board meets every two months.  Membership of 
the Board during 2014/15 is included in Appendix D. The 
Board’s governance arrangements and functions are set 
out in full within the Board’s ‘Constitution’.  The Board’s 
objectives for the year ahead are set out in its ‘Annual 
Plan’. 

All of these documents, together with the minutes of Board 
meetings are available to everyone on the Board’s website: 
www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk  

2. Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 2014/15

Page 329



8

In 54% of occasions, the investigations found that an allegation of abuse or 
neglect was found to have occurred. 

Sometimes there is not enough evidence to conclude if abuse has occurred, but 
actions can often still be taken to protect the person in the future.

In 96% of occasions, the actions taken to safeguard the person made them safer. 

Safeguarding supports people in how they choose to live their lives. As a person 
may decide to live in circumstances that place themselves at risk, the risk might 
not always be removed.

4951
Safeguarding Alerts

Log details - 
32% of alerts 

Safeguarding investigation - 
20% of alerts

Signposting/info/advice - 
18% of alerts

Signposting/info/advice - 
18% of alerts

Unscheduled Review - 
7% of alerts

Community Care Assessment - 
4% of alerts

Other responses - 
19% of alerts

54%
Of investigations  

substantiated abuse

96%
Of interventions led to  
the adult being safer

3.1 Safeguarding Adults

Safeguarding alerts

Multi-agency safeguarding adults arrangements work to 
protect adults with health and social care needs from 
abuse and neglect. ‘Making a safeguarding alert’ means 
reporting concerns to the local authority that an adult is or 
may be experiencing abuse. 

3. Making a difference in Leeds

Table 1. Safeguarding Alerts (2012/13-2014/15) (Source: ESCR)

Table 1 shows that over the last 12 months there has been 
a 32% increase in the number of safeguarding alerts. This 
suggests an increasing awareness of safeguarding adults 
throughout the city. 

Responses to concerns

When a safeguarding concern is raised, a decision is made 
as to the most appropriate ways of responding to the 
concerns. A safeguarding investigation is only of these 
possible responses.

Table 2. Initial responses to safeguarding alerts (2014/15) (Source: ESCR)

A safeguarding investigation was the initial response in 
20% of alerts, and resulted in 940 actual investigations 
commencing during 2014/15.  

Safeguarding Investigations

Investigations are undertaken to establish what has 
happened and what support is needed to keep the adult or 
others safe in the future. 

Outcome of investigationsDuring 2013/14

Over the last 3 years

During 2014/15

Page 330



9

Case Example, Safeguarding Adults practice

 

Sarah is able to communicate her basic needs through 
hand gestures and sounds, and needs assistance 
with all aspects of her day-to-day care.  She lives in a 
residential service, and needs one-to-one support to 
undertake activities in her local community. 

Sarah’s family became concerned when they 
realised that expensive clothes that were bought for 
her, went missing before they saw them; and when 
her support workers could not account for the costs 
of her leisure activities.

A safeguarding investigation was undertaken by Adult 
Social Care to explore these concerns and to find out 
what, if any, actions were needed to protect Sarah. 

The absence of proper recording and oversight 
meant that it was impossible to evidence how 
all of her money had been spent. However, the 
investigation found clear evidence that some 
support workers had been taking advantage of their 
position. For example, Sarah’s support workers 
would use her allowances to plan activities that 
they would enjoy, and this would include ‘meals out’ 
for their benefit.

The support workers were subject to disciplinary 
procedures and no longer work with Sarah. They were 
reported to the Disclosure and Barring Service for a 
decision as to whether they should be banned from 
working with anyone with care and support needs.

The care service was required to put in place better 
systems and management oversight to ensure that 
activities are being undertaken as expected, and to 
ensure that Sarah’s money is spent appropriately. 
The new arrangements have been monitored by 
local authority commissioning teams to make sure 
the required changes have been made.

Sarah and her family are now satisfied that her 
money is being managed appropriately and that 
Sarah is able to spend her money as she wishes.

I am safe  
within my 

community  
and the  
services  
I access

“

”

Page 331



10

What will happen next?
When you report a concern, a member of staff will: 

• Listen to you carefully 

• Take the concerns seriously 

• Gather information from those involved in 
the adult at risk’s care 

• Find out the wishes of the adult at risk 

• Respond sensitively and professionally 

• Talk to the police if it is a criminal matter 

• Agree the best way of helping. This may 
sometimes involve advising you of other 
sources of support 

If the safeguarding adults procedures are the best 
way of providing help, they will also: 

• Make enquiries about the concerns

• Work with the person to help keep them safe 

How to report abuse

To report a crime:

In an emergency call the police on: 999 
If the person is not in danger now,
call the police on: 101

To report a safeguarding concern: 

Call Adult Social Care on: 0113 222 4401 
Out of hours call: 0113 240 9536 

Textphone for deaf and hard 
of hearing people call: 0113 222 4410

Not sure what to do? 

Call the Safeguarding Adults 
Board Advice Line for 
information on: 0113 224 3511  

Visit the Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board website at
www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk 

This information can be provided in 
large print, Braille, audio or a
community language. Please call
0113 247 8630.

Clive fought in
the war. Now his 
biggest battle 
is against his 
 bullying daughter.

ABUSE.
Doing nothing
is not an option

To raise a concern about adult abuse 

www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk
CALL 0113 222 4401.

INFORMATION FOR THE PUBLIC 

The Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
organises safeguarding adults work in Leeds. 
The Board includes a range of organisations, 
such as Leeds City Council, health services, 
police and voluntary agencies.

LCC_ADULT ABUSE_LEAFLET_PUBLIC_v3.indd   1 23/07/2014   15:10

What your manager will need to do:

• Consider the wishes of the adult at risk. 
Ask them what they want to happen 

• Gather information, if needed, in order to 
decide what to do 

• Decide whether a safeguarding adults concern 
needs to be reported. If your manager is not 
available you may need to do this 

• Consider if there are any actions needed to 
keep the person safe 

• Ensure the police and medical services have 
been contacted if needed 

• Report the incident to Commissioning Teams, 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) or the Charity 
Commission, as required 

• Consider if other key people need to be informed 

• Keep a record of what has happened and any 
actions or decisions taken 

• Provide support for the person raising the concern 

• Refer to guidance from their organisation/Leeds 
Safeguarding Adults Board as required

Peter always had 
time for others. 
But some care staff 
don’t take time to 
care for him.

ABUSE.
Doing nothing
is not an option

To raise a concern about adult abuse 

www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk
CALL 0113 222 4401.

The Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
organises safeguarding adults work in Leeds. 
The Board includes a range of organisations, 
such as Leeds City Council, health services, 
police and voluntary agencies.

INFORMATION FOR STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS 

How to report abuse

To report a crime:

In an emergency call the police on: 999 
If the person is not in danger now,
call the police on: 101

To report a safeguarding concern: 

Call Adult Social Care on: 0113 222 4401 
Out of hours call: 0113 240 9536 

Textphone for deaf and hard 
of hearing people call: 0113 222 4410

Not sure what to do? 

Call the Safeguarding Adults 
Board Advice Line for 
information on: 0113 224 3511 

Visit the Leeds Safeguarding Adults 
Board website at
www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk 

This information can be provided in 
large print, Braille, audio or a
community language. Please call
0113 247 8630.

LCC_ADULT ABUSE_LEAFLET_STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS_v3.indd   1 23/07/2014   15:11

An easy read information leaflet for adults in Leeds

Keeping safe
from abuse

This leaflet tells you how you can get help 
and advice

“I have the right to live 
a life free from abuse”

 

3.1.1 Getting the message out

The Safeguarding Adults Board wants everyone to know 
that they can seek help and advice.

Prevention of abuse campaign

To promote awareness and understanding of safeguarding 
adults the ‘Doing nothing is not an option’ campaign 
was launched during July 2014.  Aimed at employees, 
volunteers, service users and the general public, the 
objectives of the campaign were:

• To raise awareness of safeguarding adults amongst the 
public, organisations and their employees/volunteers 

• To improve confidence and knowledge as to how to 
report safeguarding adults concerns

The campaign used a range different ways to increase 
awareness of safeguarding, such as the use of a radio 
messages, poster campaigns, face book, press releases and 
publications, blogs and twitter. Evaluation of the campaign 
was positive with its message having had a significant 
reach across the city.  

For more information about the campaign, see Appendix C.

New publications

New safeguarding leaflets were created to support the 
prevention of abuse campaign, one aimed at members of 
the public, one aimed at ‘staff and volunteers’ and an ‘easy 
read’ version.

All of these leaflets, as well as posters or safeguarding 
adults cards, can be obtained by contacting the 
Safeguarding Adults Partnership Support Unit: 

Tel: 0113 224 3511, or 
Email:safeguarding.adults@leeds.gov.uk.  

Page 332



11

3.1.3  Working better together 

The Board works to find improved ways of working together to 
support people in our communities to be safe. This includes a 
range of initiatives in 2014/15.

Front Door Safeguarding Hub 

The Front Door Safeguarding Hub aims to provide improved 
responses to domestic violence and abuse. It brings together 
a range of organisations, such as the Police, Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Services, Housing Services and NHS partners who will 
work together to identify the best response to the concerns.

Daily partnership meetings focus on high risk cases reported to the 
police, allowing partners to share relevant information and agree 
clear action plans relating to victims, perpetrators and children. This 
approach provides for coordinated responses to the management 
of risk, and reduces the number of separate contacts for victims of 
abuse. 

The Front Door Safeguarding Hub is currently focused on high 
risk and medium risk cases of domestic violence reported to 
the police. The intention is to expand this over time to develop 
a response to all reported incidents and include referrals from 
partner agencies.

Think Family, Work Family Protocol

The Think Family, Work Family protocol has been produced 
in partnership between the Safeguarding Children Board, 
Safeguarding Adults Board and Safer Leeds Executive. 

The approach recognises the responsibilities of all practitioners 
working with adults or children within a family unit, to ensure 
the needs of all members are recognised and responded to 
appropriately, particularly where domestic abuse, mental health, 
learning disability or substance misuse impact on parenting 
capacity or an individual’s safety and welfare.

The Think Family, Work Family approach was launched June 2014, 
through a Annual Conference organised by the Safeguarding 
Children’s Board. The protocol can be found on the Board’s 
website: www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk 

Regional approaches to safeguarding adults

During 2014/15 the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board has been 
working with Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Wakefield and North 
Yorkshire to have a shared Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults 
Policy and Procedure for West Yorkshire and North Yorkshire. 

This new Multi-Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Procedure 
will be introduced in June 2015, with a stronger emphasis on 
working towards achieving the changes wanted by the adult at 
risk, and allowing for more individualised responses.

Adopting this regional approach 
brings together the expertise of 
each of the Boards, and provides 
an opportunity to share learning 
and develop best practice.  It also 
to helps those organisations, such 
as the police or care providers, that 
work across the region.

3.1.2 Providing for skilled practitioners

A key focus of the Board’s work is to ensure that training is 
provided that enables staff and volunteers to understand 
their responsibilities to safeguard adults at risk.

The Board’s Training and Workforce Development 
Framework (2014) provides for 4 levels of training, reflecting 
the various roles that staff and volunteers may fulfil within 
the safeguarding adults procedures as outlined below:

Level 1: Awareness - recognising and responding to   
 abuse 

Level 2: Alerting Manager - when and how to make a  
 safeguarding adults alert

Level 3: Investigator - how to undertake an investigation  
 into abuse or neglect

Level 4: Safeguarding Coordinator (and other specialist  
 roles) - specialist training for people fulfilling  
 other key roles

The framework helps provide for consistent content and 
standards, regardless of the agency that is providing the 
training.

Level 1 and Level 2 courses are available to voluntary and 
independent sector organisations free of charge. To attend 
these courses, contact Adult Social Care: Business Support 
Centre on Tel: 0113 247 5570 for information about available 
courses. NHS and other partners will also provide such 
training for staff and volunteers within their services.  

Level 3 and Level 4 courses are aimed at people with more 
specialist roles within the safeguarding adults procedures. 
These courses are provided by the Safeguarding Adults 
Partnership Support Unit. During 2013/14, 730 places were 
attended across the courses below: 

• The Multi-agency Procedures for Professionals
• Planning Safeguarding Investigations
• Investigative Interviews – Structure and Planning
• Investigative Interviews – Skills Workshop
• Gathering and Evaluating Evidence 
• Writing the Investigation Officers Report
• Safeguarding Training for Trainers
• Safeguarding Coordinators Update and Review
• Chairing Safeguarding Meetings
• Minuting Safeguarding Meetings
• Institutional Abuse

The Board has been broadening its approach to providing 
for skilled practitioners for 2015, developing more 
innovative ways to provide for the needs of different groups 
of staff. This will include skill-based training, provision 
of more information and guidance, ‘bite-sized’ briefings, 
reflective practice workshops and an annual conference.

For more information about safeguarding adults training 
courses currently available, please refer to the Board’s 
website: www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk/training.html

Page 333



12

”

 

During the night, the police were called to an 
incident of domestic violence, where John, an 
older man had been assaulted in his home by his 
daughter. 

Concerned for his ongoing welfare, the police 
raised the concerns at the multi-agency partnership 
meeting the following morning. This allowed 
partners to share information, assess the risk and 
agree the best response. A joint approach was 
agreed. A police officer and a social worker visited 
John immediately after the meeting. 

John declined to talk further about the incident, 
but his daughter was desperate for support. The 
incident occurred after drinking alcohol and she 
was distraught at what she had done. John and 
his daughter were living in a one bedroom flat, 
unsuitable for two people. She was trying to support 
her father with his care needs, whilst struggling to 
cope with a personal crisis. 

The daughter agreed to an assessment by Adult 
Social Care for support, and was put in contact with 
a number of voluntary organisations that could also 
provide her with support. 

The daughter was also supported to apply for her 
own flat in the same building, so that she could 
continue to provide John with support, as was his 
wish, without the strain of living in overcrowded 
living conditions.

Case Example, Front Door Safeguarding Hub

I am confident  
that professionals 

will work  
together and 

with me to get 
the best result 

for me

“

”

Page 334



13

3.1.5 Learning from practice 

A priority for the Safeguarding Adults Board is to learn 
from cases and situations that challenge us as a multi-
agency partnership. The purpose of Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews is not to investigate abuse, or to apportion blame 
but rather to provide an opportunity to improve multi-
agency working, to share best practice, and learning. 
 
The Board concluded one such review during 2014/15. The 
review was commenced in 2012, but due to one action 
taking longer than anticipated to complete, it was not 
finalised until 2014. 

The review concerned a young woman with a learning 
disability and life limiting condition who lived in 
supported accommodation. A safeguarding investigation 
had been held for the young woman in relation to actions 
of a member of staff, who was alleged to have caused a 
fracture to her arm whilst attending to her care needs. The 
allegation was not substantiated; however learning was 
gained from the Safeguarding Adults Review about how 
to involve families in decisions about care provision and 
in the safeguarding process. The review was undertaken 
with the support and close involvement of the young 
woman’s family. Learning from the review led to a range 
of improvements in practice that will benefit others in the 
future.  See Appendix B for more information.

A further Safeguarding Adults Review was commenced 
during 2014. This concerned a person with bariatric 
healthcare and social care needs. This Safeguarding Adults 
Review was undertaken to explore whether agencies 
could have worked more effectively together to manage 
the many risks that were present in this person’s life. The 
review is due to be concluded early 2015/16.

3.1.6 Improving quality and performance 

The Board continually strives to improve standards of 
practice and outcomes for people within the safeguarding 
adults procedures. 

During 2015, a particular focus has been on ensuring that 
safeguarding adults investigations are always used as 
proportionate response to the concerns raised. Audits of 
decision making are undertaken, with the learning from 
these used to support the development of best practice 
amongst practitioners.

New surveys were also introduced in 2014 to provide 
people involved in safeguarding adults the opportunity 
to provide feedback on their experiences. This includes 
the views of the adult at risk, relatives or unpaid carers, 
service providers or others attending a Case Conference 
Meeting. 

There is positive feedback that that people felt able to give 
their views at Case Conferences, that they were satisfied 
with how decisions were made and how such meetings 
were chaired. However, much of this feedback to date has 
come from professionals and much more work is needed 
during 2015/16 to ensure that the opportunity to provide 
feedback is consistently provided to the adult at risk, and 
others such as relatives/unpaid carers, about all their 
experiences of safeguarding adults.

Page 335



14

1455
DoLS

Authorisation

The Safeguarding Adults Board works to safeguard the 
rights of people who lack the mental capacity to make 
decisions for themselves. These rights are set out in the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

The Act is relevant to everyday decisions as well as major 
decisions about someone’s property, financial affairs, 
health and welfare. The Act requires decisions to be always 
made in person’s best interests.

Each member organisation of the Board promotes 
awareness and good practice under the Mental 
Capacity Act within their services, training and through 
commissioned services. 

4.1 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards are legal safeguards 
that allow for a resident or patient in a care home or 
hospital, who lacks capacity to consent to their care and 
treatment, to be deprived of their liberty in order to keep 
them safe from harm. 

In summary, the safeguards ensure:
 

• that the arrangements are in the person’s best 
interests

• the person is appointed someone to represent 
them

• the person is given a legal right of appeal over the 
arrangements

• the arrangements are reviewed and continue for  
no longer than necessary

It is the role of Leeds Adult Social Care to arrange for 
assessments to ensure the deprivation of liberty is in the 
person’s best interests. 

4. Mental Capacity Act safeguards

Figures at a glance

Overview of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

Table 3: Total DoLS Applications (2012/13 - 2014/15) (DoLS database)

The test for what circumstances amount to a deprivation 
of liberty changed in March 2014.  The new test says that 
a person is deprived of their liberty if they are ‘not free 
to leave a hospital or care home’ and they subject to 
‘continuous supervision and control’ in the course of their 
care or treatment.1  

This new legal judgment has meant that substantially more 
people require the protection of the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards than previously. Table 3 shows that in 2013/14 
only 69 people needed these safeguards. This went up to 
1455 in 2014/15, this is an increase of 2108%.

DoLS Coordination Service

In Leeds the DoLS Coordination provides a single point of 
contact for organisations, professionals and the public in 
relation to DoLS issues. 

If someone needs to seek advice, or request an 
assessment they can contact the DoLS helpline  
(Tel. 0113 855 2347 - office hours).
 
For further information about Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards can be found the Safeguarding Adults Board 
website: www.leedsafeguardingadults.gov.uk 

During 2014/15  

Over the last 3 years

1 P v Cheshire West (2014)

Page 336



15

Neil is in his twenties, he has autism and lives in a 
residential care home. He lacks the mental capacity 
to make decisions about where he lives or his care 
arrangements.  

Neil needs support with all his daily living tasks, 
such as washing, dressing, meals and other 
activities. He needs supervision at all times to 
prevent him coming to harm. 

It would not be safe for Neil to live without the 
support he currently receives, or to leave the home 
unsupervised. For his safety there are key pads on 
the door to stop him leaving.  When Neil does go 
out he needs two members of staff to prevent him 
placing himself at risk, by walking into roads, or 
grabbing or touching members of the public. 

The manager of the care home applied for the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. Adult Social Care 
undertook a series of assessments and agreed that 
the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards should be put 
in place. 

The benefit for Neil was that there was an 
independent assessment of his circumstances to 
check that the arrangements in place were in his 
best interests, and not more restrictive than they 
need to be. These arrangements now have to be 
kept under review and can be legally challenged on 
Neil’s behalf if needed.

Please note, the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) relate 
to a person receiving care and treatment within a hospital or care 
home. They do not apply to a person subject to detention under 
the Mental Health Act 1983.

Case Example, DoLS practice

I am confident 
professionals 

will work in my 
interests, and 

they only 
get involved 
as much as 

needed

“

”

Page 337



16

Serious Medical 
Treatment

Safeguarding 
Adults

Deprivation of 
Liberty

Care Reviews

Change of 
accommodation

589
Decisions supported 
by an IMCA, 2014/15

4.2 Independent Mental Capacity Advocates 
(IMCAs)

Independent Mental Capacity Advocates (often called 
IMCAs) were introduced by the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 
IMCAs provide a form of advocacy that helps to safeguard 
the rights of people who lack mental capacity. 
 
The role of the IMCA is to represent the person, helping 
to ensure that their best interests are met by the decision 
making process.  The IMCA will always be independent of 
the person making the decision, and may be involved in 
decisions concerning:

In Leeds, Articulate Advocacy provides the IMCA service. 
The Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board works closely with 
Articulate Advocacy to promote use of IMCAs to safeguard 
the rights of people who lack the mental capacity to make 
important decisions for themselves.

Figures at a glance

Overview of IMCA involvement 

Table 4. IMCA supported decisions, 2012/13-2014/15 
(Source: Articulate Advocacy)

Leeds had the highest use of IMCAs in the country in 
2013/14.2  In 2014/15 use of IMCAs continued to increase in 
Leeds, going up by 33%. 

This provides reassurance that the IMCA service is well 
used in Leeds, helping to ensure that all those people who 
lack mental capacity are appropriately represented when 
important decisions are made.

2The Seventh Year of the Independent Mental Capacity Advocacy (IMCA) Service:  
2013/2014

Page 338



17

Case Example, IMCA practice

Sue has long term mental health problems and 
an acquired brain injury. She lives in supported 
accommodation, and receives daily support from 
care workers.  

Sue has become much less mobile over time due to 
a knee problem, and is in need of surgery.  Sue was 
assessed as lacking mental capacity in relation to 
the procedure, and an IMCA was asked to support 
and represent Sue.

The IMCA spent time with Sue, to understand 
her views and wishes, and to understand what 
she wanted to happen. The IMCA prepared a list 
of questions to ask on Sue’s behalf about the 
proposed procedure, recovery time, possible 
alternatives treatments, pain relief and the need for 
aftercare, such as physiotherapy.  

The consultant expressed concern that whilst there 
were benefits of having the operation, there was 
also some risks, especially if the physiotherapy was 
not followed.

The IMCA had taken time to understand Sue wishes 
and understand the impact of the surgery impact on 
lifestyle and independence. The IMCA was also able 
to advise on how well Sue had engaged with her 
treatment in the past.

The support of the IMCA helped the consultant to 
reach the decision that the surgery was in Sue’s 
best interests. The operation was successful. Sue 
engaged with her aftercare treatment and was soon 
walking again and free from the discomfort of the 
operation. 

I am confident  
that professionals 

will work  
together and 

with me to get 
the best result 

for me

“

”

Page 339



18

1. Reduce the risk of abuse  
within our communities

2. Raise awareness of safeguarding adults 
and how to report abuse

3. Support adults at risk to end abuse and 
achieve the changes they want

4. Learn from people’s experiences  
to help others

In working to develop and achieve the best possible outcomes 
for people in Leeds, the Safeguarding Adults Board sought an 
independent view of safeguarding arrangements in Leeds during 
2014/15.

This involved inviting the Local Government Association to 
undertake a Safeguarding Adults Peer Review in Leeds.  A peer 
review is designed to help a local authority and its partners 
identify current strengths, and provide challenge where there is 
the potential to improve.

The Safeguarding Adults Board has used the learning from this 
review, as well as its own learning and national developments in 
safeguarding to inform its Annual Plan.

6.1 Annual Plan 2015/16

The Annual Plan sets priorities for the Safeguarding Adults 
Board and its member organisations for the next year. The full 
Annual Plan is available on the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
website: www.leedssafeguardingadults.org.uk. 

In summary, the Board’s work will focus on four key priorities: 

1. Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 

Each year the Board identifies new ways to help reduce the risk 
of abuse within our communities. During 2015/16 the Board will 
focus on ensuring promoting safe services for adults with care and 
support needs.  

To help achieve this the Board will develop common safeguarding 
standards that can be used throughout service specifications and 
commissioning arrangements that minimise the risk of abuse and 
ensure services respond appropriately where it does occur.

As part of ensuring the provision of safe services, the Board will 
ensure there are multi-agency arrangements in place to respond 
to risk posed by ‘persons in position of trust’, such as an employee 
or volunteer within the course of their duties. 

In addition the Board will introduce new audit systems, 
to ensure that partners have appropriate safeguarding 

6. Going Forward  

arrangements in place and are providing for the development 
of skilled practitioners. 

2. Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how 
to report abuse 

In support of the aim of reducing the risk of abuse and neglect, 
the Board wants to continue to raise awareness of safeguarding 
adults and the help available. 

The Safeguarding Adults Board has undertaken significant work 
during 2014/15 to promote awareness of safeguarding adults and 
improve confidence as to how to report safeguarding concerns. 
Building upon this, the Board wishes to develop more targeted 
approaches to reach those communities most in need, and to hold 
more engagement forums/events to reach out to more people.
 
The Board also wants to help people understand when a concern 
should be considered a safeguarding concern. Sometimes people 
are unsure whether an incident amounts to ‘poor quality care’ 
or abuse or neglect. The Board will review its guidance to help 
people understand the best way of responding to concerns.
 
3. Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve 
the changes they want

The Board will introduce new multi-agency safeguarding 
adults policy and procedure for West Yorkshire and North 
Yorkshire during June 2015/16. The revised procedures will 
provide for more tailored responses to people’s individual 
circumstances, and have a stronger focus on supporting the 
adult at risk achieve the changes they want. 

To bring this approach into practice, the Board will develop a 
Learning and Improvement Plan and develop its approach to 
performance and quality assurance, setting required practice 
standards and introducing multi-agency audits to ensure 
good practice is being achieved.

4. Learn from people’s experiences to help others

The Board wishes to keep those involved in safeguarding, at the 
centre of all its work and recognises there is more that it can do.  

Surveys have been developed to gather the views of adults at 
risk and others about their experience of safeguarding adults. 
However, the Board wishes to review these and make sure they 
are widely used, so that the learning can inform our training, our 
procedures and our practice.

The Safeguarding Adults Board has well established procedures 
for conducting Safeguarding Adults Reviews. These are 
opportunities to learn how agencies can work better together, 
to safeguard adults at risk of abuse and neglect. During 2015/16 
the Board wishes to review how best to ensure the learning from 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews, as well other learning, such as from 
case conferences and multi-agency file audits, are widely shared 
and lead to improved practice. 

Page 340



19

The achievements of the Board result from the joint work 
of its member organisation. However, whilst each member 
organisation contributes to the strategic development of 
safeguarding adults across the city, each also works to 
promote safeguarding adults within their services, and for 
the benefit of the people who use those services. 

The work of Board member organisations to promote 
safeguarding adults can be extensive and far reaching. The 
following are just examples of how member organisations 
have sought to promote safeguarding and improve 
outcomes for adults at risk.

7.1  Leeds Adult Social Care

A key challenge for Leeds Adult Social during 2014/15 
has been to respond to changes in case law relating to 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards. These changes have 
meant that substantially more people are entitled to have 
the protection of these safeguards than before.  

In Leeds, comprehensive action plans were devised and 
an implementation group established to oversee and 
monitor progress of the changes required. In response 
to the increases in the number of assessments required, 
there has been a whole review of the systems and process 
required to provide for DoLS assessments, alongside an 
increase in the number of Best Interests Assessors. 

Substantial work has been undertaken to work with 
hospital and care homes to ensure the changes in law, 
and processes to be followed, have been communicated 
effectively.
 
Changes in the law have meant that adults can be deprived 
of their liberty in domestic settings, such as their own 
home or in supported tenancies. Authorisation is through 
the Court of Protection rather than the Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). Adult Social Care have worked 
to identify all those people potentially affected by this new 
ruling, and over a thousand adults living within supported 
living arrangements have been identified, whose 
circumstances now require applications to the Court of 
Protection. 

Adult Social Care has multi-agency Best Practice Panels 
that provide practitioners with an opportunity to explore 
potential responses and interventions in complex cases. 
The panel includes expertise in areas of safeguarding, 
risk and mental capacity, and provides advice to allocated 
social workers and teams on best practice and how to 
achieve positive outcomes for clients.  The Best Practice 
Panel has been developed during 2014/15 to include a 
screening function for Court of Protection applications, 
providing a cost effective approach to putting in place the 
required legal safeguards.

7. Appendix A: 
Work of Board Member Organisations

7.2. West Yorkshire Police 

The Leeds Police Safeguarding Unit has already completed 
a signifiant restructure as part of the new Leeds District 
Policing model and the Force Safeguarding Review. The 
unit has restructured into a 3 syndicate approach around 
children, adults at risk, and Serious Sexual Offences (SSO). 
The syndicates now work between 0800x2100 hours over 
7 days. The aim of this new structure and functionality 
is to align safeguarding resources closer to front line 
operational resources, working closely and supporting 
colleagues in complex investigations. The Unit has recently 
established a dedicated Domestic Abuse Team to ensure a 
more consistent and victim focussed approach for victims. 
The Unit continues to work closely in partnership and to 
improve operational effectiveness, managers regularly 
meet to discuss particular cases. 

Leeds has already recognised the benefits of partnership 
working opportunities between the Police, Health and 
Children’s Social Work Service (CSWS) known as the Front 
Door Safeguarding Hub (FDSH). This function enables early 
assessment and information sharing but also operational 
decision making. The work has been expanded to improve the 
safety and support of victims of domestic violence and abuse.  
Work has been undertaken to establish a similar function 
around adults at risk, with specialist Detectives working 
closely with Adult Social Care around the same principles.

7.3  Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs)

The Safeguarding Team are based at South and East Leeds 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and work across all 
3 Leeds CCGs. The prime focus of the team is to support 
all health services in Leeds to provide high quality 
safeguarding services to empower and protect patients. 
Some examples of our work this year include:

• Developing and supporting lead GPs in safeguarding. 
This means that GP practice staff can quickly access 
advice and support from the lead GP. Lead GPs 
receive expert level support and advice from the CCG 
safeguarding team. 

• We have worked with NHS England to develop GP 
standards for safeguarding. Practices have been asked 
to self-assess against the standards. The results of 
this self-assessment have identified good practice and 
areas for further development in GP practices. 

• Working with healthcare providers and other partners 
to make Think Family Work Family a reality in practice. 
This approach sets out how services that work with 
adults and services that work with children can work 
together better to safeguard children and adults. 

• We have taken a lead health role in ensuring that the 
Domestic Homicide Review process recognises and 

Page 341



20

shares good practice, identifies shortcomings and 
enables services to work together more effectively to 
protect people from domestic homicide. An example 
of this is an increased understanding amongst health 
practitioners that controlling and coercive behaviours 
are a risk factor for domestic homicide even when 
there is no history of violence in the relationship. We 
have worked particularly closely with NHS England and 
GP practices to improve recognition of the risk factors 
and appropriate interventions to reduce the risks. 

• A new process to gain assurance from providers that 
they are effectively safeguarding adults at risk and 
complying with the Mental Capacity Act. This approach 
has led to earlier identification of performance 
issues and increased the awareness of safeguarding 
performance at senior management levels in NHS 
Trusts and CCGs.

7.4  Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust   
 (LTHT)

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) is committed 
to ensuring that safeguarding is given the highest priority 
in all that the Trust does. We work closely with partners 
across the city and beyond because of our regional and 
national caseload.

This year LTHT has continued to invest in our Trust 
safeguarding team, providing additional resource, in 
order to meet the growing safeguarding agenda. We have 
continued the development of the adult safeguarding 
adult link nurse role, with now more than 69 nurses 
across the organisation. This role provides a vital link for 
our Clinical Service Units, directly into safeguarding and 
promotes wider learning and enhanced communication. 
During 2014/15 LTHT has undertaken significant work 
with the PREVENT agenda. The work has been showcased 
within the NHS and is to be rolled out across the Yorkshire 
and Humber region. Following this continued work LTHT 
has been approached by the Government Home Office to 
take part in the production of a national film. This is in 
recognition of the work and developments by the Trust 
achieved in the work around PREVENT and our multi-
agency partnership working. 

Despite the complex law and the challenges following the 
‘Cheshire West’ ruling we have been committed in ensuring 
that Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) are widely embedded into practice 
throughout the Trust. We have increased a commitment in 
training and undertook dedicated work with clinicians in 
this area. This is increasing awareness for staff throughout 
the Trust of MCA and DoLS, by ensuring patient’s rights are 
met and promoted.

7.5  Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust  
 (LCH)

Advice, Support and Guidance for Services and 
Practitioners
 
Leeds Community Healthcare safeguarding team offer 
advice, support and guidance and training to all 66 services.  

During last year, the team have introduced new guidance in 
relation to Restraint and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) as well as One Minute Guides on a range of issues 
that provide day-to-day practical guidance to practitioners. 
 
The team have sought innovative ways of providing accessible 
support to teams. This has included ‘Lunch and Learn’ drop-
in sessions for Community Neighbourhood teams, allowing 
practitioners to bring case studies, scenarios or just have a 
general conversation about safeguarding, Mental Capacity 
Act, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), Dementia, 
Think Family and Mental Health.
 
The team also review complaint and incident reports 
providing additional recommendations as required, and 
help to identify how the learning from the concern can be 
introduced into practice.
 
Health and Justice Operations Group
 
The Health and Justice Operations Group was set up 
in July 2014 to look at ensuring all areas within Secure 
Environments are delivering and embedding the LCH vision 
and values of Safeguarding Children and Adults. LCH works 
in partnership with the secure establishment and other 
partner organisations to promote the well-being of all. The 
group delivers effective communication, shared learning 
and feedback in order to safeguard adults and children in 
their care. 
 
Virtual ward rounds
 
In 2013 a large scale safeguarding investigation resulted 
in an improvement plan being put in place in one of the 
in-patient units.   The Named Nurse for Adult Safeguarding 
worked closely with staff and management to support the 
completion of the required actions set out in the plan. 
Support included the delivery of bespoke safeguarding 
training sessions; clinical supervision; safeguarding 
development and the supply of safeguarding leaflets. 
 
The Adult Safeguarding team now contribute to a ‘virtual 
ward round’ in support of LCH inpatient units, and attend 
weekly unit meetings providing support, guidance and 
training in relation to Safeguarding, Mental Capacity Act 
(MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Standards (DoLS).

7.6  Leeds and York Partnerships Foundation  
 NHS Trust (LYPFT)

During 2014/15 Leeds and York Partnerships Foundation 
Trust have worked to support partnership initiatives to 
safeguard adults at risk within the city. This includes 
representation with the ‘front door safeguarding hub’ and 
‘Claire’s Law’ panel to support partnership approaches to 
responding to domestic violence and abuse. 

A focus of work has been on ensuring all staff are 
supported and skilled in responding to concerns about 
possible abuse and neglect. Mental Capacity Act training 
has been provided to ensure practitioners are aware of 
the changes to Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
brought about by ‘Cheshire West’ ruling.  A revised training 
plan has been developed for safeguarding adults, with 
a stepped approach that takes into account the various 

Page 342



21

roles undertaken by clinicians, and Health WRAP Prevent 
training is being rolled out across the trust. In addition, the 
Trust Safeguarding Team is accessible and provides advice 
and support for all employees/volunteers where there are 
concerns about possible abuse and neglect.

LYPFT works across Leeds, North Yorkshire and Safeguarding 
Adults Board, and is working to ensure that the implications 
of the Care Act and revised multi-agency policy and 
procedures are understood in each of these areas. 

7.7.  West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Within West Yorkshire Fires and Rescue Service (WYFRS) 
this year we have introduced an internal peer review audit 
of all safeguarding alerts that have been raised within our 
organisation.  This process allows WYFRS to identify trends and 
learning opportunities.  This audit has identified key priorities 
that will be incorporated into future training packages to 
improve safeguarding outcomes for vulnerable adults.

WYFRS has also embarked on new innovative partnership 
arrangement to ensure vulnerable adults are safer 
within their own homes.  We have seconded a full time 
operational member of staff (Watch Commander Paul 
Metheringham) to Leeds City Council for 12 months.  This 
member of staff will work full time across Adult Social Care 
and Public Health.  The purpose of this post is to share 
expertise across both organisations and work jointly to 
identify and reduce the risk of fire for those adults who 
are at highest risk of being seriously injured or killed in 
an accidental dwelling fire.  This project will include up 
skilling front line professionals to recognise risk of fire 
during their routine work and a collaborative approach to 
managing and reducing risk.  This project has been fully 
endorsed by the Ageing Well Board.

7.8.  Leeds City Council Housing

Leeds City Council Housing works with commissioned 
services to ensure that safeguarding adults is embedded in 
practice. 

Mears for example, are commissioned to provide property 
maintenance services to Leeds City Council.  Mears have a 
nominated safeguarding champion who is part of the wider 
Leeds City Council safeguarding champions group. 
The safeguarding champion acts as the point of contact 
for staff and clients, and is responsible for promoting 
safeguarding awareness and practice within the 
organisation using training and briefings. 

Being part of the wider safeguarding network supports 
Mears to review and discuss working practises, identify 
changes within safeguarding procedures and updates 
on national incidents. This has included adoption of 
safeguarding poster campaigns and Mears signing up to 
the Quality Mark initiative for Domestic Violence & Abuse.

This approach has also led to the adoption of ‘a cause for 
concern’ record that is distributed to front line staff to 
enable them to log concerns and pass them to our dedicated 
safeguarding champion.  49 concerns have been raised using 
this approach since being introduced, helping to ensure that 
concerns are identified and responded to appropriately.

7.9  Healthwatch Leeds

The Health and Social Care Act allows local Healthwatch 
representatives to visit publically funded health and social 
care services to look at how services are provided, and to 
talk to service users, their relatives and carers. These are 
known as Enter and View visits and may be undertaken on 
premises such as hospital, residential homes, GP practices, 
dental surgeries, optometrists and pharmacies.

In the autumn of 2014 Healthwatch Leeds undertook Enter 
and View visits in 12 care homes in Leeds to understand 
resident’s experiences of their care. Enter and View visits 
are not intended to specifically to identify safeguarding 
issues, but Healthwatch Leeds ensures that staff and 
volunteers undertaking the visits haves specific guidance 
in relation to potential safeguarding concerns. Leeds 
Healthwatch held a strategic Board session in December 
2014, which included a workshop on safeguarding, to ensure 
their organisation, and its staff and volunteers are able 
recognise and respond to such concerns when they arise.

7.10  NHS England

NHS England provides assurance that the local health 
system, including Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
and designated professionals, are working effectively to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and adults 
at risk (Safeguarding Vulnerable People Accountability and 
Assurance Framework, NHS England 2013). 

In order to maintain a strong governance framework 
surrounding safeguarding incidents NHS England Yorkshire 
and the Humber have developed a Standard Operating 
Procedure: Safeguarding Incidents, which sets the roles 
and reporting structures between NHS England and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCG).

The role NHS England includes ensuring that CCGs are 
working with their directly commissioned providers to 
improve services as a result of learning from safeguarding 
incidents. These services include acute, community, mental 
health and ambulance care.  In Yorkshire and Humber, this 
includes all GP practices, dental practices, pharmacies, 
optometrists, health and justice services and a range 
of public health services. To facilitate learning across 
services, the NHS England West Yorkshire Safeguarding 
Forum has met on a quarterly basis throughout 2014-15, 
and learning has also been shared across GP practices via 
quarterly Safeguarding Newsletters.

During 2014/15 a Safeguarding Adults Review was 
concluded for a young woman with a learning disability 
and life limiting condition who lived in supported 
accommodation, managed by Leeds and York Partnership 
NHS Trust. 

A safeguarding investigation had been held for the young 
woman in relation to actions of a member of staff, who 
was alleged to have caused a fracture to her arm whilst 
attending to her care needs. 

The purpose of Safeguarding Adults Reviews is not to 
investigate abuse, or to apportion blame but rather to 

Page 343



22

provide an opportunity to improve multi-agency working, 
to share best practice and learning.  In this case, although 
the allegation was not substantiated, there was considered 
to be potential learning for all the agencies involved. 
The review was undertaken with the support and close 
involvement of the young woman’s family.

Learning from the review led to a range of improvements:

• Development of a Safeguarding Quality Assurance 
Framework that sets standards and enables the Board 
to monitor and audit safeguarding performance.

• Introduction of information provision for tenants in 
supported accommodation about the service’s policy 
regarding cross-gender care provision. 

• A substantial project in Leeds City Council Public 
Health commissioning, enabling commissioners to 
better identify and support providers of supported 
accommodation with complex risk situations, including 
those that involve safeguarding adults and children. 
This has also provided commissioners with enhanced 
ability to map and analyse trends. 

• NHS Commissioners have assured the Safeguarding 
Adults Board that routine health checks for adults 
with complex support needs are being conducted as 
required in national guidance.  

• Adult Social Care has reviewed the means by which it 
conducts care reviews.

• West Yorkshire Police has used the findings from this 
review to inform its practice in liaising with family 
members. 

All developments in practice have now been put into 
practice, helping to ensure improved practice and 
improved experiences for others in the future.

Appendix B: 
Learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews 2014/15

Page 344



23

To promote awareness and understanding of safeguarding 
adults the ‘Doing nothing is not an option’ campaign 
was launched during July 2014.  Aimed as employees, 
volunteers, service users and the general public, the 
objectives of the campaign were:

• To raise awareness of safeguarding adults amongst the 
public, organisations and their employees/volunteers 

• To improve confidence and knowledge as to how to 
report safeguarding adults concerns

The campaign used a range different ways to increase 
awareness, such as a radio, poster campaigns, face book, 
press releases and publications, blogs and twitter as 
described below:

Radio: Radio Leeds, Radio Aire and BBC Radio Leeds and  
 Capital, Sunrise FM and Radio Asian Fever FM   
 broadcasting support in both English and Urdu.

Facebook: A four-week Facebook advertising campaign reached  
 over 161,000 people, with 2424 people linking   
 through to the Board website. 

Press and: Press coverage was carried by a range of 
publications publications, including Yorkshire Evening Post,   
 Yorkshire Times, The Professional Magazine, South  
 Leeds Life, City Talking.

Twitter  Messages on twitter reached of 56,817 during the 
& Bloggs: first week of the campaign. Blogs by the    
 Independent Chair were read on over 150 occasions. 

Poster and Campaign posters were displayed across city centre  
leaflet campaign locations, such as key railway sites across leads, and  
 the sides of buses.

 Posters and 1000’s of re-designed leaflets for both  
 staff and volunteers and the public, were distributed  
 to a range of services throughout the city, such as GP  
 surgeries.

Appendix C: 
Prevention of Abuse Campaign

Page 345



24

Member Organisations:   April 2014 to March 2015

Leeds Adult Social Care

Leeds Clinical Commissioning Groups  

Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust

Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

West Yorkshire Police

National Probation Service

West Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation Company

Leeds City Council: Housing

Leeds City Council: Community Safety

Leeds City Council: Public Health

West Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service

NHS England

Advonet

The Alliance of Service Experts

Voluntary Sector Representatives

Care Quality Commission (CQC)

Crown Prosecution Service (CPS)

Trading Standards Service

Healthwatch Leeds

HMP Leeds & Wealstun

Leeds City Council: Communications

Leeds City Council: Legal Services

Appendix D: 
Safeguarding Adults Board Member Organisations 

Page 346



Page 347



26

 
 

  

Page 348



 

0 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Annual Plan  

2015/16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version: August 2015  

Ratified by: Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 

Date issued: August 2015 

Review date: Reviewed and updated for each Board meeting 

 

Page 349



 

1 
 

 
 

 
  

1.  LSAB Vision  
 

The vision statement of the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board is: 
 
 

Leeds – A Safe Place For Everyone 
 

 
The Safeguarding Adults Board sets out, each year, how it will work towards achieving 
this vision in its Annual Plan. 

 

2. LSAB Annual Plan 2015/16 

 
The Annual Plan is a dynamic document, reviewed at each Board Meeting and 
updated according to national developments in safeguarding, continuous learning and 
emerging priorities.  
 
Achievements against each priority are tracked using the following rating scale:  
 

Green Amber Red 

Action on track Action delayed 
Action not being 

achieved 
 
 
 

In the event that any individual, group or organisation feels that the Annual Plan 
omits important priorities or actions for Leeds, they can write to the Chair of the 
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board, detailing their recommendations.  
 
Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board,  
c/o Safeguarding Adults Partnership Support Unit,  
2nd Floor,  
2 Great George Street,  
Leeds,  
LS2 8BA  
 
LSAB.Chair@leeds.gov.uk  

 

Page 350

mailto:LSAB.Chair@leeds.gov.uk


 

2 
 

3. Strategic Priorities 
 
The Board’s Annual Plan is based around 4 strategic priorities. The strategic priorities 
support the Board to work towards achieving its vision for Leeds, and have been set 
following consideration of the report of the Local Government Association, Peer 
Challenge of Safeguarding in Leeds, which took place during November 2014. 

 
These strategic priorities are:  

 
A. Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 
 

B. Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how to report abuse 
 

C. Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve the changes they want 
 

D. Learn from people’s experiences to help others 
 

3a.  Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 
 

The Safeguarding Adults Board serves to promote safeguarding arrangements within 
all services and the right to live a life that is free from abuse. Board member 
organisations, through service specifications and commissioning arrangements, seek 
to ensure that all services have the appropriate safeguards in place. The Board 
recognises the benefits of establishing common safeguarding standards during 
2015/16 in support of this work.  
 
As part of ensuring the provision of safe services, the Board also identifies the need to 
embed the role of the Designated Adults Safeguarding Manager (DASM), and provide 
for appropriate responses where a ‘person in a position of trust’ may pose a risk within 
the course of their duties. 
 
Desired outcome for citizens: 

 

 

“I am safe within my community and the services I access” 

Success during 2015/16 would be:  
 

 The Safeguarding Adults Board provides safeguarding standards for inclusion 
in service specifications and commissioning standards. 

 Designated Adults Safeguarding Managers (DASM) roles are implemented. 

 Agreed arrangements are in place to respond to risk posed by ‘persons in 
position of trust’.  

 Awareness of safeguarding adults is promoted within the city. 

 Board members provide assurance through self-assessment of safeguarding 
arrangements in place. 

 Learning and Improvement audits support partners to ensure their training and 
development meets the required standards.  

Page 351



 

3 
 

3b.  Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how to report abuse 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board has undertaken significant work during 2014/15 to 
promote awareness of safeguarding adults and improve confidence as to how to 
report safeguarding concerns. There is a trend of year on year increases in the 
number of concerns reported. However there is a need to continue this proactive 
approach, ensuring that all those potentially at risk of abuse or neglect within our 
communities are aware of safeguarding adults, and know how to seek help for 
themselves or others. This will require building on current campaigns and 
communications to develop targeted approaches and more interactive engagement 
forums/events. 
  
Desired outcome for citizens: 
 

 
 

“I receive clear and simple information about what abuse is,  
and how I can get help” 

 
Success during 2015/16 would be:  
 

 There is evidence of planned citizen engagement that promotes safeguarding 
adults and the work of the Board 

 Priority is given to engage with communities and groups in greatest need. 

 The Board can demonstrate that clear and simple information is available for 
the citizens of Leeds. 

 There is improved understanding of when ‘poor quality care’ should be reported 
and responded to within safeguarding adults procedures, which can be 
measured within multi-agency audits.  

  
3c.  Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve the changes they want 

 
Multi-agency safeguarding adults policy and procedure for West Yorkshire and North 
Yorkshire was introduced for 2015/16 with a much stronger focus on supporting the 
adult at risk achieve the changes they want.  This now requires us to ensure our 
supporting guidance and protocols support this approach.  
 
The Learning and Improvement Framework needs to be developed to ensure new 
approaches are carried forward by skilled practitioners when responding to issues of 
abuse and neglect, empowering the adult at risk to make decisions about their 
safeguarding needs and keeping him/her at the centre of the process.  
 
The Board has worked to develop its approach to performance and quality assurance, 
developing improved approaches to trend analysis and undertaking targeted audits.  
The Board recognises the need to build on these approaches to ensure standards of 
practice are maintained. This will require a multi-agency approach to measuring and 
evaluating practice, with a stronger focus on the safeguarding experience and 
outcomes achieved for the adult at risk. 
 

Page 352



 

4 
 

Desired outcome for citizens: 

 

 

“I am confident that professionals will work together 
 and with me to get the best result for me” 

 
Success during 2015/16 would be:  
 

 Practice guidance and protocols are updated to support the revised multi-
agency safeguarding adults policy and procedures 

 Learning and Improvement Framework and plan is finalised promoting good 
practice 

 Board partners are able to demonstrate ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’. 

 Multi-agency audit improves practice across agencies. 
 

3d.  Learn from people’s experiences to help others 
 
Surveys have been developed to gather the views of adults at risk and others about 
their experience of safeguarding adults. However, currently these are only offered 
where a case conference meeting is held. These need to be reviewed in light of 
changes to the multi-agency procedures, and offered more widely to gather 
information about people’s experiences to inform the development of good practice. 
 
The Safeguarding Adults Board has an established process for conducting 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews. The Board recognises the need to ensure the learning 
from Safeguarding Adults Reviews as well as other sources, such as an analysis of 
case conferences and multi-agency file audits is widely shared and results in 
improved practice.  

 
Desired outcome for citizens: 

 

‘I am confident that my feedback  
will help others’ 

 
Success during 2015/16 would be:  
 

 Adults at risk and other relevant parties are provided with opportunities to give 
feedback on their experiences. 

 Learning from range of sources, including feedback from people’s experiences 
and learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews is used to improve safeguarding 
practice across the partnership. 

 

Page 353



 

5 
 

4. LSAB Commitments  
 
In delivering its Annual Plan the Board makes the following commitments to the citizens of 
Leeds as to how it will work to achieve its aims. 
 

 

 

LSAB Commitments: 
 

The Board and its sub-groups have adopted the following principles in their work: 

 
Empowerment: 
We will place the adult at risk at the centre of all our work as a Board. 
 

Prevention: 
We will reduce the risk of abuse in our services and our communities. 
 

Proportionality: 
We will work to ensure that safeguarding responses reflect the outcomes desired by 
each individual. 
 

Protection: 
We will protect people who need and want help to be protected. 
 

Partnership: 
We will work hand in hand with communities and partners to make Leeds a safe city 
for all. 
 

Accountability: 
We will work together effectively, explaining our decisions and showing how we are 
making a difference 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 354



 

6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Plan 2015/16 

 
 
 
 

1. Reduce the risk of abuse within our communities 
 

Key actions:   Target Date  Lead  
Progress 

(comments and rating) 
   

1.1     Designated Adults Safeguarding Manager (DASM) roles and 
arrangements for managing risk posed by a person in a position of 
trust are agreed and implemented. 

 

 

 

Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

 

G
re

e
n

 

1.2 The Safeguarding Adults Board provides common safeguarding 
standards for services / commissioners in Leeds, exploring the 
potential for a Safeguarding Kite Mark. 

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

1.3    Annual member self-assessment is used by Board members 
organisations to review safeguarding systems in place. 

  

 
 

Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

  

G
re

e
n

 

1.4     Learning and Improvement Audit process is established to ensure 
partner safeguarding training and development meets the standards 
required by the LSAB 

 

 
 

Learning and 
Improvement 

Sub-group 

  

G
re

e
n

 

 
 
 

 Continued on next page…. 
 

 
 
 

P
age 355



 

7 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Annual Plan 2015/16 

 
 

2. Raise awareness of safeguarding adults and how to report abuse 
 

Key actions:  Target Date  Lead  
Progress 

(comments and rating) 
   

2.1 Map out service user and carer networks / forums to support citizen 
engagement planning. 

 

 
 

Citizen 
Engagement 
Sub-group 

  

G
re

e
n

 

2.2 Develop a citizen engagement plan, including both communications 
and engagement events (e.g. attendance at forums).     

 Citizen 
Engagement 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

2.3 Identify communities of interest that are under-represented within 
safeguarding and undertake promotional work in an area of greatest 
need. 

 Citizen 
Engagement 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

2.4 Review existing publicity materials (e.g. leaflets) with members of the 
community, to ensure accessibility and compatibility with Care Act  

 Citizen 
Engagement 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

2.5    Develop understanding of the thresholds between ‘poor quality’ and 
‘safeguarding’ to support adults in the most appropriate way. 

 

 
 

Board 
Workshop 

  

G
re

e
n

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Continued on next page…. 

P
age 356



 

8 
 

Annual Plan 2015/16 

 
 

3. Support adults at risk to end abuse and achieve the changes they want 
 

Key actions:   Target Date  Lead  
Progress 

(comments and rating) 
   

3.1. Multi-agency arrangements support effective work in safeguarding 
adults from abuse or neglect 

 

 
 

 

  

A. Develop and embed ‘front door safeguarding hub’ working 
arrangements to provide coordinated responses to adults at risk 

 

 Board Member 
Organisations 

 

G
re

e
n

 

B. Multi-agency working protocol agreed between NHS Trusts and 
Adults Social Care setting out respective responsibilities under 
the multi-agency safeguarding policy and procedures. 

 

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

C. Practice Guidance is updated to ensure compatibility with revised 
multi-agency safeguarding adults policy and procedures. 

 

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

D. Skilled workforce development is promoted through a revised 
Learning and Improvement Framework that incorporates Making 
Safeguarding Personal and Think Family approaches. 

 Learning and 
Improvement 

Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

3.2 The Quality and Assurance Framework establishes performance 
measures in relation to Making Safeguarding Personal and the multi-
agency procedures.  

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

3.3 Develop multi-agency file audit programme to ensure Making 
Safeguarding Personal and the wider multi-agency procedures are 
being implemented appropriately and practice standards maintained.  

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

3.4  Review reporting processes to ensure the Board is informed of 
developing trends and key performance data, enabling targeted 
responses to safeguard adults at risk. 

 Quality and 
Performance 
Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

 

Continued on next page…. 

P
age 357



 

9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Plan 2015/16 

 
 
 
 

4. Learn from people’s experiences to help others 
 

Key actions:   Target Date  Lead  
Progress 

(comments and rating) 
   

4.1  Review and develop systems to ensure that adults at risk, and other 
relevant people, are provided with the opportunity to give feedback on 
their experiences of safeguarding 

 

 
 

Citizen 
Engagement 
Sub-group 

  

G
re

e
n

 

4.2  The Safeguarding Adults Reviews Policy and Toolkit is reviewed to 
ensure compatibility with the Care Act, and provides for effective 
learning from people’s experiences. 

 Safeguarding 
Adults Review 

Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

4.3  Agreed mechanisms provide for learning from Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews to be effectively shared across the partnership. 

 Learning and 
Improvement 

Sub-group 

 

G
re

e
n

 

4.4  The Learning and Improvement Plan is informed by learning from 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews, Case Conference analysis, peoples 
individual experiences and other sources. 

 

 

 
 

Learning and 
Improvement 

Sub-group 

  

G
re

e
n

 

 
 
 
 
  

P
age 358



1

Report of Mark Peel, Independent Chair, Leeds Safeguarding Children Board

Report to Leeds City Council Executive Board

Date: 18 November 2015.

Subject: LSCB Annual Report (2014/15) Evaluating the Effectiveness 
of Safeguarding Arrangements in Leeds

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes  No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes  No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

The LSCB Annual Report (2014/15) Evaluating the Effectiveness of Safeguarding 
Arrangements in Leeds identifies that:

 Good progress continues to be made to ‘rebalance the safeguarding system’ to 
ensure that children and young people receive ‘the right service at the right time’ 
and that the need for statutory intervention is reduced safely and appropriately.

 External inspection findings and judgements provide independent assurance of the 
progress being made by the children’s partnership to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and young people.

 As in previous years more needs to be done to develop practice and multi-agency 
working in order to improve outcomes for vulnerable children and young people. 

 Partners are working to increase the ‘voice of the child’ in service design and 
planning and in working with children, young people and their families in the delivery 
of services.

Report author:  Phil Coneron

Tel:  78578

Page 359

Agenda Item 18



2

 Momentum needs to be maintained in developing services to respond to children 
and young people who are experiencing / at risk of sexual exploitation.

 The LSCB is progressing its plans and addressing its priorities and can evidence the 
contribution it is making to improving practice, multi-agency working and outcomes 
for children and young people.

 Challenges are made for key strategic bodies in 2015/16 with an overarching 
challenge for the LSCB, Children and Families Trust Board ,Leeds Safeguarding 
Adults Board, Safer Leeds Executive and Health and Wellbeing Board to work more 
collaboratively together in recognition of the changing nature of safeguarding issues 
and the need to respond effectively to these.

Recommendations

The LCC Executive Board is asked to consider and comment on:

 The evaluation of the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in Leeds

 The challenges identified for strategic bodies in 2015/16

 The implications for the work of Leeds City Council.

Page 360



3

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report introduces the key issues from the published LSCB Annual Report (2014/15).

2 Background information

2.1 Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body established under the 
Children Act 2004. It is independently chaired (as required by statute) and consists of 
senior representatives of all the principle stakeholders working together to safeguard 
children and young people in the City.

2.2      Its statutory objectives are to:
 Co-ordinate local work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children
 To ensure the effectiveness of that work.

2.3 Working Together (2015) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and 
publish an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. 
The report is submitted to the Chief Executive and Leader of the Local Authority, reflecting 
that overall accountability for the safety and welfare of children and young people must be 
led by them. It is also sent to the local Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chair of the 
Health and Well Being Board. There is also a local agreement to submit it to Leeds City 
Council Scrutiny Board for Children and Families and to the governance bodies of all 
partner organisations to support their governance of safeguarding practice in Leeds.

2.4 The guidance states that the Annual Report ‘should provide a rigorous and transparent 
assessment of the performance and effectiveness of local services. It should identify areas 
of weakness, the causes of those weaknesses and the action being taken to address them 
as well as other proposals for action’. The Report should:
 Recognise achievements and progress made as well as identifying challenges
 Demonstrate the extent to which the functions of the LSCB are being effectively 

discharged
 Include an account of progress made in implementing actions from Serious Case 

Reviews
 Provide robust challenge to the work of the Children and Families Trust Board (CFTB)

2.5 The LSCB Annual Report is the product of an Annual Review process which ran from April 
to July, culminating in an Annual Review meeting on 16.07.15. It includes information from 
partners, sub groups and the Annual Performance Report (received by the LSCB on 
25.06.15.). The report was signed off by the LSCB on 24. 09.15. and published on the 
LSCB website at the end of September.

2.6 The full report and appendices comprise a lengthy document containing considerable detail 
about work to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people in Leeds. 
An Executive Summary containing key issues, messages and challenges has been 
developed in order to ensure that these are accessible to the professional partnership and 
the wider community. This summarises the progress made by Leeds LSCB in 2014/15 
through and with its partners and analyses the effectiveness of:
 Safeguarding arrangements in the city
 The LSCB itself in supporting and coordinating safeguarding arrangements and in 

monitoring and challenging those who provide them

Page 361



4

2.7 The Executive Summary is attached to this report.

3 Main issues

3.1 The Report notes that the Partnership responded to previous Ofsted inspections of multi-
agency safeguarding arrangements by embarking on an ‘improvement journey’ based on 
an ambitious but sustainable strategic plan underpinned by political and professional 
support and co-operation. Central to this is a partnership agreement that the children’s 
safeguarding system needs to be ‘rebalanced’ in order to improve outcomes for children 
and young people by intervening earlier and more effectively in the life of a problem. 

This involves:
 A restorative approach to working with children, young people and their families
 A commitment to a culture of continuous improvement
 An early help approach to providing ‘the right service at the right time’
 A reduction in the need for statutory intervention.

3.2 The findings in the Ofsted Inspection report of March 2015 highlighted that:
 Clear priorities for children’s services are outlined in the Children and Young People’s 

Plan and driven by an active Children’s Trust
 Priorities are strategically aligned with the overall local authority plan, the Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy, and the Safer Communities Strategy
 Cross-cutting priorities and the ‘three obsessions’ are facilitating a shared ambition for 

children across the city and providing a sharp focus for strategic and operational 
thinking

3.3 The review of the Children & Young People’s plan 2011-15 identified a positive impact on 
outcomes for children and young people, and the framework of obsessions, outcomes and 
priorities has been retained for the 2015-18 Plan

3.4 There is evidence that good progress continues to be made to rebalance the safeguarding 
system:
 There has been a significant rise in the use of Early Help services
 An increase in the number of Early Help Assessments
 The establishment and growth of Family Group Conferences

3.5 Overall the need for statutory intervention is reducing:
 Gradually falling numbers of children and young people who need to be Looked After.
 The number of children and young people subject to child protection plans continues to 

fall, with Leeds becoming more in line with national comparators.
 However the number of children and young people becoming subject to a child 

protection plan has remained constant over 2013 – 15

3.6 Despite the continuing reduction in the number of children and young people requiring 
statutory intervention, more work is being undertaken to assess and respond where there 
are concerns about a child:
 More referrals are being accepted by Children’s Social Work Service
 More  child abuse investigations are being carried out
 More Initial Child Protection Conferences are being held

Page 362



5

3.7 A particular focus in 2014/15 has been to better understand and improve the partnership 
response to child sexual exploitation. Reviews undertaken indicate that whilst good 
progress is being made, momentum needs to be maintained in 2015/16; there remains 
much more to do

3.8 The LSCB has considered the following factors in assuring itself that practice and multi-
agency working is appropriate and safe:
 Findings from external inspections
 Partner compliance with statutory duties to ensure arrangements are in place to 

effectively safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young people:
 Performance data and trends
 Quality Assurance Processes
 Findings from Audits.

All the data we have indicates good attention is paid to managing risk appropriately and 
safely within the frameworks in place.

3.9 The Board monitors progress against its own objectives, self-challenges and responsibilities 
through a variety methods e.g.:
 The Business Plan which indicates that 89% of tasks were completed or proceeding on 

time
 The Performance Management System, which indicates improving partner compliance 

with safeguarding requirements, the continued re-balancing of the children’s 
safeguarding system and assurance that the quality of multi-agency interventions with 
children and young people is steadily improving

 The  review of work to address self-challenges, which indicates that progress had been 
made on all but 1 of the 24 set for 2014/15

 The Annual Review process, which included Board members’ assessments that overall 
88% of tasks and responsibilities are being progressed.

3.10 The evidence included in this Annual Report is that the LSCB continues to make good 
progress in implementing its plans and responding to emerging issues. Regular evaluation 
of progress routinely identifies areas for improvement and where more needs to be done.

3.11 The Leeds Learning and Improvement Framework brings together:
 The safeguarding lessons learnt from the full range of the work of the LSCB and 

partners
 The actions that are being taken to improve services
 The impact on practice, multi-agency working and outcomes for children and young 

people

3.12 There is good evidence of significant impact on the development of policies and procedures 
which underpin practice and multi-agency working. Although these are technically ‘outputs’, 
they help to consolidate and improve the functioning of the children’s safeguarding system 
in order to better support vulnerable children and young people.

3.13 The Board has undertaken a leadership role in prompting partners to engage in changes to 
the way in which professionals work together and with children, young people and their 
families in order to improve outcomes through earlier and more effective intervention. This 
is contributing to improving outcomes for children and young people evidenced in the 

Page 363



6

gradual reduction in the number of child deaths and the need for statutory intervention and 
the increase in Early Help services.

3.14 The Report sets out a series of challenges for 2015/16 (for the Children & Families Trust 
Board, Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board, Safer Leeds Executive and Health and Wellbeing 
Board). These include:
 An overarching challenge for all strategic boards to work more collaboratively together 

in recognition of the changing nature of safeguarding issues and the need to respond 
effectively to these.

 Maintaining the progress being made to safely re-balance the safeguarding system 
through:

 Maintaining an overview of the individual agency and shared allocation (and re-
allocation as a result of collective changes to meet priorities differently) of resources 
across the partnership to support the further development of the Leeds Early Help 
Approach

 Promoting the implementation of:
o The ‘Think Family Work Family’ protocol (a continuing challenge from 2014/15)
o The Family Group Conference system
o Ensuring that workforce development across the partnership keeps pace with the 

scale of change be implemented within the safeguarding system
o Supporting Clusters in the development and delivery of Early Help Services.

4 Corporate Considerations

Whilst the LSCB is a stand-alone Board which sits outside the direct corporate structure or 
governance of the system much of what it does impacts directly on the corporate 
responsibilities and accountabilities of Leeds City Council

One of the key corporate changes in 2013/14 was to reinstate a corporate   safeguarding 
group, which takes responsibility for the strategic and operational co-ordination of 
safeguarding practice within the Council. This has made significant progress in 2014/15.

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 This is a report produced through a long process of engagement and consultation with 
partners to the Board. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The LSCB has made significant strides in 2014/15 to engage with a range of communities 
in the City, including the faith communities in the city, and with a range of local third sector 
organisations. There is much still to do to engage more extensively to support the 
development of safe cohesive communities that promote the welfare of their children, and 
protect them from harm. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 Children and Young People are a priority for the city.

Page 364



7

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The council as well as partner organisations contribute to the Board’s work. A value for 
money exercise in 2012/13 led to an administrative restructure in 2013/14. Annual budgets 
reflect the Board’s statutory responsibilities and agreed priorities. Expenditure is monitored 
through quarterly reports to the Board.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 No direct legal implications

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 This report is part of the risk management infrastructure for Leeds City Council and will 
inform the safeguarding children risk on the corporate risk register.

5 Conclusions

5.1 This report presents an executive summary of the work of Leeds Safeguarding Board in 
2014/15. It sets out the progress made and the challenges for the Council and partners to 
the Board in 2015/16.

6 Recommendations

6.1 The LCC Executive Board is asked to consider and comment on:
 The evaluation of the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in Leeds
 The challenges identified for strategic bodies in 2015/16
 The implications for the work of Leeds City Council.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 365



This page is intentionally left blank



LSCB ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15 

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A RY  

P
age 367



Page 2 

Foreword 

Introduction 

Context and Strategic Overview 

Effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in Leeds  

Effectiveness of the LSCB 

Summary and whole system analysis 

Challenges for 2015/16 

 

Contents 

P
age 368



Page 3 

I am delighted to be able to present to the Board and 

all partners as well as to the children, young people, 

families and communities, my last Annual Report as 

the Independent Chair of the Leeds Safeguarding 

Board.  

For the second year running we have a good story to 

tell about the work of the Leeds Safeguarding 

Children Board and in this report we set out the 

progress made locally over the year.  

There will always be a lot to do, and many 

challenges ahead, but the report demonstrates the 

good work that was done by the Board and through 

all Board partners to protect children and young 

people and promote their welfare in 2014/15. 

Central to our work is the Student LSCB, and the 

young people who are members of it. They have 

challenged us, worked with us, set their own key 

priorities and, over the year, influenced what we do 

and how we do it. We have also been externally 

inspected by Ofsted and found to be good, which 

provides independent verification of the progress we 

have made. 

Leeds continues to be a city that is ambitious for its 

children and young people, and has invested in 

children because they see children as being the 

economic future of the City.  

Despite the challenges of public sector expenditure 

pressures, and a constantly changing policy world, 

across the partnership we have collectively in Leeds 

“kept the faith” in terms of being both a child friendly 

city and a City that is the best place to grow up. Our 

leadership has remained stable, our vision enduring 

and our multi-agency commitment to shared 

principles, behaviours and ways of working retained. 

This report shows how that collective ambition and 

strong leadership coupled with high support and high 

challenge by the LSCB, has had a significant impact 

on the outcomes achieved for its children and young 

people.  

The LSCB too is steadily continuing to build on the 

progress of previous years in improving in its ability 

to both support that progress and actively scrutinise 

and challenge it.  Despite the challenges, I am able 

to say with confidence that in Leeds, children’s 

welfare is a priority for every organisation and that 

safeguarding children and young people is central to 

being a Child Friendly City. 

The more we improve the more we realise just how 

much more we have to do. Over the next year our 

key challenge is to move from a “good” organisation 

and partnership towards being great. I am incredibly 

proud to have had the privilege of being the LSCB 

Chair for the last 5 years, and I know that children 

over the next few years will get an even better deal 

than they do now, where their safety is more 

assured, their opportunities realised and their welfare 

maximised wherever they live in Leeds. 

Jane Held, 
Independent Chair of  
Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (2010-15)  
 

Foreword 

P
age 369



“Leeds continues to be a city that is 

ambitious for its children and young 

people, and has invested in children 

because they see children as being 

the economic future of the City.” 

Page 4 

P
age 370



Page 5 

 

Introduction 
Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a 

statutory body established under the Children Act 

2004. It is independently chaired (as required by 

statute) and consists of senior representatives of all 

the principle stakeholders working together to 

safeguard children and young people in the City. Its 

statutory objectives are to: 

 Co-ordinate local work to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children and young 

people 

 To ensure the effectiveness of that work 

Working Together (2015) requires each Local 

Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish 

an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of 

safeguarding in the local area. The guidance states 

that the Annual Report ‘should provide a rigorous and 

transparent assessment of the performance and 

effectiveness of local services. It should identify areas 

of weakness, the causes of those weaknesses and 

the action being taken to address them as well as 

other proposals for action’. The Report should: 

 Recognise achievements and progress made 

as well as identifying challenges 

 Demonstrate the extent to which the functions 

of the LSCB are being effectively discharged 

 Include an account of progress made in 

implementing actions from Serious Case 

Reviews 

 Provide robust challenge to the work of the 

Children’s and Families Trust Board.  

This Executive Summary Report summarises the 

progress made by Leeds LSCB in 2014/15 through 

and with its partners and analyses the effectiveness 

of: 

 Safeguarding arrangements in the city 

 The LSCB itself in supporting and coordinating 

safeguarding arrangements and in monitoring 

and challenging those who provide them.  

It is a summary of the full Annual Report which is 

available on the LSCB website along with significant 

amounts of additional information attached as 

appendices. 

P
age 371



Page 6 

“Services in Leeds for children and young 
people have been on a steady journey of 
improvement since 2009” 

P
age 372



Leeds is the second largest city council in England, 

with a population that has increased rapidly in 

recent years. The population of children and young 

people aged 0-19 is 186,000. Within this, the 

number of very young children (0-4 year olds) has 

increased faster with over 10,000 children being 

born in Leeds every year and the city has a 

significantly higher proportion of 15–25 year olds 

compared to both the regional and national 

averages, with a total population of 289,000 0-25 

year olds living in the city. 

Leeds is a very diverse city, with over 130 

nationalities included in a minority ethnic population 

of 19%. The proportion of pupils in Leeds schools 

that are of minority ethnic heritage has increased 

since 2005 to 28.1%. A higher proportion of primary 

than secondary pupils are of minority ethnic 

heritage. Some 16% of pupils have English as an 

additional language and over 170 languages are 

recorded as spoken in Leeds schools. The largest 

minority ethnic groups in the city are the Indian and 

Pakistani communities, but more recently there has 

also been a significant increase in economic 

migration, mainly from Eastern Europe. 

Overall around 33,000 children and young people 

live in poverty (20% of those aged 0 – 16). There is 

significant variation in the circumstances of children 

and young people living in Leeds, with 37% living in 

the 20% most deprived areas of the city and 26% in 

the 10% most deprived areas in the country. In 

some areas the proportion of children and young 

people subject to Child Protection Plans is three 

times the Leeds average, low birth weight twice as 

high and obesity rates 50% higher than average. 

Within that context the City’s services for children 

and young people have been on a steady journey of 

improvement. Assessed as inadequate by Ofsted in 

2009, each year since has seen a step change in 

the quality and effectiveness of its services. 

Improvement has been driven through: 

 The City’s ambition to become a Child 

Friendly City 

 The Children and Young People’s Plan, 

which has provided stability, sustained focus 

and strength of purpose based on shared 

principles 

 The use of a restorative practice approach 

(working with children, young people and 

their families). 

  

  

Page 7 

Context and 
strategic overview 

P
age 373



Page 8 

Implementing the Children and  

Young People’s Plan 

As a key stakeholder, the LSCB has contributed to the development of a new 

Children and Young People’s Plan for 2015 – 19, which has built on the key 

elements of the previous plan and highlights three underpinning behaviours: 

 Listening and responding to the voice of the child 

 A Restorative Practice approach: doing with not for or to children, young 

people and their families 

 An Outcomes Based Accountability approach which asks is anyone better off 

as a result of work undertaken. 

 

The objectives of the plan are clear, with an appropriate focus on keeping children 

and young people safe from harm.  

There is a partnership agreement that the children’s safeguarding system needs to 

be ‘re-balanced’ in order to improve outcomes for children and young people and 

this is articulated through one of three ‘obsessions’; to safely and appropriately 

reduce the number of children and young people who are ‘looked after.’ The 

development and implementation of the Early Help approach (to ensure that children 

and young people receive the right service at the right time) is already having a 

positive impact and will be developed further during 2015-18. 

This approach is supported and monitored by the LSCB through annual reports and 

challenges to other strategic bodies in the city. 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Partners 
The Public Sector continues to face the challenges of financial restriction and 

increasing demand for services that were identified and considered in the 2014 

Annual Report. In their annual safeguarding reports to the LSCB, partner agencies 

have identified the key challenges that they are facing and the steps that they are 

taking to respond to them. Common challenges identified include: 

 Engaging more effectively with children and young people in the review and 

planning of services 

 Responding to budget pressures, undertaking further restructuring of services 

and demonstrating value for money 

 Better evidencing of outcomes for children and young people and developing 

an outcomes focus to care planning 

 Contributing to the implementation and embedding of the Think Family, Work 

Family protocol 

 Supporting the further development of the Front Door Safeguarding Hub and 

evaluating the impact of multi-agency engagement in this 

 Considering how best to contribute to multi-agency approaches to Children in 

Need. 

 All partners stress the importance of good multi-agency working in responding 

effectively to the needs of vulnerable children and young people and in improving 

outcomes for them. Common areas of development and progress made includes: 

 Embedding a restorative culture 

 Engaging with the Early Help approach 

 Developing more comprehensive and robust quality assurance and audit 

processes 

 Establishing a more qualitative approach to auditing, focusing on outcomes 

for children and young people as well as compliance with procedures and 

timescales 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of commissioned services 

 Learning from complaints and compliments. 

P
age 374



Page 9 

The effectiveness of 
safeguarding arrangements 
in Leeds 
In order to evaluate the effectiveness of arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

young people in Leeds, evidence is drawn from  a wide range of sources which are analysed together to 

assess the whole system: 

 Engagement with children and young people 

 Monitoring and reviewing 

 Performance management and quality assurance: 

 How much did we do? 

 How well did we do it? 

 What difference has it made? 

 External inspections and reviews.  

P
age 375



Young people (students at Leeds City College), through 

the ‘Student LSCB’ (Voice & Influence sub group), have 

attended and presented at Board meetings throughout 

2014/15,  contributing to its work through: 

 Involvement in the selection of lay members and a 

new independent LSCB Chair 

 Seeking assurance from partners about 

safeguarding arrangements from a young person’s 

perspective 

 Assisting in the delivery of workshops at the LSCB 

annual conference 

 Developing  campaigns on behalf of West Yorkshire 

LSCBs and Police Force which raised awareness 

about the dangers of: 

 On line grooming (‘Who are you really talking 

to?) 

 Sexting (‘Think before you send’) which targets 

teenagers on the consequences of sending 

inappropriate images of themselves. 

 Evaluating the accessibility for children and young 

people of complaints processes used by partners 

 Making proposals for partners to consider 

establishing young people’s advisory groups in 

order to support the making of short videos to 

highlight key issues from a young person’s 

perspective. 

All the annual safeguarding reports from partners talk 

about the importance of engaging with children and young 

people when reviewing and planning services. There is a 

consensus that more needs to be done in this area, but 

also evidence that initiatives are being developed and 

implemented eg: 

 Involvement in the Children’s Commissioner’s take 

over day in November 2014 

 The establishment of formal structures to capture 

young people’s views on shaping services 

 Engagement with other strategic bodies 

 Undertaking surveys of young people’s views about 

services and developing action plans to respond to 

the results 

 Improving the collation and assessment of existing 

feedback from young people to more easily identify 

areas for improvement 

 Establishing children and young people’s sections 

on websites. 

Engagement of children and young people  

Page 10 

P
age 376



Page 11 

Reviewing Child deaths 

The Child Death Overview Panel continues to see an overall reduction in the 

number of deaths of children and young people in the city (although there was a 

slight increase in 2014/15). This is an encouraging trend, in line with that 

experienced nationally, to which the work of many sectors, agencies and 

organisations has contributed. 

By far the greatest number of deaths occurs to very young babies aged under a 

month, with babies of very young mothers and of non-white ethnicity being at 

greatest risk. From a public health perspective, the single factor most amenable to 

change in the neonatal age group is tobacco, with nearly a quarter of all neonatal 

deaths occurring to babies whose mothers smoked during pregnancy. Smoking is, 

of course, also a contributory factor across many other prominent causes of death 

such as sudden infant death and deaths from infections. There is no doubt that 

efforts to prevent smoking need to be maintained and renewed. 

Among older children, once again two particular areas emerge as priorities for 

preventive action. The first of these is traumatic accidental injuries, of which the 

biggest group is road traffic accidents with around half of victims being pedestrians 

and nearly a quarter motorcyclists. The other priority area is the prevention of 

sudden infant deaths, with household smoking and bottle feeding being the two 

most common risk factors amenable to preventive action. The pattern may well now 

be familiar, but there is no place for complacency. Indeed, it is only through 

renewed efforts to address these issues that a sustained downward trend in 

childhood deaths will be sustained. 

Recommendations have been made and progressed in support of public health 

campaigns to draw attention in the wider community to these risks. 

 

 

 

Managing Allegations against professionals 

The Designated Officer team (based in the Local Authority) is well established and 

provides a co-ordination role for partners dealing with allegations made against 

professionals. The 2014/15 annual report highlighted that: 

 The number of notifications to the service increased by 20% to 521 

 80% of these were from agencies which have the most contact with or 

access to children and young people (eg education, foster carers, early 

years settings, residential provision) 

 40% of notifications relate to allegations of physical abuse and 17% to 

inappropriate behaviour (including ICT/internet use). 

 35% of notifications received resulted in Initial Allegations Management 

Meetings, where there is a clear indication that a child or young person has 

suffered significant harm or that the behaviour of a professional may pose a 

significant risk to a child. 

 13% of notifications resulted in a Police investigation and to date there have 

been 4 criminal convictions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monitoring and reviewing  

P
age 377



Page 12 

One of the key functions of the LSCB is to ensure that lessons are learnt from the 

circumstances of serious child care incidents that will improve future practice and 

reduce the risk of such incidents re-occurring in the future. In 2014/15 the LSCB 

published two Serious Case Reviews (available on the LSCB website) and 

completed 3 Local Learning Lessons Reviews. The learning from these reviews can 

be summarised as: 

 Child protection processes must be undertaken in a timely manner (eg 

Strategy Meetings, child abuse investigations)  

and informed by good sharing of information between agencies. 

 Techniques and interpretation of findings in child protection medicals to be 

consistent with Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health guidelines. 

 To be effective assessments must be multi-agency and timely with good 

analyses and inclusion of the child’s wishes and feelings. 

 Professionals from different agencies to be better able to effectively challenge 

each other. 

 Core groups need improve the effectiveness of child protection plans and 

avoid ‘drift’. 

 Where Child in Need Plans prove to be ineffective the timely consideration of 

child protection processes need to be considered. 

 Better co-ordination of multi-agency services is required when care leavers are 

leading an unsettled and chaotic life characterised by frequent and recurring 

crises. 

 Greater clarity is required about the use of witness protection schemes to 

ensure they do not have the unintended consequence of hindering information 

sharing and multi-agency working. 

 It is important that professionals with relevant information and understanding 

about a case input and attend Child Protection Conferences as appropriate.  

 

Learning from Serious Incidents involving Children and Young People 

P
age 378



Page 13 

Partner Compliance with Statutory 

Safeguarding Requirements 

Effective practice to safeguard children and young people is dependent on partners 

having appropriate policies, procedures and arrangements in place to support their 

staff. Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 and sections 175 and 157 of the Education 

Act 2002 set out the requirements for agencies and form the basis for regular self-

auditing of compliance. 

A full self-assessment of statutory partners’ compliance with s(11) responsibilities 

was undertaken in April / May 2014 which demonstrated a journey of improvement 

since their previous full Section 11 assessment in 2012/13. Overall, full compliance 

against the standards was demonstrated in 92% of the returns, with partial 

compliance in 7% and no compliance in 1%. Partner agency annual safeguarding 

reports include issues raised by the assessment and work undertaken to respond. 

The key themes identified as requiring review or improvement by organisations 

included: 

 Seeking the views of children and families when the organisation is developing 

a new service or piece of work is an area for development. 

 The need to ensure that staff are encouraged and required to attend child 

protection and safeguarding training (as appropriate) 

 To ensure that children are being made aware of their right to be safe from 

abuse. 

Agencies commissioned by statutory partners (often from the third sector) are also 

required to undertake self-assessments, with 186 being completed by March 2015 

and a further 125 in progress. Assessments are dip sampled by commissioning 

organisations. 

 

 

 

 

All partners that submit a Section 11 self-assessment also provid an action plan on 

how they will address areas that they have identified as requiring improvement or 

review. In 2015/16 the Performance Management sub group is undertaking a 

thematic evaluation of partners’ assessments focusing on arrangements for children 

and young people with complex needs. 

Schools complete a self-assessment against the requirements of s(175) of the 

Education Act 2002 which provides the starting point for supporting all schools to 

ensure safeguarding arrangements are secure. In 2013/14 there was a 100% return 

which identified that: 

 Over 93% have updated and relevant policy and procedures in place 

 98% have identified designated staff and governors  with key responsibilities 

for safeguarding 

 98% have head teachers trained in ‘safer recruitment’. 

The Children’s Services Integrated Safeguarding Unit (Education Safeguarding 

Team) collates the returns from schools and provides advice and support as 

requested. 

 

 

 

 

Performance Management and Quality Assurance 

P
age 379



Evaluating the Child’s Journey through the 

Safeguarding System 

Reviewing how the safeguarding system responds when concerns are identified 

about vulnerable children and young people throws light on how they may become 

the subject of statutory intervention and contributes to an understanding of the 

extent to which Early Help services are effective in addressing and managing risk 

and need. 

The development of a Children’s Services multi-agency Duty and Advice team has 

supported front line practice to ensure that children’s and family’s needs are met 

with an appropriate and proportional response. A skilled team of multi-agency 

professionals from social care, health and police are co-located, which has 

strengthened decision making where there are concerns about a child or young 

person. Weekly multi-agency referral reviews look at the consistency of decision 

making at the front door. Increased practitioner confidence in contacting the duty 

and advice team was evidenced in the LSCB practitioner questionnaire (2014). 

Crucial to ensuring that children and young people receive the right service at the 

right time is the development and implementation of the Leeds ‘Early Help 

Approach’ which was launched by the LSCB in May 2014 and is underpinned by 

multi-agency locality (cluster) arrangements. There are currently 25 Cluster 

partnerships within Leeds based around a family of schools within a locality. 

Evidence from the clusters demonstrates earlier engagement with families is 

growing and numbers of children and young people accessing support from local 

cluster guidance and support meetings are increasing year on year. The number of 

children and young people supported through Early Help Assessments during 

2014/15 was 1,110, a significant increase from 400 in 2013/14. Family Intervention 

Service worked with 452 children land the Troubled Families team has seen 

sustainable change in 2,190 families they have worked with. 

The LSCB review of cluster working identified a children’s workforce ‘clearly 

committed to improve the lives of children, young people and families.  Cluster 

managers are very supportive of their staff and operate a ‘high support, high 

challenge’ management style. Nevertheless, concerns were raised about how 

consistent services were across the city and the continuing pressure to prioritise 

statutory cases which limits the ability to respond on an early help basis. 

Challenges have been highlighted in working effectively in a multi-agency 

environment and the need to engage more effectively with Adult Services where 

there is compromised parenting through drug / alcohol / domestic violence and 

mental health issues. This emphasised the need to embed the relaunched Think 

Family Work Family protocol. 

The Early Help approach will receive a considerable boost in 2015/16 with the 

implementation of an expanded Family Group Conference service facilitated by 

Children’s Services successful Innovations Fund bid. 

Children and Young People subject to a Child 

Protection Plan 

The overall number of children and young people subject to a child protection plan 

(because they are at risk of suffering significant harm) can also give an indication of 

the effectiveness of the system as a whole. The number in Leeds increased steadily 

from 2009 – 2011 to a level (1,171) considerably higher than for comparator 

authorities. The introduction of the Strengthening Families Approach helped to 

stabilise and then gradually reduce the number of children and young people 

requiring this level of statutory intervention. At the end of 2014/15 the number stood 

at 641, a level slightly lower than for statistical neighbours. 

The LSCB has been keen to be assured that this reduction is happening in a safe 

and appropriate manner. A series of multi-agency audits 2012 – 15 indicate that the 

quality of services and outcomes for this group are steadily improving. 

There is an increased focus on including the views of children and young people to 

ensure that risk and how to manage it is more clearly identified and to receive 

feedback from them and their families about the effectiveness of child protection 

conferences. 

However, both the Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Ofsted noted 

that that attendance at child protection conferences by key professionals needed to 

be more consistent. The Children’s Services Integrated Safeguarding unit is 

exploring how to improve the invite process to ensure that key professionals are 

invited contribute to conferences in a timely way. This will be a key area for the 

LSCB to monitor during 2015/16. 

Page 14 

P
age 380



 Children and Young People who are Looked 

After 

Similarly, the number of children and young people who need to be ‘looked after’ in 

Leeds had increased steadily up to 2012 (1474), a figure significantly higher than for 

statutory neighbours. The implementation of the Children and Young People’s Plan 

(2011-15) has been successful in progressing one of its obsessions (to safely and 

appropriately reduce this number) to 1,259 at the end of 2014/15. Moreover, there is 

clear evidence, through LSCB auditing and external inspection that services provided 

to this group are of a high quality. 

Performance reports to the LSCB have noted: 

 Improved placement stability with children and young people subject to less 

moves while in care. 

 Better use of kinship care, foster carers 

 Less children and young people placed out of local authority area 

 All children and young people who are looked after have an allocated social 

worker 

 Independent reviewing officers  provide robust oversight of care plans. 

The independent Reviewing Service is promoting the inclusion of children and young 

people’s views in reviewing and planning processes through direct contact and 

increasing their contributions to review meetings. 75% of care plans are judged to 

fully reflect the views of children and young people. 

However, the need to support children and young people who are looked after 

through their transition to adulthood remains an area that needs further work, with 

improvements required in case recording and multi-agency working with care leavers. 

Reports to the LSCB have set out improved multi-agency arrangements to support 

care leavers, the impact of which will be monitored in 2015/16. 

 

Children and Young People suffering or at risk 

of Sexual Exploitation 

The partnership has maintained a strong focus on improving structures, policies, 

procedures and multi-agency practice in order to respond more effectively to the 

needs of this group. 

In the Autumn of 2014 the Independent Chair of the LSCB led a review of partnership 

arrangements and the effectiveness of responses to sexual exploitation, concluding : 

‘That whilst we have made steady progress in tackling sexual exploitation there is a 

significant amount still to do. We can be confident that we have done some positive 

work and that we respond to those at the highest risk. We have increased the 

resources deployed to support those young people. However we do not know “what 

we do not know” and there are significant areas of work we need to develop. These 

include:  getting a better understanding of our data and intelligence, identifying what 

good disruption activity could look like, how better to ensure frontline staff are trained 

about signs and indicators and young people are aware of what sexual exploitation is 

and how to avoid it. Work needs to be further developed in schools, and how best to 

engage with communities to ensure they themselves act preventatively’. 

During 2014/15 there has been a significant increase in the number of referrals 

relating to children and young people who are experiencing / at risk of being sexually 

exploited. External inspection confirmed that this was more likely to represent an 

increased awareness of the nature and scale of the abuse rather than an increase in 

victimisation. 

Multi-agency working and information sharing has been significantly enhanced 

through: 

 A focus on disruption and investigation, resulting in a number of successful 

court cases and conviction of perpetrators 

 The deployment of resources to increase capacity to respond more effectively 

to exploitation and related forms of abuse through the establishment of a multi-

agency team (The Safe Project) , a Risk and Vulnerability team and an 

enhanced intelligence capability. 

 Piloting safeguarding training for taxi drivers as part of the licensing process 

Page 15 

P
age 381



 Collaboration with other LSCBs, Local authorities and the Police & Crime 

Commissioner for West Yorkshire to improve regional working and launch 

campaigns aimed at parents, children and young people. 

The annual report of the Child sexual exploitation sub group concluded that there is 

evidence of: 

 Increasing awareness across the partnership 

 Improved identification 

 More consistency in multi-agency assessments 

 Engaging with the broader nature of the challenge – not just responding to 

‘high risk’. 

 Addressing sexual exploitation remains a key priority for the LSCB in 2015/16. 

  

Children and Young People who Go Missing  

A broader definition and more proactive approach has been developed to respond 

more effectively to children and young people who go missing in a range of 

circumstances; from: home/care, education, and the view of universal services; and 

that these need to be linked to: honour based violence, forced marriage, female 

genital mutilation, radicalisation / extremism and modern day slavery. In 2014/15 

progress has been made to finalise the Missing Strategy and initiate a partnership 

action plan to address these issues. The sub group is progressing this work in 

2015/16 

Awareness is being raised across the partnership about the nature and scale of the 

challenge, which is reflected through increased reporting of missing incidents over 

the last three years. A new return interview service was launched in April 2015 which 

will facilitate a more coordinated response to children and young people who go 

missing and enable more robust data collection and the monitoring of performance 

indicators. 

Numbers for children and young people who are missing from education have 

increased annually for the last 3 years but an improved process involving locality 

based staff has been able to keep pace with this. The use of restorative techniques 

with families and schools has helped to resolve fractured relationships between 

schools and parents. More than 120 children have made transitions back into school 

over the last four terms. 

There is a close relationship between children and young people being reported as 

missing and the risk of sexual exploitation. In acknowledgment of this, the Children’s 

Services Integrated Safeguarding Unit  and the Partnership Safeguarding 

Intelligence Hub are in the early stages of developing the ability to cross reference 

and match the data of those children and young people who are reported missing 

from home or care against those identified as at risk of, or experiencing sexual 

exploitation. 

Page 16 

P
age 382



There have been a number of external inspections across the partnership in 

2014/15, providing a useful independent measure of how well safeguarding children 

and young people is being carried out in Leeds. There have been a number with 

particular relevance for the partnership as a whole. 

In January 2015 Ofsted undertook an unannounced inspection of services for 

children in need of help and protection; children looked after and care leavers and a 

review of the effectiveness of Leeds Safeguarding Children Board. Ofsted 

judgements were ‘Good’ in all areas with an ‘Outstanding’ judgement for leadership, 

management and governance. The report noted that ‘There have been significant 

improvements in every part of the local authority’s arrangements for safeguarding 

children and young people.’ 

Significantly, despite extensive auditing of cases, no children and young people 

were referred to the Local Authority as being at immediate risk of significant harm. 

There were no priority or immediate actions the local authority needed to address, 

with 15 areas for improvement noted. Robust action plans have been developed to 

address these and regular updates on implementation will be provided to the 

Performance Management sub group during the year. 

Within Ofsted’s new schools inspection framework are judgements on ‘behaviour 

and safety’ and this takes into account safeguarding. In Leeds 68 schools were 

inspected during 2014/15. 78% were judged either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ with 22% 

‘requires improvement’. There were no schools judged as ‘inadequate’. 

85.6% of child minders inspected in Leeds were judged either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding 

with 14% ‘requires improvement’ Only 0.4% was judged ‘inadequate’. Within Day 

Care settings 91% of those inspected were judged either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ with 

8% ‘requires improvement’ with 1% ‘inadequate’. Early Years settings that are 

judged inadequate are visited and supported by Leeds City Council Integrated 

Safeguarding Unit Education and Early Start Safeguarding Unit. 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Police undertook as part of a national inspection and 

inspection of West Yorkshire Police into on the experiences, progress and 

outcomes for children who need help and protection. The inspectors raised some 

concerns about the approach in Leeds to child sexual exploitation, the operation of 

the Children’s Services Front Door, police engagement in child protection 

conferences and the management and detention of children and young people in 

custody. 

Despite not recognising the circumstances described in the report relating to sexual 

exploitation and the front door, the LSCB put in place a work plan to review 

arrangements and identify actions as appropriate. The subsequent Ofsted 

inspection provided reassurance in a number of areas and work is underway to 

address outstanding issues. Remand foster care placements are now available for 

young people as an alternative to detention in police custody. 

In 2014/15 national and local enquiries into the abusive activities of Jimmy Savile 

were also brought to a conclusion and published. In February 2015, themes and 

lessons learnt from the NHS investigations into matters relating to Jimmy Savile 

(Lampard, 2015) was published, Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust, Leeds Community 

Healthcare Trust  and Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust  have reviewed 

the recommendations and actioned as appropriate. Assurance and progress against 

actions has been received from these trusts and reviewed by the Clinical 

Commissioning Groups. The National Safeguarding Steering Group will monitor 

progress of the recommendations on a quarterly basis through NHS England 

regional and local Quality Surveillance Groups. 

External Inspections and Reviews 

Page 17 

P
age 383



Page 18 

“The LSCB has effective leadership 
and has been instrumental in 
developing a strong support and 
challenge culture.” 

P
age 384



The effectiveness of the 
Leeds Safeguarding  
Children Board 

Page 19 

P
age 385



Page 20 

How the Board undertakes it’s work  

During 2014/15 the Board has continued to meet bi-monthly, with the Executive 

meeting on the intervening months. The annual review process (April to July) 

culminated in the Annual Review Meeting on 16 July 2015 to review progress 

made, the impact the Board is having and to confirm priorities for itself and other 

strategic boards for 2015/16. Board meetings are well attended (75% by primary 

representatives) and employ a mixture of approaches to ensure the active 

engagement of participants and the efficient consideration of business. 

The work of the LSCB is largely undertaken through the sub / reference / task 

group structure, supported by the Business Unit and is heavily reliant on the input 

of staff from all partner agencies. The commitment shown by agencies and their 

staff is testament to the seriousness with which the LSCB is viewed and the shared 

intent across the partnership to improve multi-agency working, services and 

outcomes for children and young people. 

Significant developments in 2014/15 included: 

  Revised governance arrangements for the Serious Case Review 

subcommittee, to ensure clear lines of accountability when making decisions 

about undertaking reviews 

 Concluding the work of the Front Door reference Group and handing 

strategic oversight of ongoing developments to the Safer Leeds Executive 

 Progressing the work and influence of the Secure Settings sub group 

 Implementing the work plan of the Sudden Unexpected Death In Childhood 

Reference Group. 

Progress on the objectives and tasks within the LSCB Business Plan are monitored 

through Executive Group meetings and reported on a regular basis to the Board. In 

2014/15 the plan comprised 182 tasks, of which 89% have been completed or are 

proceeding on time. As in previous years those tasks that remain ongoing or are 

identified as requiring increased attention have been considered for inclusion in the 

Business Plan for 2015/16. 

 

Promoting Effective Partnership Working 

The LSCB is responsible for the co-ordination of local work to safeguard and 

promote the welfare of children and young people and thus to develop and 

maintain effective multi-agency working, at both strategic and operational levels. 

 The Board engages with other strategic bodies in Leeds and collaborates on the 

development of common issues. Its annual report is presented to the other key 

boards in the city and includes specific challenges from the LSCB. 

 The launch of two major initiatives in 2014/15 (The Early Help Approach and the 

Think Family Work Family Protocol) was the result of intensive multi-agency 

consultation and input from across both the Children’s and Adult’s partnerships. 

The Early Help Approach is being embedded in multi-agency working and practice 

whilst the implementation of Think Family Work Family protocol has been identified 

by all strategic bodies as a priority for 2015/16. The LSCB has set up a multi-

agency strategic steering group, supported by a full time worker jointly seconded to 

the Business Unit and Families First to progress this. A full launch is planned for 

the Autumn 2015 with a focus on engaging further with Adult Services. 

Since 2012/13 the LSCB has been promoting the need for practitioners to 

appropriately challenge each other in order to facilitate more effective multi-agency 

working and better planning and reviewing of progress made with children and 

young people. In 2014/15 the LSCB Concerns Resolution Process was updated 

and relaunched, providing a framework for practitioners to air and resolve any 

concerns about how individual cases are being collectively managed. 

A restorative approach to multi-agency working is being promoted across the 

partnership, with the underpinning framework of policies, procedures and 

processes being regularly reviewed and updated. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 386



Page 21 

Communicating and Raising Awareness 

A central part of the leadership role of the LSCB is to ensure that key safeguarding 

messages and emerging lessons from its activity are disseminated quickly and 

effectively across the partnership so that front-line staff can act on them, develop 

their practice and multi-agency working accordingly and improve outcomes for 

children and young people.  While the Business Unit underpins and operates 

communication between the components of the Board, the Communications task 

group leads and shapes the dissemination of the work of the Board across the 

partnership via the LSCB website and the LSCB e-bulletin. Over 1,000 practitioners 

are signed up to receiving monthly e-bulletins. The LSCB now has a social media 

presence via Twitter and Facebook with over 500 followers. This has proved 

invaluable in widely disseminating LSCB campaigns and drawing attention to the 

range of information available on the LSCB website. The campaign to raise 

awareness about on line grooming resulted in over 4,000 hits from social media 

activity and 5,000 direct hits on the website. 

The following areas for work have been identified for 2015/16: 

 To develop a framework for evaluating the impact of communication activity 

undertaken by the Board and its partners 

 To build on current campaigns about child sexual exploitation and include the 

related issue of children and young people who go missing 

 To increase the number of practitioners who are signed up to the monthly e-

bulletin. 

 Holding Partners to account for 

Safeguarding Practice 

The LSCB maintains an overview of the quality, timeliness and effectiveness of 

safeguarding practice through its Performance & Quality Management System, the 

undertaking of Reviews and the findings from the Child Death Overview Panel. 

Performance and Quality reports are presented to the Board on a quarterly basis 

and the Annual Performance Report (received in June) provides the basis for the 

analysis of the effectiveness of partnership safeguarding arrangements and practice 

summarised above. Areas identified for action in 2015/16 include: 

 To broaden the range of performance data collected and analysed from across 

the partnership. 

 To monitor the effectiveness of the Think Family, Work Family protocol 

 To further develop the support and challenge culture within the Performance 

Management sub group. 

The Quality Assurance and Audit Programme includes a range of methods in order 

to inform the Board of the quality of multi-agency practice and identify areas for 

improvement. This has been central in providing assurance that during a time of 

significant change across the partnership and the introduction of new ways of multi-

agency working that risk for individual children and young people continues to be 

safely and appropriately managed. 

P
age 387



Page 22 

 Learning and Improving  

The LSCB seeks to actively lead the partnership in identifying areas of 

safeguarding working and practice that need to be improved and to ensure that 

action is taken as a result. This work is coordinated through the Leeds 

Framework for Learning and Improvement which comprises: 

 A partnership approach to learning and improving 

 Transparency and public accountability 

 Clarity about the responsibilities of partners 

 Learning methodologies (including responding to child deaths and 

undertaking Serious Case Reviews and Local Learning Lesson Reviews 

 Planning and implementing improvements 

 Disseminating lessons learnt and changes required 

 Monitoring the impact of changes made. 

The annual review of the impact of learning and improvement activity provides 

assurance that lessons are responded to through actions which are then 

monitored. There is considerable evidence of positive impact on policies, 

procedures and multi-agency working, with more to do in order to link such 

improvements to outcomes for children and young people. 

 

 

 

 

The Annual Review  

The LSCB Annual Review process runs from April to July, with the Board 

receiving and considering: 

 Reports from sub and reference groups 

 Safeguarding reports from partners 

 Reports from other strategic bodies 

 The Annual Performance and Quality Report 

 The Annual Strategic Performance Report. 

 The findings from Board member assessments. 

  

Discussions within the review process indicate that overall the Board is 

performing well and identified a number of areas for further improvement: 

 To work more closely  with other strategic boards to deliver the shared 

agenda for helping and protecting children, young people and families 

 Partners to  more effectively hold each other to account for their 

contribution to the safety and protection of children and young people 

 To use the views and experiences of children and young people in Leeds 

to more effectively and consistently to improve practice, influence 

change and shape services. 

 To more consistently use evidence of children’s experiences as a key 

measure of the difference in outcomes being made through local 

services. 

  

 

 

P
age 388



OFSTED Inspection Findings 

In January 2015 the LSCB was inspected by Ofsted as part of the Inspection of 

services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers. Its report was published in March. Ofsted stated that the arrangements in 

place to evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by the authority and board 

partners to safeguard and promote the welfare of children are ‘good’. The LSCB is 

‘good’ because it:  

 Fulfils its statutory responsibilities and coordinates the work of partners 

 Scrutinises, analyses and improves multi-agency working 

 Has effective leadership and holds partners to account 

 Operates robust performance management and quality assurance 

arrangements 

 Has been instrumental in developing a strong support and challenge culture 

 Is influential in: 

 Work to re-balance the safeguarding system 

 Ensuring a strong focus on sexual exploitation and children and young 

people who go missing. 

 Has a strong focus on the voice and influence of children and young people 

through an innovative Student LSCB. 

 

 

 5 areas for improvement were identified: 

 Report on the effectiveness of all key partner agencies, through broader 

performance management datasets in order that all safeguarding activity is 

measured and evaluated in addition to children’s social care. 

 Develop improved intelligence and analysis of child sexual exploitation 

hotspots to inform disruption efforts. 

 Collate and aggregate intelligence from return interviews of missing children to 

inform child sexual exploitation intelligence and analysis. 

 Accelerate efforts to both understand and evaluate the effectiveness of 

safeguarding in some harder to reach religious settings and Black and 

minority ethnic, third and community sector groups engaging with children, 

with particular awareness of the possibility of radicalisation in some religious 

and cultural settings. 

 Scrutinise the absence of serious incident notifications from partner agencies 

to ensure that the criteria are well understood and effectively in operation. 

An action plan has been developed to address these areas requiring improvement 

which has been included in the business plan for 2015/16. 

  

Page 23 

P
age 389



Responding to challenges 

 As part of its responsibility to hold other strategic bodies to account for their role in 

safeguarding children and young people, the LSCB presents them with annual 

challenges. 

The Children and Families Trust Board has reported good progress in responding 

to the following challenges in 2014/15:  

 To strengthen the voice of the child in the delivery and planning of services 

 To embed the Early Help Approach 

 To maintain momentum in developing effective multi-agency services for 

care leavers 

 To further promote the co-ordination of effective multi-agency child protection 

plans 

 To establish a more coordinated partnership response to adolescent mental 

ill health, self-harm and suicide behaviours 

 To intervene effectively to reduce the incidence of sexual exploitation 

The Trust Board, the Adult Safeguarding Board, the Safer Leeds Executive and the 

Health & Wellbeing Board all identified the need for more work to effectively 

implement the revised Think family, Work Family protocol. 

 

 

For 2014/15 the LSCB set itself 24 challenges (or high priorities) and can report 

good progress on 12 of these. A number of areas  require more / ongoing work, 

including: 

  Transitions between children’s and adult mental health services 

 Ensuring all adult and children’s services embed the safeguarding of children 

and young people 

 Improving engagement with the education sector and faith and community 

groups 

 Responding to issues of radicalisation, child trafficking, female genital 

mutilation and forced marriage 

 Undertaking a more comprehensive evaluation of the effectiveness of Early 

Help services 

 Evaluating the quality of services and outcomes for 3 groups of vulnerable 

children and young people; those in secure settings, at risk of sexual 

exploitation, who are disabled / have complex needs. 

 To further develop the partnership approach to children and young people 

who go missing. 

Page 24 

P
age 390



Page 25 

 

Are we doing the right things? 
Are we making sufficient progress? 
Are we managing risk safely and appropriately? 
Is the LSCB making sufficient progress? 
What impact is the Board having?  

P
age 391



Summary and whole  
system analysis 

Page 26 

P
age 392



Page 27 

Are we doing the right things? 

The Partnership responded to previous Ofsted inspections of multi-agency 

safeguarding arrangements by embarking on an ‘improvement journey’ based on an 

ambitious but sustainable strategic plan underpinned by political and professional 

support and co-operation. Central to this is a partnership agreement that the 

children’s safeguarding system needs to be ‘rebalanced’ in order to improve 

outcomes for children and young people by intervening earlier and more effectively 

in the life of a problem. This involves: 

 A restorative approach to working with children, young people and their 

families 

 A commitment to a culture of continuous improvement 

 An early help approach to providing ‘the right service at the right time’ 

 A reduction in the need for statutory intervention. 

  

The findings in the Ofsted Inspection report of March 2015 highlighted that: 

 Clear priorities for children’s services are outlined in the Children and Young 

People’s Plan and driven by an active Children’s Trust 

 Priorities are strategically aligned with the overall local authority plan, the 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and the Safer Communities Strategy 

 Cross-cutting priorities and the ‘three obsessions’ are facilitating a shared 

ambition for children across the city and providing a sharp focus for strategic 

and operational thinking. 

The review of the Children & Young People’s plan 2011-15 identified a positive 

impact on outcomes for children and young people, and the framework of 

obsessions, outcomes and priorities has been retained for the 2015-19 Plan. 

 

 

Are we making sufficient progress? 

There is evidence that good progress continues to be made to rebalance the 

safeguarding system: 

 There has been a significant rise in the use of Early Help services 

 An increase in the number of Early Help Assessments 

 The establishment and growth of Family Group Conferences 

 Overall the need for statutory intervention is reducing: 

 Gradually falling numbers of children and young people who need to be 

Looked After. 

 The number of children and young people subject to child protection plans 

continues to fall, with Leeds becoming more in line with national comparators. 

 However the number of children and young people becoming subject to a 

child protection plan has remained constant over 2013 – 15. 

Despite the continuing reduction in the number of children and young people 

requiring statutory intervention, more  work is being undertaken to assess and 

respond where there are concerns about a child: 

 More referrals are being accepted by Children’s Social Work Service 

 More  child abuse investigations are being carried out 

 More Initial Child Protection Conferences are being held. 

 A particular focus in 2014/15 has been to better understand and improve the 

partnership response to child sexual exploitation. Reviews undertaken indicate that 

whilst good progress is being made, momentum needs to be maintained in 2015/16; 

there remains much more to do. 

 

 

P
age 393



Page 28 

Are we managing risk safely and appropriately?  

The LSCB has considered the following factors in assuring itself that practice and 

multi-agency working is appropriate and safe: 

 Findings from external inspections 

 Partner compliance with statutory duties to ensure arrangements are in place 

to effectively safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young 

people 

 

 Performance data and trends 

 Quality Assurance Processes 

 Findings from Audits. 

All the data we have indicates good attention is paid to managing risk appropriately 

and safely within the frameworks in place.  

 

P
age 394



Is the LSCB making sufficient 
progress? 
The Board monitors progress against its objectives, self-challenges and 

responsibilities through a variety methods eg: 

 The Business Plan which indicates that 89% of tasks were completed or 

proceeding on time 

 The Performance Management System, which indicates improving partner 

compliance with safeguarding requirements, the continued re-balancing of 

the children’s safeguarding system and assurance that the quality of multi-

agency interventions with children and young people is steadily improving 

 The  review of work to address self-challenges, which indicates that progress 

had been made on all but 1 of the 24 set for 2014/15 

 The Annual Review process, which included Board members’ assessments 

that overall 88% of tasks and responsibilities are being progressed. 

The Ofsted inspection judgment of ‘good’ in March 2015 provides external 

assurance that the Board is making good progress. The report highlighted: 

 Leadership of the partnership and the development of a support and  

challenge culture 

 Alignment of strategic priorities with those of other strategic bodies 

 Contribution to developing the corporate objective of Leeds becoming a child 

friendly city 

 Clear work programmes driving forward business plans 

 Use of a learning and improvement framework to review the impact of learning 

 Increasing the voice of the child in the work of the Board. 

 The LSCB continues to make good progress in implementing its plans and 

responding to emerging issues. Regular evaluation of progress routinely identifies 

areas for improvement and where more needs to be done. 

What Impact is the Board having?  
The Leeds Learning and Improvement Framework brings together: 

 The safeguarding lessons learnt from the full range of the work of the LSCB 

and partners 

 The actions that are being taken to improve services 

 The impact on practice, multi-agency working and outcomes for children and 

young people. 

There is good evidence of significant impact on the development of policies and 

procedures which underpin practice and multi-agency working. Although these are 

technically ‘outputs’, they help to consolidate and improve the functioning of the 

children’s safeguarding system in order to better support vulnerable children and 

young people. 

The Board has undertaken a leadership role in prompting partners to engage in 

changes to the way in which professionals work together and with children, young 

people and their families in order to improve outcomes through earlier and more 

effective intervention. This is contributing to improving outcomes for children and 

young people evidenced in the gradual reduction in the number of child deaths and 

the need for statutory intervention and the increase in Early Help services.  

 

 

Page 29 

P
age 395



Challenges for 2015/16 
From the annual review process the LSCB has identified a series of challenges for strategic bodies and for itself 

to address in 2015/16. These are designed to maintain and increase the current momentum for positive change in 

the development and delivery of multi-agency services to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

young people in Leeds. 

 An overarching challenge for all strategic boards is to work more collaboratively together to address areas of 

common / interlinked issues and concerns. 

Page 30 

P
age 396



Page 31 

For the Children and Families Trust Board 

The following challenge was presented to and accepted by the Children and 

Families Trust Board on 7th July 2015: 

To maintain progress in safely rebalancing the children’s safeguarding system in 

Leeds in line with the partnership’s commitment to ensuring that vulnerable children 

and young people receive the right service at the right time and that this contributes 

to improving outcomes and reducing the need for statutory intervention. 

This progress to be maintained and embedded further through: 

 Maintaining an overview of the individual agency and shared allocation (and 

re-allocation as a result of collective changes to meet priorities differently) of 

resources across the partnership to support the further development of the 

Leeds Early Help Approach 

 Promoting the implementation of 

 The ‘Think Family Work Family’ protocol (a continuing challenge from 

2014/15) 

 The Family Group Conference system 

 Ensuring that workforce development across the partnership keeps pace with 

the scale of change be implemented within the safeguarding system 

 Supporting Clusters in the development and delivery of Early Help Services.  

 

 

 

For the Health & Well Being Board 

To consider how best to use the LSCB’s intelligence about the impact of 

compromised parenting on children and young people in reducing health 

inequalities.  

 

For the Leeds Safeguarding Adult Board 

To ensure there is: 

 Effective embedding across the adult partnership of the Think Family, Work 
Family protocol 

 A developing shared understanding of the issues relating to ‘transitions’ for 

vulnerable children and young people who may not have care and support 

needs from children’s to adults’ services.  

 

For the Safer Leeds Executive 

To ensure there is: 

 Effective embedding across the adult partnership of the Think Family, Work 
Family protocol 

 A developing shared understanding of the issues relating to ‘transitions’ for 

vulnerable children and young people from children’s to adults’ services.  

Challenges to strategic bodies for 2015/16 

P
age 397



Page 32 

 (1) To focus on our ability to ‘Know the Story – 

Challenge the Practice’ and better hold 

partners to account for improving safeguarding 

practice. Key elements of this are: 

 Increasing the consistency of partner 

attendance at the Performance Management 

Sub Group 

 Improving the challenge and consequent 

analysis in PMSG deliberations 

 Undertaking the annual review of the data 

base that underpins the LSCB Performance 

Management Framework (to ensure relevant 

data from all partners is captured 

appropriately) 

 To make clear the cost / resource 

implications of the enhanced audit 

methodologies. 

(2) To further promote the ‘voice of the child’ in the 

work of the Board and Partners. 

(3) To maintain an overview of work undertaken by 

the partnership to safely re-balance the 

children’s safeguarding system as outlined in 

Working Together 2015. To include a focus on: 

 The use of Child In Need Plans 

 The quality of Early Help interventions 

(4) To develop a focus on safeguarding and 

promoting the wellbeing of children and young 

people undergoing key transitions 

(5) To further develop and embed the partnership 

response to children and young people who are 

suffering / at risk of sexual exploitation and / or 

‘go missing.’ 

(6) To develop the partnership response to 

radicalisation. 

(7)  To further promote the emotional health and 

wellbeing of children and young people and 

ensure that all who self-harm have access to 

mental health services 

(8)  To further promote and embed the restorative 

approach in the work of the partnership eg: 

 Implementation of the Think Family, Work 

Family protocol 

 The expansion of family group conferences 

 (9)  To undertake Board meetings in a SMARTer 

way. 

 

Challenges the LSCB is setting itself for 2015/16 
The LSCB has adopted an overall challenge for itself in 2015/16: 

To be ambitious for the children and young people in Leeds and moving what we do with and for them from ‘good’ to ‘great’. 

Supporting this are 9 specific challenges: 

P
age 398



Conclusion 
Overall, looking back over 2014-15 the Board through all its partners delivered a strong, effective and challenging programme of 
work designed to consistently and continuously improve what it is like to be a child growing up in Leeds.  

This report demonstrates the range of work and the impact it has had, as well as the Board’s ambition to be even better at meeting 
its statutory objectives and functions.  

Whilst there is, as always, a lot to still to do, 2014-15 was a year which culminated in a strong Ofsted report, much improved inter-
nal and external challenge between partners on the Board, a strong degree of shared ownership and excellent co-operation. The 
journey over the last 5 years has been one of steady forward progress, coupled with growing mutuality of purpose, and respect. As a 
consequence the Board is able to set its priorities for 2015-18 with confidence.  

The challenges the Board have agreed to pose across the system are based on sound evidence and good data, and are designed to 
keep partners focused on the complex issues that need resolved. The greatest challenge of all is maintaining the progress of the last 
5 years, in a challenging public sector environment, through a time of policy changes and new national priorities without losing sight 
of what matters – the children of the City.  

Page 33 

P
age 399



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015 

Subject: The future for Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) education 
provision in Leeds.

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

It is proposed to create a world class provision within Leeds for children and young people 
with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs by working with an outstanding 
partner to convert the existing Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties (BESD) SILC 
and to move the existing primary provision into one new organisation.   
We would like the board:

1. To note the progress made and agree future plans to invest in an outstanding and 
innovative academy; an extended specialist learning provision for children in Leeds 
that have Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs. This will be as a part 
of a coordinated, city-wide, multi-agency, comprehensive and holistic continuum of 
support for some of the city’s most challenging and vulnerable children and young 
people.

2. To note and comment upon the recommendations that are based upon the wide 
ranging research and consultations that have taken place across the city and 
approve proposals to further consult as plans are developed.

Report author:  Paul Brennan
Tel:  0113 378 3629

With :  Viv Buckland and Andrew Eastwood

Page 401

Agenda Item 19



3. To approve in principal an investment of significant capital resource to develop state 
of the art and purpose built special schools in the city for children with the most 
severe social, emotional and mental health needs

4. In order to develop this provision it is necessary to reorganise existing provision, 
therefore, the executive board is asked to:

 note the intention to convert the existing Specialist Inclusion Learning Centre 
(SILC) for young people with Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties 
(BESD) at Elmete Wood, which is currently in Special Measures, into a 4 – 19 
sponsored academy for children with Social Emotional and Mental Health Issues 
(SEMH) based on four sites across Leeds, partnered by an outstanding existing 
local specialist sponsor. 

 approve permission to consult on changing the governance of the existing 
primary BESD provision at Oakwood to become part of the newly formed 
academy. This would mean that the North East SILC would be ceasing to 
provide that behaviour, emotional and social difficulty (BESD) provision at this 
site from 31 August 2016; the children moving across  to the new SEMH 
provision.

and 

 establish a new site in south Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017.

 establish a new site in east Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017

5. The new SEMH academy would, therefore, be a provision for children and young 
people aged from 4 to 19 years and would operate over four sites to better meet the 
needs of local communities and minimise travel.   The sites would include the 
Tinshill site, a new building on a site in south Leeds, a new building on a site in east 
Leeds and the Oakwood site.  

6. The proposal will give the opportunity to develop a wider behaviour continuum and 
establish a coherent offer designed to work in partnership to deliver positive 
outcomes for children and young people in Leeds.

7. These proposals build on the vision for a Child Friendly City whereby a Leeds 
alliance is established so that the full spectrum of need for learners can be met 
within the City.

Recommendations

8. This report asks Executive Board to:

 note the intention to convert the existing BESD SILC into a 4 – 19 SEMH 
sponsored academy across one primary phase and three secondary phase 
sites; 

Page 402



 approve permission to consult on changing (ceasing to provide) provision at 
North East SILC Oakwood site; transferring staff and pupils to become part of 
the new academy, from 31 August 2016; 

 establish a new site in east Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017

 establish a new site in south Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017;  

 proceed with the design development for the first two SEMH projects with an 
acceptance of the associated design fees incurred; and

 approve the capital expenditure required to create a world class provision within 
the city, and acknowledge the savings, both in the revenue costs and social 
capital costs, of not having to provide for children with SEMH outside of the 
authority.

 note that the officer responsible for implementation is the Head of Learning 
Systems, and that the scheme will be implemented by September 2017.

Page 403



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report asks Executive Board to give permission to consult on the proposal to 
further develop provision for children with SEMH across the city and take steps to 
move the governance (cease to provide) of some existing providers to become 
part of an outstanding local academy.   This will establish additional Social 
Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) provision on sites in the east and in the south of 
the city as part of the conversion process with an outstanding preferred sponsor.

2 Background information

2.1 Nationally, incidences of Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) are 
increasing.  Headteachers, parents and GPs are all reporting concerns and this is 
exacerbated by a lack of appropriate support and provision.  It is well established 
that attainment, NEET, and youth offending outcomes for those with complex 
SEMH needs are much poorer than for their peers.   The city and its partners are 
seeking to address this issue by significant investment in this vulnerable but 
challenging group of children and young people to ensure that the city has a world 
class provision for them.  

2.2 It is an exciting time to be in Leeds as we are aiming to make significant 
improvements to the whole offer of education provision for learners with 
challenging, disruptive, or disturbing behaviours, the most vulnerable learners in 
the city. 

2.3 Children’s Services commissioned a nationally recognised expert, Ben Bryant 
from ISOS Partnerships, working with the Educational Psychology Service,  to 
undertake a review of the provision in Leeds and to share experiences from the 
best providers both nationally and internationally in order to inform a strategic plan 
for the city. 

2.4 One of the very few outstanding providers of SEMH provision in the North of 
England is the Wellspring Academy Trust. We are seeking to develop a strong 
partnership with this trust. Through forming a partnership with Wellspring we will 
be able to deliver a world class provision in the city.  Wellspring Academy Trust 
are experts in the education of young people with SEMH needs, evidenced by 
their ‘outstanding’ OFSTED judgments.  

2.5 Overall, and in-line with most areas across the country, provision for Leeds’ 
children and young people with social, emotional and mental health issues does 
not meet the standard we aspire to, and this has been the case for some time. 
This is despite the fact that there are some outstanding and many good providers 
in the city. 

2.6 The BESD Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre SILC (at Elmete Wood) was 
placed into ‘special measures’ by Ofsted.  By considering their structural future, at 
the same time as consulting on improvements to the wider continuum of provision 
to meet SEMH needs, there is an exciting opportunity to establish a coherent 
whole offer of provision to meet a complex and diverse range of needs and 
improve outcomes for these most vulnerable children and young people. 

Page 404



2.7 The city currently has insufficient suitable accommodation for its most vulnerable 
children and so is obliged to transport many of them outside of the city at great, 
reputational, social and financial cost.  We are ambitious to make rapid purposeful 
action to rectify the situation. With no provision in the city there are also significant 
revenue pressures; a ‘standard rate’ to place all 240 learners elsewhere could 
cost up to £13.2m per annum plus transport costs.

2.8 The intention is to convert the existing SILC in the first instance into an academy 
on a new site to start to meet the needs of the city. The proposal is to ultimately 
create one new provision based across four sites. In order to do this we need to 
identify the necessary capital funding to secure appropriate accommodation. This 
is acknowledged by the DfE to be one of the most complicated and ambitious 
projects in the country but we continue to receive support from the DfE, the 
Funding Agency, Ofsted  and the new Regional Schools Commissioner. 

2.9 There is an acknowledgement that there needs to be a strong behaviour 
continuum across the city.   From teachers in the classroom receiving advice 
through ‘in school’ accommodation, alternative provisions and pupil referral units 
(PRUs).   The whole continuum will be supported by expert advice, educational 
psychology and therapeutic support which will focus on the needs of the child and 
the desire to develop the skills and resiliencies needed to keep a child in a school.

2.10 Where considered evaluation of an individual’s needs indicates that mainstream 
schooling is not appropriate, then a specialist setting will be required.

2.11 The provision of the new SILC would be the anchor to which the behaviour 
continuum would be secured.   The proposal is to build on the vision for a Leeds 
Behaviour Alliance, where the full spectrum of need for learners can be met within 
the city. This was identified in 2013; it sought to bring together the city’s three 
Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) and the BESD SILC under one leadership to support 
a more coherent offer of provision to meet the most complex needs in the city.   
This was approved by Executive Board in December 2013, but had to be 
suspended following the placing of Elmete Wood into Special Measures as no 
mergers are allowed to take place with a failing school.   The unification will be 
delivered by this Wellspring project.    

2.12 It is not intended that all children who demonstrate challenging behaviour will be 
directed towards the SILC system.  A clear pathway needs to be created to 
ensure that children and young people have the opportunity to develop good 
behaviours within the mainstream school system. The accountability for this sits 
within Area Inclusion Partnerships (AIPs) that work directly with schools and other 
partners, such as mental health charities, Children Adolescent Mental Health 
Services, Targeted Adult Mental Health Services and others, to give children the 
skills and resilience to return to school.   The AIPs can commission resource from 
Alternative Provision provided by the schools themselves or Multi-academy trusts 
within the city.

2.13 Outreach support will continue to be delivered in schools, and all provision across 
the city will be co-ordinated through the Educational Psychologists and the 
Special Educational Need Inclusion Team (SENIT).

Page 405



2.14 There has been a lot of work done to engage all stakeholders in this agenda.   
Consultation has been far ranging and has included OBA style events with the 
secondary heads and consultation through the Primary Heads briefings.   The 
system of delivery is being enhanced by Allison Chin OBE, a seconded Primary 
Headteacher and Siobhan Roberts who is a deputy at Cockburn High.  They are 
able to maintain a strong dialogue across Leeds to support the SEMH continuum.

2.15 Throughout the process the leadership and staff at the Elmete SILC and the PRU 
provisions at Oakwood, Tinshill and Burley Park have been fully engaged in the 
development and progress of the plans, including working with Wellspring on their 
vision for the future.  The existing schools, PRUs and the Wellspring Trust are 
establishing proposals to explain the many benefits of the proposals, especially 
the enhanced learning opportunities, inherent in the conversion plan.   

2.16 Please note:  The change of terminology was brought about following the 
implementation of the Children and Families Act revised code of for children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabled children (SEND).  
This replaced the previous BESD with SEMH.  Significantly provision for young 
people with SEMH should be made, where necessary, up to the age of 25, 
whereas BESD provision previously stopped at 16.

3 Main issues

3.1 In Leeds there is a general recognition that the provision for older children with 
specialist SEMH is not currently available at the quality that is required. The city’s 
specialist secondary school the BESD SILC at Elmete Wood has suffered from 
poor leadership and management and a poor environment.  It was placed into 
Special Measures by Ofsted in September 2014.  The Key Stage 2 provision is 
currently coupled to West Oaks SILC and that school is judged as Outstanding by 
Ofsted.

3.2 Leeds City Council engaged in a national pilot known as the Exclusions Trial 
whereby funding was devolved from the LA centrally to local partnerships of 
schools, in Leeds they are called Area Inclusion Partnerships (AIPs).  The AIPs 
are funded from the High needs block of the direct schools grant (DSG).   It is the 
function of the LA to determine how best to spend this money but the 
responsibility for children remains with the LA.  The placing of money locally, with 
the expressed purpose of funding a behaviour continuum to avoid permanent 
exclusions, remains under evaluation.   The funding of the city’s Pupil Referral 
Units and the statutory governance framework under-which they operate has 
changed since 2012.  These changes have created some uncertainty as the 
complexity of funding for alternative provision linked to learners with SEMH has 
caused a lack of understanding.   The establishment of a strong provision within 
the city will enable clearer pathways to be developed for our most vulnerable 
learners.

3.3 Leeds was very successful in remodelling and developing a lot of its secondary 
school estate under HM government’s Building Schools for the Future scheme. 
The national scheme was brought to an end before it had been fully rolled out to 
all schools facing suitability issues. The special school estate in Leeds, therefore, 

Page 406



has had a relatively small investment and the accommodation for children with 
social, emotional or mental health (SEMH) issues is poor. 

3.4 The need for places in provision for children with SEMH is also put under 
pressure by population growth.  The suitability of the accommodation is a 
significant factor in the poor outcomes of these young people.

3.5 The current accommodation of the Pupil Referral Units and the SILC provision for 
children with SEMH is poor and so the costs of placing children and young people 
in them is relatively high.   These proposals also seek to address the financial 
unsustainability of the PRUs, and enable an integrated pathway to appropriate 
provision for the children and young people.

3.6 A number of practical barriers have occurred that have impacted on progress to 
date.  The departure of the BESD SILC principal has meant that the city has had 
to buy interim leadership.  The governing body has been replaced with an Interim 
Executive Board, which in turn has required significant changes to ensure its 
effectiveness.  These have led to delays in the ability to fully integrate the PRUs 
and the SILC under single leadership and management.

3.7 It is not possible to re-model all the current sites to meet the needs of the 
integrated provision.   Leeds has an ambition to be the Best City for Children and 
to become a Child Friendly City and so significant investment is required in order 
to achieve this.

3.8 In recent months, Her Majesty’s Inspector of Schools (HMI) has questioned the 
speed with which the city is addressing the issue of specialist provision for these 
children and young people.    Whilst recognising the extent of the challenges, HMI 
has stated that investment in the infrastructure is necessary and it is considered 
that additional provision is also required.

3.9 This report therefore notes that a structural solution is required for the existing 
BESD SILC, and that to develop fully integrated provision would also require 
permission from Executive Board to consult on moving provision at the Oakwood 
site of NE SILC from 31 August 2016 and place it as part of the new SEMH 
provision.   

3.10 Oakwood site also includes the Key Stage1 and 2 Pupil Referral Unit (PRU). The 
governors at the NE SILC have indicated their wish to focus more fully on their 
new complex needs provision on the Cambridge Road site and support the 
request to effectively transfer the children to another outstanding provision [Both 
the SILC and the PRU have good or outstanding OfSTED judgements].   This 
move will enable Leeds to model an integrated SILC and assessment provision.

3.11 Following extensive discussions with a range of academy sponsors a preferred 
sponsor has been identified to work with us to convert the existing BESD SILC to 
provide a new multi-site Social, Emotional Mental Health SILC provision for 240 
children with a statement of special educational needs or Educational Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP) where SEMH is the principle need.   

Page 407



3.12 There will also be an additional 60 places across the three sites for assessment, 
offered to children without a statement in the manner of a PRU.  This proposal 
maintains the same fundamental principles of the Leeds Behaviour Alliance and 
seeks to build additional capacity in the city.

3.13 Ofsted monitoring visits are taking place regularly, however it is essential that 
timely and purposeful action is now taken on the part of the local authority.  We 
recognise the need to demonstrate to Ofsted a clear plan with defined timescales 
for structural change.  If we are unable to provide this there is a significant risk 
that the current provision would be closed at very short notice.  

3.14 There would then be significant difficulties in securing alternative places for these 
young people, and substantial revenue pressures would be generated by placing 
a large number of young people out of the city.   Using recently quoted ‘standard 
rate’ charges made by a private provider; the cost to meet the needs of 240 
learners would require a minimum revenue expenditure of £13.2m per annum.

3.15 A preferred academy sponsor has been identified that currently runs very effective 
provision elsewhere.  There are very few sponsors with expertise in this area that 
are suitable to meet the requirements in Leeds.  Through discussion it is clear that 
a key aspect of their success has been the purpose built accommodation that they 
presently use.  It is estimated that replicating something similar in Leeds will cost 
in the region of £15m per building, and three sites are required in addition to the 
continued use of the provision based at Oakwood.

3.16 The capital investment requirements of £45m would be an investment in a world 
class, specialist learning environment, run by an outstanding provider working in 
partnership with Leeds.   It would enable the city to provide its most vulnerable 
learners with an holistic education, integrating therapeutic and nurture provisions 
within personalised pathways for the children and young people.   Without 
investment the learners with the highest levels of need will not have 
accommodation in Leeds suitable for the purpose of meeting their needs.  

3.17 The £45m required is a worst case scenario the effects of which can be mitigated 
by a number of actions, however, if the full amount was to be funded from 
prudential borrowing the annual cost of borrowing at the current average cost of 
external borrowing will be £2.277m per annum.  This amount is a lot less than the 
revenue savings made by the scheme and the drastically reduce transport costs.

3.18 The new provision would also be able to deliver this education at a cost that is 
less than we currently spend within our unsuitable accommodation and at 
considerably less than half the price of sending young people out of the city.

3.19 It is proposed that the new provision will run from the four sites.  The current 
primary provision is already in place at Oakwood Lane and Oakwood PRU, and it 
is proposed that the site would be used as part of the new academy for the 
primary phase.   A further three sites are required for the secondary phase.  It is 
proposed that the site at Tinshill, currently the Key Stage 4 PRU, would initially 
form part of the new academy, however, the building is unsuitable for effective 
learning and requires replacement.  It is proposed to build a new bespoke 

Page 408



provision to provide suitable accommodation in the south and in the east of the 
city.  Options for sites are still being considered.

3.20 The accommodation at Elmete Wood is unsuitable and it is proposed to 
discontinue with the use of this site for the provision of SEMH learning.  The 
sponsor wishes to establish a temporary site where they can induct staff and 
begin to integrate learners into a new culture, with a fresh start.  It is our view that 
this will deliver effective change more quickly than simply taking over the Elmete 
Wood site and offers learners the most positive outcomes.  

3.21 In order to make rapid progress in partnership with the preferred academy 
sponsor it is necessary to identify the capital funding required for investment into 
the SEMH provision, to provide clarity of expectations and timescales.  

3.22 Capital receipts generated as a result of Elmete Wood being declared surplus to 
requirements could be earmarked and used to fund the capital development 
costs. There is the potential of attracting additional Department for Education 
funding which would reduce the need for potential borrowing on a pound for 
pound basis. 

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The consultation will be managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and 
local practice.  All parents, carers, staff and unions will be consulted, along with 
ward members and members of the local communities and the public at large.  
Information will be available on Leeds City Council website.

4.1.2 Consultation is not required when a school in Special Measures is converting to a 
sponsored academy.  Ceasing to provide BESD provision through the NE SILC 
requires full consultation and the need to meet an SEN Improvement test, 
demonstrating that the alternative provision proposed will better meet the needs of 
those learners, also needs to be met.

4.1.3 Consultation on the planning applications required for the proposed new buildings 
will also be conducted to ensure the wider community have the opportunity to 
comment on changes in their area.

4.1.4 Communication with parents and the young people is critical.   The existing 
schools, PRUs and the Wellspring Trust are establishing proposals to explain the 
many benefits of the proposals, especially the enhanced learning opportunities.   
The proposed model of learning within the new SILC will be explored, along with 
the ways that the many support and therapeutic systems are integrated into the 
pathways designed for the children and young people.   Parents and learners 
views will be taken into full consideration in the design of the building and the 
curriculum.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 A screening form has been completed indicated that a full assessment is required.  
As this proposal affects children and young people with SEN an SEN 

Page 409



Improvement test is required to evidence how this will provide better outcomes 
and this will be undertaken as part of the consultation.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 These proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for children with a statement of special 
educational needs, or education health and care plan, which names social and 
emotional mental health (SEMH) as the principle need. 

4.3.2 The proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to the Best Council and the Best 
City in which to grow up; a Child Friendly City, through the creation of provisions 
that offers children in Leeds the opportunity to benefit from outstanding, integrated 
provision, which best meets their behaviour needs.  That, in turn, will increase 
attendance, attainment and progression to education, employment and training 
among some of the city’s most vulnerable children, as desired by the Children and 
Young People’s Plan.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 These proposals will require significant capital investment, in the region of £45m 
across three sites.  Without investment the learners with the highest levels of 
need will not have accommodation suitable for the purpose of meeting their 
needs.  Should Leeds be unable to deliver SEMH provision locally, through lack of 
investment, the anticipated revenue cost for the learners would be in excess of 
£13.2m per annum leaving the local authority.  If £45m is required to be funded 
from prudential borrowing the annual cost of borrowing at the current average cost 
of external borrowing will be £2.277m per annum.

4.4.2 Capital receipts generated as a result of Elmete Wood being declared surplus to 
requirements could be earmarked and used to fund the capital development 
costs. 

4.4.3 The latest estimate is that the ‘at risk’ feasibility and design work for the first two 
sites will cost £0.572m.  This fee includes for an extensive number of surveys and 
a highly detailed feasibility report.  Work has commenced ‘at risk’, having been 
underwritten by the LEP, and as such a formal commitment is required to ensure 
the project is not allowed to stall, which would place the required delivery 
timeframe at risk.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The changes described constitute prescribed changes under the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006.  The consultations will be managed in accordance with that 
legislation and local practice.

4.5.2 This report is subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Risk is to be managed through application of ‘best practice’ project management 
tools and techniques via the City Council’s Project Management Methodology.  

Page 410



Experienced Project Management resource will be allocated from within both 
Children’s Services and the Public Private Partnerships Unit.

4.6.2 A risk log will be maintained throughout the project and escalation for 
accommodation issues will be via the Built Environment Programme Manager.

4.6.3 Funding will be set aside to ensure that any essential maintenance can be 
undertaken across the sites in the interim period, until such time that the major 
capital works commence.

5 Conclusions

5.1 It is proposed to create a world class provision within the city by working with an 
outstanding partner to convert the existing SILC and to move the existing primary 
provision into one new organisation.   The new provision would be for learners 
aged from 4 – 19 and integrate specialist learning for those with social, emotional 
or mental health needs with assessment places.   This new SEMH provision, 
based on four sites across the city, will replace the current BESD SILC and the 
three PRUs.   This would meet the need to provide additional SEMH capacity in 
the city.  The existing BESD SILC is in an OfSTED category and requires 
significant improvements.

6 Recommendations

This report asks Executive Board to:

 note the intention to convert the existing BESD SILC into a 4 – 19 SEMH 
sponsored academy across one primary phase and three secondary phase 
sites; 

 approve permission to consult on changing (ceasing to provide) provision at 
North East SILC Oakwood site to become part of the new academy, from 31 
August 2016; 

 establish a new site in east Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017

 establish a new site in south Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) 
as part of the converted BESD SILC academy from 2017;  

 proceed with the design development for the first two SEMH projects with an 
acceptance of the associated design fees incurred; and

 approve the capital expenditure required to create a world class provision within 
the city, and acknowledge the savings, both in the revenue costs and social 
capital costs, of not having to provide for children with SEMH outside of the 
authority.

 note that the officer responsible for implementation is the Head of Learning 
Systems, and that the scheme will be implemented by September 2017.

Page 411



7 Background documents1 

7.1    None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 412



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Complex Needs 

 
Lead person: Natalie Samuel 
 

Contact number: 07891279105 

 
1. Title: Social and Emotional Mental Health education provision 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
Alteration of the current Behaviour, Emotional and Social Difficulty (BESD) Specialist 
Inclusive Learning Centre (SILC) by: 

 Converting the existing BESD SILC into a 4 – 19 SEMH sponsored academy 
across one primary phase and three secondary phase sites. 

 Ceasing the behaviour, emotional and social difficulty (BESD) provision at 
North East SILC Oakwood site  

 Establishing a new site in south Leeds for Social Emotional Mental Health 
(SEMH) as part of the converted BESD SILC academy. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 x  

Page 413



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
 
 
x 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 414



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 415



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

23/11/15 – 07/12/15 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

04/01/16 – 29/02/16  

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

Natalie Samuel Best Practice 
Development Officer 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Viv Buckland 
 

Head of Learning Systems 28/10/15 

Date screening completed 27/10/15 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 27/10/15 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 416



Report of: Director of Children’s Services  

Report to: Executive Board 

Date: 18 November 2015

Subject: Outcome of school admissions arrangements 2015

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

 This report informs Executive Board of the statistical information on this year’s 
admissions round, ie for entry to reception and Year 7 in September 2015.  

 There are national closing dates to submit applications and for making offers. 
Secondary applications must be submitted by 31 October and offers are made 
on 1 March.  In Leeds 83% of parents were offered their first preference school 
(84% last year) and 95% were offered one of their top three (96% last year).  
There were 7962 places allocated, compared to 7541 last year.

 Primary applications must be submitted by 15 January each year and offers 
are made on 16 April.  In Leeds 85% (85% last year) were offered their first 
preference with 93% (94% last year) offered one of their top three preferences.  
There were 9854 places allocated, compared to 9774 last year.

 This year has seen the Temple Learning Academy (free school) open, taking 
primary children in 2015 and secondary ages from 2016, and a new sixth form 
free school, the Elliott Hudson academy open. The opening of this sixth form 
provision has coincided with Swallow Hill academy, Farnley Academy, Morley 
Academy and Bruntcliffe Academy closing their sixth forms. 

Report author:  Paul Brennan
Tel:  0113 3783688

Page 417

Agenda Item 20



 A government consultation is expected imminently on changes to the 
Admissions Code which is the legal framework for setting policies and 
managing admissions. The report outlines some of the potential implications 
for the authority in managing this evolving situation as we move forward, and 
highlights some issues for consideration in the next round of consultation.

Recommendations

That Executive Board note:

 Numbers of applications for both phases of education, the percentage of 
successful first preferences for secondary admissions was 83% and for 
Reception admissions was 85%.  

 The percentage of parents receiving one of their top three preferences was 
95% for secondary and 93% for primary.

 The percentage of parents getting none of their preferences and made an 
alternative offer instead was 4.5% in secondary (3.2% last year) and 5.5% in 
primary (5% last year)

 The expected contents of the government consultation on changes to the 
admissions code for 2016.

 The officer responsible for this work is the Admissions and Family Information 
Service lead.

Page 418



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report provides statistical information on the annual admissions round for 
entry to Reception and year 7 for September 2015. The rising birth rate has been 
impacting on entry to Reception particularly since 2009 and on entry to year 7 in 
some areas of the City. The report further considers the potential effect of the 
latest government consultation on changes to the admissions code, and potential 
for changes within the Leeds City Council admissions policy. 

2 Background information

2.2 The local authority is required to coordinate all applications for schools and 
academies in the normal admission round, which refers mainly to applications for 
entry into Reception and year 7, but also includes year 3 where we have junior 
schools, and will effect year 10 for future UTCs. This year 7962 secondary places 
and 9854 primary places were offered.

2.3 These applications are in the context of a rapidly rising birth rate over the last 
decade which has become more volatile and is particularly affecting entry to 
Reception. The birth cohort that entered primary this year was smaller than in 
2014 by 200 children, however we received 80 more applications than in 2014. 
This necessitated a number of short notice bulge cohorts to be put in place to 
meet the need for places that may not be required in future Reception intakes. 

2.4 The number of children due to start year 7 this year began to increase significantly 
in some areas of the city, and 400 more places were allocated than in 2014. A 
number of secondary schools chose to admit additional pupils, including those 
who had closed their sixth forms to coincide with the opening of the Elliott Hudson 
Free School, resulting in an additional 296 places being available on offer day, 
above the published admission limits.  

2.5 The Ruth Gorse Academy, which opened last year continues to operate from its 
temporary site in Morley, and is well subscribed.  As it anticipates the move into 
its new permanent accommodation in September 2016 it will begin to admit to its 
higher admission number, thereby creating more places in the inner south of the 
City. 

3 Main issues

3.1 Local authorities are required to make offers on 1st March each year to children 
starting secondary school in year 7, and on 16th April to children starting primary 
school in reception. Offers are coordinated by each local authority, so that only 
one offer is received. This year 7962 offers were made for secondary places in 
Leeds schools. Of these 83% were given their first preference, 95% one of their 
first 3 preferences, and 4.5% or 357 could not be offered any of their 5 
preferences. For primary, 9854 offers were made, with 85% getting their first 
preference, 93% getting one of their first three preferences, and 5.5% or 550 who 
could not be offered any of their 5 preferences.

Page 419



3.2 The proportion of first preferences achieved at secondary is 0.5% lower than the 
national average, and at primary is 2.7% lower.  Leeds has the highest proportion 
regionally of children at both phases who are allocated a preferred school within 
the local authority, and is at least 2% higher than the national average.  As the 
number of school rated good or outstanding increases in Leeds we could expect 
to see that continue.  

3.3 There was some localised pressure in some areas of the City for primary places 
for September 2015, and this was widely reported in the Roundhay area in 
particular.  On the offer day in April 86 parents in this area were not offered one of 
their preferred schools, however 66 were still offered a school place within a two 
mile walking distance.  Discussions took place with local schools and additional 
classes were agreed.  By July this figure had fallen to 9 children where they did 
not have a preferred school, only one of which was over 2 miles away.  The 
increase in demand for reception places in September 2015 was greater than 
expected leading to additional places being agreed after the offer day. 

3.4 We continue to support families to apply on time, and encourage online 
applications which have the benefit of speed and certainty of receipt for parents.  
We use email reminders to support parents who have not completed the 
application process online but have created accounts and added preferences, and 
we chase non-applicants through primary schools (for secondary applications) 
and early years settings (for primary applications). Appropriate council Twitter 
accounts are being used to remind parents of the approaching deadlines and 
media releases raise further awareness. It is however impossible for the 
admissions service to know the whereabouts or plans of all families, and it does 
remain the responsibility of parents to apply on time. Late applications will result in 
one of the remaining places being offered after all other preferences have been 
considered.

3.5 Several secondary schools have continued to take in pupils above their published 
admission number.  The Admissions Code makes provision for this and 
recommends that schools wishing to take extra pupils should indicate their 
intention to do so before offer day so that places can be allocated in line with the 
Admission policy.  Those schools who have wished to take extra have complied 
with this and the process has worked well.  It has resulted in 296 extra places 
being available on offer day.

3.6 To deal with the increasing demand for primary places, 472 additional places 
were established for entry in September 2015.  These comprised 60 places in the 
new Temple Learning Academy (free school), and 135 further places as a result 
of permanent expansions.  There were also 187 places provided as ‘bulge 
cohorts’ where the increase was not part of a permanent change.  The birth rate 
due to enter Reception in 2015 was approximately 200 less than those entering in 
September 2014, however there were 80 more applications than the previous 
year.  In response to this demand for around 300 more places than expected a 
further 90 places were agreed across three schools in the most affected area. 

3.7 By the first week of September 2015 10,021 offers had been made for children to 
enter reception class.  Between April 16th, offer day, and the first week in 
September there had been an additional 437 requests for places, only 95 of which 

Page 420



were connected with a house move taking place.  Some parents over the same 
period let us know they no longer required a school place in Leeds leaving a net 
increase of 167 more children than on offer day.

3.8 Discussions with schools are well underway across the City to ensure that there 
will be sufficient places for entry in September 2016.  This will be the largest birth 
cohort due to enter primary school in Leeds, with numbers falling for entry in 
September 2017.  An additional 225 Reception places have already been agreed 
with schools at the time of writing this report, with good progress being made 
towards the total level of anticipated need.

3.9 Despite the increasing number of children requiring reception places the number 
of appeals for a Reception place has fallen this year.  The following table shows 
data for the last three years of Reception appeals.  As they are governed by the 
Infant Class Size legislation, to successfully appeal parents must meet certain 
criteria set out in the School Admissions Appeal Code and we have updated our 
appeal form this year to reflect this, making it easier for parents to understand 
their likelihood of success.

 Appeals
Primary
*16th April – 1st 
October*

Rec 2013/14 Rec 2014/15 Rec 2015/16

Appeals lodged with 
LCC*         

1067 1095 730

Appeals heard * 434 (40.6% of those 
lodged)

569 (52% of those 
lodged)

352 (48% of those 
lodged)

Appeals granted* 62 (14% of those heard) 38 (6.6% of those heard) 40 (11% of those heard)
Appeals not granted* 372 (86% of those heard) 531 (93% of those heard) 312 (88.6% of those 

heard)
Number of offers made 9355 9774 9854
1st Preferences met 7949 (85%) 8270 (85%) 8383 (85%)
Placements (no pref 
met)

467 (5%) 468 (5%) 550 (5.5%)

3.10 For secondary the number of appeals logged has remained at a similar level to 
last year for Year 7 appeals however the numbers granted have fallen 
significantly.  A relatively low level of appeals being granted, at either primary or 
secondary, is one indicator that the policy is fair and reasonable, and appeals are 
the most appropriate way for exceptional circumstances to be considered.  We 
are grateful to the appeal panel members for the significant amount of time and 
effort they give to the process as volunteers.

Secondary

*1st March – 9th 
October*

High 2013/14 High 2014/15 High 2015/16

Appeals lodged with 
LCC*         

547 427 443

Page 421



Appeals heard * 241 (44% of those 
lodged)

215 (50% of those 
lodged)

208 (46% of those 
lodged)

Appeals granted* 58 (24% of those heard) 54 (25% of those heard) 29 (14% of those heard)
Appeals not granted* 183 (76% of those heard) 161 (75% of those heard) 179 (86% of those 

heard)

3.11 The Leeds Admission policy has for many years given parents a priority for their 
‘nearest’ school based on a straight line distance.  There are now only six 
community secondary schools and approximately half of all primary schools are 
community or voluntary controlled.  Whilst most schools who have changed status 
have continued to include the nearest criteria within their own admission policy, a 
small number do not. This priority automatically adjusts when new schools are 
created or when new policies are used.  When a school no longer uses the 
‘nearest’ criteria this has an impact on the way local families are affected. The 
Board’s attention was drawn to this last year.

3.12 In response to the current landscape where only 15% of secondary schools are 
covered by the Local Authority admission policy it is timely to consult on a simple 
change that will provide a degree of stability and control when other Own 
Admitting Authority schools and academies choose to make changes to their 
policies.  We will consult this autumn on setting catchment areas for the remaining 
community secondary schools.  These catchment areas will very simply be set as 
enclosing the existing area defined by ‘nearest school’.  This will leave parents 
and schools unaffected by the change, but will mean that the areas will not 
automatically change in response to changes around them.  The choice to change 
will be there.  We will consult with all Own Admitting Authority schools about 
making a similar change to their policies.  Details of this appear in the consultation 
that is currently being undertaken.

3.13 Whilst it is proposed to only change the arrangements for secondary schools, and 
not primary schools at this time some work has been undertaken to consider the 
effectiveness of the current policy.  There has been much reporting in the local 
press over the summer about areas of the city where parents feel disadvantaged, 
and without a reasonable choice of school places.  Of the 222 primary schools in 
Leeds only 30 were so oversubscribed that they were unable to offer places to all 
of the ‘nearest’ children who applied. 

3.14 We have consulted previously on amending the sibling priority, and do not intend 
to consult on any changes to this for the foreseeable future.  Some modelling has 
taken place on simple alternatives to the current policy.  For example removing 
the criteria of ‘nearest’ and after the sibling criteria using simple distance from the 
school.  The results showed that whilst successful first preferences went up 
slightly the number of children who did not receive any of their preferences also 
went up by a small amount.  Full details are contained in the consultation material 
currently available.

3.15 Also considered was continuing to have the nearest priority, but within that group 
allocating places randomly rather than by distance from the school.  This would 
only apply to those schools where not all nearest children could be allocated a 

Page 422



place (last year that would have been 25 out of 238 schools).  When we allocate 
by distance it is always parents furthest from their priority school that potentially 
miss out on a place.  By allocating randomly this would always vary. The 
consultation is asking parents, and all other stakeholders, whether they would 
wish the local authority to consider such a policy further.  There is no immediate 
proposal to change.

3.16 The Admission policy offers a high priority to a small number of children where 
they have exceptional medical or special educational needs or disabilities.  The 
significant change of legislation that moved from Statements of SEN to Education, 
Health and Care plans makes it timely to consider whether priority 1b is still 
appropriately worded.  Parents have at times been unclear as to when this might 
apply and consultation is also considering making this clearer when 
circumstances are likely to meet this criteria.

3.17 Consultation on School Admissions Code

3.18 In an open letter from Nick Gibb on 8 September there was a clear intention by 
central government to consult on changes to the School Admissions Code.  Most 
commonly, consultation on this Code takes place in Autumn with a new Code 
coming into effect in February. To date the consultation has not yet been 
announced and we await further details.

3.19 The open letter was referring to summer born children being permitted to defer 
entry to Reception for a full year.  At present parents of summer born children 
(those born between 1 April and 31 August) may request deferral and their 
individual circumstances are taken into account.  In Leeds the number of parents 
requesting deferral for a full year is around a dozen with about half being granted 
on the basis of being in the best interests of the child.  The letter advised that full 
consultation would take place however local authorities were urged to consider 
implementing the change immediately.

3.20 As Admission Authorities are bound in law to adhere to the Code, until it is re-
written it would be inappropriate to implement any change prior to new legislation.  
We are continuing to consider each case on its merits with the best interests of 
the child at the centre of any decision.  Once consultation is brought forward the 
local authority will consider its response, however it will be important that a 
deadline by which parents must submit such a request is given in the Code.  This 
should be no later than the deadline for applying for places as the potential for 
significant disruption to the school place planning function will create significant 
difficulties.  Planning for the number of school places required takes place well in 
advance of this.  

3.21 This year sees the implementation of the new timeframe for consultation and 
determination of admission arrangements introduced by the 2014 Code.  As such 
members will note the reduced consultation period from 8 weeks down to 6 
weeks, and that a paper to determine the admission arrangements will be earlier 
in spring term than previously, most likely in February.

Page 423



4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Consultation on any proposed changes to the Admission policy for entry in 
September 2017 is underway as required by current regulations. Information is 
hosted on the Council website and sent out to elected members, head teachers 
and chairs of governors as well as a range of other interested parties.  

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 This report is for information only and therefore does not have any implications 
for equality. Screening form attached at appendix 1. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The admissions policy and arrangements continues to ensure children receive fair 
and consistent treatment, and have reasonable access to local schools. In doing 
so it supports the council’s obsession with improving attendance, contributing to 
good educational outcomes for children. These are important factors in the drive 
to become a child friendly city. 

4.3.2 A key objective within the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 is to build a child friendly 
city. The delivery of pupil places through the Admissions Arrangements is one of 
the most baseline entitlements of a Child Friendly City. A good quality school 
place contributes to the achievement of targets within the Childrens and young 
People’s Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and 
achievement’.   

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Whilst the published guide for parents applying for the normal admission round 
remains a statutory document and must be printed, maximum use of the website 
is used to provide a wider range of information for parents to support their 
application for school.  Continued use of the online application process by 70% of 
parents provides a secure means of applying whilst reducing the administrative 
requirement to manually input written requests.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 Executive Board determined the admission policy in operation for entry in 
September 2015 at their meeting in March 2014.  Admission arrangements at that 
time must be determined by 15 April each year in accordance with School 
Admissions Arrangements Regulations (amended in 2012).

4.5.2 This report provides information on the outcome of the admission arrangements in 
place.  All requirements for the coordination of the admission process have been 
carried out in line with all relevant legislation and the criteria of the policy for 
community and voluntary controlled schools.  The local authority received copies 
of all admission arrangements from own admitting authority schools and 
academies which were checked and found to be compliant with the regulations.

Page 424



4.5.3 The report is subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 This paper is for information only and there is no risk management requirement. 
The risk around managing sufficiency of school places is managed through the 
city’s corporate risk register.  

5 Conclusions

5.1 The number of applications for school places is rising however the percentage of 
successful first preferences is remaining stable. The volume of appeals, 
particularly for Reception has reduced and all statutory deadlines were able to be 
met. 

5.2 Changes in the admissions policies of own admitting authority schools mean that 
consideration may need to be given to changing the current straight line distance 
and nearest school priority and consultation is currently underway. 

6 Recommendations

That Executive Board note:

 Numbers of applications for both phases of education, the percentage of 
successful first preferences for secondary admissions was 83% and for 
Reception admissions was 85%.  

 The percentage of parents receiving one of their top three preferences was 
95% for secondary and 93% for primary.

 The percentage of parents getting none of their preferences and made an 
alternative offer instead was 4.5% in secondary (3.2% last year) and 5.5% in 
primary (5% last year)

 The expected contents of the government consultation on changes to the 
admissions code for 2016.

 The officer responsible for this work is the Admissions and Family Information 
Service lead.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 425



This page is intentionally left blank



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Learning Skills and 

Universal – Admissions and Family 
Information  
 

Lead person: Rebecca McCormack 
 

Contact number: 0113 2243228 

 
1. Title: Outcome of Admissions Round 2015 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The applications made for school entry in September 2015, and information about 
them such as first preference rates achieved 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

   

Page 427



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 
 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 
 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 
 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 
 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 428



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

 
 
 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Rebecca McCormack 
 

Admissions and Family 
Information Lead 

16.10.15 

Date screening completed  
16.10.15 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 

Page 429



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

making report:  
 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 

Council. 
 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 

and Significant Operational Decisions.  
 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 

sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 
 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 16.10.15  

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 430



Report of Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18 November 2015

Subject: Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places 
and establish Special Educational Needs provision at Carr Manor 
Community School

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Moortown

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure the sufficiency of school places and Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) places. The changes that are proposed form prescribed alterations 
under the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and 
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies 
according to the nature of the change and status of the school and the process 
followed in respect of these proposals is detailed in this report. The decision maker 
in these cases remains as the local authority. 

2 Executive Board agreed in February 2014 a process whereby a stakeholder 
consultation event using Outcomes Based Accountability (OBA) methodology 
informs consultation on options for an area, from which a route forward will be 
determined.  

3 A stakeholder event was held on 9 March 2015 to discuss the options for increasing 
school places in the Meanwood area. Following the event a two week on-line 
discussion was held to enable stakeholders to discuss the options put forward. 
Subsequently an option emerged to expand Carr Manor Community School and 

Report author:  Viv Buckland/Barbara 
Newton
Tel:  83615/83607

Page 431

Agenda Item 21



public consultation on this preferred option was conducted from 14 September 2015 
to 9 October 2015.

4 We have also identified that there is a need to increase the Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) provision for pupils with complex communication needs including 
those children and young people with a diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Condition 
(ASC). This formed part of the consultation to increase primary places at this 
school. This report considers the SEN improvement test as set out in Annex B 
‘Guidance for Decision makers’ of the School Organisation – Maintained Schools, 
Statutory Guidance 2014.

Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand primary provision at 
Carr Manor Community School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils 
with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from 
September 2017 and to establish provision for pupils with Complex 
Communication Difficulties including children who may have a diagnosis of 
ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition) for approximately 12 pupils (6 primary, 6 
secondary) with effect from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officers for implementation are the Capacity Planning 
and Sufficiency Lead and the Head of Complex Needs.

Page 432



1   Purpose of this report

1.1      This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of both school and SEN places. This report 
describes the outcome of the consultation regarding proposals to expand primary 
school provision and establish SEN provision at Carr Manor Community School and 
seeks permission to publish a statutory notice in respect of these proposals.  

2 Background information

2.1 A stakeholder consultation event using Outcomes Based Accountability 
methodology was held on 9 March 2015 to discuss options for increasing school 
places in Meanwood. Invitees included local head teachers, Ward Members, school 
governors, parent representatives, local authority officers and representatives from 
the diocesan education boards. Information about birth rates, children currently 
aged under 5 living in the Meanwood area, housing, and admissions data which 
included parental preferences for schools was shared. 

2.2 The event provided an opportunity to allow for discussion amongst small groups of 
stakeholders, and for options to be suggested. Although the focus was on primary 
provision, the event also provided the opportunity to discuss the need for Free Early 
Education places for eligible 2 and 3-4 year olds as well as specialist places for 
children with special educational needs. At that time the need for additional SEN 
places for pupils with Complex Communication Difficulties was not identified 
however since the event, further discussions with the Complex Needs Team has 
identified that along with a city-wide growth in the need for primary and secondary 
mainstream school places, there has also been an increase in the need to provide 
specialist places for pupils with Special Educational Needs. The main area of 
growth is for those children and young people with Complex Communication 
Difficulties including children with a diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASC). 
This proposal is to establish a small number of places (approx. 6 primary, 6 
secondary).

2.3 Participants at the stakeholder event agreed that there was a need for an additional 
form of entry across the Meanwood area and suggestions put forward included: 
expanding Meanwood Church of England Primary School from 1FE (form entry) to 
2FE; expanding Carr Manor Community School from 1FE to 2FE; expanding St 
Urban’s Catholic Primary School from 1FE to 2FE; creating a through-school or 
split-site primary school on a site yet to be identified by Leeds City Council; 
procuring an Academy Sponsor to open a new 2FE primary school on a site yet to 
be identified by Leeds City Council; creating a further 60 places in the area to 
provide additional capacity that takes into account future housing developments.  

2.4 Following the event, an online forum was established using Wordpress, seeking 
views from any interested parties on all of these options. 25 responses were 
received. Taking into account the feedback received, local demographics, the 
preference patterns of families, the physical deliverability of build solutions and the 
location of new housing under construction, highways issues, support of the schools 
and on educational outcomes, a preferred option emerged to expand Carr Manor 
Community School.

Page 433



2.5 A public consultation on this option took place from 14 September 2015 to 9 
October 2015. This included use of the WordPress on-line forum and the Council’s 
Talking Point survey system. A number of drop-in sessions were held at Carr Manor 
Community School to discuss the proposals.  The drop-in sessions were attended 
by parents, carers and local residents. Information was distributed widely, including 
through the school, other local schools, Early Years providers, on the Leeds City 
Council website, the Family Information Service website, Twitter and Facebook. 
Meetings were held with the governors, staff and school council of Carr Manor 
Community School.  Banners were placed at the entrances of the primary and 
secondary campuses to advertise the consultation and leaflets were distributed to 
local residents. To ensure that local residents had the opportunity to comment on 
any Highways or traffic issues, a letter was posted to approx. 580 local residents on 
8 October extending the deadline for responses on these specific issues to 4pm on 
Friday 16 October.  

3 Main issues

3.1 The expansion of Carr Manor Community School is proposed as it is a good school 
in an area of high demographic need (Ofsted rated good with some outstanding 
features March 2014). It is a through-school therefore increasing primary places 
could provide greater opportunities for the school to support more local families 
earlier and to continue that support as the children move from the primary phase 
into secondary. The school benefits from outstanding leadership and management 
and the achievement of pupils is good. The school prepares students well for future 
success and exceptionally well for life in a diverse society. In 2012 Carr Manor 
Through-School admitted its first cohort of children (30 places in reception) in the 
primary phase. Since that time there has been a significant increase in births and 
additional housing has been another factor in families moving to the area. This has 
put an additional pressure on local schools to admit more children each year. The 
school admitted a temporary additional cohort of 30 children in 2015 and is 
expected to do so in 2016 in order to meet the local demand for places.

 
  3.2     We acknowledge that Carr Manor Community School is in an area where there are 

already a number of schools and where traffic and congestion is a concern to local 
residents. The Highway Authority has expressed concern at the concentration of 
school places in the local area which will lead to additional congestion at school 
times but does accept that there is a need to create additional places in this 
area. We are currently working with colleagues in both the Highways and Planning 
teams to ensure that all practical measures are put in place to mitigate the effect of 
existing and increased traffic. A plan of the school sites and immediate area is 
attached as an appendix to this report for information.

3.3 Regarding the establishment of SEN provision, when planning and commissioning 
SEN provision authorities must be flexible and take account of parents and young 
people’s needs and wishes as well as putting in place high quality provision. The 
following have been considered as part of the SEN improvement test:

3.3.1 One way to take into account parents and young people’s wishes is through the 
Leeds Local Offer which allows for families, children and young people with SEND 
(Special Educational Needs and Disability) to provide feedback on issues regarding 

Page 434



SEN.  At this time there is no feedback regarding specific SEN provision in the city. 
It should be noted that the consultation documents and details of the proposals 
were sent to various parent groups including amongst others EPIC (Empowering 
Parents, Improving Choices), SCOPE and SENDIASS Leeds (Special Educational 
Needs and Disability Advice and Support service). 

3.3.2 Carr Manor Community School is a good school with outstanding features (Ofsted, 
March 2014) and therefore provides a learning environment which promotes 
excellent teaching, continuity in learning and community values.

3.3.3 The ASC provision would give the individual pupil a flexible and tailored education 
as well as providing a safe space within the school.  This would be supported by 
specialist and experienced staff supporting teaching and learning.  Pupils would feel 
safe and have full access to the broad and balanced mainstream curriculum.  The 
aim of the provision would be for pupils to access mainstream most of the time.

3.3.4 Providing ASC places from primary to secondary in one provision would allow for 
effective transition planning supporting the authority’s drive to improve young 
people’s preparation for adulthood.

3.3.5 The provision would also allow for some of our most vulnerable learners with ASC, 
who often have the academic ability but who are displaced from learning as a result 
of their social difficulties and anxiety, the chance to access mainstream school.

3.3.6 Provision within Carr Manor Community School supports the authority’s drive to 
make Leeds’ provision accessible and inclusive.

3.3.7 This would be a city-wide provision for pupils with ASC taking into account the 
growth in all areas, but particularly for children living in the North East of the city.

3.4 During the consultation period there were 68 written responses received via the 
paper response form, email, Wordpress and Talking Point.  In total there were 36 
responses in support of the proposal to expand primary provision, 28 responses 
opposing the proposal to expand primary provision and four responses neither 
supporting nor opposing it.  There were 44 responses in support of the proposal to 
establish SEN provision, nine opposing the proposal to establish SEN provision and 
15 neither supporting nor opposing it. Feedback from the School Council was 
positive for both proposals. A copy of the responses received can be requested 
from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk. 

3.5 To ensure that local residents had the opportunity to comment on any Highways or 
traffic issues, a letter was posted to approx. 580 local residents on 8 October 
extending the deadline for responses on these specific issues to 4pm on Friday 16 
October. As a result of this there were a further 14 responses received from local 
residents (which are included in the tally of responses at 3.4). Residents’ concerns 
are summarised along with other concerns raised below. 

3.6 The Governing Body of Carr Manor Community School supports the proposal to 
expand primary provision and establish SEN provision. 

Page 435

mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


    3.7      In response to the consultation there were a number of supportive comments 
received. One respondent noted that there was an increased demand for places in 
the area and a need to ensure that children can walk to their local school. Another 
respondent noted the opportunity for the school to enhance its reputation and be a 
beacon in the local community. 

3.8     The concerns raised by respondents are summarised as follows;

3.8.1 Concern: Disruption to children and staff caused by building work could impact on 
education and be intrusive for local residents. 

Response: The expansion of the school would involve extensive building work and 
wherever possible extremely disruptive work would be carried out in school holidays 
or out of hours. Children’s Services and the appointed contractor would work with 
the school to ensure it remains fully operational during the build process and that all 
health and safety measures are adhered to. Delivery times would be managed to 
avoid conflict at the beginning and end of the school day and we would seek to 
ensure that the work is phased to minimise the impact on both pupils, staff and local 
residents. Staff have been consulted and there have been no concerns raised by 
them about potential disruption. 

3.8.2 Concern: Increases in traffic at peak times will cause congestion on roads in the 
local area. How will access to the school be managed to ensure safety of children? 
What can be done to minimise impact on local residents? What additional parking 
will be provided? Can additional speed limits be imposed?

Response: As part of this proposal, we are listening to the concerns of residents 
and will work closely with colleagues in the Highways team to ensure that a range of 
measures are considered and put in place where possible to mitigate increases in 
traffic e.g. provision of additional off-street parking, reduced speed limits and other 
traffic management measures. We are currently discussing the following measures 
in order to mitigate congestion and other traffic related issues:

 The existing car park and drop off area on the primary site is substantial and 
would continue to be used however we believe that there is scope to create a 
number of additional car park spaces on this site stretching across to the 
secondary phase land and therefore not impinging on the current and potential 
primary phase play areas. 

 We are also currently looking at the possibility of creating some additional 
parking spaces on the secondary site in order to ease the congestion on Carr 
Manor Road, to try to ensure that buses can pass more freely and to reduce the 
impact on local residents. This is currently a wildlife area and would be subject 
to an appropriate ecological assessment. 

 The school governing body will continue to support the school’s organisational 
processes that include staff and parents from the neighbouring Carr Manor 
Primary School (CMPS) using the secondary phase car park. The Community 
School staff can also use the secondary phase car park to create more spaces 
for the primary phase parents to pick up and drop off.

 The school has a travel plan and is working with parents to increase the 
numbers of children walking to school. It is also worth noting that the school has 

Page 436



a breakfast club therefore not all children currently arrive at the same time. If 
additional children used the breakfast club provision it would help to mitigate 
some of the peak traffic issues.

 In order to significantly ease congestion at peak times, the governing body 
would support further development of staggered start and finish times across 
both the secondary and primary phases, and in conjunction with Carr Manor 
Primary School. The current arrangements would be further developed to allow 
a greater spread of pick up and drop off times to reduce congestion. 

    3.8.3 Concern: How will existing proportions and quality of space be maintained? e.g. 
playground areas, outdoor space, after school club, ICT suite, hall, library, kitchen, 
toilets etc? 

Response: Additional classrooms and indoor spaces created would need to 
conform to minimum building requirements. During the design phase we would work 
with the school to understand how the design of the build could help the school to 
operate effectively. As part of the design phase requirements for all internal facilities 
such as toilets, library, ICT suite and kitchen requirements would be assessed and 
where necessary improvements or additions made. The school would decide where 
after school clubs and wrap around care would operate from. It is anticipated that 
any current outdoor play space on which the additional accommodation would be 
built would be re-provided on the current grassed playing area, potentially in the 
form of a multi-use games area (MUGA).   

    3.8.4 Concern: That the footpath which runs between the primary and secondary sites 
would be closed in order to facilitate this proposal-many local residents and children 
attending Carr Manor Primary use this footpath and would be opposed to it being 
closed.

Concern: That the footpath which runs between the primary and secondary sites     
should be closed as it cuts the school in half, is a health and safety risk and a 
safeguarding concern for the school.

Response: The governing body has made an independent application to close the 
footpath via the council’s public right of way team. That application is separate from 
this proposal and would follow its own process outside of the statutory process to 
expand the school.  We understand that the Planning and Highway / Public Right of 
Way functions of the Council have expressed concern due to the perceived wider 
public benefit it provides, however any decision on this matter is not connected to 
this proposed school expansion.

    3.8.5 Concern: The school is small and the character of the school may be affected if it 
was to get bigger.

Response: There is an increased demand for school places in the Meanwood area 
both now and for the foreseeable future. The council has a statutory duty to provide 
additional places to ensure that every child can access a school. We want to ensure 
that local children can access good local schools and this does mean that we will 
need to expand existing schools where there is a need and where it is feasible. We 
understand that some parents have concerns about how the ‘feel’ of the school 
might change. The school has a strong commitment to its core values of building 

Page 437



and growing a community within its school. It prides itself on knowing its children 
and families well and on its work with partners to ensure that families are well 
supported. Because it is a through-school it can provide that support from primary 
through to secondary and the headteacher and governing body feel that the current 
ethos of the school will not alter due to the expansion. 

    3.8.6 Concern: That there was not enough information available to decide whether SEN 
provision is a good idea and it is not clear where the SEN provision would be built.

Response: The consultation booklet describes the need for additional places for 
children with complex communication difficulties and the benefits of developing a 
resourced provision e.g. ‘the proposal would enable children to be fully included
in the life of the school whilst benefiting from the specialist support they require. It 
can be particularly helpful for these children to experience consistency and for 
change to be well managed, therefore a through-school is a very appropriate 
setting’. During the design phase we would work with the school to understand how 
it intends to operate a resourced provision across both its primary and secondary 
phases. The dedicated space needed for this provision would be factored into the 
design however we believe that there is adequate space on the existing site to 
facilitate this.

3.8.7 Concern: Whether there will be enough space for the existing private nursery 
provider to remain on the site.

Response: The proposal to expand primary provision does not include building 
additional space for a private provider to operate from. The existing arrangement is 
between the school and the provider and it will be for the school to manage 
arrangements. We will work with the school and the nursery to understand what 
their requirements are going forward. 

3.8.8 Concern: Whether the expansion of the primary school would affect the secondary 
school in terms of having to do further building work.

Response: As Carr Manor Community School is a through-school we anticipate 
that additional children on roll of the primary phase of the school will continue to 
access secondary places and children from other schools would take up the 
remaining available places in year 7. This proposal does not assume that there will 
be any linked secondary expansion in the future. There is a need to plan for 
additional secondary places throughout the city, and in this area, however 
any proposals that do come forward would be subject to further consultation. It is 
worth noting that there will be a number of additional secondary places available at 
Roundhay Through-School, Temple Learning Academy and The Ruth Gorse 
Academy and we would need to understand the impact of these additional places 
before progressing any further secondary expansions in this area. 

    3.8.9   Concern: The primary phase of the school is still in its infancy due to only being 
established in 2012 and should be allowed to grow before more places are added.

Response: The demographic planning that resulted in the creation of the primary 
phase in 2012 was based on NHS birth data which highlighted a demand for an 
additional 30 places each year in the Meanwood area. Since that time there has 

Page 438



been an increase in the birth rate and families moving to the area, putting an 
additional pressure on local schools to admit more children each year. That could 
not have been known at the time when the primary phase was built as the children 
now seeking primary places were not yet born

  3.8.10 Concern: That the consultation wasn’t publicised widely enough, didn’t allow for 
enough time to respond and that the purpose of the consultation felt unclear. Also 
that during the drop-in sessions not all questions could be fully answered e.g. 
building related issues, questions about the plans, impact on children at the school.    

Response: Information was distributed widely, including letters to parents through 
the school and other local schools, leaflets to Early Years providers, on the Leeds 
City Council website, the Family Information Service website, Twitter and Facebook. 
We included use of the WordPress on-line forum and the Council’s Talking Point 
survey system. A number of drop-in sessions were publicised via letters to parents 
and carers and were held at Carr Manor Community School to discuss the 
proposals. There were three drop-in sessions at different times on different days to 
encourage attendance which were attended by parents, carers and local residents. 
Banners were placed at the entrances of the primary and secondary campuses to 
advertise the consultation and leaflets were distributed to local residents. In addition 
to ensure that local residents had the opportunity to comment on any Highways or 
traffic issues, a letter was posted to approx. 580 local residents on 8 October 
extending the deadline for responses on these specific issues to 4pm on Friday 16 
October. The consultation booklet explains in detail what the proposals are. Some 
of the questions raised at the drop-ins related to specific design features and plans. 
At this stage we are unable to go into detail about how the school might look, how it 
would operate etc; we can only demonstrate to stakeholders that we believe a 
scheme is possible on the site. The high-level plans that we take to the drop-ins are 
not indicative of what the final design will be as this would be determined during the 
design phase if approval was given to expand the school. As stated above, the 
school has a strong commitment to its core values of building and growing a 
community within its school. It prides itself on knowing its children and families well 
and on its work with partners to ensure that families are well supported. Because it 
is a through-school it can provide that support from primary through to secondary 
and the headteacher and governing body feel that the current ethos of the school 
will not alter due to the expansion. 

3.8.11 Concern: That the expansion is being proposed on the Carr Manor Community site 
when there are other sites that could be considered for a new school e.g. former 
school site at Miles Hill. 

Response: We have identified that an additional 1FE (30 places per year) is 
needed in the Meanwood area. In order to establish a new school the Local 
Authority is under a duty to seek proposals to establish an Academy (free school) in 
accordance with section 6A of The Education and Inspections Act 2006 as 
amended by  The Education Act 2011. It is preferable that where feasible, an 
existing school is expanded in order to build upon the standards and management 
that already exist and to utilise the existing infrastructure and resources. Carr Manor 
Community School is a good school with outstanding leadership and management 

Page 439



and because it is a through-school it can provide support to families with additional 
opportunities for sharing resources from primary through to secondary.

3.8.12 As part of a review of the consultation process we will take on board stakeholders’ 
views and consider what improvements could be made to future consultations. 

4      Corporate Considerations

4.1     Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The process in respect of the proposal has been managed in accordance with the              
relevant legislation and with local good practice. 

4.1.2 A public consultation on this option took place from 14 September 2015 to 9 
October 2015. This included use of the WordPress on-line forum and the Council’s 
Talking Point survey system. A number of drop-in sessions were held at Carr Manor 
Community School to discuss the proposals.  The drop-in sessions were attended 
by parents, carers and local residents and were supported by officers from 
Highways and Children’s Services (Capacity Planning and Built Environment 
Teams). Information was distributed widely, including through the school, other local 
schools, Early Years providers, on the Leeds City Council website, the Family 
Information Service website, Twitter and Facebook. Meetings were held with the 
governors, staff and school council of Carr Manor Community School and these 
were supported by officers from the Capacity Planning, Built Environment and 
Complex Needs teams.  Banners were placed at the entrances of the primary and 
secondary campuses to advertise the consultation and leaflets were distributed to 
local residents. To ensure that local residents had the opportunity to comment on 
any Highways or traffic issues, a letter was posted to approx. 580 local residents on 
8 October extending the deadline for responses on these specific issues to 4pm on 
Friday 16 October. 

The view of ward members was sought and there was support for the expansion of 
Carr Manor Community School provided that the Highways and parking issues were 
addressed to ensure safe drop-off of children. The consultation document for this 
proposal can be found at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Currentconsultation.aspx or requested 
from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at: 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk. 

4.2      Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1   The EDCI form for Carr Manor Community School has been completed and is 
attached as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

   4.3.1   These proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school and SEN places for all the children in Leeds. 
Providing places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local 

Page 440

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Currentconsultation.aspx
mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


and desirable school places, is an efficient use of resources and reduces the risk of 
non-attendance.

4.3.2 The proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the Best Council and the Best 
City in which to grow up; a Children Friendly City. The delivery of pupil places 
through the Basic Need Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of a Child 
Friendly City, by creating good quality local places. A good quality school place 
contributes to the achievement of targets within the Children and Young People’s 
Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and achievement’. It 
is therefore important that when bringing any proposal forward, there is a degree of 
certainty that any change would not have a negative impact on the teaching and 
learning in the school. Carr Manor Community School was rated ‘Good’ by Ofsted at 
its most recent inspection. 

   4.3.3 Further objectives of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 are ‘Supporting communities 
and tackling poverty and ‘Become a more efficient and enterprising council’.  Choice 
and diversity for parents and families is promoted by responding to the needs of 
communities, by delivering additional school places in the areas where families 
need them. Meeting these expectations while demonstrating the five values 
underpinning all we do is key to the basic need programme. 

   4.4      Resources and value for money 

    4.4.1 An indicative budget for the proposed Carr Manor Community School expansion 
and establishment of SEN provision project is estimated at £4.8m based on a high-
level calculation that considers the amount of new build, external works and 
associated fees, and is subject to confirmation of associated Highways works and 
the design for the SEN provision. This indicative cost includes a budget of £50k for 
‘future occupation conditions’ for Highways adjustments to be made should the 
need arise. An initial estimate will be provided at feasibility stage which will be 
refined during design development when a robust design freeze or pre-tender 
estimate can be provided.  This will also include any costs for risks associated with 
further site investigation and survey information provided during detailed design. A 
Design and Cost Report will be submitted at the end of this stage to request 
Authority to Spend based on the latest accurate cost information at that time. The 
high level cost estimate is comparable with recent 1FE expansions.  This figure 
allows for a cautious risk allocation to cover the number of unknown variables within 
the scheme which are yet to be quantified, namely the SEN provision and Highways 
requirements. 

   4.4.2   The authority currently funds a number of expensive out of area placements for  
ASC provision. Developing SEN provision at Carr Manor Community School could 
lead to a considerable cost saving to the authority. 

4.5     Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1   The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

Page 441



4.5.2  This report is subject to call in.

4.6     Risk Management

4.6.1  The proposals to increase primary provision and establish SEN provision at Carr 
Manor Community School have been brought forward in time to allow places to be 
delivered for 2017. 

4.6.2 A decision not to proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new 
proposals, and would mean places may not be delivered in time. The authority’s 
ability to meet its statutory duty for sufficiency of school and SEN places in the short 
term may also be at risk.

4.6.3 It will be essential to have a plan to ensure that children and young people access 
the SEN provision gradually and over all key stages. There would also need to be 
good clear communication and monitoring between the school and the authority.  A 
robust Service Level Agreement would be put in place. Access to the resource 
would be through the placement named in Part 4 of a statement of SEN or in 
section I of an Education, Health and Care plan. 

4.6.4 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school and SEN 
places in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

4.6.5 In terms of general highway issues, and recognising the comments received from 
highway colleagues and local residents, should planning permission be granted for 
this proposed development, it is likely that a planning condition will be imposed 
requiring post occupation highway monitoring. This is to ensure that any potential 
unforeseen highway impacts, generated directly by the proposal, can be properly 
addressed. Any additional highway safety issues identified in the post occupation 
monitoring period will need to be recorded within a further report as well as 
measures to overcome any of the identified issues together with timescales for their 
implementation.

5      Conclusions

5.1     Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city we 
will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough school and 
SEN places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have been 
brought forward to meet that need, and to ensure that enough places are created 
from 2017 onwards to meet the demand resulting from a rise in the birth rate. 
Following the appropriate consultation we now seek to move the proposals to the 
next stage. We want to ensure that all children in Leeds have the best possible start 
to their learning, and so deliver our vision of a child friendly city.

5.2 The issues raised during consultation regarding the expansion of Carr Manor 
Community School and the establishment of SEN provision have been considered, 
along with the SEN improvement test and on balance, the proposal remains strong.  
The proposals address the need for both primary school and SEN places in the 
area. This report demonstrates how the concerns raised during consultation can be 
addressed and what measures might be put in place to mitigate the issues.

Page 442



5.3 The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal duty to 
ensure sufficiency of primary and SEN provision for September 2017. There is 
evidence of local need for places and it is therefore recommended that the proposal 
be approved.

6      Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand primary provision at 
Carr Manor Community School from a capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils 
with an increase in the admission number from 30 to 60 with effect from 
September 2017 and to establish provision for pupils with Complex 
Communication Difficulties including children who may have a diagnosis of 
ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition) for approximately 12 pupils (6 primary, 6 
secondary) with effect from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officers for implementation are the Capacity Planning 
and Sufficiency Lead and the Head of Complex Needs.

7      Background documents1 

7.1      None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 443



This page is intentionally left blank



©Crown Copynqht and database ri:::Jht 2U 5 
Or:-Jnonr.P. StJrvey I A10101::1'1f7 

PO BOX 837 
LEEDS CITY 
LS1 9PZ 

SERVICES 

PLOT SIZE SCALE: RlV 

NOV 2015 A1 N.T.S. -

P
age 445



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Capacity Planning and 

Sufficiency 
 

Lead person: Tracy Waud 
 

Contact number: 0113 2475793 

 
1. Title: Carr Manor Community School 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
To expand Carr Manor Community School from a capacity of 210 to 420 pupils in its 
primary phase and to increase the admission limit in reception from 30 to 60 pupils from 
September 2017. 
 
To establish provision for pupils with Complex Communication Difficulties including 
children who may have a diagnosis of ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition) from 
September 2017 for approximately 12 pupils (6 primary, 6 secondary). 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
To expand Carr Manor Community School from a capacity of 210 to 420 pupils in its 
primary phase and to increase the admission limit in reception from 30 to 60 pupils from 
September 2017. 
 
To establish provision for pupils with Complex Communication Difficulties including 
children who may have a diagnosis of ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition) from 
September 2017 for approximately 12 pupils (6 primary, 6 secondary). 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  x 

Page 447



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

This will involve physically expanding the school. 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 x 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 x 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 

Page 448



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

The proposal is to increase the number of places in the primary phase of Carr Manor 
Community School.  The demographics of the area were considered when working up 
the proposal, along with parental preference trends, and projections, and it was 
concluded that additional capacity is required.  The types of schools in the area were also 
considered, to ensure we adhere to our legal duty of ensuring parents are offered choice 
and diversity. 
 
We consulted those affected on this proposal from 14 September 2015 to 9 October 
2015, including parents and parents of pupils at local primary schools, governors and 
staff of the school, nearby schools, the diocese, Councillors, MPs and local residents.  
The majority of those who responded (30 out of 53 responses) supported the expansion 
of the school, 40 out of the 53 responses supported establishment of SEN provision.   
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – a further 210 places will be created in the Meanwood area for primary children 
from September 2017 onwards. If the proposal is agreed, the school will grow from 
Reception upwards over a period of 7 years. 
 
Disability – any new accommodation will meet DDA guidelines . 
 
Choice and Diversity- the proposals would have a positive impact on promoting choice 
and diversity for local parents. The SEN provision would also allow for some of our most 
vulnerable learners with ASC (Autistic Spectrum Condition)  who often have the 
academic ability but who are displaced from learning as a result of their social difficulties 
and anxiety, the chance to access mainstream school. Provision within Carr Manor 
Community School supports the authority’s drive to make Leeds’ provision accessible 
and inclusive. 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 
September 2017, parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places or 
choosing alternative schools. 
 
Regarding the additional SEN places-it will be essential to have a plan to ensure that 
children and young people access the SEN provision gradually and over key stages. 
There would also need to be good clear communication and monitoring between the 
school and the authority.  A robust Service Level Agreement would be put in place. 
Access to the resource would be through the placement named in Part 4 of a statement 
of SEN or in section I of an Education, Health and Care plan.  
 
During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 

 

Page 449



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
Richard Amos 

14-19 Senior Partnership 
Manager 

14 October 2015 

7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed  

 
Date sent to Equality Team 
 

 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 450



Report of Director of Children’s Services / Deputy Chief Executive / Director of City 
Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18 November 2015

Subject:  Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places 
in Pudsey/Swinnow

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s)

Pudsey

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

 Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty 
to ensure sufficiency of school places.  The changes that are proposed form prescribed 
alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 2006.  The School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and 
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies according the 
nature of the change and status of the school and the process followed in respect of these 
proposals is detailed in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the Local 
Authority. 

Executive Board agreed in February 2014 a process whereby a stakeholder consultation 
event using Outcomes Based Accountability (OBA) methodology informs consultation on 
options for an area, from which a route forward will be determined.  

An event was held on 23 January 2015 to discuss the options for increasing school places 
in the Pudsey/Swinnow area.  Following the event a two week on-line discussion process 
was carried out and an option emerged to expand Park Spring Primary School.  
Consultation on this took place from 8 June to 3 July 2015 and a statutory notice period in 
respect of the proposed expansion ran from 5 October to 9 November 2015.  

Report author:  Viv Buckland
Tel:  0113 37 83615

Page 451

Agenda Item 22



Subsequently, to further address the need for additional primary school places in the 
Pudsey/Swinnow area an option has emerged to expand Greenside Primary School.  
Consultation on this option was conducted from 14 September to 9 October 2015.

Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Greenside Primary 
School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017. 

 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead.

Page 452



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. This report describes the 
outcome of consultation regarding proposals to expand primary school provision 
at Greenside and seeks permission to publish a statutory notice in respect of 
these proposals.  

2 Background information

2.1 A stakeholder consultation event using Outcomes Based Accountability 
methodology was held on 23 January 2015 to discuss options for increasing 
school places in Pudsey/Swinnow.  Those invited included local head teachers, 
Ward Members, school governors, parent representatives, local authority officers 
and representatives from the diocesan education boards.  Information about birth 
rates, children currently aged under 5 living in the Pudsey/Swinnow area, 
housing, and admissions data which included parental preferences for schools 
was shared. 

2.2 The event provided an opportunity to allow for discussion amongst small groups 
of stakeholders, and for options to be suggested. Although the focus was on 
primary provision, the event also provided the opportunity to discuss the need for 
Free Early Education places for eligible 2 and 3-4 year olds as well as specialist 
places for children with special educational needs.  

2.3 Participants agreed that there was a need for an additional form of entry across 
the Pudsey/Swinnow area and suggestions put forward at the event included 
expanding Greenside Primary School from 1.5FE to 2FE (forms of entry), 
expanding Park Spring Primary School from 1.5FE to 2FE, expanding Southroyd 
Primary School from 2FE to 3FE, establish primary school provision on a new 
site in the Pudsey/Swinnow area, establish a through-school with one of the 
secondary schools in the Pudsey/Swinnow area and acquiring the old Hough 
Side High School site to create additional provision.

2.4 SEN and Early Years provision was also considered as part of the stakeholder 
event.   

2.5 Following the event, an online forum was established using Wordpress, seeking 
views from any interested parties on all these options.  24 responses were 
received. Taking into account the feedback received, local demographics, the 
preference patterns of families, the physical deliverability of build solutions and 
the location of new housing under construction, support of the schools, and 
educational outcomes, an option emerged to expand Park Spring Primary 
School.  Consultation on this took place from 8 June 2015 to 3 July 2015 and a 
statutory notice in respect of the proposals was published from 5 October to 9 
November 2015.  Subsequently a further option has emerged to expand 
Greenside Primary School.

2.6 A public consultation on the option to expand Greenside Primary School took 
place from 14 September to 9 October 2015. This included use of the WordPress 
on line forum and the Council’s Talking Point survey system.  A number of drop-

Page 453



in sessions were held to discuss the proposals.  The drop-in sessions were 
attended by parents, local residents and other stakeholders including a local 
Ward Member.  Information was distributed widely including through the school, 
via other local schools, via Early Years providers, on websites (Leeds City 
Council, Family Information Service, Twitter and Facebook) and at public places 
in the locality.  Banners were placed at the school to advertise the consultation 
and leaflets were distributed to local residents.  Meetings were held with the 
governors, staff and school council of Greenside Primary School.  

3 Main issues

3.1 The expansion of Greenside Primary School is proposed as it is a popular and 
successful school in an area of high demographic need.  The school benefits 
from successful leadership and management and the pupils there are making 
good progress.  The most recent Ofsted rating for the school is “Good”.

3.2 During the consultation period there were 43 written responses received and 
three responses submitted via Talking Point.  In total there were 36 responses in 
support of the proposal and 10 responses objecting to it.  A summary of the 
issues raised follows and a copy of the responses received can be requested 
from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk. 

3.3 The Governing Body of Greenside Primary School has given its full support to the 
proposals.

3.4 In response to the consultation there were comments made acknowledging the 
need for additional school places in Pudsey.  Some respondents felt that the 
proposed expansion would offer benefits to the school as well as to the local 
community and would provide much-needed school places for local families.  
Some respondents felt that if the school expanded and was therefore able to 
organise teaching in to single year groups this would be beneficial to the children 
at the school and preferable to the current system of mixed-age range teaching 
groups.

3.5 The concerns raised by respondents are listed as follows; 

3.5.1 Concern: The existing out of school club on the school site would not have 
sufficient places for the number of families wishing to use it.

3.5.2 Response: During this consultation period, officers from the Early Years 
Sufficiency Team met with the on-site provider to discuss the need for additional 
out of school club provision.  This forms part of a city-wide audit of out of school 
provision that is currently being undertaken by these officers. In this area we are 
aware that the majority of out of school clubs are at capacity, and adding 
additional school places to any school will increase the demand for this provision. 
The provision on the site of Greenside is being assessed to determine whether 
there are options to increase capacity as part of a scheme to expand the school. 
In addition, there are other providers of out of school care nearby and as part of 
the sufficiency audit being carried out for the Pudsey area these will be 
considered to determine whether additional capacity can be created. 

Page 454

mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


3.5.3 Concern:  The existing playground area is already too small and green space on 
the site may be lost to make way for additional accommodation.

3.5.4 Response: It is perceived by some parents that the current playground area is 
too small for an expansion to 2FE. The playground area at Greenside is 
approximately 1659m2 and Building Bulletin (BB99) guidelines recommend that a 
standard playground area should be at least 1030m2 for a 2FE school.  The 
school however is lacking in specific games courts which the project could 
address with the creation of an all-weather pitch or MUGA (Multi Use Games 
Area), providing all year round use.

For the development of any new accommodation, the need to be compact and 
efficient is a high priority. The intention with this scheme is to expand into the 
eaves of the existing school building, thus creating as little reduction as possible 
to the external areas. 

Greenside Primary School makes good use of the outside space it currently has 
and has recently established a very successful outside classroom space on a 
woodland site approximately 300m from the school.  Some of the pupils are 
engaged in the Forest Schools initiative and many children participate in outdoor-
based enrichment activities.  The school also takes groups of children to Pudsey 
Park for outside learning activities and makes use of the sports facilities at a local 
secondary school.  The school promotes engagement in sporting activities and 
often has groups of children participating in joint school competitions and training 
sessions including regular football training at the school.  Were the school to 
expand, the emphasis on outside learning and physical activity would remain and 
the head teacher and governing body are confident that they could continue to 
give all pupils a range of opportunities to access outside space.

3.5.5 Concern: The school hall is insufficiently sized for a 1.5FE school.  With more 
children at the school there would be increased pressure on hall space making it 
more difficult for whole-school activities and events to take place.

3.5.6 Response:  The school hall at Greenside is approximately 17m2 smaller than is 
recommended by Building Bulletin (BB99) guidelines for a 2FE school.  All 
options for remodelling areas within the school / adjacent to the hall would be 
considered at the design stage to maximize use of existing space available.  It 
may also be possible for the school to make alterations to how the hall space is 
used in order to improve its functionality e.g. by staggering the lunch break or 
reorganising when and how it is used for assemblies and PE.

3.5.7 Concern: There would be a detrimental effect upon the “togetherness” ethos of 
the school.   

3.5.8 Response: Greenside is a successful and popular school and creating additional 
places here would give more local families the opportunity to benefit from the 
high standards of teaching and learning at the school. 

Page 455



It is acknowledged that some parents and staff at the school have concerns 
about how the sense of a whole school community might change were the 
proposed expansion to go ahead.  However, the head teacher and governing 
body are keen to retain the ethos of the school and are confident that they could 
manage any changes successfully without any detriment to the sense of 
“togetherness” that exists within the school.  They would be able to draw upon 
the experience of colleagues from other schools that have expanded when 
considering how to retain a suitable atmosphere.  

3.5.9 Concern: There would be insufficient circulation space and insufficient 
accommodation, in particular for intervention, ICT and community use.

3.5.10 Response: Additional classrooms and indoor spaces created would need to 
conform to minimum building requirements and wherever possible, the ancillary 
facilities required to successfully deliver the curriculum for a modern school 
would be provided.  As part of the design phase, requirements for facilities such 
as toilets, library, ICT suite and kitchen provision would be assessed and where 
necessary, improvements or additions made.  The school would be fully engaged 
in the design phase and careful consideration would be given to understanding 
how the design of the build could help the school to operate as effectively as 
possible.  

3.5.11 Concern: The kitchen facilities are already inadequate and having more children 
in school would make the situation even worse.

3.5.12 Response: The school kitchen at Greenside is currently undersized.  As the 
kitchen is too small for food preparation, school dinners are brought in from 
another school and served at Greenside.  The school is therefore able to provide 
hot meals for all of the children who choose to have them.  However, were the 
school to expand, the size of the kitchen would be reviewed as part of the design 
process.  Designs would be developed to provide the school with sufficient 
kitchen accommodation to fulfil Building Bulletin (BB99) guidelines in respect of 
the preparation and serving of food.  

3.5.13 Concern: There would be an increased risk to children’s safety caused by 
inconsiderate parking and volume of traffic in the vicinity of the school.

3.5.14 Response: Children’s Services have had discussions with highways colleagues 
about the need to ensure that the impact on the surrounding road and footpath 
infrastructure is minimised in so far as this is possible.  Options that could be 
considered include extended opening times; staggered pick up and drop off 
times; walking buses; and options for parents to park further away from the 
school and walk.  As part of the initial design process, an unused area to the rear 
of the school has been identified as a possible location to establish some on-site 
staff car parking. The governing body are very keen to reduce the number of 
children travelling to school by car and as part of their green travel plan 
investigate a walking bus scheme that has previously been in operation.

3.5.15 Concern: The footpath that bisects the school site should be closed to allow for 
better use of the outside space.  The path poses a safeguarding risk as children 

Page 456



have to cross it to access the school field.  It is often dirty and suffers from dog-
fouling and is therefore unpleasant and hazardous for children.

3.5.16 Response: For the footpath to be closed an application would need to be made 
on the grounds that i) the path is not needed ii) it needs to be closed to protect 
pupils or staff from violence or threat of violence, harassment, alarm or distress 
arising from unlawful activity or other risk to their health and safety arising from 
such activity iii) to allow for development over it.  In this case the most relevant 
reason for a closure application would be to allow for development over the path, 
which would be done at the planning application stage.  If the proposed 
expansion went ahead and the final design incorporated building work over the 
path area then an application for closure of the path could be made. At this stage 
the closure of this right of way is not a requirement for this proposal to progress. 

3.5.17 Concern: The reception class base and playground area would not be large 
enough.

3.5.18 Response: The size of the current reception class base is only slightly smaller 
than that recommended by Building Bulletin (BB99) guidelines for a 2FE school 
and there is the potential to extend it by utilising a classroom space that adjoins 
it.  All options for developing the reception class base would be carefully 
considered at the design stage, working closely with the school throughout the 
design process.

The current reception playground is adequately sized for a 2FE school and has 
the potential to be developed further by integrating soft play and grassed areas 
within it. 

3.5.19 Concern: Greenside school should have a “catchment area” to prevent children 
who live further away from the school gaining a place there.

3.5.20 Response: The Leeds City Council admissions policy uses a nearest priority, 
which means that local children living nearest to a particular school are prioritised 
for a place over non-nearest.  Some families do not preference their nearest 
school, which may lead to places being available for other families.  In this case, 
available places are allocated to children who have expressed a preference for a 
place on the basis of distance from the school.  A catchment area policy would 
work in a similar way to the nearest priority and would not restrict places from 
being available for children who live outside of it.  To amend the Leeds City 
Council admissions policy there would have to be a city-wide consultation. 

4  Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The process in respect of all the proposals has been managed in accordance 
with the relevant legislation and with local good practice.  

4.1.2 Consultation included a stakeholder event and a two week period of on-line 
consultation on the WordPress site on the range of options which emerged from 
the stakeholder event.  This was followed by a four week period of on-line 

Page 457



consultation on the preferred options supported by use of the council’s Talking 
Point system.  The consultation included drop in sessions for parents/carers, 
residents and other stakeholders at Greenside Primary School.   

4.1.3 The drop-in sessions were information sharing sessions and also provided an 
opportunity for parents/carers, residents and other stakeholders to ask questions. 
Officers from Highways supported officers from Children’s Services at these 
sessions.  Drop in sessions were held at the beginning and end of the school day 
to talk to parents before and after they dropped off their children. A drop in 
session was also held in the evening.     

4.1.4 Meetings were also held with the school council, staff and governing body of 
Greenside Primary School. Other local schools were engaged in the stakeholder 
event and in the on-line consultation.  

4.1.5 Ward members were formally consulted during the public consultation stage, to 
both ensure awareness of all proposals city wide and to improve understanding 
of the impact of proposals in neighbouring areas.  Local ward members have 
given their full support to the proposal. 

4.1.6 The consultation document for this proposal can be found at: 
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/residents/Pages/Currentconsultation.aspx or requested 
from the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Team at: 
educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The EDCI form for Greenside Primary School has been completed and is 
attached as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance.

4.3.2       The proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the Best Council and the 
Best City in which to grow up; a Children Friendly City. The delivery of pupil 
places through the Basic Need Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of 
a Child Friendly City, by creating good quality local places. A good quality school 
place contributes to the achievement of targets within the Children and Young 
People’s Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and 
achievement’. It is therefore important that when bringing any proposal forward, 
there is a degree of certainty that any change would not have a negative impact 
on the teaching and learning in the school. Greenside Primary School was rated 
‘Good’ by Ofsted at its most recent inspection. 

4.3.3 Further objectives of the Best Council Plan 2015-2020 are ‘Supporting 
communities and tackling poverty and ‘Become a more efficient and enterprising 
council’.  Choice and diversity for parents and families is promoted by responding 

Page 458

https://leedsschoolplaceplanning.wordpress.com/category/pudseyswinnow/
mailto:educ.school.organisation@leeds.gov.uk


to the needs of communities, by delivering additional school places in the areas 
where families need them. Meeting these expectations while demonstrating the 
five values underpinning all we do is key to the basic need programme. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 To facilitate the proposed expansion of Greenside Primary school the intention is 
to utilise the existing roof void within the main building for the additional 
classrooms.  A previous expansion of this nature was completed a number of 
years ago when the roof void in the opposite part of the building was used to 
develop additional classrooms.  This expansion was commissioned by the school.  
A viability survey is due to take place by our technical consultants (NPS) to 
determine whether this approach is feasible for the proposed scheme.  Should 
the development in the roof void be unachievable, the required accommodation 
could be delivered by constructing a new accommodation block to the rear of the 
school on the footprint of the existing Early Years/Out of School Care provision. If 
this were the preferred design option, the Early Years/Out of School Care 
provision would be re-provided within the new accommodation block.

4.4.2 It is not possible at this stage to quantify an indicative budget for the proposed 
Greenside Primary School expansion project because of the uncertainties 
described above.  A previous estimate of £2.5m gave an early indication of the 
indicative cost to expand the school by 0.5FE, given the particular constraints of 
this site. Once the feasibility stage is complete and the scheme moves towards 
the detailed design phase, the budget will be realigned to reflect the design 
freeze or pre-tender estimate which will take account of site investigations and 
survey information.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

4.5.2  This report is subject to call in.

4.6   Risk Management

4.6.1 The proposals to increase primary provision in Pudsey/Swinnow have been 
brought forward in time to allow places to be delivered for 2017. 

4.6.2 A decision not to proceed at this stage would mean fresh consultation on new 
proposals, and would mean places may not be delivered in time. There are 
limited options in this area for creating additional places and were the proposed 
scheme not to go ahead, the authority’s ability to meet its statutory duty for 
sufficiency of school places in the short term may be at risk. 

4.6.3 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places 
in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

Page 459



5  Conclusions

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have 
been brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate 
consultation we now seek to move them to the next stage. They would ensure 
that children in Leeds would have the best possible start to their learning, and so 
deliver our vision of a child friendly city.

5.2 The issues raised during consultation regarding the expansion of Greenside   
Primary School have been considered, and on balance, the proposal remains 
strong.  It addresses the need for school places in the area.

5.3 The proposal has been supported during the public consultation, with the majority 
of respondents (36 out of 46) supporting it.  This report demonstrates how the 
concerns raised may be addressed.  

5.4 The additional places are required to ensure the authority meets its legal 
requirement to ensure sufficiency of primary provision for September 2017. There 
is evidence of local need for places and it is therefore recommended that the 
proposal be approved.

6 Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Greenside Primary 
School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in the 
admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead.

7 Background documents1

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 460



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Capacity Planning and 

Sufficiency  
 

Lead person: Janet Carter 
 

Contact number: 2475793 

 
1. Title:  
Park Spring Primary School 
Is this a: 
      Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
Proposal to expand Greenside Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils 
with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017. 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
Proposal to expand Greenside Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils 
with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 
2017. 
 
This will involve physically expanding the school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.  Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 461



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2 

 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 462



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to increase the number of places at Greenside Primary School.  The 
demographics of the area were considered when working up the proposal as were 
projections and it was concluded that additional capacity in this area is required.  The 
types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure we adhere to our legal duty 
of ensuring that parents are offered choice and diversity. 
 
We consulted those affected on this proposal from 14 September 2015 to 9 October 
2015, including parents and parents of pupils at local primary schools, governors and 
staff of the school, nearby schools, the diocese, Councillors, MPs and local residents. 
Of the 45 who responded, 35 supported the expansion of the school.   
 

• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – if the proposal is agreed a further 15 reception places would be created in the 
Pudsey/Swinnow area from September 2017 onwards and the school would grow from 
reception upwards over a period of 7 years. 
Disability – any new accommodation would meet DDA guidelines 
Choice and diversity – the proposal would have a positive impact on promoting choice 
and diversity 
.  
 
 

• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 
September 2017, parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places or 
choosing alternative schools. 
 
During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 463



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4 

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Darren Crawley 
 

Sufficiency Manager - 
Strategic 

14th October 2015 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed 14th October 2015 
If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance 

15th October 2015 

Any other decision please send to Equality 
Team (equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 464



Report of Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18 November 2015

Subject: Sheltered Housing Investment Strategy.   

Are specific electoral Wards affected?     Yes  No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

All wards but specifically investment has been made to Adel and Wharfedale. Otley and 
Yeadon, City & Hunslet, Armley, Beeston & Holbeck, Kippax & Methley, Alwoodley, Rothwell, 
Killingbeck & Seacroft, Calverley & Farsley, Bramley & Stanningley , Morley South, Farnley & 
Wortley, Pudsey and Kirkstall.   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES
1. Within the City we have over 4,300 council properties that are specifically 

designated as older persons housing.
2. There are 234 properties designated as Category 1 units, which are standalone 

units let to older people who are capable of independent living, but with a ‘Care 
Ring’ alarm fitted which can be used to call for assistance in an emergency.

3. In addition there are a further 4,278 properties which are designated as Category 2 
units which are classed as sheltered housing units and benefit from both the ‘Care 
Ring’ alarm system and a visiting Supported Housing Officer if required, following 
the completion of an individual Care Plan for each resident.

4. Since the creation of Housing Leeds in 2013 there has been a focus on delivering a 
consistent service that is focused on investment into older peoples housing to 
improve the quality of accommodation that is being provided. 

5. Our Business Plan sets out our commitment to improve the sheltered stock across 
the city as it is recognised that the standard that we have been offering to both 
current and new tenants is below modern standards and undermines longer term 
sustainability by becoming unattractive.  The first priority has been to eradicate the 
use of shared bathing facilities.  The report set out some of the work that has been 
undertaken in 2014/15 and 2015/16, following investment of £9.5m over these two 
years.  It is intended to invest a further £1.25m over the next two years.

Report authors:  Simon Costigan
Tel: 3781334

Page 465

Agenda Item 23



RECOMMENDATIONS
6. The report sets out some of the work that has been completed to date and seeks 

authorisation to commence a further phase of work as identified under Investment 
in section 3.7 of the report.

1. PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
1.1.The purpose of the attached report is to provide Executive Board with an update on 

our investment strategy into the older peoples housing provision across the City.

2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION
2.1.Within the City there are over 4,300 Council properties that are specifically 

designated as older persons housing.  There are 4,278 Category 2 units across 
129 separate schemes which can be broken down by area as follows:

 South, 1879 units (54 schemes including 2 high rise)
 West, 1649 units (51 schemes including 5 high rise)
 East, 635 units (22 schemes including 1 high rise)
 Belle Isle, 115 units (2 schemes)

2.2.Of the 129 schemes there are 8 multi-story blocks and 27 complexes across the 
city. 

2.3.Following the transfer of the housing service back into the Council in 2013 there 
was a need to consolidate the strategic thinking, and investment strategy, for 
delivering an older peoples housing service across the City.  The strategy sought to 
identify a consistent approach to ensure that our ongoing investment strategy was 
based on need rather than geography.  In 2014 a strategic option appraisal of older 
people’s Council housing provision was commissioned to look at long term 
sustainability and investment requirements.  This work identified that a more 
detailed analysis needed to be undertaken for schemes that had shared bathing 
facilities, or bedsit accommodation. 

2.4. In addition to the above, a strategy was required to progress work in the following 
areas:

 Scooter sheds
 Work to meet the needs of disabled tenants 
 Fire alarm upgrades
 Care Ring upgrades
 Lift replacement 
 Fire Risk Assessment (FRA) work 
 Communal refurbishment 
 Environmental improvements 

2.5.The option appraisal process considered a range of information including details to 
look at a cost benefit analysis, tenant profiles, turnover rates, demand and void 
data as well as the required level of investment identified through Keystone (the IT 
Capital investment database).

2.6.An Older Persons Project Board has been developed within Housing Leeds to 
ensure that we can develop a holistic strategy within HL that is linked to the city 
wide strategy that is being developed within Adult Social Care, and links into the 
Older Peoples Housing Prospectus (set out elsewhere in the board papers). 

Page 466



3. MAIN ISSUES
3.1.Our Business Plan sets out our commitment to improve the sheltered stock.  The 

standard we have been offering to both current and new tenants in some schemes 
is unacceptable by modern standards and undermines sustainability by being 
unattractive.

3.2.The Older People’s Housing Prospectus, identifies the need to ensure that older 
persons housing is the right type and in the right location to allow individuals and 
families to live independently for longer.  The principles of this prospectus which 
ensures that older peoples housing is of good quality, is the right type of 
accommodation, in the right location and has the correct level of support will be 
replicated in the provision of social housing across the City.

3.3.Over the last three years we have invested £3.5m as part of a wider sheltered 
scheme refurbishment programme which has removed all shared bathing provision 
across the City.  

3.4.Shared Bathing
3.4.1. Our top priority is to eradicate shared bathing facilities across the City. 
3.4.2. Work in 2014/15 was undertaken at Farrar Lane (Adel and Wharfedale) to 

remove all shared bathing provision within this complex at a cost of £1.4m.  
This work was incorporated into a wider refurbishment programme to the 
complex which also included full decency work to individual flats, provision of a 
scooter store, communal improvements including a new laundry facility as well 
as a new passenger lift. 

3.4.3. Within this year’s programme (2015/16), work is being undertaken at Bennett 
Court (Otley and Yeadon) to remove all shared bathing provision which will 
include a full programme of modernisation at the same time.  A budget of 
£1.4m has been set aside in this year’s programme to complete this work. 

3.4.4. Following completion of work at Bennett Court, work will commence at Union 
Court (Otley and Yeadon) to undertake a similar scheme at a cost of £1.4m.  
This will remove all shared bathing provision in Union Court and provide a full 
scheme modernisation programme.

3.4.5. Additional work at Wharfedale Court (Adel and Wharfedale) is being 
undertaken to remove shared bathing to a number of properties at a cost of 
£300k, and will be completed this financial year. 

3.4.6. The above works will complete the work required to remove all shared 
bathing provision across the sheltered stock across the City. 

3.5.Bedsits
3.5.1. Our second priority is to move away from bedsits.
3.5.2. The solution for each scheme has to be considered individually as this is 

dependent on the construction and location of individual bedsit units within 
each scheme.  The preferred solution is to create one unit from two adjacent 
bedsits wherever this is possible.    

3.5.3. Over recent years work has been completed to schemes at Arthington Court 
(City and Hunslet) and Sir Karl Cohen Square (Armley) to remove bedsits, 

Page 467



although due to the physical construction of these complexes a total of nine 
bedsits still exist across both schemes.

3.5.4. Following ward consultation, work that was undertaken at Farrah Lane (Adel 
and Wharfedale) as part of last year’s Capital programme has remodelled and 
removed all bedsits from this complex.  This work was undertaken as part of a 
larger refurbishment scheme at a cost of £1.4m

3.5.5. Ward consultation is ongoing.  The current refurbishment scheme at Bennett 
Court (Otley and Yeadon) will see a remodel all 13 bedsits that currently exist 
within this scheme into one bed flats, with a further scheme at Union Court 
(Otley and Yeadon) due to commence later this financial year which will 
remodel all 12 bedsits that currently exist at this scheme.  

3.5.6. As part of the Beeston Hill PFI scheme a full refurbishment scheme has been 
undertaken at Ingram Court (Beeston and Holbeck) which has remodelled the 
bedsits that previously existed in this scheme. 

3.5.7. At the end of this work we will be left with a number of bedsits across five 
schemes at Crosshills Court (Kippax and Methley), Moorhaven Court 
(Alwoodley), Royds Court (Rothwell) and Sir Karl Cohen Square (Armley).

3.5.8. There is an ongoing piece of work to look at a range of suitable design 
solutions to remodel the bedsits that currently exist in these schemes. 

3.5.9. Whilst work to remodel these units is a priority, these schemes remain 
popular with older people due to their existing location.

3.6.Other Key Priorities
3.6.1. There are a number of other key priorities which includes accessibility, 

heating, scooter sheds, Fire Risk Assessment work, communal refurbishment 
and environmental improvements.

3.6.2. Scooter Sheds
3.6.2.1. The provision of scooter sheds is seen as a priority for tenants as 

more individuals have chosen to purchase this type of mobility aid to allow 
greater degrees of mobility, to obtain a greater quality of life and to help 
aid independent living.   

3.6.2.2. In 2014/15 we have invested £117k to install 9 scooter sheds at 
sheltered complexes.  A further 4 schemes have been identified for 
completion this financial year and a further 5 schemes are programmed 
for 2016/17 at a cost of £65k.

3.6.3. Care Ring
3.6.3.1. Over recent years there has been an ongoing scheme to replace the 

Care Ring system in the sheltered stock across the City to ensure it’s 
compatible with the digital switch over and to allow further digital 
integration with the use of assistive technology, working in partnership 
with Adult Social Care.  Over the last three years we have invested over 
£950k to provide upgrades in all sheltered communal facilities and lifts in 
sheltered complexes. 

3.6.3.2. This work has now been fully completed across the city.  
3.6.4. Sprinkler Systems

Page 468



3.6.4.1. As part of our fire safety work a full block sprinkler system has been 
installed at Marsden Court (Calverley and Farsley) as part of our 
programme in 2014/15, at a cost of £400k.  Further schemes will be 
completed at Queens View (Killingbeck and Seacroft) and Crescent 
Grange (City and Hunslet) as part of this year’s programme at a cost of 
£800k.  The remaining five Multi Storey sheltered schemes are being 
programmed for work in 2017/2020 against an indicative budget of £1.4m.

3.6.5. Energy Efficiency/Fuel Poverty
3.6.5.1. We are keen to improve the energy efficiency within our sheltered 

stock and have an ongoing programme of heating upgrades as well as a 
replacement programme for electric heating systems.  There are a 
number of schemes across the city where heating is provided by a 
communal heating system.  Work on four schemes, at a cost of £340k, is 
being undertaken this year which involves an upgrade or a communal 
boiler replacement. 

3.6.5.2. Further work is scheduled for next year to replace the full communal 
heating system at Halliday Court at a cost of approx. £700k 

3.6.5.3. In addition to the work on communal heating systems there are two 
further schemes (Ashlea Court (Bramley and Stanningley) & Marsden 
Court (Calverley and Farsley)), with a Capital value of £200k, which will 
provide a boiler upgrade and a further four schemes (Stanningley Court 
(Bramley and Stanningley), Siegen Close (Morley South), High Ridge 
Court (Rothwell) & Thornhill Court (Farnley and Wortley)) with a Capital 
value of £270k which will provide a full heating upgrade.

3.6.5.4. Work is planned at The Crimbles (Pudsey) to replace the heating 
system from electric to gas as part of this year’s programme.  

3.6.6. Door Entry Systems 
3.6.6.1. There is a specific piece of work that is undertaken every year to 

ensure that the controlled entry system in each sheltered scheme is 
serviced and complies with the relevant DDA legislation.

3.6.6.2. Over the last two years work has been undertaken to replace the 
electronic door entry system in four sheltered schemes at Marsden Court 
(Calverley and Farsley), Queenswood Court (Kirkstall), Rycroft Court 
(Armley) and Burnsall Croft (Armley).   

3.6.6.3. The budget to complete this work was £16k.  There is further budget 
provision of £25k to replace the door entry systems to a further 7 
sheltered complexes over the next four years.  

3.7. Investment
3.7.1. Within the Capital programme for 2014/15 we have invested approx. £4.5m 

in the sheltered stock across the City.  This has included work to remove 
shared bathing provision, remodel bedsits, provide scooter sheds and 
undertake fire safety work as detailed in section 3. 

3.7.2. In this year’s Capital programme (2015/16), we have programmed approx. 
£5m of investment in order to complete our programme to fully remove shared 

Page 469



bathing across the City, continued a programme to remodel bedsits, provide 
scooter sheds and continue with a programme of fire safety work.  

3.7.3. For 2016/18 there is a provisional programme for £12.5m of further work 
across the sheltered stock in the City. 

3.7.4. While the details of individual schemes will need further development and 
approval, it is anticipated that expenditure is likely to cover the following areas 
of work:

 Kitchens and bathrooms   £3.5m
 Roofs and windows     £1.1m
 Scheme remodelling   £4.0m
 Fire Safety Works   £1.4m
 Scooter stores   £140k
 Energy Efficiency/ heating upgrades   £2m 

3.8.Holistic Approach
3.8.1. It has also been identified that further joint working needs to be developed 

across LCC to develop a holistic approach to delivering a long term sustainable 
solution for the services that are offered to older people to improve their quality 
of life and support them to live independently for longer. 

3.8.2. In order to achieve a more holistic service provision an Older Persons 
Project Board has been developed within Housing Leeds to ensure that a 
coordinated and structured approach is developed across all partners along 
with Adult Social Care to assist in the delivery of the Older Peoples Housing 
Prospectus.  

3.8.3. The Project Board will consider a range of option appraisals to ensure that 
our investment strategy is developed to support the Older Peoples Housing 
Prospectus and compliments the activity that is being developed in local areas 
by the private sector. 

4. CORPORATE CONSIDERATIONS
4.1.Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1. An individual communication and consultation plan will be developed for 
each scheme as part of the option appraisal process.  Consultation for each 
scheme will be undertaken with residents, local ward Members, MP’s, 
members of the local community and all other interested partners both internal 
and external to the Council. 

4.1.2. All consultation material will be provided in a range of formats to ensure that 
it is available to all residents.  The timing and venues for all consultation events 
will be considered carefully on a scheme by scheme basis.  Mobility issues will 
be considered and transport provided if required.    

4.2.Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1. The ‘Vision for Leeds’ is aimed at reducing the inequalities that still exists. In 

developing an option appraisal for each sheltered scheme due consideration 
will be given to promote housing equality and will assist older people to live 
independently in the community. 

4.2.2. The proposals contained within the strategy will have a positive impact on 
the wellbeing of older people as it looks to address accessibility issues, fuel 
poverty and increases the opportunity for independent living.   The strategy 

Page 470



could also have a positive impact on equality groups that are economically 
disadvantaged. A full EIA will be developed as part of the detailed programme 
of activity to support the overarching strategy.

4.3.Council Policies and Best Council Plan
4.3.1. Our vision is for Leeds to be the best City in the UK, one that is 

compassionate with a strong economy that can tackle poverty and reduce the 
inequalities that still exist.

4.3.2. The details contained within this report will contribute to the following best 
city outcomes:

 Be safe and feel safe
 Enjoy happy healthy and active lives
 Live with dignity and stay independent for as long as possible
 Live in decent, affordable homes within clean and well cared for places

4.3.3. In addition, the attached report links to the work being undertaken to support 
the following breakthrough project ‘Making Leeds the best place to grow old in’.

4.4.Resources and Value for Money
4.4.1. The financial resources to deliver activity against this strategy will be 

identified within the Capital programme, and will be in addition to work that is 
required to maintain decency.  

4.4.2.  The budget will be profiled to ensure it can be delivered against specific 
schemes taking into account internal capacity and any requirements for 
decants and rehousing. 

4.4.3. The HRA Business Plan will be re-drafted for 2016/17 in order to allocate 
resources to specific areas of activity within the Capital Programme over the 
next three years.  Any work that is required in order to deliver this strategy will 
be considered as part of the overall allocation of available resources within the 
HRA over the next three years. 

4.5.Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1. There are no legal implications associated with this report.  
4.5.2. There is no exempt or confidential information contained in this report 

4.6.Risk Management
4.6.1. There are no specific risks associated with this report

5. CONCLUSIONS
5.1.The Council manages over 4,300 sheltered properties across the City.   It is 

recognised that the standard of accommodation currently being offered to meet the 
needs of older people in the social housing sector needs to be improved through 
an investment strategy.

5.2.There are some significant investment needs in the sheltered housing stock in 
order to deliver the areas of investment that are identified within this report. 

5.3.Approx. £12.5m has been provisionally earmarked to respond to some significant 
investment requirements that have been identified following phase1 of an option 
appraisal programme for older peoples housing. 

5.4.Phase 2 of an ongoing option appraisal process will identify further longer term 
investment needs which will need to be considered as part of the development of a 
larger investment strategy within Housing Leeds.

Page 471



6. RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1.The report sets out some of the work that has been completed to date and seeks 

authorisation to commence a further phase of work as identified under Investment 
in section 3.7 of the report.

7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  1
None

8. APPENDICES
8.1.Attached as appendix 1 is the EIA Screening document.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 472



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Environments and 
Housing   

Service area: Property and Contracts   
 

Lead person: Simon Costigan  
Gjessing 

Contact number: 0113 3781334 

 
1. Title: Sheltered Housing Investment Strategy  
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify:  
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
 
The strategy to develop an investment programme for older peoples housing 
provision within the social housing sector in Leeds  
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x x  

Page 473



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

√  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? (please see comments under Action 
section below) 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 √ 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 √ 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
 
 
√ 
√ 

 
√ 
 
 
 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The Executive Board report provides an update on how the Council seeks to develop a 
strategy to improve the quality of housing provision for older people within the City. 
 
The report sets out the investment strategy in order to respond to the needs of older 
people and is intended to assist older people to live independently for longer.  
 
The report looks at a range of accessibility issues to increase independent mobility and 
increase the sense of social integration. 
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment will be developed as part of the detailed programme of 
activity to support the overarching strategy.  
 

Page 474



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

As part of the process to deliver the strategy, a process of consultation will be undertaken 
with existing residents, local Members, third sector, the voluntary sector and all interested 
partners   
  

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The proposals contained within the strategy will have a positive impact on the wellbeing 
of older people as it looks to address accessibility issues, fuel poverty and increases the 
opportunity for independent living. 
 
The strategy could also have a positive impact on equality groups that are economically 
disadvantaged.       

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
When developing the individual programmes of activity to deliver the strategy individual 
household assessments will be undertaken to ensure that the needs of the household are 
taken into account. 
 
All consultation material will be provided in a range of formats to ensure that it is 
available to all residents. 
 
The timings and venues for all consultation events will be considered carefully on a 
scheme by scheme basis. Mobility issues will be considered and if appropriate transport 
will be provided to allow access to consultation events. 
 
Wherever it is required we will consult with family and nominated advocates as part of the 
consultation process.   
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

n/a 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

n/a 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

n/a 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Simon Costigan  Chief Officer  22nd October 2015 

Page 475



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed  
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

22nd October 2015 

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 476



Report of Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities)

Report to Executive Board

Date: 18th November 2015

Subject: Community Centre Review Update

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Ardsley & Robin Hood, Bramley & Stanningley, City & Hunslet, 
Cross Gates & Whinmoor, Kippax & Methley, Morley North, 
Morley South, Otley & Yeadon, Rothwell, Weetwood, 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

i) Executive Board agreed on 19th November 2014 to undertake a formal 
consultation process on the future of ten Community Centres, with any 
resultant closure proposals being brought back to Members of Executive 
Board for consideration.

ii) This report provides an update on the consultation undertaken, the actions 
that have been progressed on all ten Community Centres under review with a 
specific proposal to move ahead with the closure of two centres, one being 
Gildersome Youth Club and the other being Kippax Youth Centre.

Recommendations

Members of Executive Board are recommended to request that the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities):

i) effects the closure of Gildersome Youth Club, Street Lane, Gildersome and 
declares the property surplus to Council’s requirement;

ii) effects the closure of Kippax Youth Centre, known as the Kippax Cabin, 
Cross Hills, Kippax and declares the property surplus to Council’s 
requirement;

iii) arranges the relocation of current users of Gildersome Youth Club and 
Kippax Youth Centre to appropriate local venues, and;

Report author:  M Dean, S Warbis
Tel:  22 43973

Page 477

Agenda Item 24



iv) carries out the actions specified in this report relating to the future running of 
the following community centres:

 Bramley Community Centre, Waterloo Lane, Bramley

 Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre, Naburn Approach, Whinmoor

 Lewisham Park Centre, Clough Street, Morley

 Old Cockburn Sports Hall, Primrose Lane, Hunslet

 Meanwood Community Centre, Stainbeck Avenue, Meanwood

 St Gabriel's Community Centre, Fall Lane, East Ardsley

 Weston Lane Community Centre, Weston Ridge, Otley

 Windmill Youth Centre, Marsh Street, Rothwell

v) Members of Executive Board approve the ring fencing of the required portion 
of the capital receipt from the sale of Gildersome Youth Centre site to make 
improvements to Gildersome Meeting Hall. Note the Director of City 
Development is responsible for the implementation of this recommendation.

Page 478



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide Members of Executive Board with an update on the review of ten 
Community Centres as previously reported to Members on 19th November 2014.  
This report provides an update on the consultation undertaken, the actions that 
have been progressed on all ten Community Centres under review with a specific 
proposal to move ahead with the closure of two centres, one being Gildersome 
Youth Club and the other being Kippax Youth Centre.

2 Background information

2.1 In November 2014 Executive Board resolved that the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) be requested to take forward actions arising from the 
consultation, except closure, in consultation with the Executive Member for 
Neighbourhoods, Planning and Personnel. In circumstances where the outcome 
recommends closure, this to be reported to Executive Board for decision. In 
regard to Executive Member responsibilities, these changed in May 2015 and the 
appropriate Member is now the Executive Member (Communities) 

2.2 Formal consultation took place between December 2014 and March 2015 for all 
ten community centres. Recognising changing circumstances, discussions and 
consultations with relevant parties have continued since this time to ensure the 
right solutions are taken forward.

3 Main issues

3.3 For eight of the ten community centres under review, the results of the 
consultation have led to proposals being developed to improve their sustainability, 
rather than look to closure, and in accordance with the previous decision of 
Executive Board, the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) has 
taken forward positive actions for these centres.  Actions include retaining 
buildings with reduced running costs and plans for increased usage; keeping 
centres under review as longer term options are developed; and seeking 
expressions of interest for asset transfer or long term lease.  Appendix 1 provides 
a summary of the key actions taken.

3.4 Outcomes from the consultation process for Gildersome Youth Club and Kippax 
Youth Centre have led to a recommendation that these buildings are closed and 
users relocated to other nearby facilities.

3.5 Gildersome Youth Club is a former stone built school building constructed in 1873 
and bordered by residential properties. The building is used as a venue for a 
number of children’s organisations, nursery provision and youth service sessions. 
At the time of the consultation backlog maintenance amounted to £104k and the 
centre was running at a deficit of £29k per annum.

3.6 Consultation with all regular users, brokered by local ward members, led to a 
proposal that the building should be sold, with a level of investment being made to 
the nearby Gildersome Meeting Hall to enable this building to accommodate the 
current users at the youth club building.

3.7 Officers from Asset Management are currently working on the detail for this 
proposal which was unanimously supported at a public meeting on 26th February 
2015 attended by all of the main centre users.

Page 479



3.8 Kippax Youth Centre is a porta cabin type building constructed in the late 1980s 
located next to a public house which has recently been converted into flats. Use of 
the building had reduced to two sessions held on Wednesdays with the building 
standing empty for the rest of the week. At the time of the consultation backlog 
maintenance amounted to £20k for which there is no identified budget and had 
net running costs of £15k with only 20% usage.

3.9 The consultation produced no support for retaining the building with current users 
content to move to other premises if their particular needs could be catered for. 
The recommendation is to close this building and this view is supported by local 
ward members.

3.10 The community centre portfolio faces continued financial pressures along with 
other Leeds City Council services. As well as carrying out the consultation on the 
future of the ten centres within this report, officers are exploring other avenues for 
improving the viability of community centre provision.

3.11 Discussions are ongoing with a consortium of local third sector organisations 
about the potential for an asset transfer of a tranche of community centres. A 
scoping exercise has been carried out and a shortlist of potential centres is being 
drawn up, in order for detailed business cases to be pulled together.

3.12 A review is also taking place of the caretaking and building management 
arrangements for the community centre portfolio. Although there has been a move 
towards increased key holding for regular centre users and a reduction in 
caretaker presence, current practices and arrangements have been in place for 
many years and may not provide the most efficient and appropriate service for our 
customers. The review will be wide-ranging and will aim to define a modern, 
effective provision while reducing the overall costs for this service.

3.13 The Executive Board Member for Communities will be kept informed of the 
progress of both of these pieces of work.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Formal consultation took place between December 2014 and March 2015 for all 
ten of the community centres under review. The consultation period was extended 
to the end of June 2015 for Bramley Community Centre and Meanwood 
Community Centre, and into July for Weston Lane Community Centre.

4.1.2 Details of the consultation were provided to community centre users and 
disseminated through social media and local networks. Information relating to 
running costs, income, maintenance costs and percentage of usage were 
provided as part of the consultation.

4.1.3 Surveys were distributed to gain views on each centre and these gave 
opportunities to suggest ways to improve the viability of each centre.

4.1.4 Public meetings took place at the centres with good attendance from regular 
users, partners and interested parties. Ward member discussions have taken 
place and Community Committees have been informed of the outcomes of the 
consultations on the eight centres to be retained, and have expressed their views 
on their preferred way forward.

Page 480



4.1.5 Although consultation has taken place with all ward members, outcomes from the 
consultation have yet to go to Outer North West or Inner West Community 
Committees regarding Weston Lane Community Centre and Bramley Community 
Centre respectively. This is due to ongoing discussions on potential proposals 
which involve the local ward members.

4.1.6 The outcome of the consultation has been published by the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities). The proposed closure of Kippax Youth 
Centre, and Gildersome Youth Centre were supported in that consultation.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An equality impact assessment was carried out at the time that Executive Board 
was asked to approve the consultation of the ten community centres in November 
2014.

4.2.2 Separate equality screenings have been carried out for decisions relating to 
Kippax Youth Centre and Gildersome Youth Centre and are attached at appendix 
2 and 3.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The vision for Leeds 2011 – 2030 sets out the long term aim for Leeds to be the 
Best City in the UK. A key aim is that: Our communities will thrive and people will 
be confident, skilled, enterprising, active and involved.

4.3.2 The provision of community centres fits into this long-term strategic aim, and also 
the best council plan 2015-20 objectives of ‘supporting communities and tackling 
poverty’ and ‘becoming a more efficient and enterprising council’ which includes 
respectively the priorities of ‘strengthening local accountability and being more 
responsive to the needs of local communities’ and ‘reducing the number of council 
buildings through better sharing of assets’.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Recommendations within this report will reduce the revenue costs for the 
community centre portfolio in-year and for future years. Capital receipts will be 
achieved on the successful disposal of Gildersome Youth Club and Kippax Youth 
Centre. Future maintenance investments on these two properties will no longer be 
required. Savings will contribute to targets within the Asset Management Plan 
agreed by Executive board on 15th October 2014 and also to the savings targets 
with the community centre portfolio budget.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 There are no specific legal implications. The Council has general powers to 
manage its land and buildings under Section 120 Local Government Act 1972 and 
Section 1 Localism Act 2011.

4.5.2 This report does not contain any exempt or confidential information.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 The primary risk of the Community Centre portfolio is that a failure to control costs 
results in the costs exceeding budgets. There is a competing risk of insufficient 

Page 481



community infrastructure to meet the council’s vision for vibrant localities. The 
review has examined the appropriate balance and made recommendations 
accordingly.

4.6.2 There is a risk that community centre provision may be temporarily unavailable if 
there is a necessity to close Gildersome Youth Club before Gildersome Meeting 
Hall is ready to accommodate the users.

4.6.3 As with all asset disposals there is a market risk regarding the value that may be 
achieved from the disposals of properties..

5 Conclusions

5.1 The community centre portfolio contributes to Leeds City Council’s priorities for 
the development of local communities, creating a space for community activity, 
meeting the needs of citizens older and young; and bringing different communities 
together. However, there is a need to avoid duplication, make better use of 
buildings retained and to control costs. The proposals in this report will provide a 
reduction in costs, marginal impact on users and income, and remove the difficulty 
of ongoing backlog maintenance costs.

6 Recommendations

6.2 Members of Executive Board are recommended to request that the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities):

effects the closure of Gildersome Youth Club, Street Lane, Gildersome and 
declares the property surplus to Council’s requirement;

effects the closure of Kippax Youth Centre, known as the Kippax Cabin, 
Cross Hills, Kippax and declares the property surplus to Council’s 
requirement ;

arranges the relocation of current users of Gildersome Youth Club and 
Kippax Youth Centre to appropriate local venues, and;

carries out the actions specified in this report relating to the future running of 
the following community centres:

 Bramley Community Centre, Waterloo Lane, Bramley

 Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre, Naburn Approach, Whinmoor

 Lewisham Park Centre, Clough Street, Morley

 Old Cockburn Sports Hall, Primrose Lane, Hunslet

 Meanwood Community Centre, Stainbeck Avenue, Meanwood

 St Gabriel's Community Centre, Fall Lane, East Ardsley

 Weston Lane Community Centre, Weston Ridge, Otley

 Windmill Youth Centre, Marsh Street, Rothwell

Page 482



Members of Executive Board approve the ring fencing of the required portion of 
the capital receipt from the sale of Gildersome Youth Centre site to make 
improvements to Gildersome Meeting Hall. Note the Director of City Development 
is responsible for the implementation of this recommendation.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 483



Key Actions / Proposals Arising from the Community Centre Consultation

Carried Out Between December 2014 and March 2015

Conclusions from the consultation for those buildings where closure is not recommended:

St Gabriel's Community Centre
The use of this building has grown over the course of the last year, and the costs 
to the Council had reduced.  The consultation concluded that the Council should 
continue to run this centre, but with increased input from a local community 
group. Asset management colleagues will be asked to prepare an appropriate 
agreement with the church trustees which will allow the Council to continue to 
use the building as a community centre. Centre to remain part of the community 
centre portfolio.

Bramley Community Centre
The future of this building is linked to wider asset management considerations in 
this ward, which are being worked through. This process is being led by Asset 
Management, and is influenced by a wide range of service and property options, 
including considerations of a community hub for this locality. It is sensible for the 
future of the community centre to be part of this wider local review. Ward 
members support this approach. Proposals will be taken to Asset Management 
Board in due course. 

Old Cockburn Sports Hall
Local councillors and community representatives have concluded that an asset 
transfer would be the best approach to secure the future of this building. A formal 
decision has been taken to pursue this option by the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) on 13th July 2015. The Director of Development 
considered this issue at an officer Property Panel on 8th September 2015. An 
expression of Interest was published on 1st October 2015 and was available on 
the Council website until 31st October 2015.  It is envisaged that any community 
organisation taking over the building may require diminishing grant funding from 
the Council to build a sustainable business plan. This will be subject to a 
separate decision.

Lewisham Park Centre
This building is proposed to be retained but with options to increase income 
being actively pursued.  There is support for the idea for the building to become 
community run.  Officers have been seeking to identify complimentary activities. 
This building is located in a park and access issues mean that commercial and 
residential uses of this property or land are limited. To undertake further work to 
see if additional income can be generated and the net cost of the centre reduced.

Weston Lane Community Centre
The discussions related to this building have only recently concluded. This 
building has no users, and is in poor condition. The lack of use means the 
building is at risk of vandalism, and it is the advice of Asset Management officers 
that it should be declared void. However, it is located on the Weston Estate, 
which is a pocket of high deprivation in the Otley ward.  After the consultation, 
discussions have taken place with Ward Members and Otley Town Council and 
there is a strong desire for childcare provision at the centre. Officers have been in 
discussions with an interested provider. Discussions are ongoing to establish 
daytime use as under two’s provision achieving income above the running costs 

Appendix 1

Page 484



of the building.  Otley Town council are interested in marketing the building for 
evening, weekend and school holiday usage. Further work to continue.  Net costs 
are negligible.

Windmill Youth Centre
There was strong local support for this centre to continue. Since the publication 
of the original report its running costs have reduced substantially. It was 
recognised that the building needs additional users, which need not be limited to 
groups working with young people. It has now been rebranded a Youth and 
Community Centre to spread this message to the local community. Local users 
are to be engaged to build the use of the building. Centre to remain part of the 
portfolio with work being undertaken to further increase usage and reduce net 
cost.

Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre

This centre has strong support from local Councillors, particularly the use by the 
local amateur Rugby club.  Local members wish it to remain in Council control, 
but with further work to control costs and increase usage. Net costs are slowly 
reducing and daytime use has increased recently. There are further opportunities 
to increase income through the rugby club which are being pursued.  Centre to 
remain part of the portfolio with work being undertaken to further increase usage 
and reduce net cost.

Meanwood Community Centre

To retain the centre, but a local management committee to be developed to take 
more responsibility for the building. Five main user groups have come together 
and are being assisted by the Area Support Team to develop a proposal. This 
centre has the highest usage of the ten centres under review and changes to 
caretaking arrangements mean a projected reduction in the net costs for this and 
future years.

Page 485



As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Citizens and 
Communities

Service area: Communities Team

Lead person: Sarn Warbis Contact number: 39-50908

1. Title: Proposed Closure of Kippax Youth Centre

Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The recommendation to Executive Board for the closure of Kippax Youth Centre and 
the relocation of current users to appropriate local venues.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

x

Appendix 2

Page 486



Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

x

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal?

x

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

x

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

x

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 

and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

We have taken into consideration:
 The locality of the community centre under consideration
 Current service users, for example: the number of people/groups; their needs; 

characteristics of these groups
 Local demographic information to inform of potential future needs
 Condition of the building and potential costs to ensure the building is fit for 

purpose
 Other provision within the Kippax area that could act as alternative venues
 Staffing based at the centre

Consultation has taken place with community centre users, elected members, parish 
councillors with no support emerging for maintaining a poor quality and underused 
building. 

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 

Page 487



that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

The current users of Kippax Youth Centre are a mental health support group and an 
older peoples social / craft group. Neither group has specific access issues but prefer 
facilities on the ground floor. The Kippax area has a variety of community facilities 
including a number run by Leeds City Council including Kippax Library, Kippax Leisure 
Centre, Mount Pleasant Gardens Community Centre and Cross Hills court Sheltered 
Housing which have rooms and facilities available to members of the public.

Although named Kippax “Youth” Centre the building has not been restricted for use by 
younger people but has been available for all groups. However there are better 
maintained community facilities in the local area which can serve the needs of the 
specific users of Kippax Community Centre and the wider public. 

All local LCC facilities are DDA compliant and offer ground floor access. Mount Pleasant 
Gardens and Cross Hills Court in particular are furnished for older people with seating 
designed for easier access. New venues for the current user groups will be more fit for 
purpose than Kippax Youth Centre and are in better states of repair. These alternative 
venues are located within a third of a mile of Kippax Youth Centre.

One caretaker is contracted for 5 hours per week to look after this building.
 Actions

(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

Spare capacity has already been established in other local venues run by Leeds City 
Council. By moving current users to one or more of these buildings the viability of these 
facilities will be improved. 

Current users have viewed the new facilities and arrangements are in progress to 
relocate them in November. Appropriate support will continue to be discussed and 
provided to ensure smooth transition to new buildings.

Facilities Management have discussed the potential closure with the caretaker. Various 
options are available including relocation to other LCC managed buildings. Discussions 
will continue with managing officers and Human Resources.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Date to complete your impact assessment

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Sarn Warbis Senior Policy and 

Performance Officer
19/10/15

Date screening completed 19/10/15

Page 488



7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision. 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report: 

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council.

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions. 

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services 

Date sent: 22/10/15

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

Page 489

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Citizens and 
Communities

Service area: Communities Team

Lead person: Sarn Warbis Contact number: 39-50908

1. Title: Proposed Closure of Gildersome Youth Centre

Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The recommendation to Executive Board for the closure of Gildersome Youth Centre 
and the relocation of current users to Gildersome Meeting hall.

4. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

x

Appendix 3

Page 490



Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

x

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal?

x

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

x

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices?

x

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

x

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 

and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

We have taken into consideration:
 The locality of the community centre under consideration
 Current service users, for example: the number of people/groups; their needs; 

characteristics of these groups
 Local demographic information to inform of potential future needs
 Condition of the building and potential costs to ensure the building is fit for 

purpose
 Other provision within the Gildersome area that could act as alternative venues
 Staffing based at the centre

Consultation has taken place with community centre users, local residents and elected 
members.

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 

Page 491



that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

The regular users of the centre include uniformed children’s associations, pre-school 
provision, youth services, senior citizens social club and commercial lifestyle activities. 

The centre was built in 1873 and is a stone built former school building and has a large 
amount of outstanding maintenance issues.

Gildersome Library and Meeting Hall is located within half a mile of the centre and offers 
community space in a better condition than the youth centre with options for 
development.

A public meeting was held which was attended by representatives of all the main regular 
users and was facilitated by local elected members. The proposal which was 
unanimously supported at this meeting was to relocate to Gildersome Meeting Hall and 
use capital receipts from the disposal of the centre to ensure that the meeting hall is fit to 
accommodate the current youth centre users.

There is one Leeds City Council caretaker for this building who works as part of a team 
covering a number of council facilities.

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)

Capacity has already been established in another local venue run by Leeds City Council. 
By moving current users to this building the viability of this facility will be improved. 
Current users are supported of this approach.

Work is being carried out by officers in the Communities Team and Asset Management 
around the level of improvement required at Gildersome Meeting Hall to accommodate 
users from both buildings.

Appropriate support will continue to be discussed and provided to an ensure smooth 
transition to the new building.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment:

Date to complete your impact assessment

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Sarn Warbis Senior Policy and 

Performance Officer
19/10/15

Date screening completed 19/10/15

Page 492



7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision. 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report: 

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council.

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions. 

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services 

Date sent: 22/10/15

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent:

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent:

Page 493

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Recycling Strategy Review
	Recycling Strategy Report Appendix EIA 091115

	7 South Bank Regeneration
	South Bank Report Appendix 1 V2 061115 EXEMPT
	South Bank Report Appendix PLAN A 061115
	South Bank Report Appendix 2 EIA 061115

	8 Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2015-19
	9 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 - Month 6
	10 Treasury Management Strategy Update 2015/16
	11 Open Data: Realising the Potential of an untapped resource
	12 Regeneration Progress in East Leeds
	East Leeds Regeneration Report Appendix 1 061115
	East Leeds Regeneration Report Appendix 2 061115

	13 Design and Cost Report for the Acquisition of Tribeca House, Deacon House and Unit 2 Killingbeck Court for Council Accommodation
	Acquisitions Report Appendix 1 061115
	Acquisitions Report Appendix 2 061115
	Acquisitions Report Appendix 3 061115
	Acquisitions Report Appendix 4 061115 EXEMPT
	Acquisitions Report Appendix 5 EIA 061115

	14 White Paper Response - Cycling Facility Development in Leeds
	15 Developing the range of choices in the older people's housing market: Older People's Housing Prospectus
	OPHP Report Appendix 1 061115
	OPHP Report Appendix 2 061115
	OPHP Report Appendix 3 061115

	16 Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation
	Learning Disability DSM Appendix 1 29 10 15
	Learning Disabilty Appx 2 Equality Screening 291015

	17 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 and Business Plan 2015/16
	Adults Safeguarding Appendix 1 22 10 15
	Adults Safeguarding Appendix 2 22 10 15

	18 Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LCSB) Annual Report (2014/15) Evaluating the Effectiveness of Safeguarding Arrangements in Leeds
	Children's safeguarding Appendix 1 291015

	19 The Future for Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Education Provision in Leeds
	SEMH Report Appendix A EDCI 091115

	20 Outcome of School Admission arrangements 2015
	Admissions Report Appendix 1 EDCI 061115

	21 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places and establish Special Educational Needs provision at Carr Manor Community School
	Carr Manor Report Appendix 1 PLAN 061115
	Carr Manor Report Appendix 2 EDCI 061115

	22 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places in Pudsey/Swinnow
	Greenside EDCI screening 291015

	23 Sheltered Housing Investment Strategy
	Sheltered Housing Report Appendix EIA 091115

	24 Community Centre Review Update

